CD4⁺ T CELL DIFFERENTIATION IN INFECTION: AMENDMENTS TO THE TH1/TH2 AXIOM

EDITED BY: Dragana Jankovic and Carl G. Feng PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-565-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-565-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

1

CD4⁺ T CELL DIFFERENTIATION IN INFECTION: AMENDMENTS TO THE TH1/TH2 AXIOM

Topic Editors:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, USA Carl G. Feng, Infectious Diseases and Immunology, Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

CD4⁺ T lymphocytes play an essential role in host defense against bacterial, parasitic and viral infections. During infection, under the influence of intrinsic signals received through peptide-MHC/TCR interactions and extrinsic signals provided by pathogen-conditioned dendritic and other accessory cells, CD4⁺ T cells proliferate and differentiate into specialized T helper (Th) effectors, which produce distinct sets of cytokines tailored to combat a specific class of microbes.

The concept of CD4⁺ T cell multi-functionality was developed after the seminal discovery of Th1 and Th2 cells nearly 30 years ago. Although the Th1/Th2 paradigm has successfully withstood the test of time, in the past decade additional Th subsets (Th17, Tfh, Th22, Th9) have been identified. Similarly, single cell analyses of cytokines and master transcriptional factors have revealed that, at the population level, CD4⁺ T cell responses are far more heterogeneous than initially anticipated. While some of the checkpoints in Th cell specification have been identified, recent studies of transcriptional and epigenetic regulation have uncovered a significant flexibility during the course CD4⁺ T lymphocyte polarization. In addition, Th cells expressing cytokines with counteracting functions, as a measure of self-regulation, display yet another level of diversity. Understanding the mechanisms that control the balance between stability vs. plasticity of Th effectors both at the time of initiation of immune response and during development of CD4 T cell memory is critical for the rational design of better vaccines and new immunotherapeutic strategies.

This research topic will cover current views on Th cell development, with a focus on the mechanisms that govern differentiation, function and regulation of effector Th cells in the context of microbial infections.



The diagram illustrates the functional heterogeneity of Th1, Th2, Th17 and Tfh cells and indicates the type of infections (color coded) with which they are associated. In addition to prototype Th effectors (non-shaded circles), Th cells with mixed effector phenotype (shaded circles) are depicted.

Citation: Dragana Jankovic and Carl G. Feng, eds. (2015). CD4⁺ T cell differentiation in infection: amendments to the Th1/Th2 axiom. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-565-7

Table of Contents

- **05 CD4+ T** cell differentiation in infection: amendments to the Th1/Th2 axiom Dragana Jankovic and Carl G. Feng
- 08 Th1/Th2 paradigm extended: macrophage polarization as an unappreciated pathogen-driven escape mechanism?

Eric Muraille, Oberdan Leo and Muriel Moser

20 Priming dendritic cells forTh2 polarization: lessons learned from helminths and implications for metabolic disorders

Leonie Hussaarts, Maria Yazdanbakhsh and Bruno Guigas

29 The differentiation of CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets in the context of helminth parasite infection

Tiffany Bouchery, Ryan Kyle, Franca Ronchese and Graham Le Gros

- **42** Antifungal Th immunity: growing up in family Monica Borghi, Giorgia Renga, Matteo Puccetti, Vasileios Oikonomou, Melissa Palmieri, Claudia Galosi, Andrea Bartoli and Luigina Romani
- 50 CD4 T-cell subsets in malaria: TH1/TH2 revisited

Damian Perez-Mazliah and Jean Langhorne

- 58 The regulation of CD4⁺ T cell responses during protozoan infections Christian R. Engwerda, Susanna S. Ng and Patrick T. Bunn
- 67 Plasticity of human CD4 T cell subsets

Jens Geginat, Moira Paroni, Stefano Maglie, Johanna Sophie Alfen, Ilko Kastirr, Paola Gruarin, Marco De Simone, Massimiliano Pagani and Sergio Abrignani

77 Long intergenic non-coding RNAs: novel drivers of human lymphocyte differentiation

Ilaria Panzeri, Grazisa Rossetti, Sergio Abrignani and Massimiliano Pagani

- *Cellular plasticity of CD4⁺ T cells in the intestine* Verena Brucklacher-Waldert, Edward J. Carr, Michelle A. Linterman and Marc Veldhoen
- 103 Memory T follicular helper CD4 T cells

J. Scott Hale and Rafi Ahmed



CD4⁺ T cell differentiation in infection: amendments to the Th1/Th2 axiom

Dragana Jankovic^{1*} and Carl G. Feng²

¹ Laboratory of Parasitic Diseases, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, MD, USA, ² Department of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, Sydney Medical School, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Keywords: Th lymphocytes, cytokines, infection, dendritic cells, macrophages, immunoregulation, metabolism, memory, Inc-RNA

CD4⁺ T helper (Th) lymphocytes play a central role in orchestrating immune responses. While the specificity of naïve CD4⁺ T cells is fixed and constrained by the TCR they express, their effector potential is flexible and unbiased. After antigen encounter, Th lymphocytes acquire a specific effector function by responding to the summation of input signals provided by antigen-presenting cells (APC) and cytokine microenvironment. The functional diversity of Th cells provides the immune system with the capacity to mount an appropriate defense mechanism against various types of pathogens.

The initial discovery of the existence of specialized Th effector populations came from an analysis of mouse $CD4^+$ T cell clones by Mosmann and Coffman (1). This seminal study demonstrated that differentiated $CD4^+$ T cells can be classified into two groups, designated Th1 and Th2 cells, based on their cytokine production. Th1 lymphocytes, which are defined by secretion of IFN- γ , TNF, and IL-2, promote cell-mediated immunity and control infections with intracellular pathogens. In contrast, Th2 lymphocytes, which produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13, mediate humoral immune responses and resistance to helminth parasites. In addition, the Th1/Th2 dichotomy was also demonstrated in immunopathological settings where Th1 and Th2 cells are implicated in autoimmune diseases and allergic conditions, respectively.

The recognition that different $CD4^+$ T cell subsets are associated with specific outcomes in both infection diseases and immune disorders propelled research into the Th1/2 paradigm. Generation of mature Th effectors was defined as an endpoint of a multistep lineage-specific differentiation process in which naïve CD4 T lymphocytes gain the ability to produce exclusively Th1 or Th2 cytokines. Moreover, a similar concept of dichotomous Th1/2 immune functions has been put forward for other lymphocyte populations (Tc1/Tc2), as well as other types of immune cells such as macrophages (M1/M2) and dendritic cells (DC1/DC2).

However, significant technical advances in $CD4^+$ T cell biology research over past 20 years have revealed that the Th1/Th2 paradigm cannot fully explain the complexity of Th effectors and led to the discovery of new Th subsets that have distinct yet overlapping functions with Th1/Th2 cells (2–4). For example, Th17 cells, which produce IL-17, are important in controlling extracellular bacterial and fungal pathogens, but can also promote autoimmune disorders (5, 6). Similarly, Tfh cells, which produce IL-21, are important for germinal center formation and antibody production, have taken on some of the functions originally attributed to Th2 cells (7, 8). Together, these findings clearly challenge Th1/2 concept and the model of Th effector choice as a bidirectional and linear differentiation process. Indeed, new molecular techniques that enable comparative analysis between genome-wide landscape of different transcriptional factors and cell-specific transcriptional output

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kendall Arthur Smith, Weill Medical College of Cornell University, USA

> ***Correspondence:** Dragana Jankovic djankovic@niaid.nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 19 March 2015 Accepted: 09 April 2015 Published: 29 April 2015

Citation:

Jankovic D and Feng CG (2015) CD4⁺ T cell differentiation in infection: amendments to the Th1/Th2 axiom. Front. Immunol. 6:198. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00198 revealed that Th polarization is a flexible course of progressions that allows different degrees of functional specialization and diversity among Th cells.

The Research Topic presented here, "CD4 T cell differentiation in infection: an amendment to Th1/Th2 axiom" is a collection of reviews that cover the most recent progress on Th effector choice mechanisms in various infection models.

The Topic opens with two reviews on the functional dichotomy of innate immune cells. The review by Muraille et al. (9) focuses on classically (M1) and alternatively (M2) activated macrophages and their distinct metabolic programs that can be exploited by pathogens as immune evasion strategies. The paper by Hussaarts et al. (10) describes the mechanisms by which helminth components condition dendritic cells for Th2 differentiation and discusses Th2-associated inflammatory responses in the context of metabolic disorders. The immune response to intestinal worm infections is also the topic of the review by Bouchery et al. (11), which focuses on Th2-polarizing signals in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes and the relative contribution of Th2 vs. recently discovered new Th subsets to helminth immunity. The CD4⁺ T cells responses during fungal and malaria infection originally characterized based on Th1/Th2 paradigm are re-examined by Borghi et al. (12) and Perez-Maliah and Langhorne (13), respectively. Borghi et al. (12) describe different Th effectors implicated in anti-fungal resistance and tolerance, while Perez-Maliah and Langhorne (13) discuss the types of Th subsets, including the population of self-controlling multifunctional IL-10⁺ Th1 cells, induced during malaria infection. The review by Engwerda et al. (14) focuses on the mechanisms underlying IL-10 expression in Foxp3⁻ IL-10⁺ Th1 cells and Foxp3⁺ CD4⁺ T regulatory lymphocytes, as well as the role these two populations play in host-protection during protozoan infection.

References

- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* (1986) 136:2348–57.
- Kanno Y, Vahedi G, Hirahara K, Singleton K, O'Shea JJ. Transcriptional and epigenetic control of T helper cell specification: molecular mechanisms underlying commitment and plasticity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2012) **30**:707–31. doi:10. 1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075058
- Dirk Baumjohann D, Ansel KM. MicroRNA-mediated regulation of T helper cell differentiation and plasticity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13:666–78. doi:10. 1038/nri3494
- Turner M, Galloway A, Vigorito E. Noncoding RNA and its associated proteins as regulatory elements of the immune system. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:484–91. doi:10.1038/ni.2887
- Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenber DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, et al. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:2271–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20061308
- Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO, et al. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. *Immunity* (2009) 30:92–107. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.005
- Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol (2011) 29:621–63. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101400
- Reinhardt RL, Liang HE, Locksley RM. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:385–93. doi:10.1038/ni.1715

The notion of $CD4^+$ T cell heterogeneity beyond Th1/Th2 effectors is also supported by studies in humans as reviewed by Geginat et al. (15). The molecular mechanisms controlling plasticity vs. stability are just beginning to emerge in both murine and human Th lymphocytes. The paper by Panzeri et al. (16) presents evidence that long intergenic non-coding RNAs (lncRNA) play a role in the Th1 differentiation program of human $CD4^+$ T lymphocytes.

Compartmentalized microenvironments with tissue specific conditions (e.g., APC, cytokines) may also contribute to the plasticity of Th effectors. This is certainly true for Th differentiation in gut-associated lymphoid tissue, as discussed by Brucklacher-Waldert et al. (17). Ongoing discoveries of the variable but significant degrees of flexibility among lineage committed CD4 T cells cast doubts on *"bona fide"* Th effector memory responses. Although the Tfh effector subset is considered to be highly unstable, the review by Hale and Ahmed (18) upholds the concept that memory Tfh cells are generated during a viral infection.

The Th1/Th2 paradigm has revolutionized the concept of CD4⁺ T cell differentiation. However, recent discoveries of additional T cell subsets have revealed previously unexpected complexity in the CD4⁺ effector T cell decision-making process. Together, the papers presented here review our current understanding of Th effector choice in infection and emphasize the importance of defining molecular pathways dictating specificity vs. diversity and stability vs. plasticity in CD4⁺ T cells. Ultimately, these new advances will have important implications for rational design of better vaccines and immunotherapies.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Intramural Research Program of the NIAID.

- Muraille E, Oberdan L, Moser M. Th1/Th2 paradigm extended: Macrophage polarization as an unappreciated pathogen-driven escape mechanism? *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:603. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00603
- Hussaarts L, Yazdanbakhsh M, Guigas B. Priming dendritic cells for Th2 polarization: lessons learned from helminths and implications for metabolic disorders. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:499. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2014.00499
- Bouchery T, Kyle R, Ronchese F, Le Gros G. The differentiation of CD4+ T helper cell subsets in the context of helminth parasite infection. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:487. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00487
- Borghi M, Renga G, Puccetti M, Oikonomou V, Palmieri M, Galosi C, et al. Antifungal Th immunity: growing up in family. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:506. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00506
- Perez-Mazliah D, Langhorne J. CD4 T-cell subsets in Malaria: TH1/TH2 revisited. Front Immunol (2015) 5:671. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00671
- Engwerda CR, Ng SS, Bunn PT. The regulation of CD4+ T cell responses during protozoan infections. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:498. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014. 00498
- Geginat J, Paroni M, Maglie S, Alfen JS, Kastirr I, Gruarin P, et al. Plasticity of human CD4 T cell subsets. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:630. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2014.00630
- Panzeri I, Rossetti G, Abrignani S, Pagani M. Long intergenic noncoding RNAs: novel drivers of human lymphocyte differentiation. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:175. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00175
- Brucklacher-Waldert V, Carr EJ, Linterman MA, Veldhoen M. Cellular plasticity of CD4+ T cells in the intestine. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:488. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00488

 Hale JS, Ahmed R. Memory T follicular helper CD4 T cells. Front Immunol (2015) 6:16. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00016

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Jankovic and Feng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Eric Muraille¹, Oberdan Leo² and Muriel Moser²*

¹ Laboratory of Parasitology, Faculty of Medicine, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

² Laboratory of Immunobiology, Faculty of Sciences, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Gosselies, Belgium

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

Christopher E. Rudd, University of Cambridge, UK António Gil Castro, University of Minho, Portugal Hans Acha-Orbea, Center of Immunity and Infection Lausanne (CIIL), Switzerland Thomas E. Morrison, University of Colorado School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Muriel Moser, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Laboratory of Immunobiology, Rue des Pr Jeener et Brachet, 12, Gosselies 6041, Belgium e-mail: mmoser@ulb.ac.be The classical view of the Th1/Th2 paradigm posits that the pathogen nature, infectious cycle, and persistence represent key parameters controlling the choice of effector mechanisms operating during an immune response. Thus, efficient Th1 responses are triggered by replicating intracellular pathogens, while Th2 responses would control helminth infection and promote tissue repair during the resolution phase of an infectious event. However, this vision does not account for a growing body of data describing how pathogens exploit the polarization of the host immune response to their own benefit. Recently, the study of macrophages has illustrated a novel aspect of this arm race between pathogens and the immune system, and the central role of macrophages in homeostasis, repair and defense of all tissues is now fully appreciated. Like T lymphocytes, macrophages differentiate into distinct effectors including classically (M1) and alternatively (M2) activated macrophages. Interestingly, in addition to represent immune effectors, M1/M2 cells have been shown to represent potential reservoir cells to a wide range of intracellular pathogens. Subversion of macrophage cell metabolism by microbes appears as a recently uncovered immune escape strategy. Upon infection, several microbial agents have been shown to activate host metabolic pathways leading to the production of nutrients necessary to their long-term persistence in host. The purpose of this review is to summarize and discuss the strategies employed by pathogens to manipulate macrophage differentiation, and in particular their basic cell metabolism, to favor their own growth while avoiding immune control.

Keywords: macrophage polarization, metabolic switch, amino acid metabolism, hypoxia, iron, PPARs, infection, immune escape strategy

TH1/TH2 PARADIGM AND INFECTIOUS IMMUNOLOGY

Historically, immunology emerged as an independent scientific discipline whose aim was to understand and possibly ameliorate the development of vaccines, a medical practice that was mostly pioneered, in an empirical fashion, by microbiologists of the end of the 19th century. Notably, however, the establishment of fundamental immunological concepts and paradigms, such as B and T cell collaboration or tolerance, was based on a reductionist (or analytical) approach that departed from a classical "host-pathogen" view of immunology, by putting much emphasis on self/non-self discrimination concepts explored with simpler protein antigens such as ovalbumin or keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH).

The discovery that CD4⁺ T cells can be characterized by distinct "cytokine signatures" by Mosmann and Coffman in 1986 (1) marked the great return of infection in immunology, leading to emergence of the Th1/Th2 "division of labor" paradigm in 1989, and its application to the field of vaccinology since the early 1990s. This concept led to a critical appraisal of the multiple and diverse sets of immune effectors promoting the now well established idea that the best immune response is often not the most intense nor the most specific but rather the best adapted to counteract or control the pathogen infectious cycle in the host. In consequence, identification of the nature of pathogens, selection of the appropriate immune response, repression of damaging or inadequate immune response are now recognized as crucial steps for the successful control of an infectious event. Thus, the immune reaction must be adapted to eliminate or control the pathogen and to restore homeostatic conditions during an infection to prevent severe tissue damage (2); for review see Ref. (3). The high frequency of chronic infections observed in nature demonstrates that pathogens are, however, able to manipulate these responses to evade immune control or even subvert immune reactions to their own advantage.

This review highlights current understanding of the interplay between pathogens and macrophages with a special emphasis on the role of metabolism regulation in the control of infections in mouse models unless otherwise stated. A clear understanding of the importance of macrophage polarization may reveal novel strategies for controlling infectious diseases.

CLASSICALLY AND ALTERNATIVELY ACTIVATED MACROPHAGE

Myelomonocytic cells are an essential component of innate immunity and represent the first line of defense against pathogens. Myelomonocytic cells fulfill a variety of homeostatic functions, which go beyond host defense and include tissue remodeling during embryogenesis, wound healing (fibrin dissolution, removal of dead tissues, fibroblast recruitment and growth and connective-tissue remodeling), as well as orchestration and contribution to metabolic activity [reviewed in Ref. (4–6)]. Myelomonocytic cell function needs to be tailored to their tissue of residence, an adaptation that is driven by tissue-derived factors and by the physiological environment.

The myelomonocytic cell populations are particularly dynamic during inflammation or infection. Under such conditions, blood monocytes are recruited into the tissues, where they differentiate into macrophages or dendritic cells. Depending on the microenvironment, macrophages can acquire distinct functional phenotypes. The concept of macrophage polarization was first defined in 1992 with the discovery that IL-4 inhibits the respiratory burst of macrophages while enhancing expression of MHC-II and mannose receptors (CD206) on their cell surface (7). Since then, two opposite and competing phenotypes, often referred to as classically activated macrophages (M1 macrophages) and alternatively activated macrophages (M2 macrophages) [reviewed in Ref. (8–10)] have been defined and identified in several physiological settings. The M1/M2 nomenclature is derived from the Th1 and Th2 cytokines that are associated with these macrophage phenotypes.

M1 macrophages differentiate under the influence of IFN- γ and/or LPS and display functional subdivisions depending on stimulation (11). They are usually characterized by increased microbicidal activity, as witnessed by the secretion of high levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6, production of reactive oxygen intermediates (ROI) and nitric oxide synthase-2 (NOS-2/iNOS)-dependent reactive nitrogen intermediates (RNI); high antigen-presenting activity and increased production of IL-12. These characteristics are promoted by IFN- γ -mediated Janus kinase–signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK–STAT) signaling or directly by pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as LPS. M1 macrophages constitute the first line of defense against intracellular pathogens and promote or amplify Th1 polarization of CD4⁺ lymphocytes by IL-12 production.

M2 macrophages have been initially identified in the context of infection by helminths, differentiating from monocytic precursors under the influence of IL-4 and IL-13 produced during a strongly Th2-polarized response. M2-like cells have been described in different pathological conditions such as infections by intracellular bacteria or virus, allergy, diabetes, and cancer [reviewed in Ref. (8, 9, 12)]. They are characterized by the selective expression of markers such as arginase 1 (Arg1), chitinase-like protein (for example, Ym1), Fizz1 (Found in Inflammatory Zone 1), CD36 (fatty acid translocase), and CD206, as well as the production of low levels of IL-12 and iNOS. Depending on the context, differences in the expression of M2-associated phenotypic markers have been recognized, leading to a redefinition of this cell population to accommodate a diverse set of subtypes: M2a (induced by exposure to IL-4 or IL-13) and M2b [induced by stimulation with immune complexes, TLR, or the IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra)] macrophages drive Th2 responses, whereas M2c cells (generated by stimulation with IL-10) play a predominant role in the suppression of immune responses and tissue remodeling [reviewed in Ref. (13)].

In addition, M1 and M2 macrophages differentially express a panel of co-stimulatory receptors of the B7 family. M1 macrophages have been shown to express higher levels of CD86 and PD-L1, whereas M2 macrophages display elevated levels of PD-L2. The expression differences are less clear for CD80 (14, 15).

It should be noted that macrophages with intermediate or overlapping phenotypes have been observed *in vivo*. For example, adipose tissue macrophages from obese mice have a mixed profile, with upregulation of several M1 and M2 gene transcripts (16). Taken together, these observations suggest that the prototypical M1 and M2 phenotypes probably represent extremes of a continuum spectrum of functionally distinct cell types. In this review, we will focus mainly on the role of M1 and M2a macrophages, these latter identified on the basis of high Arg1 expression and STAT6 pathways dependence.

MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION IS ASSOCIATED TO A SHIFT OF METABOLIC PROGRAM

M1 and M2 macrophages display a drastic shift in the amino acid, glucose, lipid, and iron metabolism [reviewed in Ref. (6, 17)]. We discuss several aspects of metabolic shift in relation to pathogen growth control.

AMINO ACID METABOLIC SHIFT

Amino acid catabolism represents a key mechanism whereby M1 and M2-types macrophages exert their anti-microbial and immunoregulatory roles. Tryptophan and arginine degradation by innate immune cells represents the most studied examples of functional links between amino acid metabolism and immune function. This relationship is quite complex, because selected degradation of amino acids can not only affect an immune response through the depletion of important precursors to protein synthesis, but also generates new catabolites endowed with immunoregulatory functions. In keeping with the general purpose of this review, we will mostly discuss herein the known links between expression and function of amino acid catabolizing enzymes and M1/M2 differentiation.

Among the three different enzymes, indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase 1 (IDO1), 2 (IDO2), and tryptophan 2,3-dioxygenase (TDO), which catalyze oxidative Trp catabolism, IDO1 represents the best known and widely studied example illustrating how amino acid metabolism and immune regulation interface. IDO1 has been shown to confer potent anti-microbial activities in vitro. Through the depletion of the essential amino acid tryptophan, IDO1 can restrict in vitro the growth of a wide range of pathogens, including viruses, bacteria, and protozoa (18-22). Although IDO1 is constitutively expressed by numerous tissues including the epididymis, uterus, spleen, small intestines, and prostate (23), its expression is highly inducible by both type I and type II interferons, with IFN-y considered as one of the strongest inducers of IDO expression and activity. As a consequence, and despite the fact that IDO1 expression is not restricted to hematopoietic cells, some authors have come to consider IDO1 as a prototypical M1 marker (11).

The role of IDO1 as potent anti-microbial agent *in vivo* remains, however, questionable, due in particular to the well-known immunosuppressive function of IDO1-expressing cells. Increased tryptophan catabolism has been indeed observed in the tumor microenvironment and in the placenta, contributing to tolerance to, respectively, tumor and fetal antigens. Although

apparently at odds with the anti-microbial properties of IDO1, recent observations seem to concur with the notion that despite its association to an M1-like state, IDO1 may indeed primarily mediate anti-inflammatory/regulatory roles *in vivo* opposing pathogen clearance. Indeed, genetic IDO1 ablation or pharmacological inhibition of IDO reduced parasitic load in *Leishmania major* infected mice (24). Similarly, *in vivo* administration of a pharmacological inhibitor of IDO to *Toxoplasma gondii* infected mice or infection of an IDO1-deficient mouse strain led to a more efficient control of parasite growth by IDO1-impaired hosts (25). In keeping with this prevalent immunoregulatory role of IDO1 *in vivo*, inhibition of IDO1 activity enhanced both CD4 and CD8 T cell responses to influenza virus infection, globally improving the antigen-specific memory response to this virus (26, 27).

Recent observations, albeit performed exclusively *in vitro*, have shed a new light on the possible role of IDO1 in the M1 vs M2 differentiation pathways (28). In this study, the authors demonstrate that forced expression of IDO1 in the human acute monocyte leukemia cell line THP-1 is sufficient to induce an M2-like profile, characterized by high IL-10 and low IL-12 expression pattern. Similarly, siRNA-mediated inhibition of IDO1 expression led to an increased expression of M1 markers, suggesting an important and cell autonomous role for IDO1 in regulating macrophage polarization. Collectively, and although the molecular and cellular mechanisms need to be identified, the available evidence suggests the existence of negative feedback regulatory loop whereby expression of IDO1 under M1-polarizing conditions contributes to the attenuation of a T cell mediated inflammatory response while favoring a M1 to M2 shift in macrophages.

Elevated arginine catabolism has also been linked to immunoregulation and anti-microbial immunity. Noteworthy, two of the prototypic M1 and M2 markers (respectively, iNOS and Arg1) have the capacity to use L-arginine as a substrate, leading to the production of L-citrulline and nitric oxide (NO), or L-ornithine and urea, respectively. The finding that concentrations of L-arginine at site of inflammation often decline to undetectable levels suggests an important role for L-arginine catabolism during an immune response (29, 30).

Products of Arg1 vs iNOS appear to fulfill diametrically opposed functions (**Figure 1**). Arg1 enhances collagen synthesis and cell growth via L-ornithine production, while iNOS opposes cell viability and proliferation. Moreover, iNOS protein translation appears as particularly sensitive to L-arginine levels, providing a further mechanism, in addition to competition for the same substrate, of counter-regulation between these two enzymes (31). This substrate competition between iNOS and Arg1 has been extensively described in mouse models (32), and further studies may be required to validate the universality of this concept in other species. Arginase activity has been found in lesions of patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis and in human tuberculous granulomas, suggesting an evolutionary conserved response linking arginine metabolism to infection (33–35).

M1-derived NO represents a major effector molecule in macrophage-mediated cytotoxicity, playing an important role in controlling bacterial and parasitic infections (36–38). In keeping with the previously discussed antagonistic role of Arg1 and iNOS, induction of arginase activity represents an efficient



immune escape strategy developed by several pathogens. As an example, active induction of Arg1 gene transcription in infected macrophages through manipulation of the STAT6 signaling pathway has been demonstrated for both T. gondii and Leishmania donovanii (39-41). The discovery that T cells are particularly sensitive to local arginine concentrations has further confirmed the important immunoregulatory role of Arg1, able therefore to inhibit both innate (NO production) and adaptive immune responses to parasites (30, 32). In addition to its immunoregulatory role, increased arginine metabolism has been shown to directly promote intracellular growth of several Leishmania species, notably through the accumulation of polyamines (42, 43). A compelling argument in favor of a role of arginine catabolism in promoting parasite growth is the expression of endogenous arginase by several parasites including Leishmania, Crithidia, and Leptomonas [see Ref. (44) for review].

Most of the available evidence links therefore Arg1 expression, and thus the M2 phenotype, to a disease-promoting activity. Noteworthy, however, expression of Arg1 in macrophages also plays an important role in protecting the host against the lethal effects of chronic Th2 pathology, as recently demonstrated in mice infected by *Schistosoma mansoni* (45). A similar role for Arg1 in suppressing pathologic inflammation has been derived from studies conducted in acutely *S. mansoni*-infected Arg1-deficient bone marrow chimeric mice (46). Finally, the importance of Arg1 in wound healing has been recently demonstrated using both pharmacological inhibition of arginase activity and genetic deletion of Arg1 in both haematopoietic and endothelial cells, further illustrating the important and positive role of this enzyme in tissue repair and homeostasis (47).

Although expression of Arg1 is often associated to an immunoregulatory/pathogen-growth promoting setting, recent studies have uncovered a previously unsuspected effector role for this enzyme against nematode infection. In models of secondary infections, arginase activity was found to play a key role in the acquired protective immunity against reinfection with an intestinal helminth. Upon primary exposure to *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*, mice developed the capacity to retain larvae in the infected skin, thus reducing the worm burden in the lungs (48). In this model, Arg1 was shown to play a key role in larvae trapping, confirming previously suspected antiparasitic effects of arginase activity against *Heligmosomoides polygyrus* (49). The capacity of the arginine catabolite L-ornithine to inhibit *H. polygyrus* larvae mobility suggests a plausible mechanism whereby Arg1 may protect the host during parasitic infections (50).

In summary, catabolism of both tryptophan and L-arginine lays at the heart of the M1/M2 dichotomy. Arginine catabolism represents an important immune mechanism limiting pathogen growth and spread, exploited by both M1 (through iNOS) and M2 (via Arg1) - like macrophages. Through distinct and mutually exclusive enzymatic reactions, the same amino acid can therefore be exploited to generate effector molecules tailored to different pathogens. Moreover, both iNOS and Arg1 have also been shown to dampen excessive inflammatory and T-cell mediated reactions. Whether these counter-regulatory properties have been evolutionary selected to control unwanted immune activity or represent unintended side effects remains to be established. In marked contrast, it is difficult at present to evaluate the precise role of IDO1 as an anti-microbial effector. Despite a large body of in vitro data, a role for IDO1 in limiting pathogen growth in vivo is still lacking, suggesting that despite being associated to an M1-like subpopulation of cells, tryptophan catabolism may primarily serve a regulatory role in vivo. In conclusion, amino acid catabolism elegantly illustrates the dual function of M1 and M2 macrophages, both subsets being able to express anti-microbial and immunoregulatory functions.

HYPOXIA

Decrease in oxygen pressure (hypoxia) in tissues can result from various causes such as mechanical or infection induced inflammation, intense metabolic activity but also obesity and tumor growth [reviewed in Ref. (51)]. The transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) is a central mediator of hypoxic adaptation. In normoxia, HIF-1 is repressed primarily through the action of a family of hydroxylases, which targets HIF-1 subunits for degradation in an oxygen-dependent manner. In hypoxia, HIF-1 is rapidly stabilized in cells and induces the expression of hundreds of genes, which regulate angiogenesis, metabolism, growth and survival (50).

In 1938, Kempner was the first to associate cellular metabolism and inflammation: he examined the chemical composition of control or inflamed tissues and reported chemical changes that he interpreted as mainly due to the aerobic glycolysis of blood cells (52). There is indeed growing evidence that tissue foci of inflammation display a declining oxygen gradient, as compared to oxygen-rich blood stream, leading to increased cellular HIF-1 α levels particularly in phagocytes, and activation of genes required to maintain viability and activity in these demanding conditions (low oxygen and glucose). It is noteworthy that HIF-1 α may also exert regulatory effects in normoxia, in particular during bacterial infection, where HIF-1 α expression is stimulated through TLR receptor engagement and cell signaling pathways (such as NF- κ B and MAPK) [for review see Ref. (53)].

Exposure of primary human monocyte-derived macrophages to hypoxia for 16 h has been shown to result in increased mRNA levels for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), glucose transporter (GLUT-1), and matrix metalloproteinase 7 (MMP-7) (54). Induction of VEGF in hypoxic conditions is involved in the pro-angiogenic activities of macrophages in tumors, whereas GLUT-1, a glucose transporter, may favor macrophage survival in ischemic tissues by increasing glucose uptake for glycolytic production of energy (**Figure 2**). The increase in mRNA coding for MMP-7 could have several consequences, as MMP-7, the smallest MMP, is able to digest many components of the basement membrane and extracellular matrix, and is involved in proteolytic processing, leading to activation of TNF- α , defensins, and other MMPs.

A number of reports have shown that hypoxia profoundly affects macrophage recruitment and development of M1 associated anti-microbial functions. Specific deletion of HIF-1 α in the myeloid lineage resulted in lower ATP levels caused by decreased glycolysis. This metabolic defect results in profound impairment of myeloid cell aggregation, motility, invasiveness, and bacterial killing (55). Analysis of intracellular killing of Group B streptococci by bone marrow-derived macrophages revealed approximately sevenfold more viable bacteria within the HIF-1 α deficient macrophages as compared with the wild-type cells. *In vivo*, loss of HIF-1 α in myeloid cells impaired



infiltration at the dermal-epidermal border of inflamed skin and prevented resolution of passively induced arthritis. HIF-1 α agonist mimosine and the pharmacological agent AKB-4924 (which stabilizes HIF-1) were both shown to enhance the antibacterial activity of phagocytes and to kill the pathogen *Staphylococcus aureus in vitro* and *in vivo* (56, 57). Conversely, mice lacking HIF-1 α in their myeloid lineage developed larger necrotic skin lesions upon subcutaneous infection with group A *Streptococcus* (58). Murine macrophages exposed to low oxygen tensions have been shown to display M1 phenotype as suggested by increased antigen-presenting and phagocytic functions that involved IFN- γ production (59).

Collectively, these observations indicate that HIF-1 α critically regulates pathways essential for the maintenance of energy homeostasis and function of macrophages in sites deprived of oxygen. However, a recent report contradicts this conclusion, as the authors found that hypoxia in *L. major* skin lesions impaired the NO-dependent leishmanicidal activity of macrophages in a reversible manner. The mechanism was found to involve impaired translation of NOS protein (60). This latter study is in accordance with two recent reports showing (i) that tumor-infiltrating macrophages in hypoxic areas displayed an altered pro-tumoral phenotype, characterized by impaired M1-type function (61) and (ii) that tumor-derived lactic acid induced *vegf* and *Arg1* and the M2-like polarization of tumor-associated macrophages in a HIF-1 α -dependent manner (62).

IRON METABOLISM

Iron is an ideal redox catalyst, accepting or donating electrons, implicated in numerous cellular processes such as respiration, DNA replication but also host defenses by the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates. Almost all living organisms from archaea to eukaryotes display absolute requirement for iron [reviewed in Ref. (63-65)]. Erythropoiesis is the most avid consumer of iron in the mammal organism as erythrocytes contain approximately 1 billion of ferric atoms. Approximately 60-70% of the human adult body iron is bound within hemoglobin (2.5g). Macrophages play a central role in regulating iron metabolism since they recycle heme iron from senescent erythrocytes and regulate its storage. On the other hand, microbes have evoked multiple strategies to utilize iron because a sufficient supply of this metal is linked to pathogen proliferation, virulence and persistence. The expression of iron uptake systems is linked to virulence in a broad range of pathogens including bacteria, protozoa and fungi. The control over iron homeostasis is thus of central importance in host-pathogen interaction, in which both opponents compete for iron. A complex network of host proteins renders this valuable nutrient largely inaccessible to pathogens, a concept usually known as "nutritional immunity." Of course, control of intra- and extracellular pathogens requires distinct mechanisms of iron restriction in different compartments. M1 macrophages, by repressing ferroportin (a cellular iron exporter) and CD163 (a hemoglobin scavenger receptor) and inducing ferritin (which favors iron intracellular sequestration and storage), reduce the labile iron pool (LIP), the metabolically active fraction of cytosolic iron that is available for metabolic purposes. In contrast, through the upregulation of ferroportin and the downregulation of ferritin, M2 macrophages have reduced iron storage and enhanced release of iron (66). Sequestration of iron by M1 macrophages would have a bacteriostatic effect (since iron is essential to support bacterial growth) and thus represents a host protective response. Conversely, iron release from M2 macrophages would favor tissue repair. Interestingly, iron is also an important regulator of immune effector functions, immune cell proliferation and cytokine production. Iron antagonizes the IFN- γ -induced expression of MHC-II, iNOS, and TNF- α and shifts the Th1/Th2 differentiation toward a Th2 reaction.

LIPID OXIDATIVE METABOLISM

Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors (PPARs) are lipidactivated transcription factors of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily. Endogenous ligands that regulate the PPAR family remain poorly characterized and include free native and modified fatty acids. PPARs regulate expression of target genes as obligate heterodimers with the retinoic X receptors (RXRs). In mammals, there are three PPAR isoforms (PPAR α , - γ , - δ) expressed in a large variety of cells and playing pleiotropic functions in fatty acid metabolism including transport, synthesis storage, mobilization, and oxidation [reviewed in Ref. (67)].

Binding of IL-4 or IL-13 to their cognate receptors, IL-4Ra/IL-2Ry and IL-4Ra/IL-13Ra1, respectively, initiates a cytoplasmic signaling cascade leading to tyrosine phosphorylation of transcription factor STAT6. Phosphorylated STAT6 dimerizes and translocates to the nucleus, where it induces the expression of numerous target genes. Among them, PPARy, PPARo, and PPARycoactivator-1 β (PGC-1 β) appear particularly important. PPARy mediates the expression of the main M2 phenotype markers such as Arg1 and CD36 (favoring the uptake of fatty acid and apoptotic cells) and increases oxidation metabolism of fatty acid [reviewed in Ref. (68)] (Figure 2). By its transrepressive action, PPARy blocks the expression of numerous pro-inflammatory mediators induced by LPS and IFN- γ such as IL-1 β and iNOS. Although PPARy is not essential for monocyte/macrophage differentiation, it functions as an important modulator of macrophage lipid metabolism and a fine-tuner of immune functions (Figure 3). Whereas the instructions for alternative macrophage activation are provided by IL-4 and IL-13, the acquisition and long-term maintenance of this phenotype implicate PPARy and PPARS. PPARy KO mice are deficient in M2 macrophages, develop spontaneous chronic Th1 inflammation in lung (69) and are more susceptible to obesity and insulin resistance, suggesting that homeostatic functions performed by M2 macrophages might allow animals to more efficiently store and oxidize incoming lipids, thereby maintaining insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance by attenuating inflammation (70).

Reciprocally, fatty acids facilitate the acquisition and maintenance of M2 phenotype (**Figure 3**). In a PPARδ-dependent manner, monounsaturated fatty acids, such as oleic acid, were found to synergize with IL-4 to enhance the expression of alternative activation signature genes such as Arg1 in macrophages. Arg1 promoter is directly activated by PPAR/RXR heterodimers [reviewed in Ref. (67)] providing a molecular explanation for the observed synergy between nutrients and Il-4/IL-13 signaling pathways.



THE ENERGY SENSORS: AMPK AND mTOR

The AMP-activated kinase (AMPK) represents a well described energy sensor able to adapt cell metabolism to available substrates and/or cellular energetic requirements. Accumulation of cellular AMP, indicative of a reduction in the energy status of the cell, activates the AMPK, which in turn will phosphorylate a series of substrates to favor metabolic reactions (such as stimulation of mitochondrial biogenesis, oxidative metabolism and autophagy), while decreasing ATP consuming, biosynthetic pathways. The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) plays a similar role, by adapting metabolic reactions (such as protein synthesis) to nutrient availability in order to preserve cellular homeostasis. Pathogens have been shown to manipulate these regulatory pathways to highjack cell metabolism to their own benefit [reviewed in Ref. (71, 72)]. Collectively, these studies have highlighted how, by inhibiting AMPK and/or maintaining an activated mTOR pathway, pathogens generate essential substrates for their own replication. Notably, a link between macrophage metabolism and inflammation has also been recently established. A reduction in macrophage AMPK activity is associated with M1-like, proinflammatory status, while increased AMPK activity promotes an anti-inflammatory, M2-type, response [for review see Ref. (73)]. Inhibition of AMPK expression or activity promotes expression of pro-inflammatory mediators in macrophages activated by LPS (74). Similarly, AMPKa1 KO macrophages failed to acquire an M2 phenotype, retaining high levels of iNOS expression even when stimulated in the presence of M2-polarizing factors such as IL-4 (75).

In summary, polarization states and functional properties of macrophages largely depend on environmental conditions, such as hypoxia, cytokines, pathogen-derived TLR-ligands, and lipid mediators. Metabolism shift associated to macrophage polarization appears highly adapted to microbicidal and tissue regeneration function of M1 and M2 macrophages, respectively.

M2-LIKE POLARIZATION AS A PATHOGEN-INDUCED IMMUNE ESCAPE STRATEGY

The interaction between pathogenic microbes and their host is determined by survival strategies to compete for essential nutrients. During evolution, microbes have developed strategies to access selected nutrients from the host, while these, in return, have devised defensive means to restrict their availability to pathogens. Long-term pathogen persistence is frequently the consequence of a subtle equilibrium between the nutritive needs of host and pathogens. M2 macrophages appear as a favorable niche for longterm persistence of numerous intracellular pathogens. Some evidences suggest that intracellular pathogens can induce or benefit from PPAR expression and/or high iron availability in infected macrophages.

Mycobacterium tuberculosis, the agent of tuberculosis, is well adapted to survive within the hostile macrophage environment. Current evidence (76) indicates that *M. tuberculosis* and BCG infection causes a time-dependent upregulation of PPAR γ expression in infected macrophages. Even uptake of dead bacteria triggered PPAR γ expression in macrophages, suggesting a pattern recognition receptor-mediated triggering mechanism. Accordingly, recent studies have shown the implication of TLR2 (77) and mannose receptor (CD206) (78) in this process. PPAR γ expression and activation led to increased lipid droplet formation, expression of M2 markers and downmodulation of bactericidal M1 response including respiratory burst and NO production. Involvement of CD36 in lipid droplet formation was further confirmed by decreased BCG-induced lipid droplet formation in CD36 deficient macrophages (77). These observations suggest that PPAR γ expression may not only represent an escape mechanism to circumvent the protective host response, but may also provide the nutrient rich environment required for mycobacterial growth and survival by promoting host lipid metabolism.

A key anti-pathogen effector of M1 macrophages is NO, which is involved in direct killing of pathogens, such as *M. tuberculosis*. Interestingly, a report has shown that Arg1 was induced in macrophages *in vitro* via a STAT6 independent and TLR dependent pathway, and prevented NO production. The absence of Arg1 was associated with increased NO expression and enhanced control of mycobacteria. These observations suggest that chronic infection could be linked to pathogen-induced Arg1 expression (37). Conversely, abrogation of Arg1 expression in hypoxic macrophages where iNOS was rendered ineffective resulted in exacerbated lung granuloma pathology and bacterial burden, suggesting that Arg1 could also play a positive role in the control of *M. tuberculosis* (79).

Iron availability in macrophage is also crucial for *Mycobacteria* growth (64, 65). Iron overload enhanced susceptibility while ironpoor diets reduced *Mycobacteria* virulence in mice (80). The depletion of intracellular iron occurs in M1 polarized macrophages. However, *Mycobacterium* produces siderophores (mycobactins) with incredible high affinity to iron able to remove iron from transferrin and lactoferrin, leading to augmentation of iron concentrations in infected macrophages favoring *Mycobacterium* growth. As previously mentioned, intracellular iron accumulation could also downregulate M1 phenotype by negatively affecting iNOS expression (81).

Brucella spp. are facultative intracellular α -proteobacteria and the causative agent of the world's leading zoonotic disease brucellosis (82). Its pathogenesis is mainly based on its ability to survive and multiply inside macrophages. Treating Brucella abortus-infected mice with a PPARy inhibitor led to a significant decrease in splenic colonization during the chronic phase of infection (83). In contrast, treatment of *B. abortus*-infected mice with PPARy agonist led to increased expression of M2 markers in splenic macrophages and enhanced bacterial count in the spleen during the chronic infection phase (83). These results strongly suggest that pathways downstream of PPARy contribute to generate a niche for persistence of *B. abortus*. In the same study (83), further analysis of in vitro infected macrophages suggested that PPARy favors intracellular glucose availability for Brucella by shifting the energetic cell metabolism from a typical M1-associated glycolytic pathway to a glucose-sparing lipid oxidation associated to M2 differentiation.

Although iron is needed by bacteria for growth, it also plays an important role in the anti-microbial M1 activities of macrophages such as generation of hydroxyl radicals. *Brucella* appears well equipped to deal with the iron-poor environment in M1 macrophages. *Brucella* expresses two siderophores [2,3dihydroxybenzoic acid (2,3-DHBA) and 2,3-DHBA-based molecule brucebactin] and a heme oxygenase (BhuO) allowing the use of heme as an iron source [reviewed in Ref. (84)]. It has been observed that iron supplementation increased the ability of macrophages to control intracellular *Brucella* (85) suggesting that iron chelation may represent a valuable strategy whereby this bacterium impedes the generation of toxic hydroxyl radicals.

Salmonella are Gram-negative bacteria infecting hosts via the gastrointestinal tract. Host-adapted strains of Salmonella enterica cause systemic infections (typhoid fever) and have the ability to asymptomatically persist within host tissues for long periods of time in 1-6% of patients [reviewed in Ref. (86)]. Early protective Th1 responses are followed by pathogen-permissive Th2 responses. Salmonella infection caused accumulation and persistence of hemophagocyte macrophages (characterized by the ingestion of non-apoptotic cells) expressing M2 markers (CD36 and CD206) in spleen (87). During later stages of infection in vivo, Salmonella was found preferentially associated with these cells (88), possibly representing a specific niche for persistent infection. PPAR8 was found upregulated in Salmonella infected macrophages in vitro. PPAR8 deficiency dramatically inhibited Salmonella replication in vitro and in vivo and its pharmacological activation enhanced bacterial growth in mice. Absence of PPAR8 was associated to a decrease of available glucose necessary to Salmonella persistence in macrophages (88). How macrophages acquire and/or maintain an M2 phenotype in vivo during Salmonella infection is presently unknown.

Leishmania represent obligate intracellular protozoan parasites that are transmitted in the dermis of the mammalian host by blood-feeding sand flies. After transmission, these parasites invade mainly macrophages, which are decisive effector cells that either kill or host the intracellular parasites depending on the balance of iNOS and Arg1 [reviewed in Ref. (89)]. Control of parasite growth was associated with the induction of strong Th1 responses and induction of iNOS-expressing M1 macrophage. Accordingly, there was a clear direct correlation between the parasite load and the arginase activity in the lesions. Inhibition of arginase activity during the course of infection reduced parasite growth (43). In vitro, parasitized dendritic cells showed coordinated transcriptional modulations that correlated in part to PPAR χ upregulation and promoted the generation and storage of neutral lipids, such as triacyl-sn-glycerol and cholesteryl esters (90), that can be important for the synthesis of key parasite membrane components. Accumulation of neutral lipid has been also shown to reduce antigen processing and presentation to effector T cells (91). Leishmania parasites are coated with phosphatidylserine (92), a major surface characteristic of apoptotic cells (93) recognized by CD36 expressed by M2 macrophages (94). As engulfment of apoptotic cells by CD36 pathways leads to induction of PPAR, it is possible that Leishmania actively promotes M2 polarization of macrophages as a virulence strategy. Of note, a recent report shows that the macrophage response upon visceral infection with Leishmania infantum is characterized by an M2b-like phenotype, identified by expression of C-type lectin receptors signature (95).

Francisella tularensis, a gram-negative intracellular bacteria and the causative agent of tularenia, induces acute and frequently lethal pulmonary infection. *F. tularensis* replicates in myeloid cells and alveolar epithelial cells in lung of infected mice [reviewed in (96)]. It has been observed that virulent strains induce M2 activation markers on macrophages in wild type but not in IL-4R α or STAT6 deficient mice (97). Lipid isolated from virulent strain but not from attenuated strain appeared able to induce a TLR2/PPAR γ -dependent M2 polarization of macrophage (98), suggesting that redirection of macrophage polarization by *F. tularensis* could constitute an escape immune mechanism.

Listeria monocytogenes is a facultative intracellular Grampositive bacteria able of serious acute infection. *Listeria* infection of macrophages rapidly led to increased expression of PPAR γ (99). Selective loss of PPAR γ in myeloid cells resulted in enhanced innate immune defense against *Listeria* both, *in vitro* and *in vivo* suggesting that PPAR γ -dependent M2 phenotype could favor *L. monocytogenes* multiplication.

T. gondii represents one of clear examples of how an intracellular parasite can subvert macrophage polarization to enhance its infectivity. This parasite secretes into the cytoplasm of infected macrophage several virulence factors including a protein, ROP16, displaying protein kinase activity. Remarkably, this protein interferes with the host signaling machinery through the direct phosphorylation of STAT6 (and STAT3), bypassing therefore early cytokine receptor proximal events. Notably, ROP16 was shown to phosphorylate STAT6 on the critical activation residue Tyr641 (39), resulting in the productive transcription of M2-associated genes including Arg1 (41, 100).

In conclusion, numerous evidences suggest that some intracellular bacterial and protozoan pathogens responsible for chronic (*Mycobacteria, Brucella, Leishmania,* and *Toxoplasma*) but also acute (*Francisella* and *Listeria*) infection actively manipulate STAT6-PPAR γ/δ pathways to avoid M1 polarization of macrophages and/or benefit from a nutrient rich environment associated to lipid oxidation metabolism. Although the possible impact of macrophage polarization on chronic viral infections remains largely unknown, recent studies suggest that HBVinduced M2 macrophage polarization can participate to immune impairment and pathology (101). Thus, PPAR γ/δ pathways hold a pivotal role in the establishment of chronic infection and their ligands may be used as combination therapeutics to limit host pathology or pathogen persistence.

BENEFICIAL ROLE OF Th2 RESPONSE AND ALTERNATIVELY ACTIVATED MACROPHAGE DURING INFECTION

It is well appreciated that M2 macrophages can act to limit disease severity and protect the host from detrimental effects of an excessive Th1 response, making symbiotic survival between host and parasites more likely. For example, infection of mice or humans with the trematode *S. mansoni* results in a Th2 dependent response. Neutralization of IL-4 or genetic invalidation of IL-4/IL-13 led to increased rates of mortality during acute schistosomiasis, illustrating the protective role of Th2 in this experimental model. Mice rendered selectively deficient for IL-4R in macrophages were extremely susceptible to infection with 100% mortality, suggesting that M2 macrophages are essential during schistosomiasis for protection against organ injury.

In addition, M2 macrophages can also display anti-microbial effector function and actively reduce the level of infection by various pathogens.

Infective larvae of the nematode *N. brasiliensis* enter host animals through skin penetration and further migrate in the lungs and intestine. Primary protective response against *N. brasiliensis* relied mostly on an IL-13-dependent goblet cell hyperplasia leading to increased mucus production in the intestine. Accordingly, IL-4R α and STAT6 deficient mice failed to expulse the gastrointestinal nematode parasite (102). Interestingly, protective memory response against *N. brasiliensis* implicated neutralization of larva migration from skin to lung (48). Larval trapping was dependent on induction of M2 macrophage differentiation from recruited monocytes as demonstrated by the fact that neutralization of IL-4 or Arg1 abolished larval trapping.

The central pathophysiologic events in severe malaria caused by Plasmodium falciparum are the inability of the host defenses to control parasite replication resulting in the excessive release of proinflammatory cytokines. Mice treated with an agonist of PPARy had reduced parasitemia of Plasmodium and decreased inflammatory response (103). This effect was mediated by CD36 that served as ligand for P. falciparum erythrocyte membrane protein 1 (PfEMP-1) expressed by the parasite (104). CD36-mediated internalization by M2 macrophages facilitated removal of neutrophils and dead tissues to resolve inflammation as well as clearing of the parasite. P. falciparum used host hemoglobin as iron source and sequestered heme into a pigment known as hemozoin. It has been showed that hemozoin reacted with membrane phospholipids to generate hydroxy-polyunsaturated fatty acids which are ligands of PPAR γ (105), suggesting that the parasite can actively modulate its growth by a PPARy pathway.

The cestode *Mesocestoides corti* induces a central nervous system infection in mice dominated by M2 macrophages. Absence of STAT6 signaling resulted in enhanced susceptibility to infection coinciding with increased parasite burden in the brain (106) suggesting that M2 macrophages actively control infection.

The ubiquitous fungus *Aspergillus fumigatus* causes invasive and allergenic disease. Host defense relied on the ability of the respiratory immune system to restrict spore germination into invasive hyphae and to limit fungus-induced or inflammation-induced damage in infected tissues. Infection induced a M2 polarization of alveolar macrophages. Control of infection appeared dependent on dectin-1 mediated phagocytosis of fungus by M2 macrophages (107) as dectin-1 deficiency or elimination of M2 macrophages was associated to increased fungal burden in mice.

PLASTICITY OF MACROPHAGE POLARIZATION DURING INFECTION: TWO OPPOSITE EXAMPLES

Several infectious experimental models demonstrate that immune polarization may display high plasticity, suggesting that M1 and M2 phenotypes may not represent terminally differentiated cells.

Classically, M1 macrophages are implicated in initiating and sustaining inflammation, whereas M2 macrophages differentiate later and are involved in resolution of inflammation and tissue regeneration. In particular, the early and late phases of *Trypanosoma congolense* infection are characterized by M1 and M2 polarization of macrophages, respectively. The shift to M2 appears indispensable to control inflammation and limit tissue injury (105).

However, the opposite scenario has also been reported. *Cryptococcus neoformans*, the etiological agent of cryptococcosis constitutes a well-documented case of M2-to-M1 shift *in vivo*. After inhalation, *C. neoformans* resides primarily in the alveolar spaces, where it can survive and replicate in the extracellular lung

environment. The immune response in C. neoformans-infected C57BL/6 wild type mice is predominantly Th2 biased and associated with development of M2 macrophages. These latter serve as intracellular reservoirs for the microbe and promote the development of lung pathology (108). In this model, neutralization of IFN-y resulted in more severe pulmonary infections and lesions (109). In contrast, IL-4 (109) or IL-13 (110) deletion led to Th1-dominated immune responses associated with M1 macrophage granuloma formation displaying iNOS dependent fungicidal activity. Interestingly, the lung immune polarization environment changed overtime (108). Following a strong initial induction of Th2 cytokines in the lungs at 2 and 3 weeks postinfection, a considerable increase in Th1 cytokines occurred at 5 weeks post-infection. This increase in Th1 cytokines was accompanied by a decrease in Th2 cytokines, indicating that the immune system is spontaneously capable of a Th2-Th1 shift. However, if it is now appreciated that polarized T cells exhibit previously unsuspected flexibility and plasticity (111), it remains unclear whether macrophage polarization switches involve recruitment of new precursors or de-differentiation of macrophages in situ.

Collectively, these observations suggest that macrophages can undergo dynamic transitions between different functional states. This polarization switch may provide protection to uncontrolled inflammation or constitute an indispensable adaptation to rapid phenotypic change of pathogen during its cycle.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the available evidences are compatible with the original view of a "division of labor" between M1 and M2 macrophages. M1 macrophages do display an increased microbicidal activity against a wide range of intracellular parasites, while differentiation toward an M2-like state is often observed during the resolution phase of an inflammatory response, favoring in particular tissue repair. This purely dualistic view needs, however, to be considered with care, since M1 macrophages are also able to negatively control an inflammatory response (through notably NO production and IDO1-mediated tryptophan catabolism), while M2 macrophages display anti-microbial activities via expression of Arg1 (**Figure 4**). The M1/M2 cell paradigm represents, therefore, an additional example of pathogen-tailored immune effectors, endowed with regulatory properties.

A growing number of clinically relevant infectious diseases are characterized by pathogen persistence in the host. Chronic and recurrent infections implicate long-lasting and costly therapy and are the cause of an important morbidity in the world. Therefore, there is a strong interest in understanding the biology of pathogen persistence.

Numerous reports demonstrate that chronic bacterial persistence *in vivo* depends on the ability of bacteria to resist the anti-microbial activity but also to reconfigure local host environment to their profit (112). Pathogens exploit host regulatory pathways limiting damaging inflammatory responses for the benefit of tolerance. They also reprogram host cell metabolism to produce nutrients necessary for their long-term persistence (88, 113). Similar results have been obtained in parasitic infections (12, 89) suggesting that induction of a metabolic shift in infected cells constitutes a general strategy to favor persistence. In this paradigm,



PPARs family seems key actor in the hijacking of macrophages by pathogens and an interesting target for therapeutic strategy.

Targeting microbial nutrient requirements represents a promising therapeutic strategy. Both anti-microbial compounds and vaccine have been created to specifically target pathogen iron acquisition systems [reviewed in Ref. (65)]. Unfortunately, microbes often possess redundant mechanisms for nutrient acquisition. A better understanding of these mechanisms may lead to the development of new strategies to control infection.

The importance of nutrient availability in control of infection also leads to focus our attention on the multifactorial and complex impact of modern fat rich diet on chronic infection. Commensal and mutualistic microorganisms are present in all mucosal compartments and form the microbiota. These symbiotic organisms compete with pathogenic microorganisms for nutrients, thereby preventing pathogenic colonization and invasion. As discussed above, obesity can affect macrophage polarization but also drastically change the composition of host microbial community and thus its ability to compete with pathogen for host nutriment availability. A better knowledge of the relationship between nutrition, microbiota, and immune defense could provide guidelines for prophylactic nutritional measures to protect against and/or treat infections.

REFERENCES

- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* (1986) 136:2348–57.
- Guilliams M, Movahedi K, Bosschaerts T, VandenDriessche T, Chuah MK, Herin M, et al. IL-10 dampens TNF/inducible nitric oxide synthase-producing dendritic cell-mediated pathogenicity during parasitic infection. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:1107–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.1107
- Belkaid Y. Regulatory T cells and infection: a dangerous necessity. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:875–88. doi:10.1038/nri2189
- Mantovani A, Biswas SK, Galdiero MR, Sica A, Locati M. Macrophage plasticity and polarization in tissue repair and remodelling. *J Pathol* (2013) 229:176–85. doi:10.1002/path.4133
- Mahdavian Delavary B, van der Veer WM, van Egmond M, Niessen FB, Beelen RHJ. Macrophages in skin injury and repair. *Immunobiology* (2011) 216:753–62. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2011.01.001

- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Orchestration of metabolism by macrophages. *Cell Metab* (2012) 15:432–7. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2011.11.013
- Stein M, Keshav S, Harris N, Gordon S. Interleukin 4 potently enhances murine macrophage mannose receptor activity: a marker of alternative immunologic macrophage activation. *J Exp Med* (1992) 176:287–92. doi:10.1084/jem. 176.1.287
- Biswas SK, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: cancer as a paradigm. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:889–96. doi:10.1038/ni.1937
- 9. Gordon S. Alternative activation of macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2003) 3:23–35. doi:10.1038/nri978
- Sica A, Mantovani A. Science in medicine macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. J Clin Invest (2012) 122:787–95. doi:10.1172/JCI59643DS1
- Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, Goerdt S, et al. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. *Immunity* (2014) 41:14–20. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008
- Raes G, Beschin A, Ghassabeh GH, De Baetselier P. Alternatively activated macrophages in protozoan infections. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2007) 19:454–9. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2007.05.007
- Martinez FO, Sica A, Mantovani A, Locati M. Macrophage activation and polarization. Front Biosci (2008) 13:453–61. doi:10.2741/2692
- Parsa R, Andresen P, Gillett A, Mia S, Zhang XM, Mayans S, et al. Adoptive transfer of immunomodulatory M2 macrophages prevents type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. *Diabetes* (2012) 61:2881–92. doi:10.2337/db11-1635
- Cavnar MJ, Zeng S, Kim TS, Sorenson EC, Ocuin LM, Balachandran VP, et al. KIT oncogene inhibition drives intratumoral macrophage M2 polarization. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210:2873–86. doi:10.1084/jem.20130875
- Shaul ME, Bennett G, Strissel KJ, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. Dynamic, M2like remodeling phenotypes of CD11c+ adipose tissue macrophages during high-fat diet – induced obesity in mice. *Diabetes* (2010) 59:1171–81. doi:10.2337/db09-1402
- Shapiro H, Lutaty A, Ariel A. Macrophages, meta-inflammation, and immunometabolism. *ScientificWorldJournal* (2011) 11:2509–29. doi:10.1100/2011/ 397971
- Prachason T, Konhan K, Pongnarin P, Chatsiricharoenkul S, Suputtamongkol Y, Limwongse C. Activation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase in patients with scrub typhus and its role in growth restriction of *Orientia tsutsugamushi. PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2012) 6(7):e1731. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0001731
- Meisel R, Brockers S, Heseler K, Degistirici O, Bülle H, Woite C, et al. Human but not murine multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells exhibit broad-spectrum antimicrobial effector function mediated by indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase. *Leukemia* (2011) 25:648–54. doi:10.1038/leu.2010.310
- Spekker K, Czesla M, Ince V, Heseler K, Schmidt SK, Schares G, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase is involved in defense against *Neospora caninum* in human and bovine cells. *Infect Immun* (2009) 77:4496–501. doi:10.1128/ IAI.00310-09
- Adams O, Besken K, Oberdörfer C, MacKenzie CR, Takikawa O, Däubener W. Role of indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase in alpha/beta and gamma interferonmediated antiviral effects against herpes simplex virus infections. *J Virol* (2004) 78:2632–6. doi:10.1128/JVI.78.5.2632-2636.2004
- 22. Daubener W, Spors B, Hucke C, Adam R, Stins M, Kim KS, et al. Restriction of *Toxoplasma gondii* growth in human brain microvascular endothelial cells by activation of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Infect Immun* (2001) **69**:6527–31. doi:10.1128/IAI.69.10.6527-6531.2001
- Dai X, Zhu BT. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase tissue distribution and cellular localization in mice: implications for its biological functions. *J Histochem Cytochem* (2010) 58:17–28. doi:10.1369/jhc.2009.953604
- Makala LHC, Baban B, Lemos H, El-Awady AR, Chandler PR, Hou D-Y, et al. Leishmania major attenuates host immunity by stimulating local indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase expression. J Infect Dis (2011) 203:715–25. doi:10.1093/infdis/ jiq095
- Murakami Y, Hoshi M, Hara A, Takemura M, Arioka Y, Yamamoto Y, et al. Inhibition of increased indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase activity attenuates *Toxoplasma gondii* replication in the lung during acute infection. *Cytokine* (2012) 59:245–51. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2012.04.022
- Fox JM, Sage LK, Huang L, Barber J, Klonowski KD, Mellor AL, et al. Inhibition of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase enhances the T-cell response to influenza virus infection. J Gen Virol (2013) 94:1451–61. doi:10.1099/vir.0.053124-0

- Sage LK, Fox JM, Mellor AL, Tompkins SM, Tripp RA. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO) activity during the primary immune response to influenza infection modifies the memory T cell response to influenza challenge. *Viral Immunol* (2014) 27:112–23. doi:10.1089/vim.2013.0105
- Wang XF, Wang HS, Wang H, Zhang F, Wang KF, Guo Q, et al. The role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) in immune tolerance: focus on macrophage polarization of THP-1 cells. *Cell Immunol* (2014) 289:42–8. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.02.005
- Albina JE, Mills CD, Henry WL, Caldwell MD. Temporal expression of different pathways of 1-arginine metabolism in healing wounds. *J Immunol* (1990) 144:3877–80.
- Modolell M, Choi B-S, Ryan RO, Hancock M, Titus RG, Abebe T, et al. Local suppression of T cell responses by arginase-induced L-arginine depletion in nonhealing leishmaniasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2009) 3:e480. doi:10.1371/ journal.pntd.0000480
- El-Gayar S, Thuring-Nahler H, Pfeilschifter J, Rollinghoff M, Bogdan C. Translational control of inducible nitric oxide synthase by IL-13 and arginine availability in inflammatory macrophages. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:4561–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4561
- Munder M, Choi B-S, Rogers M, Kropf P. L-Arginine deprivation impairs Leishmania major-specific T-cell responses. Eur J Immunol (2009) 39:2161–72. doi:10.1002/eji.200839041
- 33. Pessanha AP, Martins RA, Mattos-Guaraldi AL, Vianna A, Moreira LO. Arginase-1 expression in granulomas of tuberculosis patients. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* (2012) 66:265–8. doi:10.1111/j.1574-695X.2012.01012.x
- 34. Mattila JT, Ojo OO, Kepka-Lenhart D, Marino S, Kim JH, Eum SY, et al. Microenvironments in tuberculous granulomas are delineated by distinct populations of macrophage subsets and expression of nitric oxide synthase and arginase isoforms. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:773–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1300113
- 35. Abebe T, Hailu A, Woldeyes M, Mekonen W, Bilcha K, Cloke T, et al. Local increase of arginase activity in lesions of patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis in Ethiopia. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2012) 6:e1684. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd. 0001684
- Serbina NV, Salazar-mather TP, Biron CA, Kuziel WA, Pamer EG. TNF/iNOSproducing dendritic cells mediate innate immune defense against bacterial infection University of Texas at Austin. *Immunity* (2003) 19:59–70. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00171-7
- El Kasmi KC, Qualls JE, Pesce JT, Smith AM, Thompson RW, Henao-Tamayo M, et al. Toll-like receptor-induced arginase 1 in macrophages thwarts effective immunity against intracellular pathogens. *Nat Immunol* (2008) **9**:1399–406. doi:10.1038/ni.1671
- Adams LB, Hibbs JB, Taintor RR, Krahenbuhl JL. Microbiostatic effect of murine-activated macrophages for *Toxoplasma gondii*. Role for synthesis of inorganic nitrogen oxides from L-arginine. *J Immunol* (1990) 144:2725–9.
- Ong Y-C, Reese ML, Boothroyd JC. *Toxoplasma* rhoptry protein 16 (ROP16) subverts host function by direct tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT6. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:28731–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.112359
- Osorio EY, Zhao W, Espitia C, Saldarriaga O, Hawel L, Byus CV, et al. Progressive visceral leishmaniasis is driven by dominant parasite-induced STAT6 activation and STAT6-dependent host arginase 1 expression. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002417. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002417
- 41. Butcher BA, Fox BA, Rommereim LM, Kim SG, Maurer KJ, Yarovinsky F, et al. *Toxoplasma gondii* rhoptry kinase ROP16 activates STAT3 and STAT6 resulting in cytokine inhibition and arginase-1-dependent growth control. *PLoS Pathog* (2011) 7:e1002236. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002236
- Iniesta V, Carcelén J, Molano I, Pablo M, Peixoto V, Redondo E, et al. Arginase I induction during *Leishmania major* infection mediates the development of disease. *Infect Immun* (2005) **73**(9):6085–90. doi:10.1128/IAI.73.9.6085
- 43. Kropf P, Fuentes JM, Fähnrich E, Arpa L, Herath S, Weber V, et al. Arginase and polyamine synthesis are key factors in the regulation of experimental leishmaniasis in vivo. FASEB J (2005) 19:1000–2. doi:10.1096/fj.04-3416fje
- 44. Da Silva MFL, Floeter-Winter LM. Arginase in *Leishmania. Subcell Biochem* (2014) **74**:103–17. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-7305-9_4
- Pesce JT, Ramalingam TR, Mentink-Kane MM, Wilson MS, El Kasmi KC, Smith AM, et al. Arginase-1-expressing macrophages suppress Th2 cytokinedriven inflammation and fibrosis. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5:e1000371. doi:10. 1371/journal.ppat.1000371

- Herbert DR, Orekov T, Roloson A, Ilies M, Perkins C, O'Brien W, et al. Arginase I suppresses IL-12/IL-23p40-driven intestinal inflammation during acute schistosomiasis. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:6438–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0902009
- Campbell L, Saville CR, Murray PJ, Cruickshank SM, Hardman MJ. Local arginase 1 activity is required for cutaneous wound healing. *J Invest Dermatol* (2013) 133:2461–70. doi:10.1038/jid.2013.164
- 48. Obata-Ninomiya K, Ishiwata K, Tsutsui H, Nei Y, Yoshikawa S, Kawano Y, et al. The skin is an important bulwark of acquired immunity against intestinal helminths. J Exp Med (2013) 210:2583–95. doi:10.1084/jem.20130761
- Anthony RM, Urban JF, Alem F, Hamed HA, Rozo CT, Boucher J-L, et al. Memory T(H)2 cells induce alternatively activated macrophages to mediate protection against nematode parasites. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:955–60. doi:10.1038/ nm1451
- 50. Esser-von Bieren J, Mosconi I, Guiet R, Piersgilli A, Volpe B, Chen F, et al. Antibodies trap tissue migrating helminth larvae and prevent tissue damage by driving IL-4Rα-independent alternative differentiation of macrophages. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) **9**:e1003771. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003771
- Rahat MA, Bitterman H, Lahat N. Molecular mechanisms regulating macrophage response to hypoxia. *Front Immunol* (2011) 2:45. doi:10.3389/ fimmu.2011.00045
- Kempner BYW. The nature of leukemic blood cells as determined by metabolism. J Clin Invest (1938) 18(3):291–300. doi:10.1172/JCI101045
- Shehade H, Oldenhove G, Moser M. Hypoxia in the intestine or solid tumors: a beneficial or deleterious alarm signal? *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(9):2550–7. doi:10.1002/eji.201444719
- Burke B, Giannoudis A, Corke KP, Gill D, Wells M, Ziegler-Heitbrock L, et al. Hypoxia-induced gene expression in human macrophages: implications for ischemic tissues and hypoxia-regulated gene therapy. *Am J Pathol* (2003) 163:1233–43. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63483-9
- Cramer T, Yamanishi Y, Clausen BE, Förster I, Pawlinski R, Mackman N, et al. HIF-1alpha is essential for myeloid cell-mediated inflammation. *Cell* (2003) 112:645–57. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00154-5
- Zinkernagel AS, Peyssonnaux C, Johnson RS, Nizet V. Pharmacologic augmentation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha with mimosine boosts the bactericidal capacity of phagocytes. J Infect Dis (2008) 197:214–7. doi:10.1086/524843
- 57. Okumura CYM, Hollands A, Tran DN, Olson J, Dahesh S, von Köckritz-Blickwede M, et al. A new pharmacological agent (AKB-4924) stabilizes hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) and increases skin innate defenses against bacterial infection. J Mol Med (Berl) (2012) 90:1079–89. doi:10.1007/s00109-012-0882-3
- 58. Peyssonnaux C, Datta V, Cramer T, Doedens A, Theodorakis EA, Gallo RL, et al. HIF-1 α expression regulates the bactericidal capacity of phagocytes. *J Clin Invest* (2005) **115**:1806–15. doi:10.1172/JCI23865.1806
- Acosta-Iborra B, Elorza A, Olazabal IM, Martín-Cofreces NB, Martin-Puig S, Miró M, et al. Macrophage oxygen sensing modulates antigen presentation and phagocytic functions involving IFN-gamma production through the HIF-1 alpha transcription factor. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:3155–64. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0801710
- Mahnke A, Meier RJ, Schatz V, Hofmann J, Castiglione K, Schleicher U, et al. Hypoxia in *Leishmania major* skin lesions impairs the NO-dependent leishmanicidal activity of macrophages. *J Invest Dermatol* (2014) 134(9):2339–46. doi:10.1038/jid.2014.121
- Casazza A, Laoui D, Wenes M, Rizzolio S, Bassani N, Mambretti M, et al. Impeding macrophage entry into hypoxic tumor areas by Sema3A/Nrp1 signaling blockade inhibits angiogenesis and restores antitumor immunity. *Cancer Cell* (2013) 24:695–709. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2013.11.007
- Colegio OR, Chu N-Q, Szabo AL, Chu T, Rhebergen AM, Jairam V, et al. Functional polarization of tumour-associated macrophages by tumour-derived lactic acid. *Nature* (2014) 513(7519):559–63. doi:10.1038/nature13490
- Nairz M, Schroll A, Sonnweber T, Weiss G. The struggle for iron a metal at the host-pathogen interface. *Cell Microbiol* (2010) 12:1691–702. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2010.01529.x
- Silva-Gomes S, Vale-Costa S, Appelberg R, Gomes MS. Iron in intracellular infection: to provide or to deprive? *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* (2013) 3:96. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2013.00096
- Cassat JE, Skaar EP. Iron in infection and immunity. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 13:509–19. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.04.010

- Recalcati S, Locati M, Marini A, Santambrogio P, Zaninotto F, De Pizzol M, et al. Differential regulation of iron homeostasis during human macrophage polarized activation. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**:824–35. doi:10.1002/eji. 200939889
- Chawla A. Control of macrophage activation and function by PPARs. *Circ Res* (2010) 106:1559–69. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.216523
- Kiss M, Czimmerer Z, Nagy L. The role of lipid-activated nuclear receptors in shaping macrophage and dendritic cell function: from physiology to pathology. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2013) 132:264–86. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013.05.044
- Malur A, McCoy AJ, Arce S, Barna BP, Kavuru MS, Malur AG, et al. Deletion of PPAR gamma in alveolar macrophages is associated with a Th-1 pulmonary inflammatory response. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:5816–22. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0803504
- Odegaard JI, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Goforth MH, Morel CR, Subramanian V, Mukundan L, et al. Macrophage-specific PPARgamma controls alternative activation and improves insulin resistance. *Nature* (2007) 447:1116–20. doi:10.1038/nature05894
- Tsalikis J, Croitoru DO, Philpott DJ, Girardin SE. Nutrient sensing and metabolic stress pathways in innate immunity. *Cell Microbiol* (2013) 15:1632–41. doi:10.1111/cmi.12165
- Brunton J, Steele S, Ziehr B, Moorman N, Kawula T. Feeding uninvited guests: mTOR and AMPK set the table for intracellular pathogens. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003552. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003552
- Steinberg GR, Schertzer JD. AMPK promotes macrophage fatty acid oxidative metabolism to mitigate inflammation: implications for diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) 92:340–5. doi:10.1038/icb.2014.11
- 74. Sag D, Carling D, Stout RD, Suttles J. Adenosine 5'-monophosphate-activated protein kinase promotes macrophage polarization to an anti-inflammatory functional phenotype. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:8633–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 181.12.8633
- 75. Mounier R, Théret M, Arnold L, Cuvellier S, Bultot L, Göransson O, et al. AMPKα1 regulates macrophage skewing at the time of resolution of inflammation during skeletal muscle regeneration. *Cell Metab* (2013) 18:251–64. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.06.017
- 76. Almeida PE, Carneiro AB, Silva AR, Bozza PT. PPARγ expression and function in mycobacterial infection: roles in lipid metabolism, immunity, and bacterial killing. *PPAR Res* (2012) **2012**:383829. doi:10.1155/2012/383829
- 77. Almeida PE, Roque NR, Magalhães KG, Mattos KA, Teixeira L, Maya-Monteiro C, et al. Differential TLR2 downstream signaling regulates lipid metabolism and cytokine production triggered by *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG infection. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1841:97–107. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2013.10.008
- Rajaram MVS, Brooks MN, Morris JD, Torrelles JB, Azad AK, Schlesinger LS. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* activates human macrophage peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma linking mannose receptor recognition to regulation of immune responses. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:929–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000866
- 79. Duque-Correa MA, Kühl AA, Rodriguez PC, Zedler U, Schommer-Leitner S, Rao M, et al. Macrophage arginase-1 controls bacterial growth and pathology in hypoxic tuberculosis granulomas. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(38):E4024–32. doi:10.1073/pnas.1408839111
- Gomes MS, Boelaert JR, Appelberg R. Role of iron in experimental *Mycobacterium avium* infection. J Clin Virol (2001) 20(3):117–22. doi:10.1016/S1386-6532(00)00135-9
- Weiss G, Werner-Felmayer G, Werner ER, Grünewald K, Wachter H, Hentze MW. Iron regulates nitric oxide synthase activity by controlling nuclear transcription. J Exp Med (1994) 180:969–76. doi:10.1084/jem.180.3.969
- Pappas G, Papadimitriou P, Akritidis N, Christou L, Tsianos EV. The new global map of human brucellosis. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2006) 6:91–9. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70382-6
- Xavier MN, Winter MG, Spees AM, Den Hartigh AB, Nguyen K, Roux CM, et al. PPARγ-mediated increase in glucose availability sustains chronic *Brucella abortus* infection in alternatively activated macrophages. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 14:159–70. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.07.009
- Roop RM. Metal acquisition and virulence in *Brucella. Anim Health Res Rev* (2012) 13:10–20. doi:10.1017/S1466252312000047
- Jiang X, Baldwin CL. Iron augments macrophage-mediated killing of *Brucella abortus* alone and in conjunction with interferon-gamma. *Cell Immunol* (1993) 148:397–407. doi:10.1006/cimm.1993.1121

- Monack DM, Mueller A, Falkow S. Persistent bacterial infections: the interface of the pathogen and the host immune system. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2004) 2:747–65. doi:10.1038/nrmicro955
- McCoy MW, Moreland SM, Detweiler CS. Hemophagocytic macrophages in murine typhoid fever have an anti-inflammatory phenotype. *Infect Immun* (2012) 80:3642–9. doi:10.1128/IAI.00656-12
- Eisele NA, Ruby T, Jacobson A, Manzanillo PS, Cox JS, Lam L, et al. Salmonella require the fatty acid regulator PPAR& for the establishment of a metabolic environment essential for long-term persistence. *Cell Host Microbe* (2013) 14:171–82. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2013.07.010
- Chan MM, Adapala N, Chen C. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorγ-mediated polarization of macrophages in *Leishmania* infection. *PPAR Res* (2012) 2012:796235. doi:10.1155/2012/796235
- Lecoeur H, Giraud E, Prévost MC, Milon G, Lang T. Reprogramming neutral lipid metabolism in mouse dendritic leucocytes hosting live *Leishmania amazonensis* amastigotes. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2013) 7(6):e2276. doi:10.1371/ journal.pntd.0002276
- Herber DL, Cao W, Nefedova Y, Novitskiy SV, Nagaraj S, Tyurin VA, et al. Lipid accumulation and dendritic cell dysfunction in cancer. *Nat Med* (2010) 16:880–6. doi:10.1038/nm.2172
- 92. Wanderley JLM, Moreira MEC, Benjamin A, Bonomo AC, Barcinski MA. Mimicry of apoptotic cells by exposing phosphatidylserine participates in the establishment of amastigotes of *Leishmania* (*L*) *amazonensis* in mammalian hosts. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:1834–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1834
- Fadok VA, Voelker DR, Campbell PA, Cohen JJ, Bratton DL, Henson PM. Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. *J Immunol* (1992) 148:2207–16.
- Greenberg ME, Sun M, Zhang R, Febbraio M, Silverstein R, Hazen SL. Oxidized phosphatidylserine-CD36 interactions play an essential role in macrophagedependent phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2613–25. doi:10.1084/jem.20060370
- 95. Lefèvre L, Lugo-Villarino G, Meunier E, Valentin A, Olagnier D, Authier H, et al. The C-type lectin receptors dectin-1, MR, and SIGNR3 contribute both positively and negatively to the macrophage response to *Leishmania infantum*. *Immunity* (2013) **38**:1038–49. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.010
- Cowley SC, Elkins KL. Immunity to Francisella. Front Microbiol (2011) 2:26. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2011.00026
- Shirey KA, Cole LE, Keegan AD, Vogel SN. *Francisella tularensis* live vaccine strain induces macrophage alternative activation as a survival mechanism. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:4159–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.4159
- 98. Crane DD, Ireland R, Alinger JB, Small P, Bosio CM. Lipids derived from virulent *Francisella tularensis* broadly inhibit pulmonary inflammation via toll-like receptor 2 and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2013) **20**:1531–40. doi:10.1128/CVI.00319-13
- Abdullah Z, Geiger S, Nino-Castro A, Böttcher JP, Muraliv E, Gaidt M, et al. Lack of PPARγ in myeloid cells confers resistance to *Listeria monocytogenes* infection. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(5):e37349. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037349
- 100. Jensen KDC, Wang Y, Wojno EDT, Shastri AJ, Hu K, Cornel L, et al. *Toxoplasma* polymorphic effectors determine macrophage polarization and intestinal inflammation. *Cell Host Microbe* (2011) **9**:472–83. doi:10.1016/j.chom. 2011.04.015
- 101. Washburn ML, Bility MT, Zhang L, Kovalev GI, Buntzman A, Frelinger JA, et al. A humanized mouse model to study hepatitis C virus infection, immune response, and liver disease. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 140:1334–44. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.001
- Urban JF, Noben-Trauth N, Donaldson DD, Madden KB, Morris SC, Collins M, et al. IL-13, IL-4Ra, and Stat6 are required for the expulsion of the gastrointestinal nematode parasite *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*. *Immunity* (1998) 8:255–64. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80477-X
- 103. Serghides L, Patel SN, Ayi K, Lu Z, Gowda DC, Liles WC, et al. Rosiglitazone modulates the innate immune response to Plasmodium falciparum infection

and improves outcome in experimental cerebral malaria. J Infect Dis (2009) 199:1536–45. doi:10.1086/598222

- 104. Serghides L, Kain KC. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gammaretinoid X receptor agonists increase CD36-dependent phagocytosis of Plasmodium falciparum-parasitized erythrocytes and decrease malariainduced TNF-alpha secretion by monocytes/macrophages. J Immunol (2001) 166:6742–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.11.6742
- 105. Skorokhod OA, Alessio M, Mordmüller B, Arese P, Schwarzer E. Hemozoin (malarial pigment) inhibits differentiation and maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells: a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma-mediated effect. *J Immunol* (2004) **173**:4066–74. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.173.6.4066
- 106. Mishra BB, Gundra UM, Teale JM. STAT6-/- mice exhibit decreased cells with alternatively activated macrophage phenotypes and enhanced disease severity in murine neurocysticercosis. J Neuroimmunol (2011) 232:26–34. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2010.09.029
- 107. Bhatia S, Fei M, Yarlagadda M, Qi Z, Akira S, Saijo S, et al. Rapid host defense against Aspergillus fumigatus involves alveolar macrophages with a predominance of alternatively activated phenotype. PLoS One (2011) 6(1):e15943. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015943
- 108. Davis MJ, Tsang TM, Qiu Y, Dayrit JK, Freij JB, Huffnagle GB, et al. Macrophage M1/M2 polarization dynamically adapts to changes in cytokine microenvironments in *Cryptococcus neoformans* infection. *MBio* (2013) 4:e264–213. doi:10.1128/mBio.00264-13.Editor
- 109. Arora S, Olszewski MA, Tsang TM, McDonald RA, Toews GB, Huffnagle GB. Effect of cytokine interplay on macrophage polarization during chronic pulmonary infection with *Cryptococcus neoformans. Infect Immun* (2011) 79:1915–26. doi:10.1128/IAI.01270-10
- 110. Müller U, Stenzel W, Köhler G, Werner C, Polte T, Hansen G, et al. IL-13 induces disease-promoting type 2 cytokines, alternatively activated macrophages and allergic inflammation during pulmonary infection of mice with *Cryptococcus neoformans. J Immunol* (2007) **179**:5367–77. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.8. 5367
- 111. O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**:1098–102. doi:10.1126/science. 1178334
- 112. Corsetti PP, de Almeida LA, Carvalho NB, Azevedo V, Silva TMA, Teixeira HC, et al. Lack of endogenous IL-10 enhances production of proinflammatory cytokines and leads to *Brucella abortus* clearance in mice. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(9):e74729. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074729
- 113. Peyron P, Vaubourgeix J, Poquet Y, Levillain F, Botanch C, Bardou F, et al. Foamy macrophages from tuberculous patients' granulomas constitute a nutrient-rich reservoir for *M. tuberculosis* persistence. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4(11):e1000204. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000204

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 23 July 2014; accepted: 10 November 2014; published online: 26 November 2014.

Citation: Muraille E, Leo O and Moser M (2014) Th1/Th2 paradigm extended: macrophage polarization as an unappreciated pathogen-driven escape mechanism? Front. Immunol. 5:603. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00603

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Muraille, Leo and Moser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Priming dendritic cells for Th2 polarization: lessons learned from helminths and implications for metabolic disorders

Leonie Hussaarts¹, Maria Yazdanbakhsh¹ and Bruno Guigas^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Parasitology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

² Department of Molecular Cell Biology, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

António Gil Castro, University of Minho, Portugal David Escors, University College London, UK

*Correspondence:

Bruno Guigas, Department of Parasitology, Leiden University Medical Center, P.O. Box 9600, Postzone L40-Q, Leiden 2300 RC, Netherlands e-mail: b.g.a.guigas@lumc.nl Nearly one quarter of the world's population is infected with helminth parasites. A common feature of helminth infections is the manifestation of a type 2 immune response, characterized by T helper 2 (Th2) cells that mediate anti-helminth immunity. In addition, recent literature describes a close association between type 2 immune responses and wound repair, suggesting that a Th2 response may concurrently mediate repair of parasite-induced damage. The molecular mechanisms that govern Th2 responses are poorly understood, although it is clear that dendritic cells (DCs), which are the most efficient antigen-presenting cells in the immune system, play a central role. Here, we review the molecular mechanisms by which DCs polarize Th2 cells, examining both helminth antigens and helminth-mediated tissue damage as Th2-inducing triggers. Finally, we discuss the implication of these findings in the context of metabolic disorders, as recent literature indicates that various aspects of the Th2-associated inflammatory response contribute to metabolic homeostasis.

Keywords: antigen-presenting cells, dendritic cells, helminth, Th2 cells, obesity, metabolic diseases, insulin resistance, type 2 inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Helminths are parasitic worms that infect one quarter of the world's population. They classically evoke strong type 2 immune responses characterized by the induction of T helper 2 (Th2) cells, which secrete cytokines like IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. These promote IgE production by B cells, and recruitment of eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. Together, these events control infection and/or mediate parasite expulsion through smooth muscle contraction and mucus production [reviewed in Ref. (1, 2)].

Helminths enter, migrate, and exit through their host, causing considerable tissue damage along the way. Therefore, it may not be surprising that recent literature has described a close association between type 2 immune responses and wound repair (3–6). In this context, a Th2-cell associated response would contribute to both wound repair and control of parasite infection, and seems beneficial over a type 1 response, which harbors a greater risk of inducing collateral tissue damage (1). In addition, various aspects of the type 2 immune response have been shown to contribute to metabolic homeostasis (7). Indeed, helminths were recently found to protect against diet-induced insulin resistance (8, 9), and a negative association exists between helminth infection and metabolic syndrome (10).

The mechanisms that initiate Th2 responses are not fully understood, even though it is clear that dendritic cells (DCs), the most efficient antigen-presenting cells (APCs) in the immune system, play a crucial role (11). Since helminths are the strongest natural inducers of type 2 immune responses, many advances in dissecting the mechanisms underlying Th2 polarization have been made using either models of helminth infection or helminth-derived products. In this Mini Review, we discuss recent advances in the field, examining both helminth antigens and helminth-mediated tissue damage as triggers for the initiation of a Th2 response. In addition, we discuss the potential implications of these findings in the context of metabolic disorders.

DENDRITIC CELL SUBSETS ASSOCIATED WITH Th2 POLARIZATION

The importance of DCs in Th2 skewing is highlighted by studies showing that depletion of CD11c⁺ DCs interferes with the induction of a Th2 response to Schistosoma mansoni and Heligmosomoides polygyrus (12-14). Interestingly, it has become increasingly clear that distinct DC subsets induce different Th responses [reviewed in Ref. (11, 15)], and in the last few years, several studies analyzed the role of DC subsets in the initiation of Th2 responses to helminth infection. For example, two independent groups recently showed that the development of a Th2 response to Nippostrongylus brasiliensis depends on dermal CD301b⁺ DCs (16, 17). Specifically, depletion of CD301b⁺ DCs prior to infection reduces IL-4 production by CD4⁺ T cells, without affecting the percentage of T follicular helper (Tfh) cells or germinal center B cells (16). Mechanistically, Th2-inducing PDL2⁺CD301b⁺ DCs were shown to depend on DC-specific expression of the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) (17). In line with these findings, CD11cintMHCIIhi dermal DCs expressing PDL2 and CD301b were also identified as a Th2-priming DC subset in *N. brasiliensis* infection (18). Of note, CD301b⁺ DCs alone are insufficient to generate a Th2 response in vitro (17) or in vivo (16), suggesting that additional requirements exist. For example, optimal localization of DCs within the lymph node may play a crucial role. In H. polygyrus infection, CXCR5-expressing CD11c⁺ DCs migrate to the lymph node and localize adjacent

to B cell follicles (19). Depletion of CXCR5 or B cell-derived lymphotoxin alters the localization of the DCs and, as a consequence, impairs the development of Tfh and Th2 cells (19). In addition, it has been suggested that DCs require signals from basophils (20) and group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) (21) to prime Th2 responses to allergens. Together, these studies suggest that specific DC subsets, as well as the microenvironment in which these subsets encounter $CD4^+$ T cells, are important for Th2 development *in vivo*.

PRIMING DENDRITIC CELLS FOR Th2 POLARIZATION SENSING HELMINTH-DERIVED ANTIGENS

Dendritic cells are equipped with pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize a wide array of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). The classical paradigm describes that triggering of PRRs, including the Toll-like receptors (TLRs), RIG-I-like receptors, NOD-like receptors, scavenger receptors, and C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), induces DC maturation and subsequent antigen-specific activation of Th cells (22).

While signaling through most TLRs induces Th1/Th17 responses (23), Th2-inducing helminth-derived molecules have also been described to interact with DCs through TLR2, 3, and 4 (24-27). Although the schistosome-related glycan LNFPIII, which contains Lewis X (Le^X) trisaccharides, requires TLR4 for Th2 skewing (28), various studies suggest that TLRs are dispensable for Th2 polarization by helminth antigens. For example, bone marrowderived DCs (BMDCs) from TLR2- and TLR4-knockout mice can still skew Th2 when pulsed with S. mansoni soluble egg antigens (SEA) (29), and the TLR adaptor protein MyD88 is not required for Th2 skewing by SEA-stimulated splenic DCs (30). Interestingly, human monocyte-derived dendritic cells (moDCs) stimulated with phosphatidylserine lipids from schistosomes induce IL-10producing T cells through TLR2 (25). Therefore, helminth products may employ TLRs for the induction of regulatory responses, but it seems that other PRRs are required for the initiation of a Th2 response.

Indeed, CLRs that sense helminth glycans play an important role in Th2 skewing. For example, SEA is internalized by moDCs through DC-specific ICAM-3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN), macrophage galactose-type lectin (MGL), and mannose receptor (MR) (31), and binds to Dectin-2 on BMDCs (32). Binding of SEA to DC-SIGN was shown to depend on Le^X (33), and a recent study showed that blocking DC-SIGN-associated signaling inhibits Th2 skewing (34). Likewise, excretory/secretory products from the tapeworm Taenia crassiceps (TcES) bind MR and MGL on BMDCs (35), and the Th2-skewing capacity of TcES is glycandependent (36). Since SEA and ES mixtures contain many different glycoproteins, it is difficult to pinpoint the receptor and/or the mechanism responsible for Th2 polarization. Therefore, an important contribution to the field was made when omega-1, a small glycoprotein expressing Le^X residues (37), was identified as the major immunomodulatory component in SEA (38, 39). Generation of a glycosylation mutant revealed that omega-1 requires its glycans to condition moDCs for Th2 skewing, and to prime Th2 responses both in vitro and in vivo. Specifically, MR but not DC-SIGN, mediates recognition and internalization of omega-1 (40). In sum, these studies indicate that helminth-derived antigen

preparations can bind a variety of PRRs, which may induce distinct intracellular events that promote Th2 polarization.

SENSING EPITHELIAL ALARMINS

Modulation of DCs for Th2 priming can also take place in the absence of PRR signals, in response to epithelium-derived cytokine alarmins that are released with tissue damage (41). For example, stimulation of human myeloid DCs with thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) primes naïve T cells to produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-13, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (42). However, the role of TSLP in helminth infection remains controversial. While TSLP receptor (TSLPR) knockout mice fail to mount a protective Th2 response to *Trichuris muris* (43, 44), they do develop a Th2 response during infection with *S. mansoni* (45), *H. polygyrus* or *N. brasiliensis* (44). Interestingly, basophils rather than DCs were recently described to act as TSLP-dependent APCs for Th2 skewing in *Trichinella spiralis* infection (46).

A second relevant alarmin is IL-33, as stimulation of BMDCs with this cytokine promotes Th2 development (47, 48). In line with these findings, IL-33 treatment improves Th2 cytokine production and expulsion of *T. muris* (49), and mice deficient for the IL-33 receptor T1/ST2 fail to develop a Th2 response following injection with *S. mansoni* eggs (50). Importantly, T1/ST2 is not only present on DCs but also on lymphocyte subsets including ILC2s, which were shown to mediate *N. brasiliensis* expulsion in an IL-33-dependent manner (51).

Lastly, IL-25 induces the production of type 2 cytokines by ILCs, and IL-25-knockout mice show delayed initiation of type 2 cytokine responses and *N. brasiliensis* expulsion (52). Although IL-25 has not been described to act directly on DCs, it was shown to enhance cytokine production by Th2 memory cells activated by TSLP-conditioned myeloid DCs (53). Thus, multiple alarmins are released by epithelial cells and may act in concert on various immune cell types, to mediate the induction of a Th2 response against helminths or their eggs.

INTRACELLULAR MECHANISMS ASSOCIATED WITH Th2 POLARIZATION Signaling-dependent mechanisms

Pattern recognition receptor-mediated signaling classically induces DC maturation via mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) (54). However, in contrast to microbial ligands, helminth products often fail to induce classical signs of maturation and are well-known to downregulate TLR-mediated maturation (31, 38, 55–60). Indeed, unlike many TLR ligands, Th2-inducing compounds fail to phosphorylate p38 MAPK but instead promote phosphorylation of p42/p44 MAPK (ERK1/2) [reviewed in Ref. (61)]. ERK1/2 stabilizes c-Fos, and inhibiting either c-Fos or ERK1/2 enhances IL-12 production by moDCs (62), suggesting that activation of this pathway suppresses Th1-polarizing cytokines. Likewise, TSLP promotes ERK1/2 phosphorylation (63) and fails to induce IL-12 production by myeloid DCs (42, 64).

It was noted that the NF- κ B signaling pathway also seems to be involved in Th2 polarization, as SEA- or LNFPIII-stimulated BMDCs from NF- κ B1 knockout mice fail to prime a Th2 response (65, 66). Furthermore, it was recently demonstrated that Le^X residues, via DC-SIGN, activate LSP1 in moDCs, leading to nuclear accumulation of the atypical NF- κ B family member Bcl3 and downregulation of IL-12 mRNA. These events also seem required for SEA-induced T cell polarization, since silencing either LSP1 or Bcl3 interferes with Th2 skewing (34). Similarly, the Th2-inducing capacity of TSLP was shown to involve activation of NF- κ B and STAT5 (63, 67).

Finally, SEA can signal through spleen tyrosine kinase (Syk) downstream of Dectin-2, activating the Nlrp3 inflammasome and increasing TLR-triggered release of IL-1 β by BMDCs. However, infection of various inflammasome-deficient mice with *S. mansoni* demonstrated that activation of this pathway does not seem to favor any particular Th response (32). Thus, helminth antigens can activate signaling, and certain members of the NF- κ B and ERK pathways in particular seem to play a role in Th2 polarization.

Signaling-independent mechanisms

In addition to signaling-dependent mechanisms, various helminth products harbor enzymatic activities that mediate Th2 skewing. For example, omega-1 depends on its RNase activity, which allows the molecule to cleave both ribosomal and messenger RNA, to downmodulate TLR-induced moDC maturation and IL-12 production, and to skew toward Th2 (40). Interestingly, various Th2-inducing allergens are also RNases (68, 69), as well as the endogenous eosinophil-derived neurotoxin that can amplify DC-mediated Th2 polarization (70). Together, these reports suggest that any RNase internalized by DCs may harbor Th2-priming capacities, through cleavage of ribosomal and/or messenger RNA. Similarly, a number of studies identified a role for cysteine protease inhibitors secreted by filarial nematodes (cystatins) in regulating host immune responses by interfering with antigen processing [reviewed in Ref. (71)]. Therefore, helminths may employ both signaling-dependent and independent mechanisms to condition DCs for Th2 skewing (**Figure 1**).

Of note, recent studies indicate that modulation of metabolic pathways within immune cells can regulate their function and, thereby, the outcome of the immune response (72). For example, BMDCs switch their core metabolism from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis upon TLR-ligation, and inhibition of this switch interferes with maturation, IL-12 expression, and the ability to induce $CD4^+$ T cell proliferation (73, 74). Among the underlying mechanisms, the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) was shown to control glycolytic metabolism (75, 76). Although we recently showed that mTOR is not involved in Th2 skewing by omega-1- or SEA-conditioned moDCs (77), the question whether helminths or their products affect glycolytic



reprograming in DCs, and how this relates to Th2 polarization, constitutes an exciting new area of research.

PRIMED DCs AND INITIATION OF T CELL POLARIZATION

A major difference between Th1 and Th2 development is that a Th1 response requires persistent production of Th1-polarizing cytokines, like IL-12, which are exclusively produced by APCs. By contrast, once primed DCs induce IL-4 production by a few activated Th cells, the Th2 response is self-sustained through autocrine production of IL-4 (78, 79). Therefore, in order to understand mechanisms of Th2 polarization, it is critical to identify the DCassociated polarizing signals that control early IL-4 production by activated T cells.

SOLUBLE FACTORS AND SURFACE MOLECULES

As discussed above, DCs stimulated with helminth molecules or TSLP fail to express IL-12. Moreover, injection of IL-12 can block the development of a Th2 response to *S. mansoni* eggs (80). These findings led to the so-called "default concept," which states that Th2 differentiation spontaneously occurs in the absence of a Th1-priming signal like IL-12. However, mice lacking IL-12 do not develop a Th2 response to microbial pathogens (81), and blocking the mTOR pathway in LPS-stimulated moDCs skews a potent Th2 response without suppressing IL-12 secretion (77), suggesting that there are active signals involved in Th2 differentiation.

Such a signal may be provided by a soluble factor secreted by DCs, like RELMa, which was shown to promote IL-10 and IL-13 secretion by lymph node cells following adoptive transfer of SEA-stimulated BMDCs (82). However, supernatants from SEAprimed moDCs do not skew toward Th2 (83), and neither SEAnor omega-1-stimulated BMDCs induce Th2 when separated from CD4⁺ T cells in transwells (39), indicating that an active polarizing signal in these studies is likely provided by surface molecules. Indeed, the Notch ligands Delta-4 and Jagged-2 have been linked to Th1 and Th2 polarization, respectively (84), and helminth antigens were shown to upregulate Jagged-2 on BMDCs (85, 86) and to suppress Delta-4 expression in moDCs (87). However, Jagged-2-deficient BMDCs can still skew Th2 when challenged with SEA (85, 86), suggesting that other molecules may be involved. For example, CD40 has been proposed to provide a polarizing signal, as its expression on SEA-stimulated BMDCs is required for the induction of a Th2 response (88), and mice lacking CD40 ligand suffer from impaired Th2 development during S. mansoni infection (89). Mechanistically, signaling through CD40 promotes OX40L expression, which is essential for optimal Th2 skewing by SEA-conditioned BMDCs (90) and moDCs (83), as well as TSLP-conditioned myeloid DCs (64). However, treatment with anti-OX40L does not significantly affect the Th2 response to N. brasiliensis infection (18), and it has been suggested that OX40L acts as a costimulatory molecule rather than a polarizing signal, since SEA-treated OX40L-knockout DCs induce Th2 cells, but fail to stimulate appropriate T cell expansion (90). Altogether, these studies suggest that there may not be one specific DC-associated molecule required for Th2 polarization, but rather a combination of signals that mediate both optimal T cell priming and expansion.

ROLE FOR THE T CELL RECEPTOR

Early reports have described that the antigen dose can determine the outcome of Th differentiation, with a high dose generally favoring Th1 development (91-93). These findings were confirmed in a recent report, which also indicated that Th1-inducing adjuvants promote a higher Ca²⁺ flux [representing T cell receptor (TCR)-signaling strength], and induce larger synapse size, than Th2-promoting molecules (94). In addition, it has been suggested that T cells activated by Th2-inducing ligands are less proliferative, as priming of splenic DCs with SEA reduces the frequency of CD4⁺ T cells progressing through the cell cycle, and druginduced arrest of cell cycle progression promotes Th2 polarization (30). Together, these observations suggest that helminth molecules may reduce TCR triggering, impairing T cell proliferation in favor of Th2 differentiation. Indeed, treatment of splenic DCs with SEA results in shorter T cell-DC interaction times and lower TCR signaling when compared to a Th1-inducing adjuvant (94). In addition, omega-1 reduces the capacity of BMDCs to form T cell-DC conjugates and diminishes the frequency of CD4⁺ T cells progressing through the cell cycle, possibly through modification of actin morphology (39). Mechanistically, interaction between T cells and DCs was shown to depend at least in part on the costimulatory molecule CD80 (94). As discussed above, helminth products fail to induce upregulation of costimulatory molecules, which may also explain why DCs treated with helminth molecules are less capable of forming stable interactions with T cells.

IMPLICATIONS FOR METABOLIC DISORDERS

The induction of a type 2 immune response has multiple functions. In the context of helminth infection, it mediates both parasite clearance and enhances wound healing. In addition, it has long been known that type 2 inflammatory responses contribute to the pathogenesis of allergy and asthma (95). Recently, however, it has become clear that multiple facets of the type 2 immune response are also involved in metabolic regulation (7). For just one example, IL-4 can regulate the balance between fatty acid and glucose oxidation in hepatocytes (96). Studying the molecular mechanisms that helminths employ to govern Th2 polarization may therefore open novel avenues for the treatment of metabolic disorders.

METABOLIC DISORDERS AND TYPE 2 INFLAMMATION

A growing body of literature indicates that obesity is associated with chronic low-grade inflammation in metabolic organs. Enhanced infiltration of classically activated M1 macrophages, CD8⁺ T cells, and Th1 cells has been reported in both liver and adipose tissues (AT) (97). This represents a key etiological mechanism promoting tissue-specific insulin resistance and impairment in whole-body glucose homeostasis, which leads to an increased risk for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases. Interestingly, various reports have shown that Th2-inducing conditions, such as N. brasiliensis infection (8, 9), allergic inflammation (96), or SEA administration (98), improve insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance in diet-induced obese mice. In addition, both S. mansoni infection (99) and SEA administration (100) reduce the development of atherosclerotic lesions in mice. Furthermore, adoptive transfer of CD4⁺ T cells (mostly via Th2 cells) and IL-4 treatment can protect against diet-induced insulin resistance (96, 101). Lastly, type 2-associated ILC2s (102, 103) and eosinophils (8) were shown to play a crucial role in maintenance of whole-body metabolic homeostasis by sustaining AT alternatively activated M2 macrophages. These findings are in line with epidemiological studies indicating that infection with helminths inversely correlates with metabolic syndrome (104, 105).

THERAPEUTIC MANIPULATION OF DCs FOR THE TREATMENT OF METABOLIC DISORDERS

The ability of DCs to prime strong Th2 responses identifies these cells as an attractive target for therapeutic manipulation of the immune system in the context of metabolic disorders. DCs are widely studied as targets for development of vaccines and immunotherapies because of their capacity to regulate a wide array of T cell responses (106–108). It has been described that DCs accumulate in AT of obese patients and mice (109, 110), and therapeutic manipulation of DCs might also provide a new strategy for targeted treatment of metabolic disorders (**Figure 2**).

In terms of T cell priming, isolated AT $CD11c^+F4/80^{low}$ cells from obese mice were shown to preferentially induce Th17 responses (110), and AT $CD11b^+$ APCs isolated from insulinresistant mice promote Th1 polarization (111). However, since both AT macrophages and DCs can express CD11b, CD11c, and F4/80 (109), it is unclear which APC subset is responsible for these effects. In addition, targeting antigen to distinct DC subsets elicits distinct immune responses (112), and therefore, it remains to be determined whether AT DCs would be capable of polarizing Th2 responses in situ. These findings highlight the importance of studying AT-associated DC subsets, especially in humans, to identify appropriate subsets for therapeutic manipulation. Furthermore, it has been shown that antigen can efficiently be targeted to and processed by DCs in vivo using an antibody against CTL receptor DEC-205 (113, 114), a strategy which may be employed to target AT DCs. Toward this, a DC-restricted receptor on the appropriate subset needs to be identified. Lastly, directing Th2-inducing adjuvants to DCs requires single molecules that can easily be coupled to DC-specific ligands or antibodies. Therefore, proteins such as omega-1 hold promise (38, 39), since they provide a powerful tool to further dissect the molecular mechanisms underlying the induction of a DC-mediated Th2 response. In particular, the identification of the receptors and/or mediators involved in Th2 polarization will provide novel insights for the development of pharmaceutical agents that mimic helminth molecules in their modulation of DCs for Th2 skewing.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

As this review illustrates, helminth molecules can interact with a variety of receptors, that either bind or internalize antigens to condition DCs for Th2 skewing through signaling-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *In vivo*, specific Th2-associated DC subsets are simultaneously exposed to polarizing signals from other immune cells or damaged epithelium. Depending on the helminth species and its migration through the tissue, it is likely that these signals act in concert to ensure robust



FIGURE 2 | Putative effects of targeting DCs for Th2 polarization on adipose tissue inflammation and insulin sensitivity. Adipose tissues of obese patients and high-fat diet-fed mice are characterized by the accumulation of pro-inflammatory immune cells, like Th1 cells and M1 macrophages, which mediate tissue-specific insulin resistance through secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines like IFN-γ and TNFα. By contrast, M2 macrophages that secrete IL-10 protect against insulin resistance via multiple routes. For instance, IL-10 can act directly on adipocytes to potentiate insulin signaling, inhibit Th1 cells and M1 macrophages, and induce regulatory T cells (Tregs), thereby promoting adipose tissue insulin sensitivity and glucose disposal. The maintenance of M2 macrophages in adipose tissue depends on the presence of IL-4, which can be derived from Th2 cells or eosinophils. Novel treatment strategies may therefore focus on therapeutic manipulation of adipose tissue dendritic cells for Th2 polarization.

Th2 polarization, although there seems to be some redundancy. It is now recognized that type 2 immune responses can also regulate energy metabolism, and studying how helminths generate Th2 responses will not only shed light on the mechanisms that promote control of parasite infection and wound healing but may also identify pathways that contribute to metabolic homeostasis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Bart Everts for critically reading the manuscript. This work was supported by an EFSD/Lilly Research Grant Fellowship from the European Federation for the Study of Diabetes, a SPIN-KNAW Grant from the Royal Netherlands Academy of Sciences, the EU-funded project IDEA (HEALTH-F3-2009-241642), and a ZonMW TOP Grant from the Dutch Organization for Scientific Research (912-03-048).

REFERENCES

- Gause WC, Wynn TA, Allen JE. Type 2 immunity and wound healing: evolutionary refinement of adaptive immunity by helminths. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(8):607–14. doi:10.1038/nri3476
- Anthony RM, Rutitzky LI, Urban JF Jr, Stadecker MJ, Gause WC. Protective immune mechanisms in helminth infection. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2007) 7(12):975–87. doi:10.1038/nri2199
- Chen F, Liu Z, Wu W, Rozo C, Bowdridge S, Millman A, et al. An essential role for TH2-type responses in limiting acute tissue damage during experimental helminth infection. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(2):260–6. doi:10.1038/nm.2628
- Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, Abt MC, Alenghat T, Ziegler CG, Doering TA, et al. Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(11):1045–54. doi:10.1031/ni. 2131
- Herbert DR, Orekov T, Roloson A, Ilies M, Perkins C, O'Brien W, et al. Arginase I suppresses IL-12/IL-23p40-driven intestinal inflammation during acute schistosomiasis. J Immunol (2010) 184(11):6438–46. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0902009
- Pesce JT, Ramalingam TR, Mentink-Kane MM, Wilson MS, El Kasmi KC, Smith AM, et al. Arginase-1-expressing macrophages suppress Th2 cytokine-driven inflammation and fibrosis. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5(4):e1000371. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1000371
- Chawla A, Nguyen KD, Goh YP. Macrophage-mediated inflammation in metabolic disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11(11):738–49. doi:10.1038/nri3071
- Wu D, Molofsky AB, Liang HE, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Jouihan HA, Bando JK, et al. Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* (2011) 332(6026):243–7. doi:10.1126/ science.1201475
- Yang Z, Grinchuk V, Smith A, Qin B, Bohl JA, Sun R, et al. Parasitic nematodeinduced modulation of body weight and associated metabolic dysfunction in mouse models of obesity. *Infect Immun* (2013) 81(6):1905–14. doi:10.1128/ IAI.00053-13
- Wiria AE, Sartono E, Supali T, Yazdanbakhsh M. Helminth infections, type-2 immune response, and metabolic syndrome. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(7):e1004140. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004140
- Pulendran B, Tang H, Manicassamy S. Programming dendritic cells to induce T(H)2 and tolerogenic responses. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(8):647–55. doi:10. 1038/ni.1894
- Phythian-Adams AT, Cook PC, Lundie RJ, Jones LH, Smith KA, Barr TA, et al. CD11c depletion severely disrupts Th2 induction and development in vivo. J Exp Med (2010) 207(10):2089–96. doi:10.1084/jem.20100734
- Smith KA, Harcus Y, Garbi N, Hammerling GJ, MacDonald AS, Maizels RM. Type 2 innate immunity in helminth infection is induced redundantly and acts autonomously following CD11c(+) cell depletion. *Infect Immun* (2012) 80(10):3481–9. doi:10.1128/IAI.00436-12
- Smith KA, Hochweller K, Hammerling GJ, Boon L, MacDonald AS, Maizels RM. Chronic helminth infection promotes immune regulation in vivo through dominance of CD11cloC. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(12):7098–109. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1003636

- Briseno CG, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. Complementary diversification of dendritic cells and innate lymphoid cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2014) 29:69–78. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2014.04.006
- Kumamoto Y, Linehan M, Weinstein JS, Laidlaw BJ, Craft JE, Iwasaki A. CD301b(+) dermal dendritic cells drive T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity. *Immunity* (2013) **39**(4):733–43. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.029
- Gao Y, Nish SA, Jiang R, Hou L, Licona-Limon P, Weinstein JS, et al. Control of T helper 2 responses by transcription factor IRF4-dependent dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2013) **39**(4):722–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.028
- Connor LM, Tang SC, Camberis M, Le GG, Ronchese F. Helminth-conditioned dendritic cells prime CD4+ T cells to IL-4 production in vivo. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(6):2709–17. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400374
- Leon B, Ballesteros-Tato A, Browning JL, Dunn R, Randall TD, Lund FE. Regulation of T(H)2 development by CXCR5+ dendritic cells and lymphotoxin-expressing B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(7):681–90. doi:10. 1038/ni.2309
- 20. Tang H, Cao W, Kasturi SP, Ravindran R, Nakaya HI, Kundu K, et al. The T helper type 2 response to cysteine proteases requires dendritic cell-basophil cooperation via ROS-mediated signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2010) **11**(7):608–17. doi:10.1038/ni.1883
- Halim TY, Steer CA, Matha L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. *Immunity* (2014) 40(3):425–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.011
- Kapsenberg ML. Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(12):984–93. doi:10.1038/nri1246
- Iwasaki A, Medzhitov R. Regulation of adaptive immunity by the innate immune system. *Science* (2010) **327**(5963):291–5. doi:10.1126/science. 1183021
- 24. Aksoy E, Zouain CS, Vanhoutte F, Fontaine J, Pavelka N, Thieblemont N, et al. Double-stranded RNAs from the helminth parasite Schistosoma activate TLR3 in dendritic cells. J Biol Chem (2005) 280(1):277–83. doi:10.1074/jbc. M411223200
- 25. van der Kleij D, Latz E, Brouwers JF, Kruize YC, Schmitz M, Kurt-Jones EA, et al. A novel host-parasite lipid cross-talk. Schistosomal lyso-phosphatidylserine activates toll-like receptor 2 and affects immune polarization. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(50):48122–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M206941200
- 26. Goodridge HS, Marshall FA, Else KJ, Houston KM, Egan C, Al-Riyami L, et al. Immunomodulation via novel use of TLR4 by the filarial nematode phosphorylcholine-containing secreted product, ES-62. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(1):284–93. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.1.284
- Correale J, Farez M. Helminth antigens modulate immune responses in cells from multiple sclerosis patients through TLR2-dependent mechanisms. J Immunol (2009) 183(9):5999–6012. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900897
- Thomas PG, Carter MR, Atochina O, Da'Dara AA, Piskorska D, McGuire E, et al. Maturation of dendritic cell 2 phenotype by a helminth glycan uses a Tolllike receptor 4-dependent mechanism. J Immunol (2003) 171(11):5837–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5837
- Kane CM, Jung E, Pearce EJ. Schistosoma mansoni egg antigen-mediated modulation of Toll-like receptor (TLR)-induced activation occurs independently of TLR2, TLR4, and MyD88. *Infect Immun* (2008) 76(12):5754–9. doi:10.1128/IAI.00497-08
- Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Caspar P, Sher A. Parasite-induced Th2 polarization is associated with down-regulated dendritic cell responsiveness to Th1 stimuli and a transient delay in T lymphocyte cycling. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(4):2419–27. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2419
- 31. van LE, van Vliet SJ, Engering A, Garcia Vallejo JJ, Bank CM, Sanchez-Hernandez M, et al. Schistosoma mansoni soluble egg antigens are internalized by human dendritic cells through multiple C-type lectins and suppress TLR-induced dendritic cell activation. *Mol Immunol* (2007) 44(10):2605–15. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2006.12.012
- 32. Ritter M, Gross O, Kays S, Ruland J, Nimmerjahn F, Saijo S, et al. Schistosoma mansoni triggers Dectin-2, which activates the Nlrp3 inflammasome and alters adaptive immune responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(47):20459–64. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010337107
- 33. van D I, van Vliet SJ, Nyame AK, Cummings RD, Bank CM, Appelmelk B, et al. The dendritic cell-specific C-type lectin DC-SIGN is a receptor for Schistosoma mansoni egg antigens and recognizes the glycan antigen Lewis x. *Glycobiology* (2003) 13(6):471–8. doi:10.1093/glycob/cwg052

- Gringhuis SI, Kaptein TM, Wevers BA, Mesman AW, Geijtenbeek TB. Fucosespecific DC-SIGN signalling directs T helper cell type-2 responses via IKKepsilon- and CYLD-dependent Bcl3 activation. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3898. doi:10.1038/ncomms4898
- 35. Terrazas CA, Alcantara-Hernandez M, Bonifaz L, Terrazas LI, Satoskar AR. Helminth-excreted/secreted products are recognized by multiple receptors on DCs to block the TLR response and bias Th2 polarization in a cRAF dependent pathway. *FASEB J* (2013) 27(11):4547–60. doi:10.1096/fj.13-228932
- 36. Terrazas CA, Gomez-Garcia L, Terrazas LI. Impaired pro-inflammatory cytokine production and increased Th2-biasing ability of dendritic cells exposed to Taenia excreted/secreted antigens: a critical role for carbohydrates but not for STAT6 signaling. *Int J Parasitol* (2010) 40(9):1051–62. doi:10.1016/j.ijpara.2010.02.016
- Meevissen MH, Wuhrer M, Doenhoff MJ, Schramm G, Haas H, Deelder AM, et al. Structural characterization of glycans on omega-1, a major Schistosoma mansoni egg glycoprotein that drives Th2 responses. *J Proteome Res* (2010) 9(5):2630–42. doi:10.1021/pr100081c
- Everts B, Perona-Wright G, Smits HH, Hokke CH, van der Ham AJ, Fitzsimmons CM, et al. Omega-1, a glycoprotein secreted by Schistosoma mansoni eggs, drives Th2 responses. J Exp Med (2009) 206(8):1673–80. doi:10.1084/jem.20082460
- Steinfelder S, Andersen JF, Cannons JL, Feng CG, Joshi M, Dwyer D, et al. The major component in schistosome eggs responsible for conditioning dendritic cells for Th2 polarization is a T2 ribonuclease (omega-1). J Exp Med (2009) 206(8):1681–90. doi:10.1084/jem.20082462
- 40. Everts B, Hussaarts L, Driessen NN, Meevissen MH, Schramm G, van der Ham AJ, et al. Schistosome-derived omega-1 drives Th2 polarization by suppressing protein synthesis following internalization by the mannose receptor. *J Exp Med* (2012) **209**(10):1753–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20111381
- Swamy M, Jamora C, Havran W, Hayday A. Epithelial decision makers: in search of the 'epimmunome'. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(8):656–65. doi:10.1038/ ni.1905
- Soumelis V, Reche PA, Kanzler H, Yuan W, Edward G, Homey B, et al. Human epithelial cells trigger dendritic cell mediated allergic inflammation by producing TSLP. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3(7):673–80. doi:10.1038/ni805
- 43. Taylor BC, Zaph C, Troy AE, Du Y, Guild KJ, Comeau MR, et al. TSLP regulates intestinal immunity and inflammation in mouse models of helminth infection and colitis. *J Exp Med* (2009) **206**(3):655–67. doi:10.1084/jem.20081499
- 44. Massacand JC, Stettler RC, Meier R, Humphreys NE, Grencis RK, Marsland BJ, et al. Helminth products bypass the need for TSLP in Th2 immune responses by directly modulating dendritic cell function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(33):13968–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906367106
- Ramalingam TR, Pesce JT, Mentink-Kane MM, Madala S, Cheever AW, Comeau MR, et al. Regulation of helminth-induced Th2 responses by thymic stromal lymphopoietin. J Immunol (2009) 182(10):6452–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0900181
- 46. Giacomin PR, Siracusa MC, Walsh KP, Grencis RK, Kubo M, Comeau MR, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin-dependent basophils promote Th2 cytokine responses following intestinal helminth infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(9):4371–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200691
- Besnard AG, Togbe D, Guillou N, Erard F, Quesniaux V, Ryffel B. IL-33-activated dendritic cells are critical for allergic airway inflammation. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(6):1675–86. doi:10.1002/eji.201041033
- Eiwegger T, Akdis CA. IL-33 links tissue cells, dendritic cells and Th2 cell development in a mouse model of asthma. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(6):1535–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201141668
- Humphreys NE, Xu D, Hepworth MR, Liew FY, Grencis RK. IL-33, a potent inducer of adaptive immunity to intestinal nematodes. J Immunol (2008) 180(4):2443–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.4.2443
- Townsend MJ, Fallon PG, Matthews DJ, Jolin HE, McKenzie AN. T1/ST2deficient mice demonstrate the importance of T1/ST2 in developing primary T helper cell type 2 responses. J Exp Med (2000) 191(6):1069–76. doi:10.1084/jem.191.6.1069
- 51. Hung LY, Lewkowich IP, Dawson LA, Downey J, Yang Y, Smith DE, et al. IL-33 drives biphasic IL-13 production for noncanonical Type 2 immunity against hookworms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(1):282–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1206587110
- 52. Fallon PG, Ballantyne SJ, Mangan NE, Barlow JL, Dasvarma A, Hewett DR, et al. Identification of an interleukin (IL)-25-dependent cell population that

provides IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 at the onset of helminth expulsion. *J Exp Med* (2006) **203**(4):1105–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20051615

- 53. Wang YH, Angkasekwinai P, Lu N, Voo KS, Arima K, Hanabuchi S, et al. IL-25 augments type 2 immune responses by enhancing the expansion and functions of TSLP-DC-activated Th2 memory cells. *J Exp Med* (2007) **204**(8):1837–47. doi:10.1084/jem.20070406
- Arthur JS, Ley SC. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(9):679–92. doi:10.1038/nri3495
- Kane CM, Cervi L, Sun J, McKee AS, Masek KS, Shapira S, et al. Helminth antigens modulate TLR-initiated dendritic cell activation. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(12):7454–61. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.12.7454
- 56. Cervi L, MacDonald AS, Kane C, Dzierszinski F, Pearce EJ. Cutting edge: dendritic cells copulsed with microbial and helminth antigens undergo modified maturation, segregate the antigens to distinct intracellular compartments, and concurrently induce microbe-specific Th1 and helminth-specific Th2 responses. J Immunol (2004) 172(4):2016–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.4. 2016
- 57. Rigano R, Buttari B, Profumo E, Ortona E, Delunardo F, Margutti P, et al. Echinococcus granulosus antigen B impairs human dendritic cell differentiation and polarizes immature dendritic cell maturation towards a Th2 cell response. *Infect Immun* (2007) **75**(4):1667–78. doi:10.1128/IAI.01156-06
- Balic A, Harcus Y, Holland MJ, Maizels RM. Selective maturation of dendritic cells by *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*-secreted proteins drives Th2 immune responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34(11):3047–59. doi:10.1002/eji.200425167
- Segura M, Su Z, Piccirillo C, Stevenson MM. Impairment of dendritic cell function by excretory-secretory products: a potential mechanism for nematodeinduced immunosuppression. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) **37**(7):1887–904. doi:10. 1002/eji.200636553
- Brannstrom K, Sellin ME, Holmfeldt P, Brattsand M, Gullberg M. The Schistosoma mansoni protein Sm16/SmSLP/SmSPO-1 assembles into a nine-subunit oligomer with potential To inhibit Toll-like receptor signaling. *Infect Immun* (2009) 77(3):1144–54. doi:10.1128/IAI.01126-08
- Everts B, Smits HH, Hokke CH, Yazdanbakhsh M. Helminths and dendritic cells: sensing and regulating via pattern recognition receptors, Th2 and Treg responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(6):1525–37. doi:10.1002/eji.200940109
- 62. Agrawal S, Agrawal A, Doughty B, Gerwitz A, Blenis J, Van DT, et al. Cutting edge: different Toll-like receptor agonists instruct dendritic cells to induce distinct Th responses via differential modulation of extracellular signalregulated kinase-mitogen-activated protein kinase and c-Fos. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(10):4984–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.4984
- Arima K, Watanabe N, Hanabuchi S, Chang M, Sun SC, Liu YJ. Distinct signal codes generate dendritic cell functional plasticity. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3(105):ra4. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000567
- 64. Ito T, Wang YH, Duramad O, Hori T, Delespesse GJ, Watanabe N, et al. TSLPactivated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. J Exp Med (2005) 202(9):1213–23. doi:10.1084/jem. 20051135
- Artis D, Kane CM, Fiore J, Zaph C, Shapira S, Joyce K, et al. Dendritic cellintrinsic expression of NF-kappa B1 is required to promote optimal Th2 cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(11):7154–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174. 11.7154
- 66. Thomas PG, Carter MR, Da'Dara AA, DeSimone TM, Harn DA. A helminth glycan induces APC maturation via alternative NF-kappa B activation independent of I kappa B alpha degradation. *J Immunol* (2005) 175(4):2082–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2082
- 67. Bell BD, Kitajima M, Larson RP, Stoklasek TA, Dang K, Sakamoto K, et al. The transcription factor STAT5 is critical in dendritic cells for the development of TH2 but not TH1 responses. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(4):364–71. doi:10.1038/ni.2541
- Bufe A, Spangfort MD, Kahlert H, Schlaak M, Becker WM. The major birch pollen allergen, Bet v 1, shows ribonuclease activity. *Planta* (1996) 199(3):413–5. doi:10.1007/BF00195733
- Kao R, Martinez-Ruiz A, Martinez del PA, Crameri R, Davies J. Mitogillin and related fungal ribotoxins. *Methods Enzymol* (2001) 341:324–35. doi:10.1016/ S0076-6879(01)41161-X
- 70. Yang D, Chen Q, Su SB, Zhang P, Kurosaka K, Caspi RR, et al. Eosinophilderived neurotoxin acts as an alarmin to activate the TLR2-MyD88 signal pathway in dendritic cells and enhances Th2 immune responses. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(1):79–90. doi:10.1084/jem.20062027

- Hartmann S, Lucius R. Modulation of host immune responses by nematode cystatins. *Int J Parasitol* (2003) 33(11):1291–302. doi:10.1016/S0020-7519(03) 00163-2
- Pearce EL, Pearce EJ. Metabolic pathways in immune cell activation and quiescence. *Immunity* (2013) 38(4):633–43. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.005
- Krawczyk CM, Holowka T, Sun J, Blagih J, Amiel E, DeBerardinis RJ, et al. Toll-like receptor-induced changes in glycolytic metabolism regulate dendritic cell activation. *Blood* (2010) 115(23):4742–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-10-249540
- 74. Everts B, Amiel E, Huang SC, Smith AM, Chang CH, Lam WY, et al. TLRdriven early glycolytic reprogramming via the kinases TBK1-IKKvarepsilon supports the anabolic demands of dendritic cell activation. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(4):323–32. doi:10.1038/ni.2833
- 75. Amiel E, Everts B, Freitas TC, King IL, Curtis JD, Pearce EL, et al. Inhibition of mechanistic target of rapamycin promotes dendritic cell activation and enhances therapeutic autologous vaccination in mice. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(5):2151–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103741
- 76. Amiel E, Everts B, Fritz D, Beauchamp S, Ge B, Pearce EL, et al. Mechanistic target of rapamycin inhibition extends cellular lifespan in dendritic cells by preserving mitochondrial function. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(6):2821–30. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302498
- 77. Hussaarts L, Smits HH, Schramm G, van der Ham AJ, van der Zon GC, Haas H, et al. Rapamycin and omega-1: mTOR-dependent and -independent Th2 skewing by human dendritic cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2013) **91**(7):486–9. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.31
- Dong C, Flavell RA. Cell fate decision: T-helper 1 and 2 subsets in immune responses. Arthritis Res (2000) 2(3):179–88. doi:10.1186/ar85
- 79. Jankovic D, Steinfelder S, Kullberg MC, Sher A. Mechanisms underlying helminth-induced Th2 polarization: default, negative or positive pathways? *Chem Immunol Allergy* (2006) **90**:65–81. doi:10.1159/000088881
- Oswald IP, Caspar P, Jankovic D, Wynn TA, Pearce EJ, Sher A. IL-12 inhibits Th2 cytokine responses induced by eggs of Schistosoma mansoni. *J Immunol* (1994) 153(4):1707–13.
- Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Hieny S, Caspar P, Collazo CM, Sher A. In the absence of IL-12, CD4(+) T cell responses to intracellular pathogens fail to default to a Th2 pattern and are host protective in an IL-10(-/-) setting. *Immunity* (2002) 16(3):429–39. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00278-9
- Cook PC, Jones LH, Jenkins SJ, Wynn TA, Allen JE, MacDonald AS. Alternatively activated dendritic cells regulate CD4+ T-cell polarization in vitro and in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(25):9977–82. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1121231109
- 83. de Jong EC, Vieira PL, Kalinski P, Schuitemaker JH, Tanaka Y, Wierenga EA, et al. Microbial compounds selectively induce Th1 cell-promoting or Th2 cellpromoting dendritic cells in vitro with diverse th cell-polarizing signals. J Immunol (2002) 168(4):1704–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.4.1704
- Amsen D, Blander JM, Lee GR, Tanigaki K, Honjo T, Flavell RA. Instruction of distinct CD4 T helper cell fates by different notch ligands on antigen-presenting cells. *Cell* (2004) 117(4):515–26. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00451-9
- Krawczyk CM, Sun J, Pearce EJ. Th2 differentiation is unaffected by Jagged2 expression on dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 180(12):7931–7. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.180.12.7931
- Worsley AG, LeibundGut-Landmann S, Slack E, Phng LK, Gerhardt H, Reis e Sousa C, et al. Dendritic cell expression of the Notch ligand jagged2 is not essential for Th2 response induction in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) 38(4):1043–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200737335
- 87. van RE, Everts B, Retra K, Phylipsen M, van Hellemond JJ, Tielens AG, et al. Combined TLR2 and TLR4 ligation in the context of bacterial or helminth extracts in human monocyte derived dendritic cells: molecular correlates for Th1/Th2 polarization. *BMC Immunol* (2009) **10**:9. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-10-9
- MacDonald AS, Straw AD, Dalton NM, Pearce EJ. Cutting edge: Th2 response induction by dendritic cells: a role for CD40. *J Immunol* (2002) 168(2):537–40. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.2.537
- MacDonald AS, Patton EA, La Flamme AC, Araujo MI, Huxtable CR, Bauman B, et al. Impaired Th2 development and increased mortality during Schistosoma mansoni infection in the absence of CD40/CD154 interaction. *J Immunol* (2002) 168(9):4643–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.9.4643
- 90. Jenkins SJ, Perona-Wright G, Worsley AG, Ishii N, MacDonald AS. Dendritic cell expression of OX40 ligand acts as a costimulatory, not polarizing, signal

for optimal Th2 priming and memory induction in vivo. *J Immunol* (2007) **179**(6):3515–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3515

- Constant S, Pfeiffer C, Woodard A, Pasqualini T, Bottomly K. Extent of T cell receptor ligation can determine the functional differentiation of naive CD4+ T cells. J Exp Med (1995) 182(5):1591–6. doi:10.1084/jem.182.5.1591
- Hosken NA, Shibuya K, Heath AW, Murphy KM, O'Garra A. The effect of antigen dose on CD4+ T helper cell phenotype development in a T cell receptor-alpha beta-transgenic model. J Exp Med (1995) 182(5):1579–84. doi:10.1084/jem.182.5.1579
- 93. Boonstra A, Asselin-Paturel C, Gilliet M, Crain C, Trinchieri G, Liu YJ, et al. Flexibility of mouse classical and plasmacytoid-derived dendritic cells in directing T helper type 1 and 2 cell development: dependency on antigen dose and differential toll-like receptor ligation. *J Exp Med* (2003) **197**(1):101–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20021908
- 94. van PN, Klauschen F, Germain RNT-. Cell-Receptor-Dependent Signal Intensity Dominantly Controls CD4(+) T Cell Polarization In vivo. *Immunity* (2014) 41(1):63–74. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.003
- Pulendran B, Artis D. New paradigms in type 2 immunity. Science (2012) 337(6093):431–5. doi:10.1126/science.1221064
- 96. Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Red EA, Odegaard JI, Jouihan H, Morel CR, Heredia JE, et al. IL-4/STAT6 immune axis regulates peripheral nutrient metabolism and insulin sensitivity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) **107**(52):22617–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009152108
- Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11(2):98–107. doi:10.1038/nri2925
- Bhargava P, Li C, Stanya KJ, Jacobi D, Dai L, Liu S, et al. Immunomodulatory glycan LNFPIII alleviates hepatosteatosis and insulin resistance through direct and indirect control of metabolic pathways. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(11):1665–72. doi:10.1038/nm.2962
- Doenhoff MJ, Stanley RG, Griffiths K, Jackson CL. An anti-atherogenic effect of Schistosoma mansoni infections in mice associated with a parasite-induced lowering of blood total cholesterol. *Parasitology* (2002) 125(Pt 5):415–21. doi:10.1017/S0031182002002275
- 100. Wolfs IM, Stoger JL, Goossens P, Pottgens C, Gijbels MJ, Wijnands E, et al. Reprogramming macrophages to an anti-inflammatory phenotype by helminth antigens reduces murine atherosclerosis. *FASEB J* (2014) 28(1):288–99. doi:10.1096/fj.13-235911
- 101. Winer S, Chan Y, Paltser G, Truong D, Tsui H, Bahrami J, et al. Normalization of obesity-associated insulin resistance through immunotherapy. *Nat Med* (2009) 15(8):921–9. doi:10.1038/nm.2001
- 102. Molofsky AB, Nussbaum JC, Liang HE, Van Dyken SJ, Cheng LE, Mohapatra A, et al. Innate lymphoid type 2 cells sustain visceral adipose tissue eosinophils and alternatively activated macrophages. *J Exp Med* (2013) **210**(3):535–49. doi:10.1084/jem.20121964
- 103. Hams E, Locksley RM, McKenzie AN, Fallon PG. Cutting edge: IL-25 elicits innate lymphoid type 2 and type II NKT cells that regulate obesity in mice. J Immunol (2013) 191(11):5349–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301176
- 104. Aravindhan V, Mohan V, Surendar J, Muralidhara RM, Pavankumar N, Deepa M, et al. Decreased prevalence of lymphatic filariasis among diabetic subjects associated with a diminished pro-inflammatory cytokine response (CURES 83). PLoS Negl Trop Dis (2010) 4(6):e707. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd. 0000707
- 105. Chen Y, Lu J, Huang Y, Wang T, Xu Y, Xu M, et al. Association of previous schistosome infection with diabetes and metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional study in rural China. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2013) 98(2):E283–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-2517
- 106. Steinman RM. Dendritic cells in vivo: a key target for a new vaccine science. Immunity (2008) 29(3):319–24. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.08.001
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer (2012) 12(4):265–77. doi:10.1038/nrc3258
- 108. Thomson AW, Robbins PD. Tolerogenic dendritic cells for autoimmune disease and transplantation. Ann Rheum Dis (2008) 67(Suppl 3):iii90–6. doi:10.1136/ard.2008.099176
- 109. Stefanovic-Racic M, Yang X, Turner MS, Mantell BS, Stolz DB, Sumpter TL, et al. Dendritic cells promote macrophage infiltration and comprise a substantial proportion of obesity-associated increases in CD11c+ cells in adipose tissue and liver. *Diabetes* (2012) 61(9):2330–9. doi:10.2337/db11-1523
- 110. Bertola A, Ciucci T, Rousseau D, Bourlier V, Duffaut C, Bonnafous S, et al. Identification of adipose tissue dendritic cells correlated with obesity-associated

insulin-resistance and inducing Th17 responses in mice and patients. *Diabetes* (2012) **61**(9):2238–47. doi:10.2337/db11-1274

- 111. Moraes-Vieira PM, Yore MM, Dwyer PM, Syed I, Aryal P, Kahn BB. RBP4 activates antigen-presenting cells, leading to adipose tissue inflammation and systemic insulin resistance. *Cell Metab* (2014) **19**(3):512–26. doi:10.1016/j.cmet. 2014.01.018
- 112. Dudziak D, Kamphorst AO, Heidkamp GF, Buchholz VR, Trumpfheller C, Yamazaki S, et al. Differential antigen processing by dendritic cell subsets in vivo. *Science* (2007) **315**(5808):107–11. doi:10.1126/science.1136080
- 113. Bonifaz L, Bonnyay D, Mahnke K, Rivera M, Nussenzweig MC, Steinman RM. Efficient targeting of protein antigen to the dendritic cell receptor DEC-205 in the steady state leads to antigen presentation on major histocompatibility complex class I products and peripheral CD8+ T cell tolerance. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**(12):1627–38. doi:10.1084/jem.20021598
- 114. Bonifaz LC, Bonnyay DP, Charalambous A, Darguste DI, Fujii S, Soares H, et al. In vivo targeting of antigens to maturing dendritic cells via the DEC-205 receptor improves T cell vaccination. J Exp Med (2004) 199(6):815–24. doi:10.1084/jem.20032220
- 115. Qin H, Wilson CA, Lee SJ, Zhao X, Benveniste EN. LPS induces CD40 gene expression through the activation of NF-kappaB and STAT-1alpha in macrophages and microglia. *Blood* (2005) 106(9):3114–22. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-02-0759

116. Goh F, Irvine KM, Lovelace E, Donnelly S, Jones MK, Brion K, et al. Selective induction of the Notch ligand Jagged-1 in macrophages by soluble egg antigen from Schistosoma mansoni involves ERK signalling. *Immunology* (2009) 127(3):326–37. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2008.02979.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 August 2014; paper pending published: 08 September 2014; accepted: 25 September 2014; published online: 20 October 2014.

Citation: Hussaarts L, Yazdanbakhsh M and Guigas B (2014) Priming dendritic cells for Th2 polarization: lessons learned from helminths and implications for metabolic disorders. Front. Immunol. 5:499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00499

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Hussaarts, Yazdanbakhsh and Guigas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The differentiation of CD4⁺T-helper cell subsets in the context of helminth parasite infection

Tiffany Bouchery¹, Ryan Kyle¹, Franca Ronchese¹ and Graham Le Gros^{1,2}*

¹ Malaghan Institute of Medical Research, Wellington, New Zealand

² Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

John J. Miles, Queensland Institute of Medical Research, Australia Booki Min, Cleveland Clinic, USA

*Correspondence:

Graham Le Gros, Malaghan Institute of Medical Research, Victoria University, PO Box 7060, Gate 7, Kelburn Parade, Wellington 6242, Wellington, New Zealand e-mail: glegros@malahan.org.nz Helminths are credited with being the major selective force driving the evolution of the so-called "type 2" immune responses in vertebrate animals, with their size and infection strategies presenting unique challenges to the immune system. Originally, type 2 immune responses were defined by the presence and activities of the CD4⁺ T-helper 2 subset producing the canonical cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. This picture is now being challenged by the discovery of a more complex pattern of CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets that appear during infection, including Tregs, Th17, Tfh, and more recently, Th22, Th9, and ThGM. In addition, a clearer view of the mechanisms by which helminths and their products selectively prime the CD4⁺ T-cell subsets is emerging. In this review, we have focused on recent data concerning the selective priming, differentiation, and functional role of CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets in the context of helminth infection. We argue for a re-evaluation of the original Th2 paradigm and discuss how the observed plasticity of the T-helper subsets may enable the parasitized host to achieve an appropriate compromise between elimination, tissue repair, containment, and pathology.

Keywords: CD4T cells, helminth, differentiation, Th2, Th9, Th17, TfH

INTRODUCTION

Helminth parasites are an extremely successful group of organisms infecting over one billion people, with some able to parasitize a host for several decades. Helminths are phylogenetically diverse, with a broad range of migration patterns and life cycles, and are spread across three phyla: nematodes, trematodes, and cestodes. Despite their diversity, the mammalian immune response against these helminths is consistently of the type 2 phenotype characterized by IgE antibody production, eosinophilia, mastocytosis, and specific forms of fibrotic wound repair under the control of the cytokines interleukin-4 (IL-4), IL-5, and IL-13. More recently, the ongoing refinement of our understanding of the type 2 immune response and the recent description of new T-helper cell subsets, force us to re-evaluate the guiding paradigm that would be informative to future studies of type 2 responses in the context of helminth infection.

ROLE OF TYPE 2 IMMUNITY IN HELMINTH INFECTION

The role of type 2 immune responses in immunity against helminths was initially revealed in studies that observed an inverse correlation between levels of parasitemia and the expression of the Th2 cell-derived cytokine IL-4 against the nematode *Trichinella spiralis* (1, 2). These ideas have been further developed in experimental models that show that signaling through IL-4R α or the IL-4 signaling pathway STAT6 can play important roles in expulsion of, or protection against, the nematodes *Heligmosomoides polygyrus* (3), *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis* (4, 5), *Trichuris muris* (6), the trematode *Schistosoma mansoni* (7), and the cestode *Mesocestoides corti* (8). Although the helminth infection-induced immune effector response normally associated with IL-4 is the production of IgE antibody, the *Trichinella spiralis* experimental infection model is the only one to show a requirement for IgE in protection (9). It should also be noted that IL-4 mediated responses may not always be protective as seen in the study showing $STAT6^{-/-}$ mice have greater resistance to the cestode *Tenia crassiceps* (10).

IL-4 is not the only Th2 derived cytokine that can signal through STAT6. The type 2 cytokine IL-13 has been shown to play a key protective role in many helminth infections, particularly in the expulsion of parasites from the gut by mediating goblet cell mucous production and smooth muscle cell contraction sometimes referred to as the "weep and sweep effect" (11). Macrophages express IL-4R α , and signaling via both IL-4 and IL-13 can induce an alternately activated phenotype. Alternately activated macrophages produce factors that contribute to the repair of tissues damaged by infection (12); they have also been shown to be required for protective responses against some nematode infections (13).

IL-5 is the third cytokine commonly associated with type 2 immune responses and the Th2 cell subset specifically. The main function of this cytokine is the expansion of eosinophils from the bone marrow (14) with overexpression of IL-5 leading to decreased larvae numbers in primary infections of the nematodes *N. brasiliensis* and *Angiostrongylus cantonensis* (15). Genetic deletion or antibody neutralization of IL-5 or the IL-5 receptor α (IL-5R α) show a requirement for IL-5 and eosinophils in protective immunity against secondary infections of *Strongyloides stercoralis*, *Strongyloides venezuelensis*, and *Onchocerca lienalis* (16). Eosinophils and IL-5 have also been shown to play an important role in vaccine-induced protection against *Litosomoides sigmodontis* (17).

Recent work has reported that the Th2 cell population is heterogeneous, containing some subpopulations of Th2 cells that produce both IL-5 and IL-13 in the absence of concomitant IL-4 expression (18) and also some subpopulations of Th2 cells that are IL-5⁺ or IL5⁻, while expressing IL-4 (19). Furthermore, a study by Liang et al. demonstrated that production of IL-4 and IL-13 is spatially separated with IL-13 being poorly expressed at low levels by lymph node (LN) CD4⁺ T-cells but strongly expressed by CD4⁺ T-cells found in the lung (20). These data, along with others, showing that LN CD4⁺ T-cells expressing IL-4 in response to H. *polygyrus* are primarily of the Tfh phenotype (T follicular helper) (21), negates the view that IL-4 production is a sufficiently comprehensive marker for all the T-helper cell subsets activated during the full expression of a type 2 immune response. It also raises the issue of how we need to have a broader view of how CD4⁺ Thelper cells should be defined and identified as contributors to type 2 immunity.

THE PRIMING OF TYPE 2 T-CELLS IN HELMINTH INFECTION

The cellular and molecular mechanisms that lead to the priming of type 2 T-cells during helminth infections are not well understood. The IL-4 producing Th2 cell has received the most attention in this regard, with early expression of *Il4* used as a marker of pre-commitment to a T-helper cell of the type 2 lineage. Although IL-4 has been clearly demonstrated to promote overwhelming polarization and differentiation of naïve CD4⁺ T-cells into Th2 *in vitro* (22), it has been difficult to identify the *in vivo* sources of IL-4 that are able to affect the initial Th2 cell priming. More importantly, *in vivo* studies indicate that Th2 cells can be effectively primed even in the absence of IL-4- and STAT6-dependent signaling (23–25), thus suggesting that signals other than IL-4 must be operating physiologically. The difficulty in identifying such signals has led to the formulation of a number of models of Th2 priming, which are briefly outlined in **Figure 1** below, and linked to available evidence in helminth infection models. Some of this evidence has recently been reviewed (26) and thus is only briefly discussed here.

Several lines of experimental evidence suggest that low-avidity interactions between T-cells and antigen presenting cells (APC) favor the development of Th2 immune responses (27) (**Figure 1A**). Recent work in support of this possibility includes studies of differential activation of T-cells using antigens of varying affinities or concentrations (28, 29), different T-cell–APC ratios (30) and, more recently, the reduced APC-naïve T-cell contact time observed when T-cells are primed *in vivo* in conditions that favor type 2 rather than type 1 differentiation (31). This model of Th2 priming is strongly supported by many elegant studies in well-defined experimental systems, often using homogeneous T-cell populations expressing clonal T-cell receptor (TCR). However, models in which T-cell avidity is the sole driver of T-helper



cell differentiation are difficult to reconcile with the observed prevalence of specific phenotypes of immune response during infections, when complex mixtures of antigens interact with Tcells of a range of specificities such as those found in polyclonal repertoires (32). The wide range of T-cell avidities involved in such situations would predict that the resulting immune response should include a mixture of T-cell phenotypes, but this is not normally observed. It is possible that APC-derived signals, which are differentially invoked by infectious agents such as intracellular versus helminth parasites, might be involved in modulating the strength of $CD4^+$ T-cell activation, thereby resulting in preferential differentiation of a certain T-helper subset (33–36). At this stage, the precise contribution of the avidity of APC-T-cell interaction to the induction of Th2 immune responses to helminth parasites remains to be determined.

An alternative possibility is that Th2 cells might arise as a "default," in situations where the cytokines that normally direct T-cells to differentiate into other phenotypes, such as Th1 or Th17, are absent. Indeed, although parasites still require co-stimulation in order to induce optimal Th2 priming (37, 38), they mostly lack the microbes-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) that are key to strong APC activation, co-stimulatory molecule expression, and IL-12 secretion (39-41). Alternatively, low-avidity APC-T-cell interactions may fail to sustain the CD40L expression necessary for optimal IL-12 production, as is observed with antigen-MHCII ligands that engage the TCR with low avidity. While this scenario could be consistent with the low-avidity model discussed above, it is not consistent with experiments in IL-12 KO mice showing that lack of this cytokine does not result in activation of Th2 responses (42), or with many experiments showing that helminth products suppress IL-12 production (43, 44) and instruct DC to initiate Th2 immune responses (39, 45–49). Thus, the overall evidence in support of this model remains limited.

Third, Th2 immune responses may be initiated by instructive signals from the APC. These signals may be acquired by APC through interactions with innate cell populations or mediators, or may be constitutively expressed by specialized subsets of APC. The nature of the APC that prime Th2 responses has been debated, with mast cells (50), B-cells (51), and basophils (52) being suggested as necessary, or even sufficient (53, 54), for in vivo Th2 induction in various models of immune responses including helminth infections. However, later experiments in a S. mansoni model provided clear evidence that DC depletion was sufficient to ablate Th2 induction, while basophil depletion had no effect (55). While it may be reasonable to hypothesize that parasites with different life cycles and target tissues may also involve different APC populations, a key role of DC in priming Th2 responses is consistent with a wealth of experiments in other types of T-cell responses, and also with older experiments in B-cell-deficient mice (56, 57). Altogether, the weight of experimental evidence appears to support DC as being the primary, and possibly the sole, initiator of Th2 immune responses. This conclusion then leads to the question: if DC is the principal APC population that primes Th2 responses, which properties enable them to do so, and how are these properties acquired?

The interaction of DC with helminth products has been extensively examined using DC generated in culture or, less frequently, *ex vivo* spleen DC. These experiments were highly informative and revealed, among other things, the limited upregulation of costimulatory molecules on DC by helminth products (36, 40), the role of CD40 (58, 59), OX40L (60), IL-4, and IL-12 (58), and the effects of treatment with TLR ligands (61). However, these results are limited by the fact that the cultured DC used in many of those experiments may not have a physiological equivalent *in vivo*, and splenic DC are not necessarily involved in the immune response to the helminths of interest. These results must, therefore, be extended and confirmed using *in vivo* models, which involve relevant antigens, DC subsets, and routes of exposure.

As discussed above, helminths and their products can directly or indirectly condition DC to prime Th2 responses (Figure 1B). On the basis of current evidence, the best candidate molecule associated with DC's ability to program responding CD4⁺ T-cells to a Th2 phenotype is OX40L (62, 63). Blocking OX40L on human DC also suppresses their ability to prime IL-4-, IL-5-, and IL-13producing T-cells in vitro (64); however, studies using transfer of mouse DC conditioned in vitro using SEA (S. mansoni Soluble Egg Antigen) suggest that OX40L may also control T-cell expansion in vivo (60). Expression of OX40L on DC can be induced by the innate cytokines TSLP (Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin), IL-25, and IL-33 (64-66), which can be released by damaged epithelia. In addition, some parasite products (39, 67) and CD40 signaling can also cause upregulation of OX40L expression (60, 67). Accordingly, innate cytokines were found to be dispensable for IL-4 production after infection with several - but not all helminths, suggesting that parasite products may be able to bypass the requirement for innate cytokines (49, 68, 69). Perhaps more surprisingly, it was also found that $OX40^{-/-}$ mice can generate IL-4 responses to N. brasiliensis (70), whereas IL-4 responses to H. polygyrus are reduced but not ablated, suggesting a variable ability of helminth parasites to bypass or replace the requirement for OX40L co-stimulation. Our experiments comparing Th2 immune responses induced by various agents suggest that helminths may not be unique in their ability to bypass the TSLP/OX40L axis, and that HDM given intradermally can also induce TSLP-independent Th2 responses (48, 71). These results may suggest that route of exposure has a substantial effect on the involvement of innate cytokines in the resulting Th2 immune response. While this possibility is plausible, it must be reconciled with information on the innate environment in different tissues and, most importantly, must be addressed and confirmed experimentally.

Finally, Th2 responses may require a specialized DC subset that is specifically programed to carry out this function (**Figure 1C**). The concept of a Th2-dedicated DC subset is not new (72), and may fit with the DC heterogeneity that is gradually being revealed in all tissues. In line with this notion, recent publications identified a subset of skin DC, expressing the carbohydrate-binding molecule CD301b (73) together with PD-L2 (Programed cell death ligand 2), which is preferentially able to take up "Th2-inducing" antigens. These CD301b⁺ DC required IRF4 (interferon regulatory factor 4) for their development, and were necessary for the priming of IL-4- and IL-13-producing T-cells *in vivo* and *in vitro* (74–76), but not for IL-4-producing Tfh. Interestingly, while essential, purified CD301b⁺ DC were unable to prime Th2 responses *in vitro* or upon transfer into recipient mice, suggesting that another cell population was also required (75). Similar to those reports, our studies examining the DC populations involved in the immune response to non-viable N. brasiliensis larvae given subcutaneously (48) found that parasite material was preferentially taken up by a migratory population of CD11b⁺ DC also expressing CD301b, PD-L2, and IRF4. However, unlike the studies above, we were able to show that transfer of total migratory DC from mice exposed to non-viable N. brasiliensis larvae could prime Th2 responses in naïve mice, and that this property was independent of the antigen specificity of the responding T-cells. Importantly, we also found that DC from untreated mice could induce T-cell expansion in vivo, but not Th2 responses. Thus, our results suggest that exposure to helminths and the attending innate signals are important factors in conditioning DC for Th2 priming. As our experiments used transfer of mixed populations of DC, we cannot conclude on whether Th2 priming was the property of one specific DC population, or whether it required the cooperation of several DC subsets. In any case, the powerful Th2-inducing properties of helminth parasites are likely to provide a useful model in which to investigate functional DC subsets in airway and intestinal tract, and their relationship to CD301b⁺ DC. The report that IRF4 expression by DC is necessary for the priming of Th2 responses to inhaled allergens (77) suggests that DC populations able to prime Th2 responses in different tissues may share some common features. Whether these observations also apply to the other CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets has yet to be determined.

NEW T-HELPER CELL SUBTYPES ASSOCIATED WITH HELMINTH INFECTION

The development of new technologies, including multicolor flow cytometry and the engineering of fate-mapping and cytokine reporter mice, has lead to the discovery and definition of new subsets of T-helper cells in the past 10 years, namely Th17, Th22, Th9, Tfh and the recently suggested ThGM (T-helper producing GM-CSF). The roles of these newly described subsets, especially in the context of helminth infection, have not been fully elucidated. Here, we review the findings to date in this area, and outline the future questions that will be important to address. The role of Tregs in helminthes infection has been extensively reviewed (78–80) recently and so will not be discussed in this review.

Th9 CELL SUBSET IN HELMINTH INFECTION

IL-9 was originally associated with the Th2 immune response, with reports that IL-9 expression by CD4⁺ T-cells was high in Th2-pre-disposed, susceptible BALB/c mice infected with *Leishmania major*, and lower in resistant C57BL/6 (81). This view was further confirmed in anti-helminth immunity a few years later (21, 82, 83). However, recent work has shown that IL-9 and IL-4 are rarely produced by the same T-cells, thus suggesting that IL-9-expressing cells represent a discrete T-helper subset, termed Th9 (84, 85). However, both Th17 and iTregs cells have also been shown to be able to produce detectable amounts of IL-9, though not to the extent of Th9 cells. The status of Th9 as a T-helper subset has been further strengthened by the discovery that IL-4 and TGF-β were permissive for Th9 subset differentiation (84) with PU.1 defined as the necessary transcription factor. It is important to note that even if Th9 is now considered as a distinct subset, its proximity to cells of the Th2 subset is re-enforced by both the demonstration that IL-4 is needed to differentiate Th0 cells into Th9, and by the observation of inter-conversion of Th2 into Th9 in presence of TGF- β (84). More recently, however, IL-1 family members have been shown to be able to trigger an IL-4-independent Th9 differentiation (86).

IL-9's role in helminth infection has recently been suggested in two consecutive studies showing that IL-9 transgenic mice infected with either T. muris or T. spiralis had an increased Th2 response and faster expulsion of the parasite from the intestine (82, 83). In these studies, increased mast cell and eosinophil numbers correlated with increased IL-9 levels, and were suggested as downstream cellular effectors. However, further studies showed that mice vaccinated with IL-9-OVA complex recruited similar numbers of mast cells and eosinophils to the gut of T. muris-infected mice, even though the treatment inhibited expulsion of the parasite (87). No other change to the type 2 response was noted. Conversely, vaccination with IL-9-OVA complex did facilitate expulsion of T. spiralis, illustrating that despite the general association of type 2 immunity with helminths, the effectiveness of each subtype is fine-tuned to the parasitic species involved (88). In this regard IL-9 has been shown to increase jejunal muscle contractility, and in IL-9-OVA complex vaccinated mice infected with T. muris contractility of the intestine was significantly decreased (88).

More recently, IL-9 has been shown to be produced by T-cells during *N. brasiliensis* infection (89, 90) with adoptive transfer of Th9 cells shown to be sufficient for mediating worm expulsion (89). However, the modest differences in worm burden detected between infected IL-9^{-/-} and wild type mice, the high experimental variability, and the need for timing differences for expulsion to be considered indicate that further work is needed to determine the role of IL-9 in the context of immunity to reinfection (90).

In a *Trichuris* model, using CD4dnTGFbRII mice (which lack Th9 cells) evidence suggested that Th9 cells are required for efficient expulsion of the parasite (84). The susceptible phenotype was associated with a decrease in mastocytosis and IL-9 expression in the mesenteric LN. However, the presence and frequencies of IL-9 producing CD4⁺ T-cells *in vivo* was not assessed in this study and the CD4dnTGFbRII mice had a decreased IL-4 response but normal IL-13 response to *Trichuris*, indicating possible defects other than the lack of IL-9, that could contribute to susceptibility. Finally, IL-9 has a role in controlling fibrosis through upregulation of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), a well-known anti-fibrotic molecule (91), and has been recently shown to be essential to mucosal wound healing in an oxazolone-induced colitis model, through the upregulation of claudin-2 in intestinal epithelial cells (92).

Th17 CELL IN HELMINTH INFECTION

Th17 was identified as a subset distinct from Th1 and Th2 differentiation in 2005 (93), based on cellular production of IL-17 in the absence of IFN- γ or IL-4. These cells are considered proinflammatory as they express high levels of their signature cytokine IL-17, as well as IL-22, IL-6, and TGF- β , all under the control of the master transcription factor ROR γ t. Combinations of IL-23, TGF- β , IL-6, and IL-21 direct the differentiation of Th17 cells from naïve CD4⁺ T-cells (94). Th17 cells exacerbate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (95) but also contribute to protection against models of fungal infection (96).

The role of Th17 in helminth infection has principally been studied in *S. mansoni* models, where it has been strongly associated with infection-induced immunopathology. The pathologic role of IL-17 in helminth infection was originally recognized by its association with the development of hepatointestinal perioval granulomas caused by *S. mansoni* infection. In these early studies, CD4⁺ T-cells were known to be required for the development of the pathology (97, 98), and under the Th1:Th2 paradigm, the role of IL-17 was interpreted as being part of the Th1 immune response causing increased pathology versus a less destructive Th2-dominant response (99).

Further, in an interesting study of mouse strain related susceptibility to pathology (100), it was found that pathology was diminished in IL-12p40^{-/-} mice but not IL-12p35^{-/-} and that IL-17 but not IFN- γ levels correlated with disease, indicated that pathology was likely controlled by Th17 cells in an IL-23 dependent manner (100). Further evidence for this was provided by genetic depletion of IL-23 and disruption of IL-1ß signaling leading to decreased IL-17 levels and decreased pathology (101). Furthermore, CD4⁺ T-cells from TCR transgenic mice recognizing Schistosoma antigen Sm-p40 expressed IL-17 when stimulated by DCs loaded with Schistosome eggs (102). Antibody neutralization of TGF- β lead to decreased plasma levels of IL-17 and a reduced worm burden, although this may have also changed other parameters including Treg populations (103). IL-17 from RORyt expressing Th17 cells was also associated with the severe pathology seen in natural infection with Schistosoma japonicum with antibody neutralization of IL-17 leading to diminished neutrophil infiltration in the liver and reduced hepatic and pulmonary pathologies (104–106). IL-17-associated pathology is also evident in human studies with children infected with Schistosoma haematobium having a higher circulating Th17:Treg cell ratio than those children infected but pathology-free, mirroring the ratios seen in high-pathology CBA mice compared to mild pathology C57Bl/6 (107). While studies identifying T-cells producing IL-17 in Schistosoma infected tissues show that most are CD4⁺ T-cells, the link to the expression of the transcription factor RORyt has been rarely attempted, also the downstream mechanisms of IL-17-associated immunopathology remain largely unknown, with few studies indicating which responding cellular components mediate granulomatous damage.

With respect to immune responses to other helminth phyla, the role of Th17 is less clear. An association between pathology and Th17 has been suggested in human filarial infection with patients exhibiting lymphedema caused by lymphatic filariasis having increased numbers of peripheral blood lymphocytes producing IL-17 along with decreased Tregs number (108). The presence of cytokines IL-1 β , IL-23, and TGF- β have also been shown to augment these filarial-specific Th17 responses (109). Pulmonary hemorrhaging and neutrophilia caused by migration through the lung by *N. brasiliensis*, a rodent hookworm, was also shown to be dependent on IL-17 expression (110).

While the association of Th17 and IL-17 with pathology in helminth infection is robust, there is limited evidence of a role of Th17 in protection against helminths. One study, looking in blood cultures from patients who received praziquantel to clear

S. haematobium infection demonstrated an association between high levels of Th17-associated cytokines (IL-21 and IL-23) with a decreased risk of re-infection (111). IL-17 expression has also been linked to both mucosal damage and hyper-contractility of the jejunum of T. spiralis-infected mice suggesting a role of Th17 in expulsion of the worms from the gut, but the study is highly preliminary and no depletion of IL-17 was attempted (112). Echinostoma caproni establishes a chronic infection in mice while rats are able to expel the worms after 4 weeks post-infection. Intestinal Th17-family cytokines IL-17, IL-23, and TGF-β were markedly upregulated in rats but not in mice, suggesting Th17 activation may be protective in this model (113). Conversely, an ovine model of Teladorsagia circumcincta infection demonstrated increased Th17 cytokines correlating with susceptibility to infection (114). Overall, the role of IL-17 producing Th17 cells in helminth driven immune responses is preliminary, and further work is needed.

Th22 CELL IN HELMINTH INFECTION

The cytokine IL-22 is normally associated with responses to microbes and its production mainly attributed to Th17 cells in both mice and human beings (115). However, a distinct subset of human skin CD4⁺ T-cells has recently been shown to produce IL-22 but not IL-17 or IFN-g (116-118), and thus has been given the term "Th22". Th22 responses have been more widely studied in human beings than in mice so far, with a broad range of functional activities demonstrated, both proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory. While IL-22 is mainly produced by immune cells, the expression of its receptor IL-22R is mostly restricted to non-hematopoietic cells, such as epithelial cells (119). Th22 cells arise from the stimulation of naive T-cells in the presence of IL-6 and TNFa or presentation of antigen in the context of plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and appears to be independent of RORyt but dependent upon the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) (116, 120, 121).

To date, only a few studies have attempted to address the role of IL-22 in the context of helminth infection. IL-22 is upregulated in the intestinal mucosa after infection by Trichuris trichuria or Necator americanus in human beings (122–124) and Th22 frequency in PBMC is higher in filarial-infected patients than in healthy controls (109). While helminth infection clearly induces IL-22, so far no role for Th22 in either immune-mediated protection or pathology has been proven. In fact, IL-22^{-/-} mice infected with S. mansoni did not present significantly modified immune responses compared to wild type controls, neither did the absence of IL-22 modify the establishment of the parasite or the development of pathology (125). In filarial infection, Th22 frequency in PBMC was higher in lymphedema-positive people than in asymptomatic people, as was their frequency after antigen restimulation with both adult and microfilarial stages of the parasite (109). As reported in the above section, IL22 produced by Th17 cells plays a role in gut expulsion of N. brasiliensis and T. muris (126).

Th22 has also been reported to be involved in skin repair mechanisms and as such may be relevant to the pathology following skin penetration by helminths. Furthermore, IL-22 is known to have a role in the control of dysbiosis in the gut (127). As helminths have co-evolved with both the host and its microbiome (128), in order to observe the role of Th22 in helminth

infection, it may be required to study the tripartite interaction of microbiome–macrobiome–host rather that the classical bipartite helminth–host interaction.

Tfh CELL SUBSET IN HELMINTH INFECTION

In distinction to the other CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets, Tfh cells were not initially described based on cytokine production and transcription factor expression patterns, but rather by the expression of the surface marker CXCR5⁺ denoting its localization to the germinal center of human tonsils. Tfh have since been shown to promote germinal center formation and class switching of B-cells in mice and are further characterized by their expression of the inducible co-stimulatory molecule (ICOS), the inhibitory receptor programed cell death-1 (PD-1), and B and T lymphocyte attenuator (BLTA) (129). Bcl6 has been identified as the master transcription regulator for Tfh cells (130–132).

In the context of *N. brasiliensis* infection, Tfh cells have been demonstrated to express IL-4 but not IL-13 (20). This study also reports that these IL-4⁺ Tfh cells localize to the B-cells follicle, and not to tissue sites such as the lungs. Interestingly, work by Glatman Zaretsky et al. demonstrated that IL-4-expressing CXCR5⁺ Tfh cells could develop from adoptively transferred Th2 cells (CXCR5⁻ and PD1⁻) in B-cell-sufficient hosts during *S. mansoni* infection (133). Furthermore, IL-4 production by Tfh cells is essential for proper B-cell expansion and activation, as demonstrated by a reduction in B-cell activation in IL-4R^{-/-} mice (21).

The role of Tfh was studied in the context of *S. japonicum* induced pathology model (134). In ICOSL^{-/-} mice that are deficient in Tfh cells, a diminution of the liver pathology is associated with a decrease in Th1 and Tregs, whereas Th2 and Th17 are unaffected. Furthermore, adoptive transfer of Tfh cells to ICOSL^{-/-} mice proved sufficient to re-establish pathology characterized by the accumulation of cells in granulomas in the liver (134). Furthermore, plasma cells have been shown to be present in the granuloma induced by *S. japonicum* infection in both pig and mice, and depletion of B-cells reduced pathology in this model (135, 136).

In the context of non-helminth infections, Tfh cells have been shown to produce IFN- γ and several studies suggest that Tfh cell production of Th1-, Th2-, and Th17-associated cytokines provides further evidence that they are potentially derived from these lineages (129). Whether these different patterns of cytokine expression reflect different subsets of Tfh cells, akin to those observed in T-helper subsets and ILCs, is still unclear. The use of Bcl6 reporter mice may help to distinguish Tfh cells from other T-helper subsets and to provide an answer to this question, and may allow the identification of other cytokine patterns in Tfh cells that are induced in helminth infection in parallel with the other T-helper subsets.

HYPOTHETICAL THGM CELL SUBSET IN HELMINTH INFECTION?

ThGM are the most recently proposed CD4⁺ T-helper subset having been described in *in vitro* studies developing from naïve CD4⁺ T-cells stimulated with anti-CD3 and anti-CD28, in the absence of IL-4, IFN- γ , and IL-12 (137). It is important to note that to our knowledge, this subset has not been described *in vivo* so far and that its existence will have to be further confirmed.

Putative ThGM cells produce high levels of GM-CSF, while not producing Th1- or Th2-associated cytokines. The authors further show that they do not express T-bet, GATA3, Ror γ T, or Foxp3, thus supporting the idea that they indeed constitute a new CD4⁺ T-helper subset (137). GM-CSF is a pluripotent cytokine, which has been shown to induce T-cells proliferation and activate macrophages and neutrophils, among other cells, and the absence of this cytokine has been shown to negatively impact the differentiation of both Th1 and Th2 responses (138).

Contrasting roles have been shown for GM-CSF in helminth infection settings. In *N. brasiliensis* infection, mice deficient in GM-CSF show no reduction in worm burden in the lungs or gut in both primary and secondary infection when compared to wild type mice (139).

In Onchocerca volvulus infection, presumably immune individuals (negative for the parasite, but living in endemic area) have a mixed Th1/Th2 response to L3 and microfilariae antigen, contrary to infected individuals that present only a strong Th2 response to those antigens. In particular, GM-CSF, at that time considered as a Th1 cytokine, was greatly enhanced in the putatively immune individuals (140). Co-cultivating human PBMCs *in vitro* with the *Schistosoma* antigen SmGST28 has been shown to be sufficient to induce some granulomatous formations, and GM-CSF is needed for this reaction (141), suggesting a role for this cytokine in development of pathology.

FURTHER T-HELPER CELL DIVERSITY AND PLASTICITY IN HELMINTH-INDUCED TYPE 2 IMMUNE RESPONSES

In the original Th1/Th2 paradigm, it was proposed that the T-helper cell subsets were distinct and negatively regulated each others' activities, all underpinned by regulatory epigenetic methylation signatures interacting at IFN- γ , *IL4*, Gata-3, and T-bet gene loci (142, 143). However, this concept has to be revised in light of the recent discoveries of additional functionally diverse T-helper subsets including those with mixed Th1/Th2 signature cytokine phenotypes and by the observation that certain T-helper subsets can reverse their degree of polarization (144, 145).

Although it has been known for some time that double-positive IFN- γ^+ IL-4⁺ T-cells can be detected in experimental models of Th2 differentiation (146), when viewed in the context of the original Th1/Th2 paradigm, they were considered to be Th0 cells that were not yet committed to a polarized phenotype. However, several recent publications clearly demonstrated that these Th1/Th2 hybrid cells are stable both in vitro and in vivo after infection with either the trematode S. mansoni and the nematode H. polygyrus helminth infections (146, 147). Furthermore, this Th1/Th2 hybrid cells arise in a IL-18-dependent manner in S. mansoni infected mice (148). Interestingly, adoptive transfer of Th1/Th2 hybrid into Th1 or Th2 inflammatory models (LCMV and allergic airway inflammation) showed in both cases a reduced pathology associated with the inflammation (147). At the molecular level, these Th1/Th2 hybrid cells present with an intermediate expression of Gata-3 and T-bet as compared to Th2 and Th1 cells, respectively, due to an intermediate signature of methylation, for example, gata3 methylation was 36% in those cells, versus 60% in Th1 and 8% of Th2 (149).

Both T-bet and GATA3 can regulate each others expression (150), and in a recent study, ROR γ t and Foxp3 were shown to directly interact in a way that determines Th17 versus induced Treg lineage (151, 152). Also, it has been shown that Tfh cells can express both Gata3 or T-bet and that while Bcl6 decreases their relative expression it does not block it completely (153). Taking these observations together, it would seem reasonable to speculate that it is the ratio of transcription factors induced that may determine the fate of any developing T-helper subset and that as a T-helper cell differentiates there is available a broad contiguous range of gene expression patterns for shaping its ultimate phenotype during an immune response against a helminth (**Figure 2A**) (154).

The possibility of potential inter-conversions of different T-helper subsets in the context of a helminth infection has recently been studied (155). Both *in vitro*- and *ex vivo*-generated Th1 and Th17 cells, adoptively transferred into mice later infected with *N. brasiliensis*, were shown to convert into IL-4 producers while losing their own signature cytokine expression. Also, both the iTregs and the nTregs were found to be stable *in vivo* in this study, with only low number of cells converting to express IL-4 (155). It is interesting to note that the *in vitro*-generated Th1 and Th17 cells showed a lower propensity to convert after transfer, suggesting that *in vitro* culture has a strong impact on the degree of T-helper cell plasticity that can be observed and perhaps explaining why the

initial *in vitro* investigations into T-helper subset differentiation found subsets were highly stable and thus terminally differentiated.

Based on observations of the diversity and apparent plasticity of T-helper subsets phenotypes that can be detected now and on dynamic systems theory, we propose a landscape representation of the possibility of inter-conversions and intermediary states for T-helper cell subsets developing in the context of a helminthinduced immune response (**Figures 2B,C**). We have represented the dynamic of T-cells' fates on a quasi-potential landscape in which the different subsets constitute stable states, also called attractors. In this view, the subsets are in "valley" or "flat" areas. To transit from one stable state to another, the system needs to be perturbed, for example by an infection that would push cells toward certain attractors or away from others. Unstable states are usually represented as "hills." The Th1/Th2 hybrid state is stable enough, but less that the more terminally differentiated Th1 and Th2, and is thus represented by a well with less depth than Th1 or Th2.

Using such a "continuum of T-helper cell phenotypes" paradigm, it would be predicted that in host tissues responding to helminths there would be a gradient of activated and differentiated T-helper cell subsets with the most fully differentiated being stable and having lost much of their plasticity. Such terminally differentiated helper T-cells, maybe such as Th2, probably represent a small proportion of the pool of memory effector T-cells that maintain the helminth antigen specificity and the appropriate cytokine profile.



FIGURE 2 | Dynamic of T helper differentiation. **(A)** The dynamic of T helper differentiation can be visualized as a "potential landscape" in which each T helper subset represent a stable position or "valley" and the transition from one subset to another, would be a "hill", difficult to pass. Initially, the transition state between T helper subsets was considered as instable, and thus not observable *in vivo*. However, Th1/Th2 hybrid population has recently been reported to be stable after helminth infection. As this hybrid state is less abundant than Th1 or Th2, one could presume that the hybrid population is less stable that the Th1 or Th2 subsets, thus represented as a less deep well. **(B)** This transition between subsets can be further defined by the ration of transcription factor

participating in the fate determination of each subset. For example, the Th1/Th2 population has been shown to present intermediary level of gata-3 and T-bet expression as compared respectively to Th2 and Th1. Through similar transcriptomic approach, generalised on all the T helper subsets, it would thus be possible to define a ration of transcription factors necessary to enable the switch from one subset to another. **(C)** The plasticity of the T helper subsets is represented in a conceptual 3D potential landscape and illustrate that the diverse repertoire of T helper cell subsets, and its important plasticity, enable the host to have an array of fine-tuned adaptive responses to both control the parasite development and avoid and repair pathology caused by the worm migration.
TYPE 2 IMMUNE RESPONSES TO HELMINTH INFECTION ARE A COMPROMISE BETWEEN PROTECTION, SUSCEPTIBILITY, TISSUE REPAIR, AND PATHOLOGY

The original paradigm explaining resistance or susceptibility to helminths was described as a simple balance between Th1 (the susceptible, pathologic response), and Th2 (the response conferring parasite killing and elimination). However, this paradigm did not satisfactorily explain why so many parasites are able to establish themselves in hosts for extended periods of time (sometimes for decades) without causing any major clinical symptoms, nor why, in endemic environments, hosts are continually being reinfected with no apparent sign of disease. The hypothesis that the immune system would ignore the parasite infection was unconvincing, begging the question of whether these parasites themselves actively downregulate the host immune response and control pathology. Consequently, much research on helminth infection has focused on understanding how the parasite could regulate immune responses and teasing apart what is the physiological purpose of the type 2 effector responses in terms of benefit to host survival.

With the emergence of data showing that helminths and their products could be used to prevent/cure both allergic and autoimmune (156), our understanding of the immune response against helminth has changed to take into account the regulatory mechanisms induced by the parasites. From this emerged a new concept, the "modified Th2," characterized by a decrease IL-5 and IL-13 expression and an increase of anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as TGF-b and IL-10. Other cells types, such as regulatory myeloid cells or regulatory B-cells have been shown to be involved in the downregulation induced by helminth.

The Th2 immune response has also been shown to be part of a wound repair response, with the ability to block a runaway pathology. This is clearly illustrated in IL-4^{-/-} mice infected with *S. mansoni* that die from excess pathology, even if their worm burden was similar to the wild type control mice (157). Th2 immune response has been considered as having evolved to cope both with helminth infection and with damage repair mechanisms, necessary to the survival of the host against those multicellular metazoan parasite migrating through tissue (12, 158). New research has shown that IL-9 has roles in controlling fibrosis and wound repair (91, 92), and that IL-22 from Th22 and Th17 cells promotes healing by increasing proliferation and survival of keratinocytes and intestinal epithelial cells (118, 159, 160). These data indicate that Th2 may not be the only T-helper subset contributing to the repair of helminth-induced tissue damage.

Furthermore, ES-62, a secretory product of the filarial nematode *Acanthocheilonema viteae*, may play with the balance of the different T-helper subsets in order to diminish the protective immune response (161). In a murine model of OVA-induced allergic airways inflammation, ES-62 decreased Th2 responses, as shown by a reduced level of IL-4 in the broncho-alveolar fluid, decrease eosinophils recruitment, and IgE. In parallel, the Th1 immune response is exacerbated, and neutralization of IFN- γ initiated the allergic inflammation blocked by ES-62 treatment. Th17 was also suppressed in this model, and that this suppression is responsible for the increase of the Th1 response. Importantly, ES-62 in this model did not induce an increase of Treg population, thus suggesting that the immunomodulatory effect of the molecule is to modify the balance of $CD4^+$ T-helper subsets. This is the key data to understanding that the regulation of immune responses is not solely controlled by Tregs, but the different $CD4^+$ T-cells subsets themselves antagonize one another.

Considering the fact that all the currently recognized stable CD4⁺ T-helper phenotypes have been observed during helminth infections, and that these different subsets contribute variously to either protection, wound healing, susceptibility, or immunopathology, we have designed a new model that condenses what is known about the direct contributions of the subsets and their cross-regulation of each other. This model demonstrates our better understanding of the balanced immune responses during helminth infection **Figure 3**.

The early opposition of Th1 and Th2 is still clearly visible as a driving force for the trade-off between host and helminth survival. Th2 and Th9 segregate together to confer resistance, as they share a common activation pathway through IL-4. They are opposed to Th1 and Th17 in regard to pathology and to Th1 and Tregs in regard to susceptibility and chronicity. This model emphasizes that what may be best for the host is a compromise between elimination of the parasite versus containment and also the need for rapid repair of damaged tissue and avoidance of self destructive pathology. This all-encompassing



FIGURE 3 [Evolution of the view on Theiper involvement in neminitin infection. By taking into account all the other T helper subset known to date, it is proposed that an immune response against on helminth can be summarized as a 2D map defined by an axis of susceptibility/protection and an axis of pathology/damage control. For an optimal response against a parasite, the host would thus mount a Th2/Th9 response with a low Tregs response and almost not existing Th1, Th17 response. The Th2 arm of the immune response protects against helminth by expanding ILCs, eosinophils and basophils all involved in parasite expulsion or by activating macrophages in AAM, playing a role in granuloma formation. Th9 rather protects by increasing goblet cells hyperplasia and muscle contractility in the gut. Th17 induced pathology is mainly mediated by neutrophils and inflammatory macrophages. In contrary, Tregs induced development of regulatory macrophages, which control pathology. view of an immune response gives a better understanding of the host issues at stake and gives a context for further investigations to investigate roles for each of the T-helper subsets. Furthermore, the consideration of a multipartite balance, rather than a one in one balance, would be useful to the design of therapy against helminths (i.e., by developing adjuvant to vaccine that could determine the right balance of Th subsets to obtain sterilizing immunity, and define the timing to administer such treatment), and to understand how helminth infection or their product could use a therapy against inflammatory and autoimmune disease, caused by the deregulation of different T-helper subsets.

DISCUSSION/REMARKS

The new challenge to the investigation of type 2 immune responses is to determine how many subsets of T-helper cells exist and what mechanisms control the level and degree of plasticity that occurs between T-helper cell subtypes. The question arises as to what would be the benefit to the host to have such complexity and myriad of genetic events underpinning this plasticity of the T-helper cell response. We would argue that the benefit to the host in being able to generate so many T-helper subsets is to have the diversity of options for dealing with the myriad of parasitic forms, invasive routes, and environments that have an endless supply of parasites that invade by physical means. In effect, the diversity and plasticity of the repertoire of functional T-helper cell subsets enable the host to have an array of adaptive responses. While the response might not kill the worm, it will enable the host to repair the more serious damage caused by the migrating parasite, and avoid the fatal consequences of debilitating pathology.

We wish to point out that in order to study the type 2 immune response elicited by helminths, i.e., define the role of the various old and new discrete CD4⁺ T-cell subsets, both techniques and approaches will have to evolve. For example, as plasticity between different T-helper subsets become increasingly evident, it maybe of interest to define a subset by both the cytokine production/nonproduction patterns, as well as by the ratio of transcription factors they express. For this matter, engineered reporter mice for particular cytokines and even combinations of cytokines may help in in vivo studies but may not reflect the native mRNA or protein. New bioinformatics approaches, such as studies of the transittability (162) (that defines the lower number of molecule switch to go from one fate of differentiation to another one based on a network of molecules involved in shaping the cell fate), could provide in the near future a list of more appropriate marker necessary to define one particular T-helper subset. Moreover, due to the plasticity of the T-cells, we think it is important to remember that immune studies look at dynamic events, and as such looking at a precise time point in the model, may give a wrong picture of the actual mechanism, for example a subset "in transition," may be missed because of the lack of markers used for describing it, or the relative rarity compared with the currently defined stable subsets.

Hopefully, advances in single cell analysis (Fluidigm), sequencing, multiplex quantification of transcripts (such as nCounter, Nanostring that can detect up to 800 genes), advanced multicolor flow cytometry (such as panels up to 20 colors), the emergence of mass cytometry (such as CyTOF that allows multi-detection of up to 34 parameters to date, but could potentially go up to 100), coupled with bioinformatic approaches may offer the new tools necessary for studying the dynamics of T-helper differentiation in the context of helminth infection.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Dr. Alexander Smith for the preparation of the figures and comments on the manuscript and to and Dr. Kara Filbey for her comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Pond L, Wassom DL, Hayes CE. Evidence for differential induction of helper T cell subsets during *Trichinella spiralis* infection. *J Immunol* (1989) 143:4232–7.
- Kopf M, Le Gros G, Bachmann M, Lamers MC, Bluethmann H, Köhler G. Disruption of the murine IL-4 gene blocks Th2 cytokine responses. *Nature* (1993) 362:245–8. doi:10.1038/362245a0
- Urban JF, Katona IM, Paul WE, Finkelman FD. Interleukin 4 is important in protective immunity to a gastrointestinal nematode infection in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1991) 88:5513–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.13.5513
- Urban JF, Noben-Trauth N, Donaldson DD, Madden KB, Morris SC, Collins M, et al. IL-13, IL-4Ralpha, and Stat6 are required for the expulsion of the gastrointestinal nematode parasite *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*. *Immunity* (1998) 8:255–64. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80477-X
- Harvie M, Camberis M, Tang S-C, Delahunt B, Paul W, Le Gros G. The lung is an important site for priming CD4 T-cell-mediated protective immunity against gastrointestinal helminth parasites. *Infect Immun* (2010) 78:3753–62. doi:10.1128/IAI.00502-09
- Else KJ, Finkelman FD, Maliszewski CR, Grencis RK. Cytokine-mediated regulation of chronic intestinal helminth infection. J Exp Med (1994) 179:347–51. doi:10.1084/jem.179.1.347
- Brunet LR, Kopf MA, Pearce EJ. Schistosoma mansoni: IL-4 is necessary for concomitant immunity in mice. J Parasitol (1999) 85:734–6. doi:10.2307/3285752
- Rawat J, Dixon JB, Macintyre AR, McGarry HF, Taylor MJ. IL-4 dependent resistance to the tapeworm *Mesocestoides corti* (Cestoda) in mice. *Parasite Immunol* (2003) 25:553–7. doi:10.1111/j.0141-9838.2004.00666.x
- Harris N, Gause WC. To B or not to B: B cells and the Th2-type immune response to helminths. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32:80–8. doi:10.1016/j.it.2010. 11.005
- Rodriguez-Sosa M, David JR, Bojalil R, Satoskar AR, Terrazas LI. Cutting edge: susceptibility to the larval stage of the helminth parasite taenia crassiceps is mediated by Th2 response induced via STAT6 signaling. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:3135–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3135
- Wynn TA. IL-13 effector functions. Annu Rev Immunol (2003) 21:425–56. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141142
- Allen JE, Sutherland TE. Host protective roles of type 2 immunity: parasite killing and tissue repair, flip sides of the same coin. *Semin Immunol* (2014) 26:329–40. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2014.06.003
- Anthony RM, Urban JF, Alem F, Hamed HA, Rozo CT, Boucher J-L, et al. Memory T(H)2 cells induce alternatively activated macrophages to mediate protection against nematode parasites. *Nat Med* (2006) 12:955–60. doi:10.1038/ nm1451
- Rothenberg ME, Hogan SP. The eosinophil. Annu Rev Immunol (2006) 24:147–74. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090720
- Behm CA, Ovington KS. The role of eosinophils in parasitic helminth infections: insights from genetically modified mice. *Parasitol Today* (2000) 16:202–9. doi:10.1016/S0169-4758(99)01620-8
- Meeusen EN, Balic A. Do eosinophils have a role in the killing of helminth parasites? *Parasitol Today* (2000) 16:95–101. doi:10.1016/S0169-4758(99)01607-5
- Martin C, Al-Qaoud KM, Ungeheuer MN, Paehle K, Vuong PN, Bain O, et al. IL-5 is essential for vaccine-induced protection and for resolution of primary infection in murine filariasis. *Med Microbiol Immunol* (2000) 189:67–74. doi:10.1007/PL00008258
- Kurowska-Stolarska M, Kewin P, Murphy G, Russo RC, Stolarski B, Garcia CC, et al. IL-33 induces antigen-specific IL-5+ T cells and promotes allergic-induced airway inflammation independent of IL-4. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:4780–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.7.4780

- Anuradha R, George PJ, Hanna LE, Chandrasekaran V, Kumaran PP, Nutman TB, et al. Parasite-antigen driven expansion of IL-5(-) and IL-5(+) Th2 human subpopulations in lymphatic filariasis and their differential dependence on IL-10 and TGFβ. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2014) 8:e2658. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd. 0002658
- Liang H-E, Reinhardt RL, Bando JK, Sullivan BM, Ho I-C, Locksley RM. Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:58–66. doi:10.1038/ni.2182
- King IL, Mohrs M. IL-4-producing CD4+ T cells in reactive lymph nodes during helminth infection are T follicular helper cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1001–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20090313
- Le Gros G, Ben-Sasson SZ, Seder R, Finkelman FD, Paul WE. Generation of interleukin 4 (IL-4)-producing cells in vivo and in vitro: IL-2 and IL-4 are required for in vitro generation of IL-4-producing cells. J Exp Med (1990) 172:921–9. doi:10.1084/jem.172.3.921
- Brewer JM, Conacher M, Hunter CA, Mohrs M, Brombacher F, Alexander J. Aluminium hydroxide adjuvant initiates strong antigen-specific Th2 responses in the absence of IL-4- or IL-13-mediated signaling. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:6448–54.
- 24. Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Noben-Trauth N, Caspar P, Paul WE, Sher A. Single cell analysis reveals that IL-4 receptor/Stat6 signaling is not required for the in vivo or in vitro development of CD4+ lymphocytes with a Th2 cytokine profile. J Immunol (2000) 164:3047–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.6.3047
- 25. van Panhuys N, Tang S-C, Prout M, Camberis M, Scarlett D, Roberts J, et al. In vivo studies fail to reveal a role for IL-4 or STAT6 signaling in Th2 lymphocyte differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**:12423–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806372105
- Allen JE, Maizels RM. Diversity and dialogue in immunity to helminths. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:375–88. doi:10.1038/nri2992
- Constant SL, Bottomly K. Induction of Th1 and Th2 CD4+ T cell responses: the alternative approaches. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1997) 15:297–322. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.15.1.297
- Milner JD, Fazilleau N, McHeyzer-Williams M, Paul W. Cutting edge: lack of high affinity competition for peptide in polyclonal CD4+ responses unmasks IL-4 production. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:6569–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1000674
- Shiner EK, Holbrook BC, Alexander-Miller MA. CD4+ T cell subset differentiation and avidity setpoint are dictated by the interplay of cytokine and antigen mediated signals. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e100175. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0100175.g006
- Rudulier CD, McKinstry KK, Al-Yassin GA, Kroeger DR, Bretscher PA. The number of responding CD4 T cells and the dose of antigen conjointly determine the Th1/Th2 phenotype by modulating B7/CD28 interactions. *J Immunol* (2014) 192:5140–50. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301691
- van Panhuys N, Klauschen F, Germain RN. T-cell-receptor-dependent signal intensity dominantly controls CD4. *Immunity* (2014) 41:63–74. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2014.06.003
- 32. Camberis M, Prout M, Tang S-C, Forbes-Blom E, Robinson M, Kyle R, et al. Evaluating the in vivo Th2 priming potential among common allergens. *J Immunol Methods* (2013) **394**:62–72. doi:10.1016/j.jim.2013.05.004
- 33. Breuilh L, Vanhoutte F, Fontaine J, van Stijn CMW, Tillie-Leblond I, Capron M, et al. Galectin-3 modulates immune and inflammatory responses during helminthic infection: impact of galectin-3 deficiency on the functions of dendritic cells. *Infect Immun* (2007) 75:5148–57. doi:10.1128/IAI.02006-06
- 34. Everts B, Hussaarts L, Driessen NN, Meevissen MHJ, Schramm G, van der Ham AJ, et al. Schistosome-derived omega-1 drives Th2 polarization by suppressing protein synthesis following internalization by the mannose receptor. J Exp Med (2012) 209:1753–67–S1. doi:10.1084/jem.20111381
- Huber S, Hoffmann R, Muskens F, Voehringer D. Alternatively activated macrophages inhibit T-cell proliferation by Stat6-dependent expression of PD-L2. *Blood* (2010) 116:3311–20. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-271981
- 36. Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Caspar P, Sher A. Parasite-induced Th2 polarization is associated with down-regulated dendritic cell responsiveness to Th1 stimuli and a transient delay in T lymphocyte cycling. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:2419–27. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2419
- 37. Harris NL, Peach RJ, Ronchese F. CTLA4-Ig inhibits optimal T helper 2 cell development but not protective immunity or memory response to *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) **29**:311–6. doi:10.1002/(SICI) 1521-4141(199901)29:01<311::AID-IMMU311>3.0.CO;2-B

- Lu P, Zhou X, Chen SJ, Moorman M, Morris SC, Finkelman FD, et al. CTLA-4 ligands are required to induce an in vivo interleukin 4 response to a gastrointestinal nematode parasite. *J Exp Med* (1994) 180:693–8. doi:10.1084/jem.180. 2.693
- Balic A, Harcus Y, Holland MJ, Maizels RM. Selective maturation of dendritic cells by *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis*-secreted proteins drives Th2 immune responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2004) 34:3047–59. doi:10.1002/eji.200425167
- MacDonald AS, Straw AD, Bauman B, Pearce EJ. CD8- dendritic cell activation status plays an integral role in influencing Th2 response development. *J Immunol* (2001) 167:1982–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.167.4.1982
- Pletinckx K, Stijlemans B, Pavlovic V, Laube R, Brandl C, Kneitz S, et al. Similar inflammatory DC maturation signatures induced by TNF or *Trypanosoma brucei* antigens instruct default Th2-cell responses. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:3479–94. doi:10.1002/eji.201141631
- Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Hieny S, Caspar P, Collazo CM, Sher A. In the absence of IL-12, CD4(+) T cell responses to intracellular pathogens fail to default to a Th2 pattern and are host protective in an IL-10(-/-) setting. *Immunity* (2002) 16:429–39. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00278-9
- Cervi L, MacDonald AS, Kane C, Dzierszinski F, Pearce EJ. Cutting edge: dendritic cells copulsed with microbial and helminth antigens undergo modified maturation, segregate the antigens to distinct intracellular compartments, and concurrently induce microbe-specific Th1 and helminth-specific Th2 responses. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:2016–20. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.4. 2016
- 44. Kane CM, Cervi L, Sun J, McKee AS, Masek KS, Shapira S, et al. Helminth antigens modulate TLR-initiated dendritic cell activation. *J Immunol* (2004) 173:7454–61. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.12.7454
- Everts B, Perona-Wright G, Smits HH, Hokke CH, van der Ham AJ, Fitzsimmons CM, et al. Omega-1, a glycoprotein secreted by *Schistosoma mansoni* eggs, drives Th2 responses. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206:1673–80. doi:10.1084/jem. 20082460
- 46. Steinfelder S, Andersen JF, Cannons JL, Feng CG, Joshi M, Dwyer D, et al. The major component in schistosome eggs responsible for conditioning dendritic cells for Th2 polarization is a T2 ribonuclease (omega-1). J Exp Med (2009) 206:1681–90. doi:10.1084/jem.20082462
- 47. Whelan M, Harnett MM, Houston KM, Patel V, Harnett W, Rigley KP. A filarial nematode-secreted product signals dendritic cells to acquire a phenotype that drives development of Th2 cells. *J Immunol* (2000) **164**:6453–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.12.6453
- Connor L, Tang S-C, Camberis M, Le Gros G, Ronchese F. Helminth– conditioned dendritic cells prime CD4+ T cells to IL-4 production in vivo. *J Immunol* (2014) 193:2709–17. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400374
- Massacand JC, Stettler RC, Meier R, Humphreys NE, Grencis RK, Marsland BJ, et al. Helminth products bypass the need for TSLP in Th2 immune responses by directly modulating dendritic cell function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106:13968–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906367106
- Hepworth MR, Danilowicz-Luebert E, Rausch S, Metz M, Klotz C, Maurer M, et al. Mast cells orchestrate type 2 immunity to helminths through regulation of tissue-derived cytokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:6644–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1112268109
- León B, Ballesteros-Tato A, Browning JL, Dunn R, Randall TD, Lund FE. Regulation of T(H)2 development by CXCR5+ dendritic cells and lymphotoxin-expressing B cells. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:681–90. doi:10.1038/ ni.2309
- 52. Tang H, Cao W, Kasturi SP, Ravindran R, Nakaya HI, Kundu K, et al. The T helper type 2 response to cysteine proteases requires dendritic cell-basophil cooperation via ROS-mediated signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2010) **11**:608–17. doi:10.1038/ni.1883
- Perrigoue JG, Saenz SA, Siracusa MC, Allenspach EJ, Taylor BC, Giacomin PR, et al. MHC class II-dependent basophil-CD4+ T cell interactions promote T(H)2 cytokine-dependent immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:697–705. doi:10.1038/ni.1740
- 54. Yoshimoto T, Yasuda K, Tanaka H, Nakahira M, Imai Y, Fujimori Y, et al. Basophils contribute to T(H)2-IgE responses in vivo via IL-4 production and presentation of peptide-MHC class II complexes to CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:706–12. doi:10.1038/ni.1737
- 55. Phythian-Adams AT, Cook PC, Lundie RJ, Jones LH, Smith KA, Barr TA, et al. CD11c depletion severely disrupts Th2 induction and development in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2010) **207**:2089–96. doi:10.1084/jem.20100734

- Epstein MM, Di Rosa F, Jankovic D, Sher A, Matzinger P. Successful T cell priming in B cell-deficient mice. J Exp Med (1995) 182:915–22. doi:10.1084/ jem.182.4.915
- Ronchese F, Hausmann B, Le Gros G. Interferon-gamma- and interleukin-4producing T cells can be primed on dendritic cells in vivo and do not require the presence of B cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1994) 24:1148–54. doi:10.1002/eji. 1830240521
- MacDonald AS, Pearce EJ. Cutting edge: polarized Th cell response induction by transferred antigen-pulsed dendritic cells is dependent on IL-4 or IL-12 production by recipient cells. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:3127–30. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.168.7.3127
- Straw AD, MacDonald AS, Denkers EY, Pearce EJ. CD154 plays a central role in regulating dendritic cell activation during infections that induce Th1 or Th2 responses. *J Immunol* (2003) 170:727–34. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.170.2.727
- Jenkins SJ, Perona-Wright G, Worsley AGF, Ishii N, MacDonald AS. Dendritic cell expression of OX40 ligand acts as a costimulatory, not polarizing, signal for optimal Th2 priming and memory induction in vivo. *J Immunol* (2007) 179:3515–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.6.3515
- Sun J, Pearce EJ. Suppression of early IL-4 production underlies the failure of CD4 T cells activated by TLR-stimulated dendritic cells to differentiate into Th2 cells. J Immunol (2007) 178:1635–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.3.1635
- 62. Flynn S, Toellner KM, Raykundalia C, Goodall M, Lane P. CD4 T cell cytokine differentiation: the B cell activation molecule, OX40 ligand, instructs CD4 T cells to express interleukin 4 and upregulates expression of the chemokine receptor, Blr-1. J Exp Med (1998) 188:297–304. doi:10.1084/jem.188.2.297
- 63. Ohshima Y, Yang LP, Uchiyama T, Tanaka Y, Baum P, Sergerie M, et al. OX40 costimulation enhances interleukin-4 (IL-4) expression at priming and promotes the differentiation of naive human CD4(+) T cells into high IL-4-producing effectors. *Blood* (1998) **92**:3338–45.
- 64. Ito T, Wang Y-H, Duramad O, Hori T, Delespesse GJ, Watanabe N, et al. TSLP-activated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. J Exp Med (2005) 202:1213–23. doi:10.1084/ jem.20051135
- 65. Chu DK, Llop-Guevara A, Walker TD, Flader K, Goncharova S, Boudreau JE, et al. IL-33, but not thymic stromal lymphopoietin or IL-25, is central to mite and peanut allergic sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131:.e1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.08.002
- 66. Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity* (2005) 23:479–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.015
- 67. de Jong EC, Vieira PL, Kalinski P, Schuitemaker JHN, Tanaka Y, Wierenga EA, et al. Microbial compounds selectively induce Th1 cell-promoting or Th2 cell-promoting dendritic cells in vitro with diverse th cell-polarizing signals. *J Immunol* (2002) **168**:1704–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.4.1704
- 68. Hung L-Y, Lewkowich IP, Dawson LA, Downey J, Yang Y, Smith DE, et al. IL-33 drives biphasic IL-13 production for noncanonical type 2 immunity against hookworms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**:282–7. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1206587110
- Mearns H, Forbes-Blom EE, Camberis M, Tang S-C, Kyle R, Harvie M, et al. IL-25 exhibits disparate roles during Th2-cell differentiation versus effector function. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:1976–80. doi:10.1002/eji.201344400
- Pippig SD, Peña-Rossi C, Long J, Godfrey WR, Fowell DJ, Reiner SL, et al. Robust B cell immunity but impaired T cell proliferation in the absence of CD134 (OX40). *J Immunol* (1999) 163:6520–9.
- Ochiai S, Roediger B, Abtin A, Shklovskaya E, Fazekas de St Groth B, Yamane H, et al. CD326loCD103loCD11blo dermal dendritic cells are activated by thymic stromal lymphopoietin during contact sensitization in mice. *J Immunol* (2014) 193:2504–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400536
- Moser M, Murphy KM. Dendritic cell regulation of TH1-TH2 development. Nat Publish Group (2000) 1:199–205. doi:10.1038/79734
- Denda-Nagai K, Aida S, Saba K, Suzuki K, Moriyama S, Oo-puthinan S, et al. Distribution and function of macrophage galactose-type C-type lectin 2 (MGL2/CD301b): efficient uptake and presentation of glycosylated antigens by dendritic cells. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:19193–204. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110. 113613
- Gao Y, Nish SA, Jiang R, Hou L, Licona-Limón P, Weinstein JS, et al. Control of T helper 2 responses by transcription factor IRF4-dependent dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2013) 39:722–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.028

- 75. Kumamoto Y, Linehan M, Weinstein JS, Laidlaw BJ, Craft JE, Iwasaki A. CD301b⁺ dermal dendritic cells drive T helper 2 cell-mediated immunity. *Immunity* (2013) **39**:733–43. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.029
- 76. Murakami R, Denda-Nagai K, Hashimoto S-I, Nagai S, Hattori M, Irimura T. A unique dermal dendritic cell subset that skews the immune response toward Th2. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e73270. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0073270
- Williams JW, Tjota MY, Clay BS, Vander Lugt B, Bandukwala HS, Hrusch CL, et al. Transcription factor IRF4 drives dendritic cells to promote Th2 differentiation. *Nat Commun* (2013) 4:2990. doi:10.1038/ncomms3990
- Brown EM, Arrieta M-C, Finlay BB. A fresh look at the hygiene hypothesis: how intestinal microbial exposure drives immune effector responses in atopic disease. *Semin Immunol* (2013) 25:378–87. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.09.003
- 79. Maizels R, Balic A, Gomez-Escobar N, Nair M, Taylor MD, Allen JE. Helminth parasites – masters of regulation. *Immunol Rev* (2004) 201:90–116. doi:10. 1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00191.x
- McSorley HJ, Maizels RM. Helminth infections and host immune regulation. Clin Microbiol Rev (2012) 25:585–608. doi:10.1128/CMR.05040-11
- Gessner A, Blum H, Röllinghoff M. Differential regulation of IL-9-expression after infection with *Leishmania major* in susceptible and resistant mice. *Immunobiology* (1993) 189:419–35. doi:10.1016/S0171-2985(11)80414-6
- Faulkner H, Humphreys N, Renauld JC, Van Snick J, Grencis R. Interleukin-9 is involved in host protective immunity to intestinal nematode infection. *Eur J Immunol* (1997) 27:2536–40. doi:10.1002/eji.1830271011
- Faulkner H, Renauld JC, Van Snick J, Grencis RK. Interleukin-9 enhances resistance to the intestinal nematode *Trichuris muris*. *Infect Immun* (1998) 66:3832–40.
- Veldhoen M, Uyttenhove C, van Snick J, Helmby H, Westendorf A, Buer J, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta "reprograms" the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9:1341–6. doi:10.1038/ni.1659
- Staudt V, Bothur E, Klein M, Lingnau K, Reuter S, Grebe N, et al. Interferonregulatory factor 4 is essential for the developmental program of T helper 9 cells. *Immunity* (2010) 33:192–202. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.07.014
- Uyttenhove C, Brombacher F, van Snick J. TGF-β interactions with IL-1 family members trigger IL-4-independent IL-9 production by mouse CD4(+) T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:2230–5. doi:10.1002/eji.200940281
- Richard M, Grencis RK, Humphreys NE, Renauld JC, Van Snick J. Anti-IL-9 vaccination prevents worm expulsion and blood eosinophilia in *Trichuris muris*-infected mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2000) 97:767–72. doi:10.1073/ pnas.97.2.767
- Khan WI, Richard M, Akiho H, Blennerhasset PA, Humphreys NE, Grencis RK, et al. Modulation of intestinal muscle contraction by interleukin-9 (IL-9) or IL-9 neutralization: correlation with worm expulsion in murine nematode infections. *Infect Immun* (2003) 71:2430–8. doi:10.1128/IAI.71.5.2430--2438. 2003
- Licona-Limón P, Henao-Mejia J, Temann AU, Gagliani N, Licona-Limón I, Ishigame H, et al. Th9 cells drive host immunity against gastrointestinal worm infection. *Immunity* (2013) 39:744–57. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.020
- Turner J-E, Morrison PJ, Wilhelm C, Wilson M, Ahlfors H, Renauld J-C, et al. IL-9-mediated survival of type 2 innate lymphoid cells promotes damage control in helminth-induced lung inflammation. J Exp Med (2013) 210:2951–65. doi:10.1084/jem.20130071
- Re Lo S, Lison D, Huaux F. CD4+ T lymphocytes in lung fibrosis: diverse subsets, diverse functions. J Leukoc Biol (2013) 93:499–510. doi:10.1189/jlb. 0512261
- Gerlach K, Hwang Y, Nikolaev A, Atreya R, Dornhoff H, Steiner S, et al. TH9 cells that express the transcription factor PU.1 drive T cell-mediated colitis via IL-9 receptor signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:676–86. doi:10.1038/ni.2920
- 93. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Publish Group* (2005) 6:1123–32. doi:10.1038/ni1254
- Basso AS, Cheroutre H, Mucida D. More stories on Th17 cells. *Cell Res* (2009) 19:399–411. doi:10.1038/cr.2009.26
- Sie C, Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M. Th17 cells in central nervous system autoimmunity. *Exp Neurol* (2014). doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.03.009
- Wüthrich M, Deepe GS, Klein B. Adaptive immunity to fungi. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:115–48. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074958

- Mathew RC, Boros DL. Anti-L3T4 antibody treatment suppresses hepatic granuloma formation and abrogates antigen-induced interleukin-2 production in *Schistosoma mansoni* infection. *Infect Immun* (1986) 54:820–6.
- Phillips SM, DiConza JJ, Gold JA, Reid WA. Schistosomiasis in the congenitally athymic (nude) mouse. I. Thymic dependency of eosinophilia, granuloma formation, and host morbidity. *J Immunol* (1977) 118:594–9.
- 99. Stadecker MJ, Asahi H, Finger E, Hernandez HJ, Rutitzky LI, Sun J. The immunobiology of Th1 polarization in high-pathology schistosomiasis. *Immunol Rev* (2004) 201:168–79. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00197.x
- 100. Rutitzky LI, Lopes da Rosa JR, Stadecker MJ. Severe CD4 T cell-mediated immunopathology in murine schistosomiasis is dependent on IL-12p40 and correlates with high levels of IL-17. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:3920–6. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.175.6.3920
- 101. Shainheit MG, Smith PM, Bazzone LE, Wang AC, Rutitzky LI, Stadecker MJ. Dendritic cell IL-23 and IL-1 production in response to schistosome eggs induces Th17 cells in a mouse strain prone to severe immunopathology. J Immunol (2008) 181:8559–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.12.8559
- 102. Shainheit MG, Lasocki KW, Finger E, Larkin BM, Smith PM, Sharpe AH, et al. The pathogenic Th17 cell response to major schistosome egg antigen is sequentially dependent on IL-23 and IL-1β. *J Immunol* (2011) 187:5328–35. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101445
- 103. Tallima H, Salah M, Guirguis FR, Ridi El R. Transforming growth factor-beta and Th17 responses in resistance to primary murine schistosomiasis mansoni. *Cytokine* (2009) 48:239–45. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2009.07.581
- 104. Zhang Y, Chen L, Gao W, Hou X, Gu Y, Gui L, et al. IL-17 neutralization significantly ameliorates hepatic granulomatous inflammation and liver damage in *Schistosoma japonicum* infected mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) **42**:1523–35. doi:10.1002/eji.201141933
- 105. Chen D, Luo X, Xie H, Gao Z, Fang H, Huang J. Characteristics of IL-17 induction by *Schistosoma japonicum* infection in C57BL/6 mouse liver. *Immunology* (2013) **139**:523–32. doi:10.1111/imm.12105
- 106. Chen D, Xie H, Luo X, Yu X, Fu X, Gu H, et al. Roles of Th17 cells in pulmonary granulomas induced by *Schistosoma japonicum* in C57BL/6 mice. *Cell Immunol* (2013) 285:149–57. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2013.09.008
- 107. Mbow M, Larkin BM, Meurs L, Wammes LJ, de Jong SE, Labuda LA, et al. Thelper 17 cells are associated with pathology in human schistosomiasis. J Infect Dis (2013) 207:186–95. doi:10.1093/infdis/jis654
- 108. Babu S, Bhat SQ, Pavan Kumar N, Lipira AB, Kumar S, Karthik C, et al. Filarial lymphedema is characterized by antigen-specific Th1 and th17 proinflammatory responses and a lack of regulatory T cells. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2009) 3:e420. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000420
- 109. Anuradha R, George PJ, Chandrasekaran V, Kumaran PP, Nutman TB, Babu S. Interleukin 1 (IL-1)- and IL-23-mediated expansion of filarial antigen-specific Th17 and Th22 cells in filarial lymphedema. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* (2014) 21:960–5. doi:10.1128/CVI.00257-14
- 110. Chen F, Liu Z, Wu W, Rozo C, Bowdridge S, Millman A, et al. An essential role for TH2-type responses in limiting acute tissue damage during experimental helminth infection. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:260–6. doi:10.1038/nm.2628
- 111. Bourke CD, Nausch N, Rujeni N, Appleby LJ, Mitchell KM, Midzi N, et al. Integrated analysis of innate, Th1, Th2, Th17, and regulatory cytokines identifies changes in immune polarisation following treatment of human schistosomiasis. J Infect Dis (2013) 208:159–69. doi:10.1093/infdis/jis524
- 112. Fu Y, Wang W, Tong J, Pan Q, Long Y, Qian W, et al. Th17: a new participant in gut dysfunction in mice infected with *Trichinella spiralis*. *Mediators Inflamm* (2009) 2009:517052. doi:10.1155/2009/517052
- 113. Sotillo J, Trelis M, Cortes A, Fried B, Marcilla A, Esteban JG, et al. Th17 responses in *Echinostoma caproni* infections in hosts of high and low compatibility. *Exp Parasitol* (2011) **129**:307–11. doi:10.1016/j.exppara.2011.08.004
- 114. Gossner AG, Venturina VM, Shaw DJ, Pemberton JM, Hopkins J. Relationship between susceptibility of blackface sheep to *Teladorsagia circumcincta* infection and an inflammatory mucosal T cell response. *Vet Res* (2012) 43:26. doi:10.1186/1297-9716-43-26
- 115. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, et al. Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. *Nat Publish Group* (2007) 8:639–46. doi:10.1038/ni1467
- 116. Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:857–63. doi:10.1038/ni.1767

- 117. Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H. Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) **10**:864–71. doi:10.1038/ni.1770
- 118. Eyerich S, Eyerich K, Pennino D, Carbone T, Nasorri F, Pallotta S, et al. Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119:3573–85. doi:10.1172/ JCI40202
- 119. Akdis M, Palomares O, Van De Veen W, van Splunter M, Akdis CA. TH17 and TH22 cells: a confusion of antimicrobial response with tissue inflammation versus protection. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2012) 129:quiz1450–1. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2012.05.003
- 120. Ramirez J-M, Brembilla NC, Sorg O, Chicheportiche R, Matthes T, Dayer J-M, et al. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor reveals distinct requirements for IL-22 and IL-17 production by human T helper cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40:2450–9. doi:10.1002/eji.201040461
- 121. Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Christensen J, O'Garra A, Stockinger B. Natural agonists for aryl hydrocarbon receptor in culture medium are essential for optimal differentiation of Th17 T cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206:43–9. doi:10.1084/jem. 20081438
- 122. Broadhurst MJ, Leung JM, Kashyap V, McCune JM, Mahadevan U, McKerrow JH, et al. IL-22+ CD4+ T cells are associated with therapeutic trichuris trichiura infection in an ulcerative colitis patient. *Sci Transl Med* (2010) 2:60ra88. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3001500
- 123. Mcsorley HJ, Gaze S, Daveson J, Jones D, Anderson RP, Clouston A, et al. Suppression of inflammatory immune responses in celiac disease by experimental hookworm infection. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e24092. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0024092
- 124. Gaze S, Mcsorley HJ, Daveson J, Jones D, Bethony JM, Oliveira LM, et al. Characterising the mucosal and systemic immune responses to experimental human hookworm infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002520. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1002520.s003
- 125. Wilson MS, Feng CG, Barber DL, Yarovinsky F, Cheever AW, Sher A, et al. Redundant and pathogenic roles for IL-22 in mycobacterial, protozoan, and helminth infections. *J Immunol* (2010) **184**:4378–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0903416
- 126. Turner J-E, Stockinger B, Helmby H. IL-22 mediates goblet cell hyperplasia and worm expulsion in intestinal helminth infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003698. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003698.g006
- 127. Leung JM, Loke P. A role for IL-22 in the relationship between intestinal helminths, gut microbiota and mucosal immunity. *Int J Parasitol* (2013) 43:253–7. doi:10.1016/j.ijpara.2012.10.015
- 128. Parker W, Ollerton J. Evolutionary biology and anthropology suggest biome reconstitution as a necessary approach toward dealing with immune disorders. *Evol Med Public Health* (2013) **2013**:89–103. doi:10.1093/emph/ eot008
- 129. King C. New insights into the differentiation and function of T follicular helper cells. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) **9**:757–66. doi:10.1038/nri2644
- 130. Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) **325**:1006–10. doi:10.1126/science.1175870
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) 325:1001–5. doi:10.1126/science.1176676
- 132. Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) **31**:457–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- 133. Glatman Zaretsky A, Taylor JJ, King IL, Marshall FA, Mohrs M, Pearce EJ. T follicular helper cells differentiate from Th2 cells in response to helminth antigens. J Exp Med (2009) 206:991–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20090303
- 134. Chen X, Yang X, Li Y, Zhu J, Zhou S, Xu Z, et al. Follicular helper T cells promote liver pathology in mice during *Schistosoma japonicum* infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) **10**:e1004097. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004097.s008
- 135. Hurst MH, Willingham AL, Lindberg R. Experimental schistosomiasis japonica in the pig: immunohistology of the hepatic egg granuloma. *Parasite Immunol* (2002) 24:151–9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3024.2002.00448.x
- 136. Ji F, Liu Z, Cao J, Li N, Liu Z, Zuo J, et al. B cell response is required for granuloma formation in the early infection of *Schistosoma japonicum*. *PLoS One* (2008) 3:e1724. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001724

- 137. Zhang J, Roberts AI, Liu C, Ren G, Xu G, Zhang L, et al. A novel subset of helper T cells promotes immune responses by secreting GM-CSF. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20:1731–41. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.130
- 138. Jean WC, Spellman SR, Wallenfriedman MA, Flores CT, Kurtz BP, Hall WA, et al. Effects of combined granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin-2, and interleukin-12 based immunotherapy against intracranial glioma in the rat. J Neurooncol (2004) 66:39–49. doi:10.1023/B: NEON.0000013477.94568.0f
- 139. Shim DSC, Schilter HC, Knott ML, Almeida RA, Short RP, Mackay CR, et al. Protection against *Nippostrongylus brasiliensis* infection in mice is independent of GM-CSF. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90:553–8. doi:10.1038/icb.2011.69
- 140. Brattig N, Nietz C, Hounkpatin S, Lucius R, Seeber F, Pichlmeier U, et al. Differences in cytokine responses to onchocerca volvulus extract and recombinant Ov33 and OvL3-1 proteins in exposed subjects with various parasitologic and clinical states. J Infect Dis (1997) 176:838–42. doi:10.1086/517317
- 141. Rezende CMF, Goes TS, Goes VS, Azevedo V, Leite MF, Goes AM. GM-CSF and TNF-alpha synergize to increase in vitro granuloma size of PBMC from humans induced by *Schistosoma mansoni* recombinant 28-kDa GST. *Immunol Lett* (2004) 95:221–8. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2004.07.015
- 142. Allan RS, Zueva E, Cammas F, Schreiber HA, Masson V, Belz GT, et al. An epigenetic silencing pathway controlling T helper 2 cell lineage commitment. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2012) 487:249–53. doi:10.1038/nature11173
- 143. Robinson M, McConnell MJ, Le Gros G. How epigenetic imprinting contributes to stabilizing the Th2 phenotype. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2012) 90:917–8. doi:10.1038/icb.2012.47
- 144. Hirahara K, Poholek A, Vahedi G, Laurence A, Kanno Y, Milner JD, et al. Mechanisms underlying helper T-cell plasticity: implications for immune-mediated disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 131:1276–87. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2013. 03.015
- 145. O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**:1098–102. doi:10.1126/science. 1178334
- 146. Miner KT, Croft M. Generation, persistence, and modulation of Th0 effector cells: role of autocrine IL-4 and IFN-gamma. J Immunol (1998) 160:5280–7.
- 147. Peine M, Rausch S, Helmstetter C, Fröhlich A, Hegazy AN, Kühl AA, et al. Stable T-bet(+)GATA-3(+) Th1/Th2 hybrid cells arise in vivo, can develop directly from naive precursors, and limit immunopathologic inflammation. *PLoS Biol* (2013) **11**:e1001633. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001633
- 148. Adachi K, Nakamura R, Osada Y, Senba M, Tamada K, Hamano S. Involvement of IL-18 in the expansion of unique hepatic T cells with unconventional cytokine profiles during *Schistosoma mansoni* infection. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e96042. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0096042
- 149. Deaton AM, Cook PC, De Sousa D, Phythian-Adams AT, Bird A, MacDonald AS. A unique DNA methylation signature defines a population of IFN-γ/IL-4 double-positive T cells during helminth infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44:1835–41. doi:10.1002/eji.201344098
- 150. Kanhere A, Hertweck A, Bhatia U, Gökmen MR, Perucha E, Jackson I, et al. T-bet and GATA3 orchestrate Th1 and Th2 differentiation through lineagespecific targeting of distal regulatory elements. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:1268. doi:10.1038/ncomms2260
- 151. Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MMW, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, et al. TGF-beta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2008) 453:236–40. doi:10.1038/ nature06878

- 152. Ichiyama K, Yoshida H, Wakabayashi Y, Chinen T, Saeki K, Nakaya M, et al. Foxp3 inhibits RORgammat-mediated IL-17A mRNA transcription through direct interaction with RORgammat. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:17003–8. doi:10. 1074/jbc.M801286200
- 153. Lu KT, Kanno Y, Cannons JL, Handon R, Bible P, Elkahloun AG, et al. Functional and epigenetic studies reveal multistep differentiation and plasticity of in vitro-generated and in vivo-derived follicular T helper cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35:622–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.07.015
- 154. O'Garra A, Gabryšová L, Spits H. Quantitative events determine the differentiation and function of helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:288–94. doi:10.1038/ni.2003
- 155. Panzer M, Sitte S, Wirth S, Drexler I, Sparwasser T, Voehringer D. Rapid in vivo conversion of effector T cells into Th2 cells during helminth infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:615–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101164
- 156. Maizels RM, McSorley HJ, Smyth DJ. Helminths in the hygiene hypothesis: sooner or later? *Clin Exp Immunol* (2014) **177**:38–46. doi:10.1111/ cei.12353
- 157. Brunet LR, Finkelman FD, Cheever AW, Kopf MA, Pearce EJ. IL-4 protects against TNF-alpha-mediated cachexia and death during acute schistosomiasis. *J Immunol* (1997) 159:777–85.
- 158. Gause WC, Wynn TA, Allen JE. Type 2 immunity and wound healing: evolutionary refinement of adaptive immunity by helminths. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13:607–14. doi:10.1038/nri3476
- 159. Pickert G, Neufert C, Leppkes M, Zheng Y, Wittkopf N, Warntjen M, et al. STAT3 links IL-22 signaling in intestinal epithelial cells to mucosal wound healing. J Exp Med (2009) 206:1465–72. doi:10.1084/jem.20082683
- 160. Sonnenberg GF, Fouser LA, Artis D. Border patrol: regulation of immunity, inflammation and tissue homeostasis at barrier surfaces by IL-22. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:383–90. doi:10.1038/ni.2025
- 161. Rzepecka J, Siebeke I, Coltherd JC, Kean DE, Steiger CN, Al-Riyami L, et al. The helminth product, ES-62, protects against airway inflammation by resetting the Th cell phenotype. *Int J Parasitol* (2013) **43**:211–23. doi:10.1016/j.ijpara.2012. 12.001
- 162. Wu F-X, Wu L, Wang J, Liu J, Chen L. Transittability of complex networks and its applications to regulatory biomolecular networks. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:4819. doi:10.1038/srep04819

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 August 2014; paper pending published: 08 September 2014; accepted: 22 September 2014; published online: 15 October 2014.

Citation: Bouchery T, Kyle R, Ronchese F and Le Gros G (2014) The differentiation of CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets in the context of helminth parasite infection. Front. Immunol. **5**:487. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00487

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Bouchery, Kyle, Ronchese and Le Gros. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Antifungal Th immunity: growing up in family

Monica Borghi¹, Giorgia Renga¹, Matteo Puccetti², Vasileios Oikonomou¹, Melissa Palmieri¹, Claudia Galosi¹, Andrea Bartoli¹ and Luigina Romani¹*

¹ Pathology Section, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Perugia, Perugia, Italy ² Polo GGB, Perugia, Italy

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

Edward John Collins, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, USA Cosima T. Baldari, University of Siena, Italy

*Correspondence:

Luigina Romani, Pathology Section, Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Perugia, Polo Unico Sant'Andrea delle Fratte, Perugia 06132, Italy e-mail: luigina.romani@unipg.it Fungal diseases represent an important paradigm in immunology since they can result from either the lack of recognition or over-activation of the inflammatory response. Current understanding of the pathophysiology underlying fungal infections and diseases highlights the multiple cell populations and cell-signaling pathways involved in these conditions. A systems biology approach that integrates investigations of immunity at the systems-level is required to generate novel insights into this complexity and to decipher the dynamics of the host–fungus interaction. It is becoming clear that a three-way interaction between the host, microbiota, and fungi dictates the types of host–fungus relationship. Tryptophan metabolism helps support this interaction, being exploited by the mammalian host and commensals to increase fitness in response to fungi via resistance and tolerance mechanisms of antifungal immunity. The cellular and molecular mechanisms that provide immune homeostasis with the fungal biota and its possible rupture in fungal infections and diseases will be discussed within the expanding role of antifungal Th cell responses.

Keywords: Th cell subsets, immunity, tolerance, fungi

FUNGAL INFECTIONS AND DISEASES IN THE METAGENOMICS ERA: A REAPPRAISAL

Fungi can interact with their hosts (plants, animals, or human beings) in multiple ways, establishing symbiotic, commensal, or pathogenic relationships. Most fungi, such as Aspergillus fumigatus and Cryptococcus neoformans, and the thermally dimorphic fungi are ubiquitous in the environment, and human beings are exposed by inhaling spores or small yeast cells. In addition, more than 400 species of fungi associated with human beings have been identified (1). In this case, co-evolution of commensals, such as Pneumocystis jirovecii, Malassezia spp., and Candida albicans, with their mammalian hosts implicates the existence of sophisticated mechanisms to antagonize immunity in order to survive. Once considered pathogenic microbes, the commensal fungal microbiota is now an important component of the human intestinal ecosystem. Indeed, despite the intimate contact of fungi with the human host, fungal diseases in immunocompetent hosts are fairly uncommon, indicating that low-virulence fungi have evolved particular adaptation mechanisms that allow them to persist relatively unnoticed by the immune system (2). This "peaceful" coexistence may digress into overt disease under conditions of immune deregulation, such as in primary immunodeficiency human immunodeficiency virus infection and as a result of immunosuppressive therapies (2). In addition, invasive fungal diseases continue to be a serious problem in patients with hematologic disorders, solid, and hematopoietic organ transplantation as well as in non-highrisk, *sensu strictu*, patients, such as patients with *Mycobacterium tubercolosis* infection, hyper IgE syndrome, and anti-TNF-alpha therapy (3).

The increasing understanding of the importance of the microbiota in shaping the host immune and metabolic activity has rendered fungal interactions with the host and its microbiome more complex than previously appreciated (4) (**Box 1**). Indeed, the complex interactions between fungal and bacterial commensals, either directly or through the participation of the host immune system, all impact on the pathophysiology of a number of inflammatory disease that, in turn, may lead to secondary fungal infections (5, 6). Evidence is accumulating to support the exciting concept that the interaction between different biomes and between the host and the mycobiome are critical in the pathogenesis of fungal infections and other human diseases (1, 7, 8). Here, we will discuss recent findings on host- and microbial-dependent mechanisms of immune homeostasis with the fungal biota and its possible rupture in fungal infections and diseases.

RESISTANCE AND TOLERANCE MECHANISMS OF ANTIFUNGAL IMMUNITY

As the immune system has evolved to accommodate colonization by symbiotic microbes while retaining the capacity to oppose their infectivity, a fine balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory signals is a prerequisite for a stable host/fungal relationship, the disruption of which may lead to pathological consequences. Indeed, despite the occurrence of severe fungal infections in immunocompromised patients, clinical evidence indicates that fungal diseases also occur in the setting of a heightened inflammatory response, in which immunity occurs at the expense of host damage and

Abbreviations: AhR, aryl hydrocarbon receptor; APS-1, autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 patients; CF, cystic fibrosis; CLR, C-type lectin receptors; CMC, chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis; DCs, dendritic cells; DTH, delayed type hypersensitivity; IDO1, indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1; ILC3, innate lymphoid cells 3; IRIS, immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome; PRRs, pattern recognition receptors; RVVC, recurrent VVC; Th, T helper; Treg, regulatory T-cells; VVC, human vulvovaginal candidiasis.

Box 1 | The mycobiome at the host/microbiome interface.

The development of culture-independent methods has expanded our knowledge of the mycobiomes found in different body sites, their interface with other biomes, and their association with human health and diseases (1). Alterations in the mycobiome are frequently reported to be associated with various diseases such as cystic fibrosis (9), inflammatory bowel diseases (6, 10, 11), atopic dermatitis (12), or mucocutaneous candidiasis (13). However, it remains to be elucidated whether this variation is primary or secondary to an imbalanced bacterial microbiome. Indeed, interactions of fungi with bacteria *in vitro* have been described [reviewed in Ref. (6)] as well as the clinical relevance of these interactions (14), such as the occurrence of intractable candidiasis in association with antibiotic-induced dysbiosis (15) and of mixed fungal-bacterial species in biofilms (14). Fungal-bacterial interactions can be antagonistic, synergistic, or symbiotic; regardless, they influence the physiological characteristics and survival of either one partner and, consequently, impact on host immune reactivity. Variations in the mycobiome can also be secondary to dysregulated host immune reactivity. The traditional view of a single direction by which bacteria stimulates the immune system, leading to inflammation or autoimmune disorders, has been challenged by a more complex view; the gut immune system does not simply protect from pathogens, but is actively involved in the maintenance of a rich and healthy community of gut bacteria (16). Faults in the immune regulation lead to changes in the bacterial community that in turn feed back into the immune system. Similar to the microbiome, the host/mycobiome interactions also lead to mutual influences. Not only is the host affecting the mycobiome composition and variations, by means of genotype, physiology, immune system, and lifestyle, but also the fungal microbiota may contribute to the balance of inflammation and tolerance at local mucosal surfaces and at distal sites (17).

pathogen eradication (18). A number of fungal diseases are critical examples of such bidirectional influences between infection and immune-related pathology, a condition that highlights the bipolar nature of the inflammatory process in infection. Early inflammation prevents or limits infection, but an uncontrolled response may eventually oppose disease eradication. This conceptual principle is best exemplified by the occurrence of severe fungal infections in patients with chronic granulomatous disease (19), cystic fibrosis (20), or with immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS) (21), an entity characterized by local and systemic inflammatory reactions that can result in quiescent or latent infections manifesting as opportunistic mycoses. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis (CMC) and chronic disseminated candidiasis also belongs to the spectrum of fungus-related IRIS (22). Thus, an immune response that limits both fungal infectivity and host collateral damage is required to maintain a homeostatic environment (23). This dual role has recently been accommodated within the conceptual framework of a two-component antifungal immune response, i.e., resistance – the ability to limit fungal burden – and tolerance - the ability to limit the host damage caused by either the immune response or other mechanisms (2). Resistance is meant to reduce pathogen burden through innate and adaptive immune mechanisms, whereas a plethora of tolerance mechanisms, despite less known relative to resistance mechanisms, protect the host from immune- or pathogen-induced damage (24).

MECHANISMS OF ANTIFUNGAL RESISTANCE

Innate immune mechanisms are used by the host to respond to a range of fungal pathogens in an acute and conserved fashion. The constitutive mechanisms of innate defense are present at sites of continuous interaction with fungi and include the barrier function of body surfaces and the mucosal epithelial surfaces of the respiratory, gastrointestinal, and genitourinary tracts. Microbial antagonism, defensins, collectins, and the complement system realize the strict fungus specificity of the constitutive mechanisms and provide opsonic recognition. Multiple cell populations and cell-signaling pathways are involved in the antigen-independent recognition of fungi by PRRs (2, 25). Both murine and human studies have confirmed the association of susceptibility to fungal infections and diseases with genetic deficiency of selected PRRs (2). Because PRRs not only mediate downstream intracellular events related to fungal clearance but also participate in activation of adaptive immunity, deficiencies on innate immune genes also reverberate on the type and quality of the adaptive immune response, including effector CD4+ T helper (Th), regulatory T (Treg), and CD8+ T-cells (2, 25–27).

DENDRITIC CELLS

It is well established that the adaptive immune response, in particular that of T-cells, plays a pivotal role in antifungal host defense (2, 25). Dendritic cells (DCs) play a key role in promoting T-cell differentiation and responses to ubiquitous or commensal fungi. Studies have shown that lung DCs can transport fungal antigens to the draining lymph nodes (28, 29), where they orchestrate T-cell activation and differentiation into effector cells. Through elaboration of distinct sets of cytokines and other mediators, DCs have the unique ability to elicit a robust T-cell response that can be either tolerogenic or pro-inflammatory in nature, based on anatomical location and local metabolic environment. The whole-genome transcriptional analysis of DCs stimulated with fungi evidenced the presence of peculiar transcriptional programs governing the recognition of fungi (30).

These include common signaling pathways involving Syk kinase, Card9 and NF-kB downstream CLRs and ERK kinase, PI3K/Akt downstream TLRs for Th1/Th2/Th17 priming by conventional, inflammatory DCs, as well as p38/TRIF/STAT3 for Treg priming by plasmacytoid DCs (2, 31). In a mutual interaction, the host and the fungus control each other to avoid potential harmful inflammatory response. The ability of a given DC subset to respond with flexible activating programs and activation of distinct intracellular signaling pathways to the different PRR/fungal molecules' combinations confers unexpected plasticity to the DC system and pivotally contributes in shaping adaptive Th cells responses in infection and vaccination. The capacity of DCs to initiate different adaptive antifungal immune responses also depends upon specialization and cooperation between DC subsets (32). The multiple, functionally distinct, receptor/signaling pathways in DCs, ultimately affecting the local Th/Treg balance,

Table 1 | CD4⁺ Th cell subsets in fungal infections.

Th cells		Cytokines	Functions
0	Th1	IFN-γ/TNF-α	Fungal clearance Inflammation
0	Th17	IL-17A/IL-17F	Defensins, neutrophil recruitment Inflammation
0	Th22	IL-22	Defensins Tissue homeostasis
\bigcirc	Th2	IL-4/IL-13	Humoral response Allergy
\bigcirc	Th9	IL-9/IL-10	Tissue inflammation
\bigcirc	Treg	IL-10/TGF-β	Low inflammation Immunosuppression
\bigcirc	Tr1	IL-10	Low immunopathology

are likely successfully exploited by fungi from commensalism to

TH1 CELLS

infection (33).

CD4+ Th cells exist in a variety of epigenetic states that determine their function, phenotype, and capacity for persistence, and form long-term immune memory (34). Well-balanced Th1 and Th17 cell responses are crucial in antifungal immunity and facilitate phagocytic clearance of fungal recognition, mainly through release of cytokines such as TNF-α, IFN-γ, and IL-17A and IL-17F (Table 1). These cytokines stimulate the disparate antifungal effector functions of phagocytes, as well as the generation of optimal T-cell-dependent immunity (2, 25). A dominant Th1 response correlates with the expression of protective immunity to fungi (2, 35) and vaccines (36, 37). Through the production of the signature cytokine IFN- γ and help for opsonizing antibodies, the activation of Th1 cells is instrumental in the optimal activation of phagocytes at sites of infection. Therefore, the failure to deliver activating signals to effector phagocytes may predispose patients to overwhelming infections, limit the therapeutic efficacy of antifungals and antibodies, and favor fungal persistency (2). Patients who are deficient in IL-12R β are susceptible to CMC, which is frequently recurrent or persistent (38), as well as to deep paracoccidioidomycosis (39).

TH17 CELLS

Th17 are present in the human T-cell memory repertoire to fungi (2) and inborn errors of human IL-17 immunity underlie susceptibility to CMC (40) in which both Th17 (41) and Th1 (38, 42, 43) responses are defective. Combined deficiency of the Th1 and Th17 pathway predisposes to fungal diseases (44, 45), thus emphasizing the important role played by both pathways in resistance against fungi. This could be explained with the notion that Th17 cells,

although found early during the initiation of an immune response, are involved in a broad range of Th1-, Th2- and Treg-dominated immune responses (2, 46). In terms of effector functions, the ability of IL-17A to mobilize neutrophils and induce defensins may contribute to a prompt and efficient control of the infection at the different body sites. In respiratory fungal infections, Th17 cell are dispensable for resistance to the primary infection caused by *A. fumigatus* (47), but are required for vaccine-induced immunity against systemic mycoses endemic to North America (48). Thus, both Th17 and Th1 (27) cells are required for vaccine immunity to respiratory fungal pathogens.

It is intriguing that Th17 responses are down regulated by C. albicans (49). Regardless of the contribution of this phenomenon to infection or commensalism, this finding suggests that Th17 responses are finely tuned by fungi, as the failure to downregulate Th17 may eventually result in chronic inflammation and failure to resolve the infection (47, 50). The mechanisms that linked inflammation to chronic infection have been credited to the offending potential of IL-17A that, although promoting neutrophil recruitment, impeded the timely restriction of neutrophil inflammatory potential (51) while directly promoting fungal virulence (52). Thus, the Th17 pathway could be involved in the immunopathogenesis of chronic fungal diseases where persistent fungal antigens may maintain immunological dysreactivity. This may happen in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 patients (APS-1) and Aire-deficient mice (53) where an excessive Th17 reactivity was observed. This finding apparently conflicts with the presence of autoantibodies against IL-22, IL-17A, and IL-17F observed in these patients (54, 55). Although correlated to susceptibility to CMC, these antibodies were also present in patients without CMC. In addition, despite the presence of antibodies to type I IFN, APS-I patients do not appear prone to recurrent viral infections. It has instead been shown that autoantibodies to pro-inflammatory cytokines may act as beneficial autoimmunity in their ability to dampen pro-inflammatory mediators and restrict self-destructive immunity (56).

TH2 CELLS

IL-4 and IL-13 act as the most potent proximal signal for commitment to Th2 reactivity that, by dampening protective Th1 responses and promoting the alternative pathway of macrophage activation, favors fungal persistence, allergy, and disease relapse. Limiting IL-4 production restores antifungal resistance (2) (Table 1). In atopic subjects and neonates, the suppressed DTH response to fungi is associated with elevated levels of antifungal IgE, IgA, and IgG. In CF patients, heightened Th2 reactivity associates with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis and is sensitive to vitamin 3 (57). However, alternatively activated macrophages may have a protective role in defense against some respiratory fungi (58, 59) and Th2-dependent humoral immunity may afford some protection, in part by promoting Th1 immunity (60) and by altering fungal gene expression and intracellular trafficking (61-63). The efficacy of certain vaccines that elicit protective antibody strongly indicates that antibody responses can make a decisive contribution to host defense to fungi (61).

TH9 CELLS

The realization that Th effectors can produce various other cytokines alone or in combination in patterns not fitting the preconceived definitions of Th1/Th2 or Th17 subsets has led to the description of additional Th cell lineages, including Th9 and Th22. Initially thought to be a Th2-specific cytokine by virtue of its role in the pathogenesis of asthma, IgE class switch recombination, and resolution of parasitic infections, IL-9 is now considered to be the product of a distinct Th subset, the Th9 (64). Despite its relationship with other subsets, such as Th2, Th17, and Treg cells, Th9 cell subset can mediate tumor immunity and participate in autoimmune and allergic inflammation. Recently, human memory Th9 cells were found to be skin tropic or skin resident. Human Th9 cells co-expressed TNF-α and granzyme B, lacked coproduction of Th1/Th2/Th17 cytokines, and many were specific for C. albicans. IL-9 production preceded the upregulation of other inflammatory cytokines, such as IFN-y, IL-13, and IL-17. IL-9-producing T-cells were increased in the skin lesions of psoriasis, suggesting that these cells may contribute to human inflammatory skin disease in the presence of Candida (65). Recent findings demonstrated that IL-9 is predominantly produced in vivo by a novel subset of innate lymphoid cells termed ILC2 (66). It has been proposed that IL-9 might have a regulatory and prosurvival function for many lymphoid and myeloid cells (67). Our recent evidence suggests that different types of ILCs are defective in IL-9-deficient mice infected with either C. albicans or A. fumigatus, and this profoundly affects the outcome of either infection and the associated pathology (unpublished observations) (Table 1).

TH22 CELLS

Th22 cells producing only IL-22 but neither IFN-y nor IL-17A have been identified in human beings (68). They are induced in the presence of TNF- α and IL-6 and require ligation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR). Th22 cells via IL-22 influence the function of mesenchymal and epithelial cells and have been implicated in the dermatopathology of psoriasis and atopic dermatitis (69, 70). Memory C. albicans-specific IL-22+ CD4+ cells are present in human beings and defective in patients with CMC (71). Recent evidence indicates that IL-22 may play a crucial role in the innate immune resistance and local protection in mucocutaneous fungal diseases (72–74). Through the exploitation of primitive anti-fungal defense mechanisms, IL-22 was crucially involved in the control of Candida growth at mucosal sites in conditions of Th1 and Th17 deficiency (72, 74). Produced by ILC3 cells expressing AhR, IL-22 directly targeted gut epithelial cells to induce STAT3 phosphorylation and the release of S100A8 and S100A9 peptides known to have anti-candidal activity and anti-inflammatory effects (72, 74). Thus, due to dominant-negative mutations of STAT3, patients with autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome have a defective Th17 (41) that is likely amplified on ECs where STAT3 mutation compromises the IL-22 effects. IL-22 also mediates antifungal resistance and epithelial protection in experimental and human vulvovaginal candidiasis (VVC) as well as in recurrent VVC (RVVC). In RVVC, functional genetic variants in IL22 genes were found to be associated with heightened resistance to RVVC, and they correlated with increased local expression of IL-22 (74). Thus, IL-22+ cells, employing ancient effector mechanisms

of immunity, may represent a primitive mechanism of resistance against fungi under a condition of limited inflammation (**Table 1**). The fact that IL-22 production in the gut is driven by commensals (see below) also provides novel mechanistic insights on how antibiotic-related dysbiosis may predispose to candidiasis (75).

MECHANISMS OF TOLERANCE

TREG CELLS

The exposure to fungi requires the generation of a controlled immune response in the host that recognizes and controls them, limits collateral damage to self-tissues, and restores a homeostatic environment. A number of clinical observations suggest an inverse relationship between IFN-y and IL-10 production in patients with fungal infections. High levels of IL-10, negatively affecting IFN-y production, are detected in chronic candidal diseases, in the severe form of endemic mycoses, and in neutropenic patients with aspergillosis. Thus, high levels of IL-10 have been linked to susceptibility to fungal infections (76). However, given its prominent effect on resolution of inflammation, IL-10 production may be a consequence, rather than the cause, of the infection. This predicts that, in the case of chronic fungal infections dominated by non-resolving, persisting inflammation, IL-10 produced by Treg cells acts as homeostatic host-driven response to keep inflammation under control. Treg cells with anti-inflammatory activity have been described in fungal infections of both mice and human beings (2, 25). In experimental fungal infections, inflammatory immunity and immune tolerance in the respiratory or the gastrointestinal mucosa were all controlled by the coordinate activation of different Treg cell subsets, exerting a fine control over effector components of innate and adaptive immunity. Seen in this context, the Treg/IL-10 axis is a dangerous necessity, the failure of which may lead to detrimental inflammation. However, as the Treg responses may handicap the efficacy of protective immunity, the consequence of Treg activity is less damage to the host but also fungal persistence and immunosuppression, eventually (Table 1). Thus, by controlling the quality and magnitude and effector innate and adaptive responses, the spectrum of Treg cell activities may go from "protective tolerance," defined as a host's response that ensures survival of the host in a trade-off between sterilizing immunity and its negative regulation limiting pathogen elimination to overt immunosuppression. Taking a step further, this suggests that the interaction between fungi and the host immune status may determine their position from commensals to pathogens, and this position can change continuously. The salutary effects of Treg cells may go beyond their anti-inflammatory properties, to include the polarization of protective Th17 cells (46).

TR1 CELLS

T regulatory Type 1 (Tr1) cells are adaptive Treg cells characterized by the ability to secrete high levels of IL-10. Since their discovery, Tr1 cells have been proven to be important in maintaining immunological homeostasis and preventing T-cell-mediated diseases. Tr1 cells suppress T- and DC-dependent responses primarily via the secretion of IL-10 and TGF- β , release of granzyme B and perforin, and by disrupting the metabolic state of T effector cells. Tr1 cells have been demonstrated to have a role in infectious diseases, autoimmunity, and transplant rejection in different pre-clinical disease models and in patients (77). It has recently been shown that Tr1 cells play a distinct, yet complementary role, in response to A. fumigatus in human beings and mice. Tr1 cells specific for an epitope derived from the cell wall glucanase Crf-1 of A. fumigatus (Crf-1/p41) were identified in healthy human beings and mice after vaccination with Crf-1/p41+ zymosan. These cells produced high amounts of interleukin IL-10 and suppressed the expansion of antigen-specific T-cells in vitro and in vivo, thus limiting immunopathology (Table 1). In vivo differentiation of Tr1 cells was dependent on the presence of AhR, c-Maf, and IL-27. In comparison to Tr1 cells, Foxp3+ induced Treg that recognize the same epitope were induced in an interferon gamma-type inflammatory environment and more potently suppressed innate immune cell activities. These data provide evidence that Tr1 cells are involved in the maintenance of antifungal immune homeostasis, and most likely play a distinct, yet complementary, role compared with Foxp3+ Treg cells (78).

TRYPTOPHAN METABOLISM

The enzyme indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1) and its downstream catabolites sustain the delicate balance between Th1/Th17 pathways and Treg cells, by providing the host with adequate protective immune mechanisms without necessarily eliminating the pathogen or causing undesirable tissue damage (79). As a result of their ability to induce differentiation of Treg cells and inhibit Th17 cells, IDO1 is critical to cell lineage commitment in experimental fungal infections and contributes to the overall outcome of inflammation, allergy, and Th17-driven inflammation in these infections. Under these circumstances, the Th17 pathway, by inhibiting tryptophan catabolism, may instead favor pathology and provides evidence accommodating the apparently paradoxical association of chronic inflammation with fungal disease (19). IDO1 is a "metabolic" enzyme conserved through the past 600 million years of evolution. Initially recognized in infection because of antimicrobial activity ("tryptophan starvation" of intracellular parasites), IDO1 is now widely recognized as suppressor of acute inflammatory responses and regulator of mammalian immune homeostasis (79). Not surprising, IDO1 may represent an evasion mechanism for microbes that establish commensalism or chronic infection (79). In their capacity to induce Tregs and inhibit Th17, IDO1expressing DCs and epithelial cells and kynurenines revealed an unexpected potential in the control of inflammation, allergy, and Th17-driven inflammation in these infections (51, 80).

MICROBIOTA REGULATION OF RESISTANCE AND TOLERANCE TO FUNGI

Commensal-driven mucosal responses are upregulated in IDO1 deficiency (81) and IL-22 responses are upregulated in conditions of defective adaptive immunity (72) and IDO deficiency (75). AhR is a ligand-activated transcription factor that mediates IL-22 production (82). A variety of indole derivatives act as endogenous ligands for AhR (83) and are generated through conversion from dietary tryptophan by commensal intestinal microbes (84). Recent evidence has shown that AhR is involved in the (patho)physiology of skin including the regulation of skin pigmentation, photocarcinogenesis, and skin inflammation (85, 86). Of interest, the ability of *Malassezia*-derived indoles to activate AhR correlated

with local immunoregulation (87) and pathogenicity in seborrheic dermatitis (88). Similarly, metabolomics has revealed that bioactive indoles with Ahr agonist activity are also present in mice with candidiasis (75). Thus, the trpyptophan metabolism pathway is exploited by commensals and the mammalian host to increase fitness in response to fungi via induction of resistance and tolerance at the skin and mucosal surface. The new findings support a model in which the IL-22 axis controls the initial fungal growth (i.e., resistance) and epithelial cells homeostasis likely exploiting primitive anti-fungal effector defense mechanisms. In contrast, the exploitation of the IFN-y/IDO 1 axis for functional specialization of antifungal regulatory mechanisms (i.e., protective tolerance) may have allowed the fungal microbiota to co-evolutes with the mammalian immune system, survives in conditions of high-threat inflammation, and prevents dysregulated immunity (79). The two pathways, although non-redundant, are reciprocally regulated and compensate each other in the relative absence of either one (72), consistent with the theme that adaptive immunity depends on innate immunity but innate immunity requires adaptive regulation. This finding not only helps to explain the association of fungal infections with dysbiosis but also points to the essential help the microbiota may provide in fungal colonization and pathogenicity in immunodeficient patients.

CONCLUSION

Vertebrates have co-evolved with microorganisms resulting in a symbiotic relationship, which plays an important role in shaping host immunity. However, intestinal inflammation also dictates the composition of gut-associated microbial communities (89), a finding indicating the reciprocal influence of the microbiota and the mammalian immune status. The mycobiome is not an exception to the rule. The activation of different Th cells with distinct effector and immunoregulatory functions may impact differently on the local mycobiome composition. Indeed, the findings that fungi oppositely react to IFN- γ (90) or IL-17A (52), in terms of growth and virulence, suggest that the local Th environment may contribute to the diversity of the mycobiome at different body sites. Ultimately, fungi have evolved a contingencybased system during co-evolution to adapt to host immunity and persist in an inflammatory host environment. In turn, this feeds back into the host immune fitness. For instance, manipulation of the regulatory network of the host by the fungal microbiota, resulting in the activation of Treg-dependent immune tolerance, is a mechanism to ensure fungal survival and commensalism at different body sites, as well as local immune tolerance (76, 91, 92). Thus, challenging existing paradigms with new perspectives from the crosstalk between fungi, the immune system, and the microbiota will eventually lead toward the development of multipronged therapeutic approaches for mucosal and systemic fungal diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work is supported by the Specific Targeted Research Project FUNMETA (ERC-2011-AdG-293714), project FFC#22/2014, and project HYPOXINFECT no. Z100CD11A1 to Luigina Romani. The authors thank Dr. Cristina Massi-Benedetti for editorial assistance.

REFERENCES

- Cui L, Morris A, Ghedin E. The human mycobiome in health and disease. Genome Med (2013) 5:63. doi:10.1186/gm467
- Romani L. Immunity to fungal infections. Nat Rev Immunol (2011) 11:275–88. doi:10.1038/nri2939
- Segal BH, Herbrecht R, Stevens DA, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Sobel J, Viscoli C, et al. Defining responses to therapy and study outcomes in clinical trials of invasive fungal diseases: Mycoses Study Group and European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer consensus criteria. *Clin Infect Dis* (2008) 47:674–83. doi:10.1086/590566
- Pflughoeft KJ, Versalovic J. Human microbiome in health and disease. Annu Rev Pathol (2012) 7:99–122. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-011811-132421
- Paulino LC, Tseng CH, Strober BE, Blaser MJ. Molecular analysis of fungal microbiota in samples from healthy human skin and psoriatic lesions. J Clin Microbiol (2006) 44:2933–41. doi:10.1128/JCM.00785-06
- Wang ZK, Yang YS, Stefka AT, Sun G, Peng LH. Review article: fungal microbiota and digestive diseases. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2014) 39:751–66. doi:10.1111/ apt.12665
- 7. Huffnagle GB, Noverr MC. The emerging world of the fungal microbiome. *Trends Microbiol* (2013) **21**:334–41. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2013.04.002
- Underhill DM, Iliev ID. The mycobiota: interactions between commensal fungi and the host immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14:405–16. doi:10.1038/nri3684
- Delhaes L, Monchy S, Frealle E, Hubans C, Salleron J, Leroy S, et al. The airway microbiota in cystic fibrosis: a complex fungal and bacterial community implications for therapeutic management. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e36313. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0036313
- Ott SJ, Kuhbacher T, Musfeldt M, Rosenstiel P, Hellmig S, Rehman A, et al. Fungi and inflammatory bowel diseases: alterations of composition and diversity. Scand J Gastroenterol (2008) 43:831–41. doi:10.1080/00365520801935434
- Li Q, Wang C, Tang C, He Q, Li N, Li J. Dysbiosis of gut fungal microbiota is associated with mucosal inflammation in Crohn's disease. J Clin Gastroenterol (2014) 48:513–23. doi:10.1097/MCG.000000000000035
- Zhang E, Tanaka T, Tajima M, Tsuboi R, Nishikawa A, Sugita T. Characterization of the skin fungal microbiota in patients with atopic dermatitis and in healthy subjects. *Microbiol Immunol* (2011) 55:625–32. doi:10.1111/j.1348-0421.2011. 00364.x
- Smeekens SP, Huttenhower C, Riza A, van de Veerdonk FL, Zeeuwen PL, Schalkwijk J, et al. Skin microbiome imbalance in patients with STAT1/STAT3 defects impairs innate host defense responses. *J Innate Immun* (2014) 6:253–62. doi:10.1159/000351912
- Peleg AY, Hogan DA, Mylonakis E. Medically important bacterial-fungal interactions. Nat Rev Microbiol (2010) 8:340–9. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2313
- Krause R, Schwab E, Bachhiesl D, Daxbock F, Wenisch C, Krejs GJ, et al. Role of *Candida* in antibiotic-associated diarrhea. *J Infect Dis* (2001) 184:1065–9. doi:10.1086/323550
- 16. Kawamoto S, Maruya M, Kato LM, Suda W, Atarashi K, Doi Y, et al. Foxp3(+) T cells regulate immunoglobulin a selection and facilitate diversification of bacterial species responsible for immune homeostasis. *Immunity* (2014) 41:152–65. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.016
- Noverr MC, Huffnagle GB. Does the microbiota regulate immune responses outside the gut? *Trends Microbiol* (2004) 12:562–8. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2004.10.008
- Perfect JR. The impact of the host on fungal infections. *Am J Med* (2012) 125:S39–51. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.10.010
- Romani L, Fallarino F, De Luca A, Montagnoli C, D'Angelo C, Zelante T, et al. Defective tryptophan catabolism underlies inflammation in mouse chronic granulomatous disease. *Nature* (2008) 451:211–5. doi:10.1038/ nature06471
- 20. Iannitti RG, Carvalho A, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Casagrande A, et al. Th17/Treg imbalance in murine cystic fibrosis is linked to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase deficiency but corrected by kynurenines. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2013) 187:609–20. doi:10.1164/rccm.201207-1346OC
- Singh N, Perfect JR. Immune reconstitution syndrome associated with opportunistic mycoses. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2007) 7:395–401. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(07)70085-3
- Legrand F, Lecuit M, Dupont B, Bellaton E, Huerre M, Rohrlich PS, et al. Adjuvant corticosteroid therapy for chronic disseminated candidiasis. *Clin Infect Dis* (2008) 46:696–702. doi:10.1086/527390

- Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. The damage-response framework of microbial pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol (2003) 1:17–24. doi:10.1038/nrmicro732
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:170–81. doi:10.1038/nri2711
- Wuthrich M, Deepe GS Jr, Klein B. Adaptive immunity to fungi. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:115–48. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074958
- 26. Carvalho A, De Luca A, Bozza S, Cunha C, D'Angelo C, Moretti S, et al. TLR3 essentially promotes protective class I-restricted memory CD8(+) T-cell responses to *Aspergillus fumigatus* in hematopoietic transplanted patients. *Blood* (2012) 119:967–77. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-06-362582
- 27. De Luca A, Iannitti RG, Bozza S, Beau R, Casagrande A, D'Angelo C, et al. CD4(+) T cell vaccination overcomes defective cross-presentation of fungal antigens in a mouse model of chronic granulomatous disease. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:1816–31. doi:10.1172/JCI60862
- 28. Bozza S, Gaziano R, Spreca A, Bacci A, Montagnoli C, Di Francesco P, et al. Dendritic cells transport conidia and hyphae of *Aspergillus fumigatus* from the airways to the draining lymph nodes and initiate disparate Th responses to the fungus. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:1362–71. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.3.1362
- Ersland K, Wuthrich M, Klein BS. Dynamic interplay among monocytederived, dermal, and resident lymph node dendritic cells during the generation of vaccine immunity to fungi. *Cell Host Microbe* (2010) 7:474–87. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2010.05.010
- Rizzetto L, De Filippo C, Rivero D, Riccadonna S, Beltrame L, Cavalieri D. Systems biology of host-mycobiota interactions: dissecting dectin-1 and dectin-2 signalling in immune cells with DC-ATLAS. *Immunobiology* (2013) 218:1428–37. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2013.07.002
- 31. Gringhuis SI, Den Dunnen J, Litjens M, Van Der Vlist M, Wevers B, Bruijns SC, et al. Dectin-1 directs T helper cell differentiation by controlling noncanonical NF-kappaB activation through Raf-1 and Syk. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:203–13. doi:10.1038/ni.1692
- Roy RM, Klein BS. Dendritic cells in antifungal immunity and vaccine design. Cell Host Microbe (2012) 11:436–46. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2012.04.005
- Romani L, Bistoni F, Puccetti P. Fungi, dendritic cells and receptors: a host perspective of fungal virulence. *Trends Microbiol* (2002) 10:508–14. doi:10.1016/ S0966-842X(02)02460-5
- 34. Muranski P, Restifo NP. Essentials of Th17 cell commitment and plasticity. *Blood* (2013) **121**:2402–14. doi:10.1182/blood-2012-09-378653
- 35. Jarvis JN, Casazza JP, Stone HH, Meintjes G, Lawn SD, Levitz SM, et al. The phenotype of the *Cryptococcus*-specific CD4+ memory T-cell response is associated with disease severity and outcome in HIV-associated cryptococcal meningitis. *J Infect Dis* (2013) 207:1817–28. doi:10.1093/infdis/jit099
- de Oliveira LL, Coltri KC, Cardoso CR, Roque-Barreira MC, Panunto-Castelo A. Thelper 1-inducing adjuvant protects against experimental paracoccidioidomycosis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2008) 2:e183. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000183
- Spellberg B, Ibrahim AS, Lin L, Avanesian V, Fu Y, Lipke P, et al. Antibody titer threshold predicts anti-candidal vaccine efficacy even though the mechanism of protection is induction of cell-mediated immunity. *J Infect Dis* (2008) 197:967–71. doi:10.1086/529204
- Ouederni M, Sanal O, Ikinciogullari A, Tezcan I, Dogu F, Sologuren I, et al. Clinical features of candidiasis in patients with inherited interleukin 12 receptor beta1 deficiency. *Clin Infect Dis* (2014) 58:204–13. doi:10.1093/cid/cit722
- 39. Moraes-Vasconcelos D, Grumach AS, Yamaguti A, Andrade ME, Fieschi C, De Beaucoudrey L, et al. *Paracoccidioides brasiliensis* disseminated disease in a patient with inherited deficiency in the beta1 subunit of the interleukin (IL)-12/IL-23 receptor. *Clin Infect Dis* (2005) 41:e31–7. doi:10.1086/432119
- Puel A, Cypowyj S, Marodi L, Abel L, Picard C, Casanova JL. Inborn errors of human IL-17 immunity underlie chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. *Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 12:616–22. doi:10.1097/ACI. 0b013e328358cc0b
- Milner JD, Brenchley JM, Laurence A, Freeman AF, Hill BJ, Elias KM, et al. Impaired T(H)17 cell differentiation in subjects with autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *Nature* (2008) 452:773–6. doi:10.1038/nature06764
- Eyerich K, Rombold S, Foerster S, Behrendt H, Hofmann H, Ring J, et al. Altered, but not diminished specific T cell response in chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis patients. Arch Dermatol Res (2007) 299:475–81. doi:10.1007/s00403-007-0792-3
- 43. Ryan KR, Hong M, Arkwright PD, Gennery AR, Costigan C, Dominguez M, et al. Impaired dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production in patients

with chronic mucocutanous candidiasis with or without APECED. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2008) **154**:406–14. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2008.03778.x

- 44. van de Veerdonk FL, Plantinga TS, Hoischen A, Smeekens SP, Joosten LA, Gilissen C, et al. STAT1 mutations in autosomal dominant chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis. *N Engl J Med* (2011) **365**:54–61. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1100102
- Vinh DC. Insights into human antifungal immunity from primary immunodeficiencies. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2011) 11:780–92. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(11) 70217-1
- 46. Pandiyan P, Conti HR, Zheng L, Peterson AC, Mathern DR, Hernandez-Santos N, et al. CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells promote Th17 cells in vitro and enhance host resistance in mouse *Candida albicans* Th17 cell infection model. *Immunity* (2011) 34:422–34. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.002
- Zelante T, De Luca A, Bonifazi P, Montagnoli C, Bozza S, Moretti S, et al. IL-23 and the Th17 pathway promote inflammation and impair antifungal immune resistance. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37:2695–706. doi:10.1002/eji.200737409
- Wuthrich M, Gern B, Hung CY, Ersland K, Rocco N, Pick-Jacobs J, et al. Vaccine-induced protection against 3 systemic mycoses endemic to North America requires Th17 cells in mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:554–68. doi:10.1172/ JCI43984
- Cheng SC, van de Veerdonk F, Smeekens S, Joosten LA, Van Der Meer JW, Kullberg BJ, et al. *Candida albicans* dampens host defense by downregulating IL-17 production. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:2450–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000756
- Loures FV, Pina A, Felonato M, Calich VL. TLR2 is a negative regulator of Th17 cells and tissue pathology in a pulmonary model of fungal infection. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:1279–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0801599
- Romani L, Zelante T, De Luca A, Fallarino F, Puccetti P. IL-17 and therapeutic kynurenines in pathogenic inflammation to fungi. J Immunol (2008) 180:5157–62. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.8.5157
- Zelante T, Iannitti RG, De Luca A, Arroyo J, Blanco N, Servillo G, et al. Sensing of mammalian IL-17A regulates fungal adaptation and virulence. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:683. doi:10.1038/ncomms1685
- 53. Ahlgren KM, Moretti S, Ardesjö Lundgren B, Karlsson I, Åhlin E, Norling A, et al. Increased IL-17A secretion in response to *Candida albicans* in autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type 1 and its animal model. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:235–45. doi:10.1002/eji.200939883
- Kisand K, Boe Wolff AS, Podkrajsek KT, Tserel L, Link M, Kisand KV, et al. Chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis in APECED or thymoma patients correlates with autoimmunity to Th17-associated cytokines. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207:299–308. doi:10.1084/jem.20091669
- 55. Puel A, Doffinger R, Natividad A, Chrabieh M, Barcenas-Morales G, Picard C, et al. Autoantibodies against IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 in patients with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis and autoimmune polyendocrine syndrome type I. *J Exp Med* (2010) **207**:291–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20091983
- Wildbaum G, Nahir MA, Karin N. Beneficial autoimmunity to proinflammatory mediators restrains the consequences of self-destructive immunity. *Immunity* (2003) 19:679–88. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00291-7
- 57. Kreindler JL, Steele C, Nguyen N, Chan YR, Pilewski JM, Alcorn JF, et al. Vitamin D3 attenuates Th2 responses to Aspergillus fumigatus mounted by CD4+ T cells from cystic fibrosis patients with allergic bronchopulmonary aspergillosis. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:3242–54. doi:10.1172/JCI42388
- 58. Bhatia S, Fei M, Yarlagadda M, Qi Z, Akira S, Saijo S, et al. Rapid host defense against *Aspergillus fumigatus* involves alveolar macrophages with a predominance of alternatively activated phenotype. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e15943. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015943
- Nelson MP, Christmann BS, Werner JL, Metz AE, Trevor JL, Lowell CA, et al. IL-33 and M2a alveolar macrophages promote lung defense against the atypical fungal pathogen *Pneumocystis murina*. J Immunol (2011) 186:2372–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002558
- Guimaraes AJ, Frases S, Gomez FJ, Zancope-Oliveira RM, Nosanchuk JD. Monoclonal antibodies to heat shock protein 60 alter the pathogenesis of *Histoplasma capsulatum. Infect Immun* (2009) 77:1357–67. doi:10.1128/IAI. 01443-08
- Casadevall A, Pirofski LA. A reappraisal of humoral immunity based on mechanisms of antibody-mediated protection against intracellular pathogens. *Adv Immunol* (2006) 91:1–44. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(06)91001-3
- McClelland EE, Nicola AM, Prados-Rosales R, Casadevall A. Ab binding alters gene expression in *Cryptococcus neoformans* and directly modulates fungal metabolism. *J Clin Invest* (2010) 120:1355–61. doi:10.1172/JCI38322

- 63. Subramaniam KS, Datta K, Quintero E, Manix C, Marks MS, Pirofski LA. The absence of serum IgM enhances the susceptibility of mice to pulmonary challenge with *Cryptococcus neoformans. J Immunol* (2010) **184**:5755–67. doi:10. 4049/jimmunol.0901638
- Kaplan MH. Th9 cells: differentiation and disease. Immunol Rev (2013) 252:104–15. doi:10.1111/imr.12028
- 65. Schlapbach C, Gehad A, Yang C, Watanabe R, Guenova E, Teague JE, et al. Human TH9 cells are skin-tropic and have autocrine and paracrine proinflammatory capacity. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:219ra218. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed. 3007828
- 66. Wilhelm C, Hirota K, Stieglitz B, Van Snick J, Tolaini M, Lahl K, et al. An IL-9 fate reporter demonstrates the induction of an innate IL-9 response in lung inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:1071–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2133
- 67. Wilhelm C, Turner JE, Van Snick J, Stockinger B. The many lives of IL-9: a question of survival? *Nat Immunol* (2012) **13**:637–41. doi:10.1038/ni.2303
- 68. Trifari S, Spits H. IL-22-producing CD4+ T cells: middle-men between the immune system and its environment. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**:2369–71. doi:10.1002/eji.201040848
- Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:857–63. doi:10.1038/ni.1767
- Kagami S, Rizzo HL, Lee JJ, Koguchi Y, Blauvelt A. Circulating Th17, Th22, and Th1 cells are increased in psoriasis. *J Invest Dermatol* (2010) 130:1373–83. doi:10.1038/jid.2009.399
- 71. Liu Y, Yang B, Zhou M, Li L, Zhou H, Zhang J, et al. Memory IL-22-producing CD4+ T cells specific for *Candida albicans* are present in humans. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**:1472–9. doi:10.1002/eji.200838811
- De Luca A, Zelante T, D'Angelo C, Zagarella S, Fallarino F, Spreca A, et al. IL-22 defines a novel immune pathway of antifungal resistance. *Mucosal Immunol* (2010) 3:361–73. doi:10.1038/mi.2010.22
- Zelante T, Iannitti R, De Luca A, Romani L. IL-22 in antifungal immunity. Eur J Immunol (2011) 41:270–5. doi:10.1002/eji.201041246
- 74. De Luca A, Carvalho A, Cunha C, Iannitti RG, Pitzurra L, Giovannini G, et al. IL-22 and IDO1 affect immunity and tolerance to murine and human vaginal candidiasis. *PLoS Pathog* (2013) 9:e1003486. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003486
- 75. Zelante T, Iannitti RG, Cunha C, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Pieraccini G, et al. Tryptophan catabolites from microbiota engage aryl hydrocarbon receptor and balance mucosal reactivity via interleukin-22. *Immunity* (2013) 39:372–85. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.003
- Romani L, Puccetti P. Protective tolerance to fungi: the role of IL-10 and tryptophan catabolism. *Trends Microbiol* (2006) 14:183–9. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2006.02. 003
- Roncarolo MG, Gregori S, Bacchetta R, Battaglia M. Tr1 cells and the counterregulation of immunity: natural mechanisms and therapeutic applications. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* (2014) 380:39–68. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-43492-5_3
- Bedke T, Iannitti RG, De Luca A, Giovannini G, Fallarino F, Berges C, et al. Distinct and complementary roles for *Aspergillus fumigatus*-specific Tr1 and Foxp3 regulatory T cells in humans and mice. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) **92**:659–70. doi:10.1038/icb.2014.34
- 79. Zelante T, Fallarino F, Bistoni F, Puccetti P, Romani L. Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase in infection: the paradox of an evasive strategy that benefits the host. *Microbes Infect* (2009) **11**:133–41. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2008.10.007
- Grohmann U, Volpi C, Fallarino F, Bozza S, Bianchi R, Vacca C, et al. Reverse signaling through GITR ligand enables dexamethasone to activate IDO in allergy. *Nat Med* (2007) 13:579–86. doi:10.1038/nm1563
- Harrington L, Srikanth CV, Antony R, Rhee SJ, Mellor AL, Shi HN, et al. Deficiency of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase enhances commensal-induced antibody responses and protects against *Citrobacter rodentium*-induced colitis. *Infect Immun* (2008) 76:3045–53. doi:10.1128/IAI.00193-08
- Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H. Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:864–71. doi:10.1038/ni.1770
- Heath-Pagliuso S, Rogers WJ, Tullis K, Seidel SD, Cenijn PH, Brouwer A, et al. Activation of the Ah receptor by tryptophan and tryptophan metabolites. *Biochemistry* (1998) 37:11508–15. doi:10.1021/bi980087p
- 84. Bjeldanes LF, Kim JY, Grose KR, Bartholomew JC, Bradfield CA. Aromatic hydrocarbon responsiveness-receptor agonists generated from indole-3-carbinol

in vitro and in vivo: comparisons with 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1991) **88**:9543–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.88.21.9543

- Esser C, Bargen I, Weighardt H, Haarmann-Stemmann T, Krutmann J. Functions of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor in the skin. *Semin Immunopathol* (2013) 35:677–91. doi:10.1007/s00281-013-0394-4
- Di Meglio P, Duarte JH, Ahlfors H, Owens ND, Li Y, Villanova F, et al. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor dampens the severity of inflammatory skin conditions. *Immunity* (2014) 40:989–1001. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.04.019
- Vlachos C, Schulte BM, Magiatis P, Adema GJ, Gaitanis G. Malassezia-derived indoles activate the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and inhibit toll-like receptorinduced maturation in monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Br J Dermatol* (2012) 167:496–505. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2133.2012.11014.x
- Gaitanis G, Magiatis P, Stathopoulou K, Bassukas ID, Alexopoulos EC, Velegraki A, et al. AhR ligands, malassezin, and indolo[3,2-b]carbazole are selectively produced by Malassezia furfur strains isolated from seborrheic dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol (2008) 128:1620–5. doi:10.1038/sj.jid.5701252
- Faber F, Baumler AJ. The impact of intestinal inflammation on the nutritional environment of the gut microbiota. *Immunol Lett* (2014) S0165-2478(14):83–82. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2014.04.014
- Kalo-Klein A, Witkin SS. Prostaglandin E2 enhances and gamma interferon inhibits germ tube formation in *Candida albicans. Infect Immun* (1990) 58:260–2.
- Bonifazi P, Zelante T, D'Angelo C, De Luca A, Moretti S, Bozza S, et al. Balancing inflammation and tolerance in vivo through dendritic cells by the commensal *Candida albicans. Mucosal Immunol* (2009) 2:362–74. doi:10.1038/mi.2009.17

 Bonifazi P, D'Angelo C, Zagarella S, Zelante T, Bozza S, De Luca A, et al. Intranasally delivered siRNA targeting PI3K/Akt/mTOR inflammatory pathways protects from aspergillosis. *Mucosal Immunol* (2010) 3:193–205. doi:10. 1038/mi.2009.130

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 August 2014; paper pending published: 15 September 2014; accepted: 28 September 2014; published online: 15 October 2014.

Citation: Borghi M, Renga G, Puccetti M, Oikonomou V, Palmieri M, Galosi C, Bartoli A and Romani L (2014) Antifungal Th immunity: growing up in family. Front. Immunol. 5:506. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00506

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Borghi, Renga, Puccetti, Oikonomou, Palmieri, Galosi, Bartoli and Romani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



CD4T-cell subsets in malaria: TH1/TH2 revisited

Damian Perez-Mazliah and Jean Langhorne*

Division of Parasitology, MRC National Institute for Medical Research, London, UK

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

Urszula Krzych, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research, USA Mauricio Martins Rodrigues, Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil David K. Cole, Cardiff University, UK

*Correspondence:

Jean Langhorne, Division of Parasitology, MRC National Institute for Medical Research, The Ridgeway, London NW7 1AA, UK e-mail: jlangho@nimr.mrc.ac.uk

CD4⁺ T-cells have been shown to play a central role in immune control of infection with Plasmodium parasites. At the erythrocytic stage of infection, IFN-y production by CD4⁺ T-cells and CD4⁺ T-cell help for the B-cell response are required for control and elimination of infected red blood cells. CD4⁺ T-cells are also important for controlling Plasmodium pre-erythrocytic stages through the activation of parasite-specific CD8⁺ T-cells. However, excessive inflammatory responses triggered by the infection have been shown to drive pathology. Early classical experiments demonstrated a biphasic CD4⁺ T-cell response against erythrocytic stages in mice, in which T helper (Th)1 and antibody-helper CD4+ T-cells appear sequentially during a primary infection. While IFN-y-producing Th1 cells do play a role in controlling acute infections, and they contribute to acute erythrocytic-stage pathology, it became apparent that a classical Th2 response producing IL-4 is not a critical feature of the CD4⁺ T-cell response during the chronic phase of infection. Rather, effective CD4⁺ T-cell help for B-cells, which can occur in the absence of IL-4, is required to control chronic parasitemia. IL-10, important to counterbalance inflammation and associated with protection from inflammatory-mediated severe malaria in both humans and experimental models, was originally considered be produced by CD4⁺ Th2 cells during infection. We review the interpretations of CD4⁺ T-cell responses during *Plasmodium* infection, proposed under the original Th1/Th2 paradigm, in light of more recent advances, including the identification of multifunctional T-cells such as Th1 cells co-expressing IFN- γ and IL-10, the identification of follicular helper T-cells (Tfh) as the predominant CD4⁺ T helper subset for B-cells, and the recognition of inherent plasticity in the fates of different CD4⁺ T-cells.

Keywords: malaria, Plasmodium, multifunctional CD4T-cells, CD4T-cell subsets, Tfh, Th1, Th2, Th22

INTRODUCTION

Malaria, caused by infection with *Plasmodium* transmitted via mosquito bites, represents a major global cause of morbidity and mortality (1). *Plasmodium* spp. are eukaryotic apicomplexan intracellular parasites with different life-cycle stages within the vertebrate host: an early clinically silent liver stage that can last approximately 7–10 days in humans and 2 days in rodents, followed by an erythrocytic stage, responsible for the pathology of malaria (**Figure 1A**). Species of *Plasmodium* that infect humans include *P. falciparum*, *P. vivax*, *P. malariae*, *P. ovale*, and *P. knowlesi*. A number of *Plasmodium* species that infect rodents, but not humans, are available for laboratory research, including *P. berghei*, *P. vinckei*, *P. chabaudi*, and *P. yoelii* (2), which allow the dissection of immune mechanism of protection and pathology (3).

In most cases, the host's immune system can eventually control a *Plasmodium* infection; however, exacerbated host immune responses and inflammation induced by the parasite, contribute to the pathology accompanying infection (4, 5). $CD4^+$ T-cell responses have been associated with control of erythrocytic stage parasites, but a small number of studies indicate a helper role also in pre-erythrocytic immunity (6–11). Parasite biology, host cell and tissue tropism, and kinetics of parasite growth differ between pre-erythrocytic and erythrocytic stages within the vertebrate host and, accordingly, the particular $CD4^+$ T-cell responses elicited also differ. Herein, we discuss activation of different $CD4^+$ T-cell

subsets during malaria, their role in the control of the infection and the interplay between different subsets, with a particular emphasis on the concept of CD4⁺ T-cell plasticity.

CD4⁺ T-CELL SUBSETS ACTIVATED BY PRE-ERYTHROCYTIC STAGES

Very little is known about the CD4⁺ T-cell response to *Plasmodium* pre-erythrocytic stages, or its regulation in natural infection either in humans or in experimental models. Clearly, since IgG antibodies and memory B-cells are generated to a wide range of pre-erythrocytic antigens, including those with expression restricted primarily to these stages, such as circumsporozoite protein (CSP), liver-stage antigen 1 (LSA1), and sporozoite threonine–asparagine-rich protein (STARP) (12–14), CD4⁺ Tcells must be induced by these stages of the infection. Indeed, CD4⁺ T-cells specific for pre-erythrocytic antigens have been documented, and in some cases, have been shown to correlate with protection in humans following natural infection (15) and immunization (11). However, we have few details of their functional heterogeneity.

 $CD4^+$ T-cells of undefined Th1/Th2 phenotype have been shown to confer protection against the pre-erythrocytic stages of *P. yoelii* even in the absence of $CD8^+$ T-cells (9), and $CD4^+$ T-cell clones recognizing peptides of CSP protected against a *P. yoelii* sporozoite challenge in mice, irrespective of their Th1 or



Th2 phenotype (6, 7). The location of priming of $CD4^+$ T-cell specific for pre-erythrocytic stages is still a matter of debate, and there is little evidence as yet on priming of $CD4^+$ T-cell in the

CD8⁺ T-cell; Tr1, Foxp3⁻ regulatory T-cell. liver. As protective CD8⁺ T-cells specific for a peptide of CSP from *P. yoelii* can be primed by dendritic cells (DCs) in lymph

nodes after infection with sporozoites (16), it is likely that DCs

in lymph nodes might also be critical for priming CD4⁺ T-cell responses to *Plasmodium* pre-erythrocytic stages.

As well as possible direct killing of infected hepatocytes, subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells provide crucial help for both B-cell and CD8⁺ Tcell responses (Figure 1B). In a very few studies, CD4⁺ T-cells were shown to be necessary to ensure survival of protective effector and memory CD8⁺ T-cells induced by irradiation-attenuated sporozoites (8, 10). This mechanism is dependent on STAT-6 and IL-4, suggesting that Th2 CD4⁺ T-cells may be in charge of providing help to CD8⁺ T-cells. More recently, CSP-specific CD4⁺ T-cells expressing CD107a (LAMP-1), a marker for cytotoxic degranulation, were shown to be induced and associated with protection against the pre-erythrocytic stages after immunizations of healthy volunteers by bites from P. falciparum-infected mosquitoes during chloroquine chemoprophylaxis (11). Nothing is yet known about induction of Tfh cells, the subset that provides help for T-cell dependent B-cell responses (17), which are presumably activated by, and would be important for, generation of high affinity IgG antibodies.

Altogether, these data suggest a role of $CD4^+$ T-cells in protective immunity to pre-erythrocytic-stage infection, the mechanisms of which are not yet completely understood. With the current emphasis on pre-erythrocytic vaccines, it is important that we understand more about the potential contribution of diverse $CD4^+$ T-cell populations on direct killing of infected cells, in the B-cell and $CD8^+$ T-cell responses, as well as their regulatory roles in immunity to the pre-erythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium*.

CD4⁺ T-CELL SUBSETS ACTIVATED BY ERYTHROCYTIC STAGES

The Th1/Th2 paradigm proposed by Mosmann and Coffman postulated stable lineages of activated CD4⁺ T-cells with distinctive cytokine production patterns and functional capacity; IFN- γ producing Th1 cells being crucial mediators of host immunity against intracellular pathogens, while IL-4-producing Th2 cells mediating immunity toward extracellular pathogens and collaboration with B-cells for antibody production (18). As *Plasmodium* invades red blood cells (**Figure 1A**), which do not express MHC class I or II, it was difficult to envisage parasites at this stage as direct targets of Th1 or Th2 cells. Nonetheless, it was possible to draw parallels with the original Mosmann and Coffman model; malaria researchers observed that the erythrocytic stages triggered a strong IFN- γ response during acute infections in *P. berghei, P. yoelii*, and *P. chabaudi* infections in mice, as well as in *P. falciparum* infection in humans (19–24).

Since that time, the Th1/Th2 paradigm has gained in complexity with the identification of novel CD4⁺ T-cell subsets with distinctive characteristics and transcriptional programs in charge of driving the different cell fates (25). These differentiation programs are governed predominantly by signals derived from antigenpresenting cells (APC) and the microenvironment at the time of CD4⁺ T-cell activation. DCs are necessary for effective priming of the T-cell response in erythrocytic-stage malaria (26), and two subsets of splenic DCs, CD8⁻ and CD4⁺ classical DCs, have been shown to present antigen for the activation of CD4⁺ T-cells during an erythrocytic-stage infection with *P. chabaudi* and *P. berghei*, respectively (26–29). Although it is known that IL-12 is an important cytokine in the induction of a protective response in experimental malaria infections (30), understanding of the regulation of this cytokine or other factors in DCs necessary for effective *Plasmodium*-antigen presentation to different subsets of CD4⁺ T-cells is still lacking.

IFN- γ , a defining cytokine of Th1 cells expressing the transcription factor T-bet, has proven to be important for controlling the acute erythrocytic stage of Plasmodium infection in rodent models (31-34). IFN-y-producing CD4⁺ effector (E) and effector memory (EM) CD4⁺ T-cells both confer partial protection from *P. chabaudi* infection (35). In general agreement with this, IFN- γ from CD4⁺ T-cells has been shown to be important in maintaining strain-transcending blood-stage immunity (36). However, IFN- γ is not only produced by T-bet⁺ Th1 cells but also by NK cells, NKT cells, and $\gamma\delta$ T-cells (37, 38) as well as CD8⁺ T-cells, and it is not always clear whether Th1 cells, IFN- γ , or IFN- γ from Th1 cells per se are the main players in early protection or pathology in experimental malaria. Studies so far to address these questions have given conflicting results. One study using P. *berghei* ANKA has shown that the enhanced IFN γ^+ T-bet⁺ CD4⁺ T-cell responses observed in mice lacking Type I IFN signaling are associated with better control of P. berghei ANKA infections, resulting in lower morbidity and mortality (39, 40). In contrast, others have shown that in the absence of T-bet, essential for Th1 commitment, cerebral pathology of P. berghei ANKA infections is ameliorated, and the number of IFN γ^+ CD4⁺ T-cells is reduced. However, control of parasite replication is lost and mice succumb to hyper-parasitemia and anemia (41). In a different rodent model of erythrocytic-stage malaria, P. yoelii 17X(NL), although activation of T-bet was detected on CD4⁺ T-cells early in infection (42), the infection can still be controlled in T-bet-deficient mice (43).

The erythrocytic stages of Plasmodium are also able to activate CD4⁺ T-cells that are very effective helpers for Plasmodium-specific antibody production, but produce little or no IFN-y (21). This response was shown to coincide with the appearance of IL-4-producing CD4⁺ T-cells (21). The association between IL-4-producing CD4⁺ T-cells and antibody responses toward the parasite was also observed in P. falciparum immune subjects (44). An erythrocytic-stage P. chabaudi infection, the only mouse model that generates a chronic phase of infection (3), presents a biphasic CD4⁺ T-cell activation, with a large IFN-y-producing CD4⁺ T-cell response during the acute phase, followed by an antibodyhelper/IL-4-producing CD4⁺ T-cell response during the chronic phase (Figure 1C) (21, 24, 45, 46). These data were interpreted as an early activation of Th1 cells able to control parasitemia through the activation of effector mechanisms such as macrophages, followed by a Th2 response in charge of activating B-cell responses to complete the clearance of the parasite (47, 48). However, the frequency of CD4⁺ T-cells able to help B-cells to produce Plasmodium-specific antibodies was much higher than the frequency of IL-4-producing CD4⁺ T-cells (21). Furthermore, control of a P. chabaudi infection and specific IgG responses, including IgG1 antibodies, was possible even in the complete absence of IL-4 (45). Therefore, it was clear, despite its attractiveness as a model, that the simple Th1/Th2 paradigm was not sufficient to explain the full complexity of CD4⁺ T-cell activation in the erythrocytic stages of Plasmodium. More recently, a subset of CD4⁺ T-cells, Tfh cells, has been described that produce IL-21, as well as other cytokines originally associated with other Th subsets, such as IFN- γ and IL-4 (17). We believe that the Tfh program, and not a Th2 response, is the critical one for B-cell help and activation of protective B-cell responses against the erythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium* infection (**Figure 1D**). However, there are very few data on Tfh or its crucial signature cytokine, IL-21, in malaria. Lymphocytes closely resembling Tfh have been observed in peripheral blood of humans (49), although not yet in people exposed to malaria. However, IL-21-producing CD4⁺ T-cells have been demonstrated in blood of immune adults living in endemic areas of *P. falciparum* transmission (50–52). Given the importance of the humoral response in protective immunity to the erythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium*, understanding the activation and maintenance of Tfh cells during malaria is of outstanding interest for vaccine design.

Recently, the Th17 subset of CD4⁺ T-cells, defined by the expression of the transcription factor RORyt, has gained attention among malaria researchers because of its role in autoimmune diseases and chronic inflammation and in responses to extracellular pathogens such as bacteria and fungi (53). CD4⁺ IL-17A⁺ RORyt⁺ Th17 cells are activated during acute P. berghei ANKA and P. yoelii infection, but the function of these cells during infection was not explored (54). Ishida and colleagues demonstrated no association of Th17 cells and cerebral malaria in P. berghei ANKAinfected IL-17-deficient mice (55). We have also observed the presence of IL-17A and IL-17F-producing CD4⁺ T-cells mainly in the liver during acute erythrocytic-stage P. chabaudi infection; however, IL-17A-deficient mice showed no significant alterations in the course of P. chabaudi infection (56). Therefore, despite activation, Th17 cells have so far not been shown to have a defined role during *Plasmodium* infections (Figure 1D).

Additional CD4⁺ T-cell subsets, such as that producing IL-22 (Th22), continue to be identified (57, 58). IL-22 has been implicated in both host defense against bacterial infections and tissue repair (59). Interestingly, IL-22 single-nucleotide polymorphisms associated with resistance and susceptibility to severe malaria have been identified (60). We have observed that IL-22-producing CD4⁺ T-cells are activated, albeit in low frequency, in both spleen and liver during acute erythrocytic-stage *P. chabaudi* infections, and that IL-22-deficient mice infected with *P. chabaudi* show exacerbated pathology (56) (**Figure 1D**). Research is ongoing to explore in greater detail the origins of these cells, their location, and the mechanisms underlying the observed pathology.

With the discovery of this wide array of possible CD4⁺ T-cell subsets and their different activation requirements and functional capacities, it is becoming clear that CD4⁺ T-cells may not be simply defined as individual subsets of Th cells producing a single cytokine, but rather they represent components of a dynamic and interactive response, in which these cells can be multifunctional, flexible, and plastic depending on the disease/infection and activation environment (61). The multifunctional capacity of T-cells, or the ability to perform more than one function (e.g., production of different cytokines) at the single-cell level, and its association with the capacity to control infections was first recognized in HIV-infected subjects (62) and in a mouse model of vaccination against *Leishmania major* (63). This association between multifunctional capacity of T-cells and control of infections is not limited to HIV

and *Leishmania*, and was soon observed in several other chronic infections, including viral, parasitic, and mycobacterial infections (64). Immunization of subjects with *P. falciparum* apical membrane antigen 1 (AMA1) (65), and immunizations of mice with full-length *P. falciparum* CSP protein (66) also activates multifunctional CD4⁺ T-cells responses. Moreover, multi-parameter flow cytometric analyses of human PBMC from children and adults exposed to malaria infection reveal the existence of CD4⁺ T-cells co-expressing several cytokines characteristic of many CD4⁺ Tcell subsets (52, 67), demonstrating the complexity of the CD4⁺ T-cell response activated by the erythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium*.

There is an important body of evidence suggesting that, far from being terminally differentiated stable lineages, the different Th subsets have an extensive capacity to interconvert further between different phenotypes, a concept known as plasticity (68). The most recent studies suggest that CD4⁺ T-cell activation with overlapping characteristics of different Th subsets is the norm rather than the exception (61), and this is likely to be reflected in complex diseases such as malaria. Although this has not been explored in any detail in the context of malaria, the concept of Th plasticity opens new possibilities for studying the function and regulation of CD4⁺ T-cells in the control of *Plasmodium* infection and related immunopathology. One subset known for its remarkable plasticity is the Tfh subset. It has been shown that Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells can migrate into the B-cell areas of secondary lymphoid organs and acquire the functional capacity and biomarkers of Tfh cells and, conversely, the Tfh subset can become Th1, Th2, and Th17 (69). In the context of Plasmodium infection, this would imply that not only could *Plasmodium* parasites activate Tfh responses directly but also the Tfh subset could potentially arise from any of the CD4⁺ T-cell subsets already activated by the erythrocytic stages.

In light of the multifunctional and plastic capacities of the CD4⁺ T-cells, a scenario can be envisaged in which Th subsets required for the control of parasite burden, such as Th1 cells, have the capacity to acquire a regulatory phenotype depending on the context, contributing to control of the inflammation and thus to protection of tissues and organs and preventing any potentially harmful effects of the response. This would allow a fine-tuning of the CD4⁺ T-cell response to guarantee the control of Plasmodium infection without causing deleterious side effects. One mechanism of self-regulation by CD4⁺ Th1 cells in malaria is the induction of IL-10. IFN-y⁺IL-10⁺T-bet⁺ Th1 CD4⁺ T-cells can prevent pathology during P. chabaudi infection (70) (Figure 1D). In addition, IL-10 from CD4⁺ T-cells distinct from regulatory T (Treg) cells is able to control pathology in a P. yoelii infection in mice, but in this case, these cells do not co-express IFN- γ (71). IL-10 is produced in these cells in response to IL-27 (70), although the signals responsible for the induction of IL-27 remain unknown. The occurrence of IFN-y+IL-10+T-bet+ CD4+ T-cells during Plasmodium infections is not restricted to mouse models; they have been reported to be present in PBMC of children living in highly malaria-endemic regions (72-74) and their proportion is higher in children with uncomplicated malaria compared to children with severe malaria (72). IL-10 can also be induced in IL-17-producing CD4⁺ T-cells, as yet by unknown pathways (75–77), and thus, IL-10 may be a more general mechanism for regulating any subset

of CD4⁺ T-cells in malaria. CD4⁺ T-cells, particularly Th1 cells, can also be controlled by Type I IFNs. In the *P. berghei* ANKA model, Type I IFN signaling suppresses Th1 responses by directly acting on classical DCs (40). Given that type I IFN signaling can also promote the expression of IL-10 on CD4⁺ T-cells (78–81), we hypothesize that these two regulatory mechanisms might share some common activation signals during *Plasmodium* infection.

CD4⁺ T-cell responses may also be controlled by the expression of surface molecules associated with exhaustion. Elevated frequencies of PD-1⁺ LAG-3⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells have been reported in P. falciparum-infected subjects (82, 83), and combined blockade of PD-1 and LAG-3 accelerated clearance of ervthrocytic-stage Plasmodium infection in a mouse model (83). In agreement with these observations, PD-1-deficient mice show better control of an erythrocytic-stage P. chabaudi infection with higher frequencies of IFN- γ^+ and T-bet⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells during the chronic phase (84). The kinetics of PD-1⁺ CD4⁺ T-cells during the acute erythrocyticstage P. yoelii 17X(NL) infection are similar to those observed during P. chabaudi infection (42, 84). However, some caution should be exercised in assuming that expression of PD-1 automatically means exhaustion, as in some subsets of activated CD4⁺ T-cells, in particular Tfh cells, PD1 is expressed without affecting their functional capacity. It may be that the triggering of PD-1 by its ligand PDL-1 (85) is the key to whether the cell is programed for cell death.

Many of the CD4⁺ T-cells activated in a *Plasmodium* infection may undergo interconversion between defined cell subsets depending on antigen dose, APC, location, and cytokine/ chemokine environment, such as that described for Treg and Th17 subsets (86, 87). Thus, it is possible that the Th17 cells found in the spleen of malaria-infected mice gain a regulatory phenotype in other organs or tissues such as brain and liver. The capacity to identify and manipulate these possible mechanisms of CD4⁺ T-cell plasticity during *Plasmodium* infections would be of great value for the design of novel therapeutic strategies.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The identification of two CD4⁺ T-cell subsets with different welldefined functions represented an attractive organizational system with which to rationalize CD4⁺ T-cell responses to Plasmodium infections. However, such a model has not been sufficient to reflect fully the complexity of CD4⁺ T-cell biology observed in human or experimental malaria. In particular, control of Plasmodium infection requires strictly regulated immune responses that are able to prevent parasite replication without causing detrimental side effects of uncontrolled inflammation. Plasmodium species have different stages with different tissue tropisms and this complex life cycle challenges the idea that a single static group of terminally differentiated CD4⁺ T-cells would be able to perform all the tasks required to control this infection. In order to cope with these tasks, the CD4⁺ T-cell response has to adapt to the changing scenarios presented as the infection evolves. The newer concept of CD4⁺ T-cell plasticity would add substantially to our understanding of induction and regulation of CD4⁺ T-cell responses in malaria, and it is highly probable that some of the CD4⁺ Th programs not yet explored in depth, such as the Tfh response, might play critical roles in the outcome of the infection. The combination of potent

tools such as multi-parameter flow cytometry, in vivo imaging, systems analyses of transcriptome, proteome, and metabolome, together with T-cell receptor transgenic mice and peptide-MHC II tetramers will give us the chance to explore the complexity of the CD4⁺ T-cell responses to malaria in *in vivo* models (74, 88–97). In addition, confocal microscopy and intravital imaging techniques make now possible to follow sporozoites injected via the mosquito bite into the skin, or by injection of attenuated sporozoites through to their arrival in the lymphoid organs and liver (98), and to study the consequent activation of CD4⁺ T-cells and their subsequent effector functions. Field studies of natural human Plasmodium infections and mouse models should complement each other to get a deeper understanding of the complex CD4⁺ T-cell response activated by these infections. A detailed delineation on how CD4⁺ T-cells modulate the activation of effector cells such as CD8⁺ T-cells, macrophages, and B-cells in response to Plasmodium infection is critical to achieve the goal of generating protective treatments to control malaria.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Deirdre Cunningham, Jan Sodenkamp, Wiebke Nahrendorf, and Jingwen Lin for their helpful comments and critical reading of the manuscript. The excellent support of Biological Services, NIMR Flow Facility, and PhotoGraphics is much appreciated. Recent work cited from the authors' laboratory was funded by the Medical Research Council, UK (U117584248), the Wellcome Trust (048684), and the European Union (FP7/2007–2013) under grant agreement 242095-EVIMalaR.

REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report. Geneva: WHO Press (2013).
- 2. Landau I. Life cycles and morphology. In: Killick-Kendrick R, Peters W, editors.
- Rodent Malaria. London: Academic Press (1978). p. 53–84.
 Stephens R, Culleton RL, Lamb TJ. The contribution of *Plasmodium chabaudi* to our understanding of malaria. *Trends Parasitol* (2012) 28(2):73–82. doi:10. 1016/j.pt.2011.10.006
- Lamb TJ, Brown DE, Potocnik AJ, Langhorne J. Insights into the immunopathogenesis of malaria using mouse models. *Expert Rev Mol Med* (2006) 8(06):1–22. doi:10.1017/S1462399406010581
- Schofield L. Intravascular infiltrates and organ-specific inflammation in malaria pathogenesis. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2007) 85(2):130–7. doi:10.1038/sj.icb. 7100040
- Rénia L, Grillot D, Marussig M, Corradin G, Miltgen F, Lambert PH, et al. Effector functions of circumsporozoite peptide-primed CD4+ T cell clones against *Plasmodium yoelii* liver stage. *J Immunol* (1993) 150(4):1471–8.
- Takita-Sonoda Y, Tsuji M, Kamboj K, Nussenzweig RS, Clavijo P, Zavala F. Plasmodium yoelii: peptide immunization induces protective CD4+ T cells against a previously unrecognized cryptic epitope of the circumsporozoite protein. Exp Parasitol (1996) 84(2):223–30. doi:10.1006/expr.1996.0108
- Carvalho LH, Sano G-I, Hafalla JCR, Morrot A, Curotto de Lafaille MA, Zavala F. IL-4-secreting CD4+ T cells are crucial to the development of CD8+ T-cell responses against malaria liver stages. *Nat Med* (2002) 8(2):166–70. doi:10.1038/nm0202-166
- Oliveira GA, Kumar KA, Calvo-Calle JM, Othoro C, Altszuler D, Nussenzweig V, et al. Class II-restricted protective immunity induced by malaria sporozoites. *Infect Immun* (2008) 76(3):1200–6. doi:10.1128/IAI.00566-07
- Overstreet MG, Chen Y-C, Cockburn IA, Tse S-W, Zavala F. CD4+ T cells modulate expansion and survival but not functional properties of effector and memory CD8+ T cells induced by malaria sporozoites. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(1):e15948. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015948
- 11. Bijker EM, Teirlinck AC, Schats R, van Gemert G-J, van de Vegte-Bolmer M, van Lieshout L, et al. Cytotoxic markers associate with protection against malaria in human volunteers immunized with *Plasmodium falciparum* sporozoites. *J Infect Dis* (2014) **9**(11):e112910. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu293

- Crompton PD, Kayala MA, Traore B, Kayentao K, Ongoiba A, Weiss GE, et al. A prospective analysis of the Ab response to *Plasmodium falciparum* before and after a malaria season by protein microarray. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(15):6958–63. doi:10.1073/pnas.1001323107
- Felgner PL, Roestenberg M, Liang L, Hung C, Jain A, Pablo J, et al. Preerythrocytic antibody profiles induced by controlled human malaria infections in healthy volunteers under chloroquine prophylaxis. *Sci Rep* (2013) 3:3549. doi:10.1038/srep03549
- 14. Nahrendorf W, Scholzen A, Bijker EM, Teirlinck AC, Bastiaens GJH, Schats R, et al. Memory B-cell and antibody responses induced by *Plasmodium falciparum* sporozoite immunization. *J Infect Dis* (2014) **210**(12):1981–90. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiu354
- 15. Reece WHH, Pinder M, Gothard PK, Milligan P, Bojang K, Doherty T, et al. A CD4(+) T-cell immune response to a conserved epitope in the circumsporozoite protein correlates with protection from natural *Plasmodium falciparum* infection and disease. *Nat Med* (2004) **10**(4):406–10. doi:10.1038/nm1009
- Chakravarty S, Cockburn IA, Kuk S, Overstreet MG, Sacci JB, Zavala F. CD8+ T lymphocytes protective against malaria liver stages are primed in skin-draining lymph nodes. *Nat Med* (2007) 13(9):1035–41. doi:10.1038/nm1628
- 17. Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:621–63. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101400
- Mosmann TR, Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1989) 7:145–73. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.07.040189.001045
- Huang KY, Schultz WW, Gordon FB. Interferon induced by *Plasmodium berghei*. Science (1968) 162(3849):123–4. doi:10.1126/science.162.3849.123
- Troye-Blomberg M, Andersson G, Stoczkowska M, Shabo R, Romero P, Patarroyo ME, et al. Production of IL 2 and IFN-gamma by T cells from malaria patients in response to *Plasmodium falciparum* or erythrocyte antigens in vitro. *J Immunol* (1985) 135(5):3498–504.
- 21. Langhorne J, Gillard S, Simon B, Slade S, Eichmann K. Frequencies of CD4+ T cells reactive with *Plasmodium chabaudi* chabaudi: distinct response kinetics for cells with Th1 and Th2 characteristics during infection. *Int Immunol* (1989) 1(4):416–24. doi:10.1093/intimm/1.4.416
- 22. Shear HL, Srinivasan R, Nolan T, Ng C. Role of IFN-gamma in lethal and nonlethal malaria in susceptible and resistant murine hosts. *J Immunol* (1989) **143**(6):2038–44.
- 23. Troye-Blomberg M, Riley EM, Perlmann H, Andersson G, Larsson A, Snow RW, et al. T and B cell responses of *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria-immune individuals to synthetic peptides corresponding to sequences in different regions of the *P. falciparum* antigen Pf155/RESA. *J Immunol* (1989) **143**(9):3043–8.
- Stevenson MM, Tam MF. Differential induction of helper T cell subsets during blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection in resistant and susceptible mice. *Clin Exp Immunol* (1993) 92(1):77–83. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.1993.tb05951.x
- 25. Coomes SM, Pelly VS, Wilson MS. Plasticity within the $\alpha\beta^+$ CD4⁺ T-cell lineage: when, how and what for? *Open Biol* (2013) **3**(1):120157. doi:10.1098/rsob. 120157
- 26. Lundie RJ, de Koning-Ward TF, Davey GM, Nie CQ, Hansen DS, Lau LS, et al. Blood-stage *Plasmodium* infection induces CD8+ T lymphocytes to parasiteexpressed antigens, largely regulated by CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) **105**(38):14509–14. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806727105
- Sponaas AM, Cadman ET, Voisine C, Harrison V, Boonstra A, O'Garra A, et al. Malaria infection changes the ability of splenic dendritic cell populations to stimulate antigen-specific T cells. J Exp Med (2006) 203(6):1427–33. doi:10.1084/jem.20052450
- deWalick S, Amante FH, McSweeney KA, Randall LM, Stanley AC, Haque A, et al. Cutting edge: conventional dendritic cells are the critical APC required for the induction of experimental cerebral malaria. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(10):6033–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.10.6033
- Voisine C, Mastelic B, Sponaas A-M, Langhorne J. Classical CD11c+ dendritic cells, not plasmacytoid dendritic cells, induce T cell responses to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *Int J Parasitol* (2010) **40**(6):711–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijpara.2009. 11.005
- Su Z, Stevenson MM. IL-12 is required for antibody-mediated protective immunity against blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS malaria infection in mice. *J Immunol* (2002) 168(3):1348–55. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.3.1348
- Sauvaget F, Fauconnier B. The protective effect of endogenous interferon in mouse malaria, as demonstrated by the use of anti-interferon globulins. *Biomedicine* (1978) 29(6):184–7.

- Meding SJ, Cheng SC, Simon-Haarhaus B, Langhorne J. Role of gamma interferon during infection with *Plasmodium chabaudi* chabaudi. *Infect Immun* (1990) 58(11):3671–8.
- Simon-Haarhaus B, Langhorne J, Meding S. CD4+T cell-dependent effector mechanisms important in the immune response to the erythrocytic stages of *Plasmodium chabaudi* chabaudi (AS). *Behring Inst Mitt* (1991) 88:94–8.
- Su Z, Stevenson MM. Central role of endogenous gamma interferon in protective immunity against blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* AS infection. *Infect Immun* (2000) 68(8):4399–406. doi:10.1128/IAI.68.8.4399-4406.2000
- 35. Stephens R, Langhorne J. Effector memory Th1 CD4 T cells are maintained in a mouse model of chronic malaria. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) **6**(11):e1001208. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001208
- 36. da Silva HB, de Salles EM, Panatieri RH, Boscardin SB, Rodriguez-Málaga SM, Álvarez JM, et al. IFN-γ-induced priming maintains long-term strain-transcending immunity against blood-stage *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. *J Immunol* (2013) **191**(10):5160–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300462
- McCall MBB, Sauerwein RW. Interferon-γ-central mediator of protective immune responses against the pre-erythrocytic and blood stage of malaria. *J Leukoc Biol* (2010) 88(6):1131–43. doi:10.1189/jlb.0310137
- 38. Villegas-Mendez A, Greig R, Shaw TN, De SOUZA JB, Gwyer Findlay E, Stumhofer JS, et al. IFN-γ-producing CD4+ T cells promote experimental cerebral malaria by modulating CD8+ T cell accumulation within the brain. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(2):968–79. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200688
- Haque A, Best SE, Ammerdorffer A, Desbarrieres L, de Oca MM, Amante FH, et al. Type I interferons suppress CD4⁺ T-cell-dependent parasite control during blood-stage *Plasmodium* infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) **41**(9):2688–98. doi:10.1002/eji.201141539
- Haque A, Best SE, Montes de Oca M, James KR, Ammerdorffer A, Edwards CL, et al. Type I IFN signaling in CD8- DCs impairs Th1-dependent malaria immunity. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(6):2483–96. doi:10.1172/JCI70698
- Oakley MS, Sahu BR, Lotspeich-Cole L, Solanki NR, Majam V, Pham PT, et al. The transcription factor T-bet regulates parasitemia and promotes pathogenesis during *Plasmodium berghei* ANKA murine malaria. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(9):4699–708. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300396
- 42. Chandele A, Mukerjee P, Das G, Ahmed R, Chauhan VS. Phenotypic and functional profiling of malaria-induced CD8 and CD4 T cells during bloodstage infection with *Plasmodium yoelii*. *Immunology* (2011) **132**(2):273–86. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03363.x
- Oakley MS, Sahu BR, Lotspeich-Cole L, Majam V, Thao Pham P, Sengupta Banerjee A, et al. T-bet modulates the antibody response and immune protection during murine malaria. *Eur J Immunol* (2014) 44(9):2680–91. doi:10.1002/eji. 201344437
- 44. Troye-Blomberg M, Riley EM, Kabilan L, Holmberg M, Perlmann H, Andersson U, et al. Production by activated human T cells of interleukin 4 but not interferon-gamma is associated with elevated levels of serum antibodies to activating malaria antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1990) 87(14):5484–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.87.14.5484
- 45. von der Weid T, Kopf M, Köhler G, Langhorne J. The immune response to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria in interleukin-4-deficient mice. *Eur J Immunol* (1994) 24(10):2285–93. doi:10.1002/eji.1830241004
- 46. Linke A, Kühn R, Müller W, Honarvar N, Li C, Langhorne J. *Plasmodium chabaudi* chabaudi: differential susceptibility of gene-targeted mice deficient in IL-10 to an erythrocytic-stage infection. *Exp Parasitol* (1996) 84(2):253–63. doi:10.1006/expr.1996.0111
- 47. Langhorne J, Meding SJ, Eichmann K, Gillard SS. The response of CD4+ T cells to *Plasmodium chabaudi* chabaudi. *Immunol Rev* (1989) 112:71–94. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.1989.tb00553.x
- von der Weid T, Langhorne J. The roles of cytokines produced in the immune response to the erythrocytic stages of mouse malarias. *Immunobiology* (1993) 189(3–4):397–418. doi:10.1016/S0171-2985(11)80367-0
- Locci M, Havenar-Daughton C, Landais E, Wu J, Kroenke MA, Arlehamn CL, et al. Human circulating PD-1+CXCR3-CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):758–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.031
- 50. Mewono L, Matondo Maya DW, Matsiegui P-B, Agnandji ST, Kendjo E, Barondi F, et al. Interleukin-21 is associated with IgG1 and IgG3 antibodies to erythrocyte-binding antigen-175 peptide 4 of *Plasmodium falciparum* in Gabonese children with acute *falciparum* malaria. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2008) 19(1):30–6. doi:10.1684/ecn.2008.0114

- Mewono L, Agnandji ST, Matondo Maya DW, Mouima A-MN, Iroungou BA, Issifou S, et al. Malaria antigen-mediated enhancement of interleukin-21 responses of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in African adults. *Exp Parasitol* (2009) 122(1):37–40. doi:10.1016/j.exppara.2009.01.007
- Roetynck S, Olotu A, Simam J, Marsh K, Stockinger B, Urban B, et al. Phenotypic and functional profiling of CD4 T cell compartment in distinct populations of healthy adults with different antigenic exposure. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(1):e55195. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055195
- Chen Z, Laurence A, O'Shea JJ. Signal transduction pathways and transcriptional regulation in the control of Th17 differentiation. *Semin Immunol* (2007) 19(6):400–8. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2007.10.015
- Keswani T, Bhattacharyya A. Differential role of T regulatory and Th17 in Swiss mice infected with *Plasmodium berghei* ANKA and *Plasmodium yoelii. Exp Par*asitol (2014) 141:82–92. doi:10.1016/j.exppara.2014.03.003
- 55. Ishida H, Matsuzaki-Moriya C, Imai T, Yanagisawa K, Nojima Y, Suzue K, et al. Development of experimental cerebral malaria is independent of IL-23 and IL-17. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) **402**(4):790–5. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc. 2010.10.114
- Mastelic B, do Rosario APF, Veldhoen M, Renauld JC, Jarra W, Sponaas A-M, et al. IL-22 protects against liver pathology and lethality of an experimental blood-stage malaria infection. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:85. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00085
- Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(8):857–63. doi:10.1038/ni.1767
- Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H. Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(8):864–71. doi:10.1038/ni.1770
- Sonnenberg GF, Fouser LA, Artis D. Border patrol: regulation of immunity, inflammation and tissue homeostasis at barrier surfaces by IL-22. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(5):383–90. doi:10.1038/ni.2025
- 60. Koch O, Rockett K, Jallow M, Pinder M, Sisay-Joof F, Kwiatkowski D. Investigation of malaria susceptibility determinants in the IFNG/IL26/IL22 genomic region. *Genes Immun* (2005) **6**(4):312–8. doi:10.1038/sj.gene.6364214
- Nakayamada S, Takahashi H, Kanno Y, O'Shea JJ. Helper T cell diversity and plasticity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2012) 24(3):297–302. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012. 01.014
- 62. Betts MR, Nason MC, West SM, De Rosa SC, Migueles SA, Abraham J, et al. HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIV-specific CD8+ T cells. *Blood* (2006) **107**(12):4781–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2005-12-4818
- Darrah PA, Patel DT, De Luca PM, Lindsay RWB, Davey DF, Flynn BJ, et al. Multifunctional TH1 cells define a correlate of vaccine-mediated protection against *Leishmania major. Nat Med* (2007) 13(7):843–50. doi:10.1038/nm1592
- Seder RA, Darrah PA, Roederer M. T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(4):247–58. doi:10.1038/nri2274
- Huaman MC, Mullen GED, Long CA, Mahanty S. *Plasmodium falciparum* apical membrane antigen 1 vaccine elicits multifunctional CD4 cytokine-producing and memory T cells. *Vaccine* (2009) 27(38):5239–46. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2009.06.066
- 66. Kastenmuller K, Espinosa DA, Trager L, Stoyanov C, Salazar AM, Pokalwar S, et al. Full-Length *Plasmodium falciparum* circumsporozoite protein administered with long-chain poly(I•C) or the Toll-like receptor 4 agonist glucopyranosyl lipid adjuvant-stable emulsion elicits potent antibody and cd4+ t cell immunity and protection in mice. *Infect Immun* (2013) 81(3):789–800. doi:10.1128/IAI.01108-12
- 67. Metenou S, Dembele B, Konate S, Dolo H, Coulibaly YI, Diallo AA, et al. Filarial infection suppresses malaria-specific multifunctional Th1 and Th17 responses in malaria and filarial coinfections. *J Immunol* (2011) **186**(8):4725–33. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003778
- Murphy KM, Stockinger B. Effector T cell plasticity: flexibility in the face of changing circumstances. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(8):674–80. doi:10.1038/ ni.1899
- Lu KT, Kanno Y, Cannons JL, Handon R, Bible P, Elkahloun AG, et al. Functional and epigenetic studies reveal multistep differentiation and plasticity of in vitro-generated and in vivo-derived follicular T helper cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35(4):622–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.07.015

- 70. Freitas do Rosário AP, Lamb T, Spence P, Stephens R, Lang A, Roers A, et al. IL-27 promotes IL-10 production by effector Th1 CD4+ T cells: a critical mechanism for protection from severe immunopathology during malaria infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(3):1178–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102755
- Couper KN, Blount DG, Wilson MS, Hafalla JC, Belkaid Y, Kamanaka M, et al. IL-10 from CD4+CD25-Foxp3-CD127- adaptive regulatory T cells modulates parasite clearance and pathology during malaria infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4(2):e1000004. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000004
- 72. Walther M, Jeffries D, Finney OC, Njie M, Ebonyi A, Deininger S, et al. Distinct roles for FOXP3+ and FOXP3- CD4+ T cells in regulating cellular immunity to uncomplicated and severe *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5(4):e1000364. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000364
- 73. Jagannathan P, Eccles-James I, Bowen K, Nankya F, Auma A, Wamala S, et al. IFNγ/IL-10 co-producing cells dominate the CD4 response to malaria in highly exposed children. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) **10**(1):e1003864. doi:10.1371/journal. ppat.1003864
- 74. Portugal S, Moebius J, Skinner J, Doumbo S, Doumtabe D, Kone Y, et al. Exposure-dependent control of malaria-induced inflammation in children. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(4):e1004079. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004079
- McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, et al. TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T(H)-17 cell-mediated pathology. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(12):1390–7. doi:10.1038/ni1539
- O'Garra A, Vieira PT. (H)1 cells control themselves by producing interleukin-10. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7(6):425–8. doi:10.1038/nri2097
- 77. Zielinski CE, Mele F, Aschenbrenner D, Jarrossay D, Ronchi F, Gattorno M, et al. Pathogen-induced human TH17 cells produce IFN- γ or IL-10 and are regulated by IL-1 β . *Nature* (2013) **484**(7395):514–8. doi:10.1038/nature10957
- Levings MK, Sangregorio R, Galbiati F, Squadrone S, de Waal Malefyt R, Roncarolo MG. IFN-α and IL-10 induce the differentiation of human type 1 T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2001) 166(9):5530–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166. 9.5530
- 79. Dikopoulos N, Bertoletti A, Kroger A, Hauser H, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J. Type I IFN negatively regulates CD8+ T cell responses through IL-10-producing CD4+ T regulatory 1 cells. J Immunol (2004) 174(1):99–109. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.1.99
- Zhang L, Yuan S, Cheng G, Guo B. Type I IFN promotes IL-10 production from T cells to suppress Th17 cells and Th17-associated autoimmune inflammation. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(12):e28432. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0028432
- Corre B, Perrier J, El Khouri M, Cerboni S, Pellegrini S, Michel F. Type I interferon potentiates T-cell receptor mediated induction of IL-10-producing CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43(10):2730–40. doi:10.1002/eji.201242977
- 82. Illingworth J, Butler NS, Roetynck S, Mwacharo J, Pierce SK, Bejon P, et al. Chronic exposure to *Plasmodium falciparum* is associated with phenotypic evidence of B and T Cell exhaustion. *J Immunol* (2013) **190**(3):1038–47. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202438
- Butler NS, Moebius J, Pewe LL, Traore B, Doumbo OK, Tygrett LT, et al. Therapeutic blockade of PD-L1 and LAG-3 rapidly clears established blood-stage *Plasmodium* infection. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(2):188–95. doi:10.1038/ni.2180
- Horne-Debets JM, Faleiro R, Karunarathne DS, Liu XQ, Lineburg KE, Poh CM, et al. PD-1 dependent exhaustion of CD8+ T cells drives chronic malaria. *Cell Rep* (2013) 5(5):1204–13. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.11.002
- Cubas RA, Mudd JC, Savoye A-L, Perreau M, van Grevenynghe J, Metcalf T, et al. Inadequate T follicular cell help impairs B cell immunity during HIV infection. *Nat Med* (2013) 19(4):494–9. doi:10.1038/nm.3109
- Kimura A, Kishimoto T. IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(7):1830–5. doi:10.1002/eji.201040391
- Barbi J, Pardoll D, Pan F. Metabolic control of the Treg/Th17 axis. Immunol Rev (2013) 252(1):52–77. doi:10.1111/imr.12029
- 88. Stephens R, Albano FR, Quin S, Pascal BJ, Harrison V, Stockinger B, et al. Malaria-specific transgenic CD4(+) T cells protect immunodeficient mice from lethal infection and demonstrate requirement for a protective threshold of antibody production for parasite clearance. *Blood* (2005) **106**(5):1676–84. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-10-4047
- Olszewski KL, Morrisey JM, Wilinski D, Burns JM, Vaidya AB, Rabinowitz JD, et al. Host-parasite interactions revealed by *Plasmodium falciparum* metabolomics. *Cell Host Microbe* (2009) 5(2):191–9. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2009. 01.004

- Kafsack BFC, Llinás M. Eating at the table of another: metabolomics of hostparasite interactions. *Cell Host Microbe* (2010) 7(2):90–9. doi:10.1016/j.chom. 2010.01.008
- 91. Nepom GT. MHC class II tetramers. J Immunol (2012) 188(6):2477–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102398
- 92. Cockburn IA, Amino R, Kelemen RK, Kuo SC, Tse S-W, Radtke A, et al. In vivo imaging of CD8+ T cell-mediated elimination of malaria liver stages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(22):9090–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1303858110
- Painter HJ, Altenhofen LM, Kafsack BFC, Llinás M. Whole-genome analysis of *Plasmodium* spp. Utilizing a new Agilent technologies DNA microarray platform. *Methods Mol Biol* (2013) **923**:213–9. doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-026-7_14
- 94. Tse S-W, Cockburn IA, Zhang H, Scott AL, Zavala F. Unique transcriptional profile of liver-resident memory CD8+ T cells induced by immunization with malaria sporozoites. *Genes Immun* (2013) 14(5):302–9. doi:10.1038/gene. 2013.20
- Salinas JL, Kissinger JC, Jones DP, Galinski MR. Metabolomics in the fight against malaria. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz* (2014) 109(5):589–97. doi:10.1590/ 0074-0276140043
- Franke-Fayard B, Waters AP, Janse CJ. Real-time in vivo imaging of transgenic bioluminescent blood stages of rodent malaria parasites in mice. *Nat Protoc* (2006) 1(1):476–85. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.69

- Tran TM, Samal B, Kirkness E, Crompton PD. Systems immunology of human malaria. *Trends Parasitol* (2012) 28(6):248–57. doi:10.1016/j.pt.2012.03.006
- Ménard R, Tavares J, Cockburn I, Markus M, Zavala F, Amino R. Looking under the skin: the first steps in malarial infection and immunity. *Nat Rev Microbiol* (2013) 11(10):701–12. doi:10.1038/nrmicro3111

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 September 2014; accepted: 15 December 2014; published online: 12 January 2015.

Citation: Perez-Mazliah D and Langhorne J (2015) CD4 T-cell subsets in malaria: TH1/TH2 revisited. Front. Immunol. 5:671. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00671

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2015 Perez-Mazliah and Langhorne. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Christian R. Engwerda¹*, Susanna S. Ng^{1,2} and Patrick T. Bunn^{1,3}

¹ QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

² School of Natural Sciences, Griffith University, Nathan, QLD, Australia

³ Institute of Glycomics, Griffith University, Gold Coast, QLD, Australia

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

Sid P. Kerkar, National Institutes of Health, USA Kevin Couper, University of Manchester, UK

*Correspondence:

Christian R. Engwerda, QIMR Berghofer Medical Research Institute, 300 Herston Road, Herston, QLD 4005, Australia e-mail: chrise@qimr.edu.au CD4⁺T cells are critical for defense against protozoan parasites. Intracellular protozoan parasite infections generally require the development of a Th1 cell response, characterized by the production of IFN_Y and TNF that are critical for the generation of microbicidal molecules by phagocytes, as well as the expression of cytokines and cell surface molecules needed to generate cytolytic CD8⁺ T cells that can recognize and kill infected host cells. Over the past 25 years, much has been learnt about the molecular and cellular components necessary for the generation of Th1 cell responses, and it has become clear that these responses need to be tightly controlled to prevent disease. However, our understanding of the immunoregulatory mechanisms activated during infection is still not complete. Furthermore, it is apparent that although these mechanisms are critical to prevent inflammation, they can also promote parasite persistence and development of disease. Here, we review how CD4⁺ T cells are controlled during protozoan infections and how these regulatory mechanisms can influence parasite growth and disease outcome.

Keywords: protozoan parasites, Th1 cells, IL-10, IL-27, CD4+ T cells, immune regulation

INTRODUCTION

Mammalian immune systems have evolved to recognize and control pathogens. This is achieved by the coordinated actions of innate and adaptive immune mechanisms [reviewed in Ref. (1, 2)]. CD4⁺ T cells play key roles in coordinating immune responses by producing molecules critical for the production of high affinity antibodies by B cells and promoting the production of mucous and tissue repair mechanisms. They also help to fully activate CD8⁺ T cells so they can kill infected and transformed cells, and assist innate immune cells to recognize and control pathogens and tumors. CD4⁺ T cells play critical roles in both the generation of anti-parasitic immunity and immune surveillance during concomitant immunity, which is associated with many parasitic infections (3).

REGULATION OF T CELL RESPONSES

The help provided by CD4⁺ T cells for various immune activities includes the production of potent pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF, IFN γ , and IL-17, and as such, CD4⁺ T cell responses need to be tightly regulated so they themselves do not cause tissue damage. The pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases often involves aberrant CD4⁺ T cell responses in tissue sites such as the central nervous system, pancreas, and brain. Therefore, mammals have evolved multiple ways to control the pathogenic potential of CD4⁺ T cells [reviewed in Ref. (4)]. These include indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO)-catalyzed tryptophan metabolism by phagocytic cells (5), leading to immune cell stress and activation of the general controlled non-repressed 2 (GCN2) kinase pathway (6) and/or cytotoxic and regulatory effects on T cells caused by the catabolites from the associated kynurenine

metabolism pathway (7). In addition, the production of regulatory cytokines, such as IL-10 and TGFB, by innate immune cells in response to pathogen-derived molecules can suppress both developing and established T cell responses (8-10), as can IL-10 produced by certain B cell subsets (11). Dendritic cells (DCs) can be an important source of regulatory cytokines in experimental models of leishmaniasis and malaria. In addition, over the course of these infections, DCs reduce levels of CD11c, increase expression of CD45RB, and promote the generation of T cell IL-10 production (12–14). Thus, the development of regulatory DC subsets that have a major influence on T cell responses is a feature of established protozoan infections. More recently, specialized monocytes and macrophage subsets have been identified that can modulate localized T cell responses during protozoan infections [reviewed in Ref. (15)]. Classically activated (M1) macrophages produce pro-inflammatory molecules, such as TNF and L-arginine-dependent nitric oxide, while alternatively activated (M2) macrophages use arginase 1 to convert L-arginine to polyamines, which along with production of IL-10 and TGFβ, enable this cell subset to suppress inflammation [reviewed in Ref. (16)]. Inflammatory monocytes have been reported to promote Th1 cell activity in mice infected with Leishmania major (17), L. donovani (18), and Trypanasoma brucei (19, 20), but with pathological consequences in the latter model that were reversed by administration of IL-10 (20). In contrast, the products from M2 macrophages suppressed lesional CD4⁺ T cell proliferation and IFNy production in mice infected with L. major (21), while T. gondii can actively promote the arginase 1 pathway in macrophages to enhance pathogen survival (22). Thus, macrophages play important roles in conditioning local tissue environments and determining the direction and effectiveness of T cell responses during protozoan infections. However, regulatory mechanisms increasingly recognized as being paramount for preventing T cell-mediated disease, and therefore, the main subject of this review, involve specialized sub-populations of CD4⁺ T cells themselves capable of inhibiting immune responses and suppressing inflammation.

REGULATORY T CELLS

Regulatory T cells can be broadly divided into two types. First, natural regulatory T (Treg) cells are CD4⁺ T cells produced in the thymus and express the transcription factor FoxP3 that is critical for their suppressive functions (23, 24). Second, inducible regulatory T cells emerge from the thymus as conventional T cells, but develop regulatory functions in the periphery following exposure to appropriate inflammatory stimulation. These include IL-10-producing Th1 (Tr1) cells (25), TGFβ-producing CD4⁺ T (Th3) cells (26), and conventional CD4⁺ T cells that have converted to FoxP3-positive cells in peripheral tissues (27). Under homeostatic conditions, Treg cells limit potentially self-reactive T cell responses, thus preventing autoimmunity (23). However, they can also impair effective pathogen clearance, while trying to prevent immune-mediated tissue damage during infection. The molecular mechanisms by which Treg cells perform these functions are incompletely understood, but involve production of cytokines such as IL-10, TGFβ, and IL-35, the expression of the negative regulatory molecule cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and the generation of adenosine and cyclic AMP [reviewed in Ref. (28)]. In addition, their expression of high affinity IL-2 receptor allows them to deprive conventional T cells of this critical growth factor and thereby induce them to undergo apoptosis (29). Thus, Treg cells may act directly upon conventional T cells or via accessory cells such as antigen presenting cells (APCs) to limit T cell activity. An emerging paradigm is that Treg cells adapt to particular inflammatory conditions in order to regulate specific CD4⁺ T cell responses by the generation and use of shared transcription factors to mimic certain aspects of T cell behavior, such as tissue homing, survival, and cytokine production. For example, STAT3, T-bet, IRF-4, and Bcl-6 are required for Th17, Th1, Th2, and follicular helper T (Tfh) cell differentiation, respectively, as well as by the Treg cells that control the actions of these specific CD4⁺ T cell subsets (30-34). For example, in mice orally infected with T. gondii, IL-27 promotes the expression of CXCR3 on Treg cells that enables these cells to regulate Th1 cell-mediated immunity, as well as prevent infection-induced pathology at mucosal sites (35). However, Treg cells can block the generation of effective parasite-specific T cell responses in specific tissues. For example, Treg cell depletion with anti-CD25 mAb in mice infected with L. major dramatically enhanced anti-parasitic immunity (36), while adoptive transfer of antigen-specific Treg cells in the same model promoted parasite growth (37). In addition, depletion of Treg cells with an anti-CD25 mAb protects mice from lethal Plasmodium yoelii infection by enabling the generation of a potent anti-parasitic T cell response (38). Similarly, the removal of Treg cells from peripheral blood mononuclear cells isolated from humans infected with P. falciparum enhanced T cell proliferation and CD4⁺ T cell IFNy

production in response to stimulation with parasite antigens (39). However, the importance of Treg cells in several protozoan infections has been questioned because of the potential "off-target" effects of the anti-CD25 mAbs used in many studies (40). For example, several groups reported significant changes in immune responses and disease outcome in mice infected with *P. berghei* ANKA (41–43), but subsequent experiments in this model, where Treg cells could be specifically depleted with diphtheria toxin via cell-specific expression of a simian diphtheria toxin receptor (44), showed little impact of Treg cells on disease outcome and associated T cell responses (45, 46). Thus, the roles of Treg cells in protozoan infections will require further studies before their impact on anti-parasitic immune responses can be fully appreciated.

The secretion of IL-10 by conventional CD4⁺ T cells can potently suppress inflammation and tissue damage (47, 48). Initially, IL-10 production was identified in Th2 cells (49), but has since been described in Th1 (50-52) and Th17 (53) cell populations. Thus, CD4⁺ T cell-derived IL-10 production is emerging as an important mechanism of auto-regulation, whereby IL-10 can both directly suppress T cell activities, as well as upstream activation pathways initiated by APCs [reviewed in Ref. (48)]. These IL-10-producing Th1 cells were identified in mice infected with T. gondii (54) and L. major (55). In the T. gondii infection model, these cells did not impact upon control of parasite growth, but were critical for limiting pathology (54, 56), while in mice infected with L. major, IL-10-producing Th1 cells promoted the establishment and maintenance of chronic infection (55). Similar observations have also been made in mouse models of Plasmodium infection (57, 58), T. cruzi (59, 60), and T. brucei (61) infections. Importantly, these IL-10-producing Th1 cells have been identified in humans with visceral leishmaniasis caused by L. donovani (62) and African children with P. falciparum malaria (63, 64). Although IL-10 has been clearly shown to suppress CD4⁺ T cell activation in humans infected with L. donovani (65) and P. falciparum (63, 66), it is not yet clear how much of this activity can be attributed to the IL-10-producing Th1 cells. Significantly, the prevalence of IL-10-producing Th1 cells in Gambian children with asymptomatic malaria was greater than in children with severe disease, indicating that these cells may protect against damaging inflammation during acute malaria (67). However, antigen-specific IL-10-producing Th1 cells were found in cord blood of babies whose mothers had malaria during pregnancy (66), suggesting that these cells might be able to influence anti-parasitic immunity from very early in life. Hence, the kinetics of the emergence of IL-10-producing Th1 cells during malaria may be critical in determining the impact they have on the outcome of infection.

THE ROLES OF IL-10 IN PROTOZOAN INFECTIONS

IL-10 is one of the most potent regulatory cytokines produced by leukocytes in response to inflammatory signals (68). The importance of IL-10 for regulating immunity is highlighted by the observation that IL-10 deficiency or blockade causes the early development of colitis in mice (69). However, as described above, many protozoan parasites, such as those that cause toxoplasmosis, malaria, trypanosomiasis, and leishmaniasis (54, 55, 59–61, 70, 71), have evolved to exploit the functions of IL-10 to inhibit anti-microbial mechanisms and allow the establishment of chronic infection. In fact, the generation of IL-10-producing T cells following vaccination with protozoan antigen can be a robust predictor of vaccine failure (28). One proposed mechanisms for IL-10-mediated immune suppression is the promotion of T cell exhaustion. The PD-1 pathway plays an important role in T cell exhaustion during all of the chronic infections mentioned above, and there is strong evidence that IL-10 plays a key role in regulating the expression of the PD-1 ligands (PD-L1 and PD-L2) on APCs [reviewed in Ref. (72)]. Several other molecules known to be involved in promoting T cell exhaustion, such as Tim-3 and Lag3, have also been linked with IL-10 expression (73, 74), but their precise relationships are not known. IL-10 produced by macrophages can also inhibit the differentiation of surrounding cells into classically activated macrophages that are required for the production of inflammatory cytokines and metabolites required to kill many intracellular pathogens (75). It can also suppress inflammatory cytokine production by T cells and inhibits antigen presentation by APC [reviewed in Ref. (76)]. Thus, IL-10 can suppress host immune responses during infection by multiple mechanisms.

REGULATION OF IL-10 PRODUCTION BY CD4+ T CELLS

An important approach to understanding how IL-10 production might be modulated for therapeutic advantage or to improve vaccination is to gain a better insight into the transcriptional regulation and the signaling pathways involved in IL-10 production and establishing whether they differ between cell types and in various tissue locations. IL-27 has emerged as an important growth and differentiation factor for IL-10-producing Th1 cells (53, 77, 78). It is thought to primarily be a product of macrophages and DCs (79), and drives the production of IL-21 by CD4⁺ T cells, which in turn, acts as an autocrine growth factor for IL-10producing Th1 cells (80, 81). IL-27 is a heterodimeric cytokine composed of IL-27p28 and EBI3 that signals via a receptor complex comprising a unique IL-27 receptor alpha chain (IL-27Ra) and gp130 (82, 83), a common receptor used by several cytokines including IL-6 (84, 85). IL-27 promotes these activities via the transcription factors STAT1 and STAT3 (53), and by inducing the expression of the transcription factors c-Maf (80) and aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) (86), which then physically associate and transactivate the IL-10 and IL-21 gene promoters (80, 86, 87). Interactions between glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related (GITR) protein and GITR ligand can also stimulate IL-27 production (88), which can induce expression of inducible T cell costimulator (ICOS) on IL-10-producing Th1 cells to enhance IL-27-mediated expansion of these cells (80). Interestingly, IL-27p28 can also function as a natural antagonist of gp130-mediated cytokine signaling, and thereby inhibit IL-6-mediated inflammatory pathways (89). The importance of IL-27 for the generation of IL-10-producing Th1 cells has now been reported in mouse models of malaria (58, 90), leishamaniasis (91), and toxoplasma (53), although, surprisingly, the generation of these cells was independent of IL-21 in mice infected with P. chabaudi (58). It should also be noted that IL-27 has IL-10-independent regulatory functions in mice infected with P. berghei NK65 (90), thus emphasizing the complexity of IL-27-mediated immune regulation during protozoan infections. IL-27 produced by CD14 positive monocytes was also reported to be associated increased numbers of IL-10producing Th1 cells in blood from visceral leishmaniasis patients (92). Thus, there is substantial evidence for IL-27 being a critical factor in the generation of IL-10-producing Th1 cells during protozoan infections.

In other studies, the transcriptional repressor B lymphocyteinduced maturation protein 1 (Blimp1; encoded by the Prdm1 gene) was found to be expressed by a subset of Treg cells and played an essential role in their production of IL-10 (93). Recently, Blimp1 was implicated in IL-10 production by Th1 cells (94), and shown to be important for the generation of these cells in mice infected with T. gondii (95). IL-27 and T cell receptor signaling were found to promote the expression of the transcription factor Erg2, which was required for Lag3 expression and production of IL-10 by conventional CD4⁺ T cells (96). Subsequently, IL-27-dependent Egr2 expression was reported to be critical for the induction of Blimp1 and generation of IL-10-producing Th1 cells (94). Interestingly, only STAT3-deficiency impacted upon IL-27dependent Egr2 expression, while both STAT1 and STAT3 were required for IL-10 production by Th1 cells. Thus, a model for IL-10 production by Th1 cells is emerging (Figure 1). Furthermore, cellular pathways such as the Notch-Jagged axis in plasmacytoid DCs promote CD4⁺ T cell IL-10 production (97), but their roles in protozoan infections have yet to be investigated. Thus, there are still many gaps to be filled, and importantly, we need to clearly define the signaling and transcriptional pathways that are activated during protozoan infections. In particular, there is a clear gap in our knowledge regarding differences in the regulation and maintenance of IL-10 production by Th1 cells in secondary lymphoid organs and peripheral tissue sites. This information is important if we want to target these regulators to selectively modulate IL-10 activity during parasitic disease. In the broader context of immune regulation, we need to establish whether the IL-10-producing Th1 cells are a distinct T cell subset capable of dynamic and sustained regulatory function or whether they represent exhausted T cells, as suggested by their expression of molecules such as PD-1 and Lag3. In the former, we can develop ways to manipulate them for therapeutic advantage (for example in inflammatory diseases) or transiently block their function, as might be required for effective vaccination. However, if they represent a terminally differentiated state, then different approaches may have to be devised to either promote or inhibit their development.

OTHER MECHANISMS OF Th1 CELL REGULATION DURING PROTOZOAN INFECTIONS

Although IL-10 is a potent regulator of Th1 cell responses, there is likely to be multiple mechanisms to control such potentially damaging inflammatory responses. Type I IFNs have recently emerged as import immune regulators during parasitic infections. They are produced by most cell types and play critical roles in anti-viral immunity (98, 99), but several studies have identified this family of cytokines as important determinants of disease outcome in protozoan infection. However, these effects depend on the virulence of the parasite and the stage of infection. For example, in



mice lacking type I IFN receptor, early control of T. brucei was impaired, but it appeared that IFNy production later in infection was suppressed by type I IFN signaling pathways (100). In contrast, early control of a high dose T. cruzi infection was enhanced in type I IFN receptor-deficient mice and this was associated with increased IFNy production, but not when a lower parasite dose was used (101). In liver stage P. berghei ANKA infection, parasite RNA triggers a type I IFN transcriptional program in hepatocytes that enhances innate immune responses in hepatic myeloid cells to control liver parasite load (102). In contrast, in mice infected with P. berghei ANKA blood-stage parasites, type I IFNs promoted susceptibility to severe disease (103, 104) by suppressing Th1 cell development (103) indirectly through inhibition of CD8⁻ DC function (105). Interestingly, this latter effect of type I IFN on DC function was also associated with reduced IL-10 mRNA accumulation in CD8⁻ DCs that lacked type I IFN receptor, potentially

linking infection-induced IL-10 production with Th1 regulation once again (**Figure 2**).

TGF β has also emerged as an important regulatory cytokine controlling Th1 responses during protozoan infections [reviewed in Ref. (106)]. In mice, susceptibility to lethal *P. berghei* ANKA infection correlated with reduced TGF β levels (107), while high levels of TGF β in malaria patients was associated with increased parasite growth. In mice infected with *T. gondii*, TGF β produced by gut intraepithelial CD8⁺ T cells was critical for controlling inflammation and gut pathology (108), thus supporting a key role for this cytokine in regulating inflammation during protozoan infections. In both malaria and toxoplasma, it is likely that TGF β acts by suppressing T cell activation and promoting Treg cell functions (109). However, this is yet to be formally demonstrated and there still remains much to learn about the functions of TGF β during infection.



Both lipoxin A4 and glucocorticoids have also been identified as important regulators of Th1 cell responses in mice infected with T. gondii (110–112). Lipoxin A4 is an eicosanoid mediator capable of suppressing DC IL-12 production in response to parasite antigen in vitro (110) or during T. gondii infection in mice (111). In this latter study, infection of mice lacking lipoxin A4 resulted in a fatal, parasite-induced inflammation (characterized by a potent Th1 cell response), but reduced parasite loads. Importantly, results from this and previous studies (113), suggest that IL-10 was critical for regulating inflammation during the acute stage of infection, while lipoxin A4 was important for immune regulation during chronic infection (111). A novel, IL-10-independent pathway of immune regulation was also recently identified in this infection model, whereby glucocorticoids produced by the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis during T. gondii infection act directly on CD4⁺ T cells to prevent Th1 cell hyperresponsiveness and resulting pathology (112). Given the critical roles for both IL-10-dependent and IL-10-independent pathways in preventing inflammatory diseases associated with protozoan infections, temporal and/or transient blockade of one or the other pathways may be a viable way to enable sufficient pro-inflammatory immunity to control parasite growth, but also leave enough regulatory machinery in place to prevent disease.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

There are currently no vaccines to protect against or treat diseases caused by protozoan parasites. It has proven extremely difficult to generate robust and long-lasting CD4⁺ T cell responses against the responsible pathogens (3). An important impediment for generating sufficient immunity against these pathogens could, in some cases, be the accompanying regulatory immune response that aims to limit inflammation. Treg cell depletion can dramatically improve candidate malaria vaccine efficacy (114, 115), although as mentioned above, these studies must be interpreted with caution because of the use of anti-CD25 mAb for Treg cell modulation. Nevertheless, the blockade of IL-10 produced by antigen-specific Th1 cells improved anti-parasitic immunity generated by a candidate vaccine directed against L. major (116), while studies on T. gondii indicated that induction of IL-10-producing Th1 cells following vaccination caused a lethal infection upon secondary exposure to the parasite (117). Although the depletion of Treg cells and/or IL-10-producing Th1 cells is not a viable option for improving vaccine efficacy given the critical roles of these cells in preventing immune-mediated disease, a much better understanding about how regulatory immune responses can be locally and temporarily modulated to enhance vaccine-induced immune responses may be of significant benefit.

The regulation of Th1 cell responses during protozoan infections is clearly important to ensure both sufficient generation of inflammatory mediators to control parasite growth, as well as to prevent excessive production of these molecules in sensitive tissue sites. IL-10 has emerged as an important regulator of these responses, both produced in a highly regulated manner by Th1 cells themselves, as well as parasite-activated innate immune cells. However, IL-10 is not alone in this activity, and alternative mechanisms of Th1 cell regulation have been identified. Our challenge remains to fully define these mechanisms of Th1 cell regulation and to use this knowledge to improve therapeutic options and vaccine efficacy. Research in protozoan infections of both mice and humans is ideally placed to identify broad mechanisms of immune regulation that are relevant not only to parasitic infections but also for autoimmune and physiological diseases, as well as cancer.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Christian R. Engwerda, Susanna S. Ng, and Patrick T. Bunn all contributed to the planning and research in this paper. Susanna S. Ng conceived and produced both figures, while Christian R. Engwerda and Patrick T. Bunn wrote the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank members of the Engwerda Laboratory at QIMR Berghofer for assistance with researching this paper and for helpful discussions.

REFERENCES

- Janeway CA Jr, Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol (2002) 20:197–216. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.083001.084359
- Banchereau J, Briere F, Caux C, Davoust J, Lebecque S, Liu YJ, et al. Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2000) 18:767–811. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.18.1.767
- Sacks DL. Vaccines against tropical parasitic diseases: a persisting answer to a persisting problem. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:403–5. doi:10.1038/ni.2853
- Sakaguchi S, Yamaguchi T, Nomura T, Ono M. Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. *Cell* (2008) 133:775–87. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.009
- Mellor AL, Munn DH. IDO expression by dendritic cells: tolerance and tryptophan catabolism. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2004) 4:762–74. doi:10.1038/nri1457
- Munn DH, Sharma MD, Baban B, Harding HP, Zhang Y, Ron D, et al. GCN2 kinase in T cells mediates proliferative arrest and anergy induction in response to indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase. *Immunity* (2005) 22:633–42. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.03.013
- Fallarino F, Grohmann U, Vacca C, Orabona C, Spreca A, Fioretti MC, et al. T cell apoptosis by kynurenines. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2003) 527:183–90. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-0135-0_21
- Boonstra A, Rajsbaum R, Holman M, Marques R, Asselin-Paturel C, Pereira JP, et al. Macrophages and myeloid dendritic cells, but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells, produce IL-10 in response to MyD88- and TRIF-dependent TLR signals, and TLR-independent signals. J Immunol (2006) 177:7551–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.7551
- Kehrl JH, Wakefield LM, Roberts AB, Jakowlew S, Alvarez-Mon M, Derynck R, et al. Production of transforming growth factor beta by human T lymphocytes and its potential role in the regulation of T cell growth. *J Exp Med* (1986) 163:1037–50. doi:10.1084/jem.163.5.1037
- Shull MM, Ormsby I, Kier AB, Pawlowski S, Diebold RJ, Yin M, et al. Targeted disruption of the mouse transforming growth factor-beta 1 gene results in multifocal inflammatory disease. *Nature* (1992) 359:693–9. doi:10.1038/ 359693a0
- Mizoguchi A, Mizoguchi E, Takedatsu H, Blumberg RS, Bhan AK. Chronic intestinal inflammatory condition generates IL-10-producing regulatory B cell subset characterized by CD1d upregulation. *Immunity* (2002) 16:219–30. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00274-1
- Owens BM, Beattie L, Moore JW, Brown N, Mann JL, Dalton JE, et al. IL-10producing Th1 cells and disease progression are regulated by distinct CD11c(+) cell populations during visceral leishmaniasis. *PLoS Pathog* (2012) 8:e1002827. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002827
- Svensson M, Maroof A, Ato M, Kaye PM. Stromal cells direct local differentiation of regulatory dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2004) 21:805–16. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2004.10.012
- Wong KA, Rodriguez A. Plasmodium infection and endotoxic shock induce the expansion of regulatory dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2008) 180:716–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.2.716
- Sheel M, Engwerda CR. The diverse roles of monocytes in inflammation caused by protozoan parasitic diseases. *Trends Parasitol* (2012) 28:408–16. doi:10.1016/j.pt.2012.07.008
- Van Dyken SJ, Locksley RM. Interleukin-4- and interleukin-13-mediated alternatively activated macrophages: roles in homeostasis and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2013) 31:317–43. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095906

- Leon B, Lopez-Bravo M, Ardavin C. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells formed at the infection site control the induction of protective T helper 1 responses against *Leishmania*. *Immunity* (2007) 26:519–31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007. 01.017
- Sato N, Kuziel WA, Melby PC, Reddick RL, Kostecki V, Zhao W, et al. Defects in the generation of IFN-gamma are overcome to control infection with *Leishmania donovani* in CC chemokine receptor (CCR) 5-, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha-, or CCR2-deficient mice. *J Immunol* (1999) 163:5519–25.
- Bosschaerts T, Guilliams M, Stijlemans B, Morias Y, Engel D, Tacke F, et al. Tip-DC development during parasitic infection is regulated by IL-10 and requires CCL2/CCR2, IFN-gamma and MyD88 signaling. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6:e1001045. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001045
- Guilliams M, Movahedi K, Bosschaerts T, VandenDriessche T, Chuah MK, Herin M, et al. IL-10 dampens TNF/inducible nitric oxide synthase-producing dendritic cell-mediated pathogenicity during parasitic infection. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:1107–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.2.1107
- Modolell M, Choi BS, Ryan RO, Hancock M, Titus RG, Abebe T, et al. Local suppression of T cell responses by arginase-induced L-arginine depletion in nonhealing leishmaniasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2009) 3:e480. doi:10.1371/journal. pntd.0000480
- El Kasmi KC, Qualls JE, Pesce JT, Smith AM, Thompson RW, Henao-Tamayo M, et al. Toll-like receptor-induced arginase 1 in macrophages thwarts effective immunity against intracellular pathogens. *Nat Immunol* (2008) **9**:1399–406. doi:10.1038/ni.1671
- Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* (1995) 155:1151–64.
- Shevach EM, DiPaolo RA, Andersson J, Zhao DM, Stephens GL, Thornton AM. The lifestyle of naturally occurring CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 212:60–73. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00415.x
- O'Garra A, Vieira PL, Vieira P, Goldfeld AE. IL-10-producing and naturally occurring CD4+ Tregs: limiting collateral damage. J Clin Invest (2004) 114:1372–8. doi:10.1172/JCI200423215
- Chen Y, Kuchroo VK, Inobe J, Hafler DA, Weiner HL. Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Science* (1994) 265:1237–40. doi:10.1126/science.7520605
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. *J Exp Med* (2003) **198**:1875–86. doi:10.1084/jem.20030152
- Belkaid Y. Regulatory T cells and infection: a dangerous necessity. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:875–88. doi:10.1038/nri2189
- Pandiyan P, Zheng L, Ishihara S, Reed J, Lenardo MJ. CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1353–62. doi:10.1038/ni1536
- Chaudhry A, Rudra D, Treuting P, Samstein RM, Liang Y, Kas A, et al. CD4+ regulatory T cells control TH17 responses in a Stat3-dependent manner. *Science* (2009) 326:986–91. doi:10.1126/science.1172702
- Koch MA, Tucker-Heard G, Perdue NR, Killebrew JR, Urdahl KB, Campbell DJ. The transcription factor T-bet controls regulatory T cell homeostasis and function during type 1 inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:595–602. doi:10.1038/ni.1731
- 32. Linterman MA, Pierson W, Lee SK, Kallies A, Kawamoto S, Rayner TF, et al. Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat Med* (2011) 17:975–82. doi:10.1038/nm.2425
- 33. Zheng Y, Chaudhry A, Kas A, deRoos P, Kim JM, Chu TT, et al. Regulatory T-cell suppressor program co-opts transcription factor IRF4 to control T(H)2 responses. *Nature* (2009) 458:351–6. doi:10.1038/nature07674
- Liston A, Gray DH. Homeostatic control of regulatory T cell diversity. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14:154–65. doi:10.1038/nri3605
- 35. Hall AO, Beiting DP, Tato C, John B, Oldenhove G, Lombana CG, et al. The cytokines interleukin 27 and interferon-gamma promote distinct Treg cell populations required to limit infection-induced pathology. *Immunity* (2012) 37:511–23. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.06.014
- Belkaid Y, Piccirillo CA, Mendez S, Shevach EM, Sacks DL. CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells control *Leishmania major* persistence and immunity. *Nature* (2002) 420:502–7. doi:10.1038/nature01152

- Suffia IJ, Reckling SK, Piccirillo CA, Goldszmid RS, Belkaid Y. Infected siterestricted Foxp3+ natural regulatory T cells are specific for microbial antigens. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:777–88. doi:10.1084/jem.20052056
- Hisaeda H, Maekawa Y, Iwakawa D, Okada H, Himeno K, Kishihara K, et al. Escape of malaria parasites from host immunity requires CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Med* (2004) 10:29–30. doi:10.1038/nm975
- Walther M, Tongren JE, Andrews L, Korbel D, King E, Fletcher H, et al. Upregulation of TGF-beta, FOXP3, and CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells correlates with more rapid parasite growth in human malaria infection. *Immunity* (2005) 23:287–96. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.08.006
- Couper KN, Blount DG, de Souza JB, Suffa I, Belkaid Y, Riley EM. Incomplete depletion and rapid regeneration of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells following anti-CD25 treatment in malaria-infected mice. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:4136–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4136
- Amante FH, Stanley AC, Randall LM, Zhou Y, Haque A, McSweeney K, et al. A role for natural regulatory T cells in the pathogenesis of experimental cerebral malaria. *Am J Pathol* (2007) 171:548–59. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.061033
- Nie CQ, Bernard NJ, Schofield L, Hansen DS. CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress CD4+ T-cell function and inhibit the development of *Plasmodium* berghei-specific TH1 responses involved in cerebral malaria pathogenesis. *Infect Immun* (2007) **75**:2275–82. doi:10.1128/IAI.01783-06
- 43. Vigario AM, Gorgette O, Dujardin HC, Cruz T, Cazenave PA, Six A, et al. Regulatory CD4+ CD25+ Foxp3+ T cells expand during experimental *Plasmodium* infection but do not prevent cerebral malaria. *Int J Parasitol* (2007) **37**:963–73. doi:10.1016/j.ijpara.2007.01.004
- Lahl K, Loddenkemper C, Drouin C, Freyer J, Arnason J, Eberl G, et al. Selective depletion of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induces a scurfy-like disease. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204:57–63. doi:10.1084/jem.20061852
- 45. Haque A, Best SE, Amante FH, Mustafah S, Desbarrieres L, de Labastida F, et al. CD4+ natural regulatory T cells prevent experimental cerebral malaria via CTLA-4 when expanded in vivo. *PLoS Pathog* (2010) 6:e1001221. doi:10. 1371/journal.ppat.1001221
- 46. Steeg C, Adler G, Sparwasser T, Fleischer B, Jacobs T. Limited role of CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in the control of experimental cerebral malaria. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:7014–22. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901422
- O'Garra A, Vieira P. T(H)1 cells control themselves by producing interleukin-10. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7:425–8. doi:10.1038/nri2097
- Saraiva M, O'Garra A. The regulation of IL-10 production by immune cells. Nat Rev Immunol (2010) 10:170–81. doi:10.1038/nri2711
- Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. *J Exp Med* (1989) 170:2081–95. doi:10.1084/jem.170.6.2081
- Meyaard L, Hovenkamp E, Otto SA, Miedema F. IL-12-induced IL-10 production by human T cells as a negative feedback for IL-12-induced immune responses. *J Immunol* (1996) 156:2776–82.
- 51. Yssel H, De Waal Malefyt R, Roncarolo MG, Abrams JS, Lahesmaa R, Spits H, et al. IL-10 is produced by subsets of human CD4+ T cell clones and peripheral blood T cells. *J Immunol* (1992) 149:2378–84.
- Groux H, O'Garra A, Bigler M, Rouleau M, Antonenko S, de Vries JE, et al. A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses and prevents colitis. *Nature* (1997) 389:737–42. doi:10.1038/39614
- Stumhofer JS, Silver JS, Laurence A, Porrett PM, Harris TH, Turka LA, et al. Interleukins 27 and 6 induce STAT3-mediated T cell production of interleukin 10. Nat Immunol (2007) 8:1363–71. doi:10.1038/ni1537
- 54. Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Feng CG, Goldszmid RS, Collazo CM, Wilson M, et al. Conventional T-bet(+)Foxp3(-) Th1 cells are the major source of hostprotective regulatory IL-10 during intracellular protozoan infection. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204:273–83. doi:10.1084/jem.20062175
- Anderson CF, Oukka M, Kuchroo VJ, Sacks D. CD4(+)CD25(-)Foxp3(-) Th1 cells are the source of IL-10-mediated immune suppression in chronic cutaneous leishmaniasis. J Exp Med (2007) 204:285–97. doi:10.1084/jem.20061886
- Wilson EH, Wille-Reece U, Dzierszinski F, Hunter CA. A critical role for IL-10 in limiting inflammation during toxoplasmic encephalitis. *J Neuroimmunol* (2005) 165:63–74. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.04.018
- Couper KN, Blount DG, Wilson MS, Hafalla JC, Belkaid Y, Kamanaka M, et al. IL-10 from CD4CD25Foxp3CD127 adaptive regulatory T cells modulates parasite clearance and pathology during malaria infection. *PLoS Pathog* (2008) 4:e1000004. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000004

- do Rosario AP, Lamb T, Spence P, Stephens R, Lang A, Roers A, et al. IL-27 promotes IL-10 production by effector Th1 CD4+ T cells: a critical mechanism for protection from severe immunopathology during malaria infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:1178–90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1102755
- Reed SG, Brownell CE, Russo DM, Silva JS, Grabstein KH, Morrissey PJ. IL-10 mediates susceptibility to *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J Immunol* (1994) 153:3135–40.
- Roffe E, Rothfuchs AG, Santiago HC, Marino AP, Ribeiro-Gomes FL, Eckhaus M, et al. IL-10 limits parasite burden and protects against fatal myocarditis in a mouse model of *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:649–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003845
- Namangala B, Noel W, De Baetselier P, Brys L, Beschin A. Relative contribution of interferon-gamma and interleukin-10 to resistance to murine African trypanosomosis. J Infect Dis (2001) 183:1794–800. doi:10.1086/320731
- Nylen S, Maurya R, Eidsmo L, Manandhar KD, Sundar S, Sacks D. Splenic accumulation of IL-10 mRNA in T cells distinct from CD4+CD25+ (Foxp3) regulatory T cells in human visceral leishmaniasis. *J Exp Med* (2007) **204**:805–17. doi:10.1084/jem.20061141
- 63. Jagannathan P, Eccles-James I, Bowen K, Nankya F, Auma A, Wamala S, et al. IFNgamma/IL-10 co-producing cells dominate the CD4 response to malaria in highly exposed children. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) **10**:e1003864. doi:10.1371/ journal.ppat.1003864
- Portugal S, Moebius J, Skinner J, Doumbo S, Doumtabe D, Kone Y, et al. Exposure-dependent control of malaria-induced inflammation in children. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1004079. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004079
- 65. Gautam S, Kumar R, Maurya R, Nylen S, Ansari N, Rai M, et al. IL-10 neutralization promotes parasite clearance in splenic aspirate cells from patients with visceral leishmaniasis. *J Infect Dis* (2011) **204**:1134–7. doi:10. 1093/infdis/jir461
- 66. Brustoski K, Moller U, Kramer M, Petelski A, Brenner S, Palmer DR, et al. IFN-gamma and IL-10 mediate parasite-specific immune responses of cord blood cells induced by pregnancy-associated Plasmodium falciparum malaria. *J Immunol* (2005) 174:1738–45. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.3.1738
- Walther M, Jeffries D, Finney OC, Njie M, Ebonyi A, Deininger S, et al. Distinct roles for FOXP3 and FOXP3 CD4 T cells in regulating cellular immunity to uncomplicated and severe *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. *PLoS Pathog* (2009) 5:e1000364. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000364
- Moore KW, de Waal Malefyt R, Coffman RL, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2001) 19:683–765. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.683
- Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* (1993) 75:263–74. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(93)80068-P
- Boussiotis VA, Tsai EY, Yunis EJ, Thim S, Delgado JC, Dascher CC, et al. IL-10producing T cells suppress immune responses in anergic tuberculosis patients. *J Clin Invest* (2000) 105:1317–25. doi:10.1172/JCI9918
- Plebanski M, Flanagan KL, Lee EA, Reece WH, Hart K, Gelder C, et al. Interleukin 10-mediated immunosuppression by a variant CD4 T cell epitope of *Plasmodium falciparum*. *Immunity* (1999) 10:651–60. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80064-3
- 72. Ha SJ, West EE, Araki K, Smith KA, Ahmed R. Manipulating both the inhibitory and stimulatory immune system towards the success of therapeutic vaccination against chronic viral infections. *Immunol Rev* (2008) 223:317–33. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00638.x
- 73. Jin HT, Anderson AC, Tan WG, West EE, Ha SJ, Araki K, et al. Cooperation of Tim-3 and PD-1 in CD8 T-cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:14733–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009731107
- 74. Camisaschi C, Casati C, Rini F, Perego M, De Filippo A, Triebel F, et al. LAG-3 expression defines a subset of CD4(+)CD25(high)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells that are expanded at tumor sites. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:6545–51. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903879
- 75. Sing A, Rost D, Tvardovskaia N, Roggenkamp A, Wiedemann A, Kirschning CJ, et al. Yersinia V-antigen exploits toll-like receptor 2 and CD14 for interleukin 10-mediated immunosuppression. *J Exp Med* (2002) **196**:1017–24. doi:10.1084/jem.20020908
- Ouyang W, Rutz S, Crellin NK, Valdez PA, Hymowitz SG. Regulation and functions of the IL-10 family of cytokines in inflammation and disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2011) 29:71–109. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101312

- 77. Awasthi A, Carrier Y, Peron JP, Bettelli E, Kamanaka M, Flavell RA, et al. A dominant function for interleukin 27 in generating interleukin 10producing anti-inflammatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1380–9. doi:10. 1038/ni1541
- Fitzgerald DC, Zhang GX, El-Behi M, Fonseca-Kelly Z, Li H, Yu S, et al. Suppression of autoimmune inflammation of the central nervous system by interleukin 10 secreted by interleukin 27-stimulated T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:1372–9. doi:10.1038/ni1540
- 79. Yoshida H, Nakaya M, Miyazaki Y. Interleukin 27: a double-edged sword for offense and defense. J Leukoc Biol (2009) 86:1295–303. doi:10.1189/ jlb.0609445
- Pot C, Jin H, Awasthi A, Liu SM, Lai CY, Madan R, et al. Cutting edge: IL-27 induces the transcription factor c-Maf, cytokine IL-21, and the costimulatory receptor ICOS that coordinately act together to promote differentiation of IL-10-producing Tr1 cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:797–801. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901233
- Spolski R, Kim HP, Zhu W, Levy DE, Leonard WJ. IL-21 mediates suppressive effects via its induction of IL-10. J Immunol (2009) 182:2859–67. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802978
- Pflanz S, Hibbert L, Mattson J, Rosales R, Vaisberg E, Bazan JF, et al. WSX-1 and glycoprotein 130 constitute a signal-transducing receptor for IL-27. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:2225–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.4.2225
- 83. Pflanz S, Timans JC, Cheung J, Rosales R, Kanzler H, Gilbert J, et al. IL-27, a heterodimeric cytokine composed of EBI3 and p28 protein, induces proliferation of naive CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* (2002) 16:779–90. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00324-2
- Jones SA. Directing transition from innate to acquired immunity: defining a role for IL-6. J Immunol (2005) 175:3463–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.6.3463
- Jones SA, Richards PJ, Scheller J, Rose-John S. IL-6 transsignaling: the in vivo consequences. J Interferon Cytokine Res (2005) 25:241–53. doi:10.1089/jir.2005. 25.241
- 86. Apetoh L, Quintana FJ, Pot C, Joller N, Xiao S, Kumar D, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor interacts with c-Maf to promote the differentiation of type 1 regulatory T cells induced by IL-27. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:854–61. doi:10.1038/ni.1912
- Xu J, Yang Y, Qiu G, Lal G, Wu Z, Levy DE, et al. c-Maf regulates IL-10 expression during Th17 polarization. J Immunol (2009) 182:6226–36. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900123
- Carrier Y, Whitters MJ, Miyashiro JS, LaBranche TP, Ramon HE, Benoit SE, et al. Enhanced GITR/GITRL interactions augment IL-27 expression and induce IL-10-producing Tr-1 like cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42:1393–404. doi:10.1002/eji.201142162
- Stumhofer JS, Tait ED, Quinn WJ III, Hosken N, Spudy B, Goenka R, et al. A role for IL-27p28 as an antagonist of gp130-mediated signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:1119–26. doi:10.1038/ni.1957
- Findlay EG, Greig R, Stumhofer JS, Hafalla JC, de Souza JB, Saris CJ, et al. Essential role for IL-27 receptor signaling in prevention of Th1-mediated immunopathology during malaria infection. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:2482–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904019
- Anderson CF, Stumhofer JS, Hunter CA, Sacks D. IL-27 regulates IL-10 and IL-17 from CD4+ cells in nonhealing *Leishmania major* infection. *J Immunol* (2009) 183:4619–27. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0804024
- 92. Ansari NA, Kumar R, Gautam S, Nylen S, Singh OP, Sundar S, et al. IL-27 and IL-21 are associated with T cell IL-10 responses in human visceral leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* (2011) **186**:3977–85. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003588
- Cretney E, Xin A, Shi W, Minnich M, Masson F, Miasari M, et al. The transcription factors Blimp-1 and IRF4 jointly control the differentiation and function of effector regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12:304–11. doi:10.1038/ni.2006
- 94. Iwasaki Y, Fujio K, Okamura T, Yanai A, Sumitomo S, Shoda H, et al. Egr-2 transcription factor is required for Blimp-1-mediated IL-10 production in IL-27-stimulated CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:1063–73. doi:10.1002/eji.201242942
- 95. Neumann C, Heinrich F, Neumann K, Junghans V, Mashreghi MF, Ahlers J, et al. Role of Blimp-1 in programing Th effector cells into IL-10 producers. *J Exp Med* (2014) 211:1807–19. doi:10.1084/jem.20131548
- 96. Okamura T, Fujio K, Shibuya M, Sumitomo S, Shoda H, Sakaguchi S, et al. CD4+CD25-LAG3+ regulatory T cells controlled by the transcription factor

Egr-2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009) 106:13974–9. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0906872106

- 97. Kassner N, Krueger M, Yagita H, Dzionek A, Hutloff A, Kroczek R, et al. Cutting edge: plasmacytoid dendritic cells induce IL-10 production in T cells via the delta-like-4/Notch axis. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:550–4. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0903152
- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci (1957) 147:258–67. doi:10.1098/rspb.1957.0049
- Isaacs A, Lindenmann J, Valentine RC. Virus interference. II. Some properties of interferon. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (1957) 147:268–73. doi:10.1098/rspb. 1957.0049
- 100. Lopez R, Demick KP, Mansfield JM, Paulnock DM. Type I IFNs play a role in early resistance, but subsequent susceptibility, to the African trypanosomes. *J Immunol* (2008) 181:4908–17. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.181.7.4908
- 101. Chessler AD, Caradonna KL, Da'dara A, Burleigh BA. Type I interferons increase host susceptibility to *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. *Infect Immun* (2011) **79**:2112–9. doi:10.1128/IAI.01176-10
- 102. Liehl P, Zuzarte-Luis V, Chan J, Zillinger T, Baptista F, Carapau D, et al. Host-cell sensors for *Plasmodium* activate innate immunity against liver-stage infection. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:47–53. doi:10.1038/nm.3424
- 103. Haque A, Best SE, Ammerdorffer A, Desbarrieres L, de Oca MM, Amante FH, et al. Type I interferons suppress CD4(+) T-cell-dependent parasite control during blood-stage *Plasmodium* infection. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41:2688–98. doi:10.1002/eji.201141539
- 104. Sharma S, DeOliveira RB, Kalantari P, Parroche P, Goutagny N, Jiang Z, et al. Innate immune recognition of an AT-rich stem-loop DNA motif in the *Plasmodium falciparum* genome. *Immunity* (2011) 35:194–207. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2011.05.016
- 105. Haque A, Best SE, Montes de Oca M, James KR, Ammerdorffer A, Edwards CL, et al. Type I IFN signaling in CD8– DCs impairs Th1-dependent malaria immunity. J Clin Invest (2014) 124:2483–96. doi:10.1172/JCI70698
- 106. Butler NS, Harris TH, Blader IJ. Regulation of immunopathogenesis during *Plasmodium* and *Toxoplasma* infections: more parallels than distinctions? *Trends Parasitol* (2013) 29:593–602. doi:10.1016/j.pt.2013.10.002
- de Kossodo S, Grau GE. Profiles of cytokine production in relation with susceptibility to cerebral malaria. J Immunol (1993) 151:4811–20.
- Buzoni-Gatel D, Debbabi H, Mennechet FJ, Martin V, Lepage AC, Schwartzman JD, et al. Murine ileitis after intracellular parasite infection is controlled by TGF-beta-producing intraepithelial lymphocytes. *Gastroenterology* (2001) 120:914–24. doi:10.1053/gast.2001.22432a
- 109. Li MO, Flavell RA. TGF-beta: a master of all T cell trades. *Cell* (2008) 134:392–404. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.025
- 110. Aliberti J, Hieny S, Reis e Sousa C, Serhan CN, Sher A. Lipoxin-mediated inhibition of IL-12 production by DCs: a mechanism for regulation of microbial immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2002) 3:76–82. doi:10.1038/ni745
- 111. Aliberti J, Serhan C, Sher A. Parasite-induced lipoxin A4 is an endogenous regulator of IL-12 production and immunopathology in *Toxoplasma gondii* infection. J Exp Med (2002) 196:1253–62. doi:10.1084/jem.20021183
- 112. Kugler DG, Mittelstadt PR, Ashwell JD, Sher A, Jankovic D. CD4+ T cells are trigger and target of the glucocorticoid response that prevents lethal immunopathology in toxoplasma infection. *J Exp Med* (2013) **210**:1919–27. doi:10.1084/jem.20122300
- 113. Gazzinelli RT, Wysocka M, Hieny S, Scharton-Kersten T, Cheever A, Kuhn R, et al. In the absence of endogenous IL-10, mice acutely infected with *Toxoplasma gondii* succumb to a lethal immune response dependent on CD4+ T cells and accompanied by overproduction of IL-12, IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha. *J Immunol* (1996) **157**:798–805.
- 114. Amante FH, Haque A, Stanley AC, Rivera Fde L, Randall LM, Wilson YA, et al. Immune-mediated mechanisms of parasite tissue sequestration during experimental cerebral malaria. *J Immunol* (2010) **185**:3632–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000944
- 115. Moore AC, Gallimore A, Draper SJ, Watkins KR, Gilbert SC, Hill AV. Anti-CD25 antibody enhancement of vaccine-induced immunogenicity: increased durable cellular immunity with reduced immunodominance. *J Immunol* (2005) 175:7264–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7264
- 116. Stober CB, Lange UG, Roberts MT, Alcami A, Blackwell JM. IL-10 from regulatory T cells determines vaccine efficacy in murine *Leishmania major* infection. *J Immunol* (2005) **175**:2517–24. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.4.2517

117. Shaw MH, Freeman GJ, Scott MF, Fox BA, Bzik DJ, Belkaid Y, et al. Tyk2 negatively regulates adaptive Th1 immunity by mediating IL-10 signaling and promoting IFN-gamma-dependent IL-10 reactivation. *J Immunol* (2006) **176**:7263–71. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.12.7263

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 August 2014; paper pending published: 08 September 2014; accepted: 25 September 2014; published online: 13 October 2014.

Citation: Engwerda CR, Ng SS and Bunn PT (2014) The regulation of CD4⁺ T cell responses during protozoan infections. Front. Immunol. 5:498. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00498

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Engwerda, Ng and Bunn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Plasticity of human CD4 T cell subsets

Jens Geginat *, Moira Paroni, Stefano Maglie, Johanna Sophie Alfen, Ilko Kastirr, Paola Gruarin, Marco De Simone, Massimiliano Pagani and Sergio Abrignani *

Fondazione Istituto Nazionale di Genetica Molecolare "Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi" INGM, Milan, Italy

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA

Reviewed by:

António Gil Castro, University of Minho, Portugal Toshinori Nakayama, Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

*Correspondence:

Jens Geginat and Sergio Abrignani, Fondazione Istituto Nazionale di Genetica Molecolare "Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi" INGM, Via Sforza 35, Milano 20122, Italy e-mail: geginat@ingm.org; abrignani@ingm.org Human beings are exposed to a variety of different pathogens, which induce tailored immune responses and consequently generate highly diverse populations of pathogenspecific T cells. CD4⁺ T cells have a central role in adaptive immunity, since they provide essential help for both cytotoxic T cell- and antibody-mediated responses. In addition, CD4⁺ regulatory T cells are required to maintain self-tolerance and to inhibit immune responses that could damage the host. Initially, two subsets of CD4⁺ helper T cells were identified that secrete characteristic effector cytokines and mediate responses against different types of pathogens, i.e., IFN-y secreting Th1 cells that fight intracellular pathogens, and IL-4 producing Th2 cells that target extracellular parasites. It is now well established that this dichotomy is insufficient to describe the complexity of CD4⁺ T cell differentiation, and in particular the human CD4 compartment contains a myriad of T cell subsets with characteristic capacities to produce cytokines and to home to involved tissues. Moreover, it has become increasingly clear that these T cell subsets are not all terminally differentiated cells, but that the majority is plastic and that in particular central memory T cells can acquire different properties and functions in secondary immune responses. In addition, there is compelling evidence that helper T cells can acquire regulatory functions upon chronic stimulation in inflamed tissues. The plasticity of antigen-experienced human T cell subsets is highly relevant for translational medicine, since it opens new perspectives for immune-modulatory therapies for chronic infections, autoimmune diseases, and cancer.

Keywords: CD4T cells, cytokines, differentiation, tissue homing, plasticity

INTRODUCTION

Human CD4⁺ T cells are critical regulators of the immune system, as drastically demonstrated by HIV-infected individuals that develop susceptibility to opportunistic infections and cancer when virus-dependent depletion reduces CD4⁺ T cell counts below critical thresholds (1). CD4⁺ T cells are very heterogeneous in human adults, because they have been generated in response to a high number of different pathogens and belong to a progressively increasing number of different subsets with specialized functions (2). Helper T cell subsets are defined by the production of cytokines and/or the expression of characteristic lineage-defining transcription factors (Table 1). Five principal subsets or lineages of CD4⁺ T cells have been identified so far: T helper (Th)1, Th2, and Th17 cells that target specific classes of pathogens (3-5), regulatory T cells that are required to maintain self-tolerance (6) and follicular helper T cells (T_{FH}) that provide help to B cells for antibody production (7). Heterogeneity is generated upon T cell priming, since naïve T cells have stemcell-like properties and can differentiate into virtually all different types of effector, memory, or regulatory cells (Table 1). Antigenexperienced T cells are less flexible, but many subsets retain some plasticity and can acquire additional cytokine producing capacities upon antigenic re-stimulation, while others appear to be terminally differentiated (8). In some cases, T cell functions can even completely change from helper to regulatory functions (9) or vice versa (10). A caveat of these findings in particular in humans is the enormous heterogeneity of T cells (2), making it difficult to

exclude a selective outgrowth of rare pre-existing precursor cells. Several excellent reviews on the plasticity of mouse T cells have been published in recent years (11–13), while human T cell plasticity is less understood, but highly relevant for new therapeutic strategies in immune-mediated diseases (14).

TERMINALLY DIFFERENTIATED TH1 AND TH2 EFFECTOR CELLS: THE TIP OF THE ICEBERG

Seminal studies have established that CD4⁺ T cells can differentiate into two types of effector cells with different cytokine producing capacities and functions in humans and mice (3, 4). Uncommitted naïve T cells that are activated by specialized dendritic cells that produce IL-12 (15, 16) acquire IFN-y producing capacities. These so-called T helper 1 cells (Th1) are induced upon infections with intracellular pathogens like bacteria or viruses and can activate macrophages to destroy intracellular bacteria. In contrast, naïve T cells primed in the presence of IL-4 undergo a different fate and start to produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13, but not IFN- γ . These Th2 cells are required to fight extracellular parasites like helminths, but since they induce IgE from B cells they are also involved in allergies (17). Importantly, it was shown that Th1 versus Th2 differentiation was a crucial decision to resist infections, since BL/6 mice that mount a Th1 response to leishmania were protected, while BALB/c mice that instead induce a Th2 response were highly susceptible (18). The characteristic cytokines produced by Th1 and Th2 cells, IFN-γ, and IL-4, were further shown to inhibit the differentiation to the opposite differentiation lineage and thus

T cell subset	Phenotype	Characteristic cytokines	Characteristic transcription factors	Function
Naïve	CD45RA+CCR7+	IL-2		Precursor cells, protection against new pathogens
T _{CM} (central memory)	CD45RA-CCR7+	IL-2, IL-21		Secondary expansions, help
T _{EM} (effector memory)	CCR7-	IFN-γ, IL-4, IL-5, IL-17		Protection in tissues, help
T _{RM} (tissue-resident memory)	CD103+CD69+	IFN-γ		Immediate protection in tissues
T _{FH} (follicular helper)	CXCR5 ⁺ ICOS ⁺	IL-21	BCL6	B cell help
Th1	CXCR3 ⁺	IFN-γ	T-bet	Protection against intracellular pathogens
Th2	CRTH2 ⁺	IL-4, IL-5, IL-13	GATA-3	Protection against extracellular parasites
Th9	?	IL-9	PU.1	Protection against extracellular parasites
Th17	CCR6 ⁺ CD161 ⁺	IL-17, IL-22, IL-26	RORC2	Protection against extracellular bacteria and fungi
Treg	CD25+CD127-	TGF-β	FOXP3	Maintenance of self-tolerance
Tr1 (type 1 regulatory) CD25 ⁻ CD127 ⁻ or CD49b ⁺ LAG3 ⁺		IL-10	?	Inhibition of immunopathology

Table 1 Phenotype	e, characteristics and functions of relevant human T cell subsets.
---------------------	--

reinforced the original fate decision. The capacity to produce either IFN- γ or IL-4 is stably imprinted by epigenetic modifications like DNA methylation and histone acetylations, ensuring that the cytokine profile of T helper cells is preserved upon cellular division independently of the inducing polarizing cues (19–21). Moreover, the generation of Th1 and Th2 cells was shown to depend on the "master" transcription factors T-bet and GATA-3, which induced not only the characteristic cytokines of Th1 and Th2 cells, but also inhibited the differentiation to the alternative lineage. Based on this evidence, it was initially assumed that the differentiation to Th1 and Th2 cells are mutually exclusive and irreversible fate decisions.

TH1 AND TH2 CELLS CAN ACQUIRE NEW PROPERTIES AND FUNCTIONS IN SECONDARY OR CHRONIC IMMUNE RESPONSES

Early studies with human T cell clones showed that IFN- γ and IL-4 production were not necessarily two exclusive features, since some T cells co-produced IFN- γ and IL-4 (22). Notably, human Th1 memory cells are responsive to IL-4 stimulation, and acquire IL-4 producing capacities upon TCR stimulation in the presence of IL-4 without losing IFN- γ production *in vitro* (23).

In addition, some T cells in human blood co-express the Th1 and Th2 markers CXCR3 and CCR4 (24) or CRTh2 as well as the lineage-defining transcription factors GATA-3 and T-bet (25). Consistently, it was shown in mice that histones of these transcription factor genes had both repressive and permissive marks in opposing T cell lineages (13, 26). In mice, *in vivo* primed Th2 cells can acquire IFN- γ producing capacities in addition to IL-4 in response to IFN and IL-12 (27), while human blood Th2 cells seem to be less plastic (23). Moreover, the pathogens and the physiological conditions that induce Th1/2 cells in humans and their role in immune responses remain to be fully defined (25).

Another early finding that did not fit well into the fixed Th1/Th2 paradigma was the fact that IL-12 could induce IL-10 in Th1 cell clones (28). IL-10 has potent anti-inflammatory functions and inhibits maturation and T cell stimulatory capacities of APC (29), thus the concomitant expression of both IFN- γ

and IL-10 by T cells was unexpected (30). Later it was shown that IL-10 produced by T-bet+ Th1 cells was required to inhibit lethal immunopathology upon infections with intracellular parasites (31, 32), indicating that IL-10-producing Th1 cells prevent overshooting immune responses and the resulting tissue damage in a negative feedback loop (9). Interestingly, although these IL-10 producing Th1 cells inhibited IL-12 production by APC, they were also able to restrict parasite growth via IFN- γ (31). However, IFN- γ has also been shown to have some negative effects on T cell responses (33, 34), providing a possible alternative explanation for IFN- γ production by regulatory T cells. Importantly, IFN-y/IL-10 co-producing T cells with regulatory functions are present at low frequencies in peripheral blood of healthy donors and respond selectively to persistent pathogens (35), suggesting that similar to their mouse counterparts they inhibit overshooting immune responses in chronic infections. Thus, Th1 cells can switch from pro-inflammatory effector cells to IL-10 producing type 1 regulatory (Tr1)-like T cells (36, 37), and this switch is necessary to maintain the integrity of infected tissues in some infections. Complement receptor stimulation (38), production of IL-27 (39) or IL-12 (28) by myeloid cells (40), or generation of AHR ligands (41) are possible inductive cues, but also chronic or repetitive antigenic stimulation seems to be required to induce IL-10 production in Th1 cells (35, 42, 43). Interestingly, a recent paper suggests that IL-10/IFN- γ co-producing T cells can also be generated from Th17 cells under the influence of IL-12 or IL-27 in mice (44). If IFN-y/IL-10 co-producing regulatory T cells are stably maintained or are short-lived, if they progressively lose IFN- γ production upon chronic stimulation or revert to Th1 cells upon pathogen clearance is currently unclear (Figure 1).

More recently, additional plasticity of Th2 cells was documented. Thus it was shown that T_{FH} cells were derived from Th2 precursor cells in mouse models of helminth infections (45). This finding is relevant for Th2 stability, because T_{FH} cells are professional B helper T cells that secrete IL-21 in B cell follicles, express the transcriptional repressor BCL-6 and are thus distinct from conventional Th1 and Th2 cells (7, 46, 47). Also in human tonsils a fraction of T_{FH} cells express the Th2 marker CRTH2 and



produce IL-4 (48). The relationship of Th1 cells with T_{FH} cells is less clear in particular in humans (49, 50). Some murine T_{FH} cells produce IFN- γ (51), which induces IgG2a production by B cells (52), but T_{FH} cells from human tonsils lack IFN- γ production.

Mouse Th2 cells can also switch from IL-4 to IL-9 production upon stimulation with TGF- β (53). These Th9 cells express the PU.1 transcription factor (54) and can also be directly induced from naïve and memory T cells upon stimulation with TGF- β and IL-4 in humans and mice (55, 56). Th9 cells can have a pro-inflammatory role in allergic asthma (57) and respond to helminth antigens and allergens in humans (58, 59). However, IL-9 induction by TGF- β is not restricted to Th2 cells (60).

Collectively, these findings indicate that both Th1 and Th2 cells can acquire different cytokine producing capacities and functional properties upon antigenic re-stimulation under the influence of cytokines, and are thus much more flexible than originally thought (**Figure 1**).

STABILITY OF FOXP3+ TREGS IS DEBATED

CD25⁺ regulatory T cells are required to maintain self-tolerance. They were first identified in mice (61) and later in humans (62), and the Foxp3 transcription factor was shown to be required for their generation and function (63, 64). Consistently, IPEX patients, who suffer from a devastating autoimmune disease, were found to have mutations in the Foxp3 gene (65). Although so-called natural or thymic Foxp3⁺ Tregs acquire regulatory lineage commitment already upon maturation in the thymus (66), adaptive,

or peripheral Foxp3⁺ Tregs can be induced from mature CD4⁺ helper T cells in the periphery under the influence of TGF- β (67, 68). The transcription factor Helios was proposed to distinguish between these two subsets of natural and induced Foxp3⁺ Treg, but this concept was not confirmed by others (69–71). In humans, CD45RA⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ cells represent a population of *bona fide* "naïve" and thus thymus-derived Tregs, while CD45RA- Tregs are a mixed population that contain antigen-experienced Tregs of both thymic and peripheral origin (72). The stability of Foxp3⁺ Tregs is debated (73). Lineage tracing of Foxp3⁺ T cells in mice has lead to conflicting interpretations, since in several studies only very small fractions of Foxp3⁺ Tregs were found to lose Foxp3 and regulatory functions in vivo (74). In humans, CD45RA+ but not CD45RA⁻ Tregs could be stably expanded in vitro (72, 75), suggesting different stabilities of thymic and peripheric Tregs. However, since human Tregs have to be purified according to surface marker expression, it is difficult to exclude a selective outgrowth of Foxp3⁻ cells or of activated effector T cells that have transiently up-regulated Foxp3 upon stimulation (73).

The functional specialization of Foxp3⁺ Treg is shaped by the tissue microenvironment (76), and the induction of transcription factors characteristic for helper T cell lineages in mice allows Tregs to suppress the corresponding T helper cell responses (74). Thus, STAT3 in Tregs is required to suppress Th17 cells (77), IRF4 to control Th2 responses (78) while Tregs that regulate T_{FH} cells and antibody responses express BCL-6 (79, 80). Foxp3⁺ Tregs also acquire T-bet and IFN- γ producing capacities upon

stimulation with IL-12, and these Th1regs might be specialized to suppress Th1 responses (14, 74). Tregs also inhibit anti-tumor CTL responses (81), and interestingly they can acquire cytotoxic properties in tumor-draining lymph nodes in mice (82) and in vitro in humans (83), and tumor-infiltrating Tregs are consequently cytotoxic (84). Similar to helper T cells, Tregs that secrete different types of effector cytokines can be identified according to chemokine receptor expression (2), and these Treg subsets might specifically suppress different types of immune responses (85). Human Foxp 3^+ T cells that produce IL-17 or IFN- γ can be isolated (86, 87), but while IL-17 producing Treg cells were normally suppressive (88), IFN-y producing Tregs had reduced suppressive functions (87). The conditions that induce human Foxp3⁺ Tregs to secrete different effector cytokines and the role of these cells in infections, cancer, and autoimmune diseases remain to be fully established.

HETEROGENEITY AND UNSTABILITY OF TH17 CELLS AND ITS RELEVANCE FOR AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

The discovery of IL-17 producing helper T cells (Th17) in mice (89, 90) and humans (91) and their relative instability (11, 92) has led to a profound re-evaluation of the concept of two terminally differentiated helper T cell subsets. The fact that human CD4⁺ T cells produce IL-17 was known for a long time (93). However, it took a decade to realize that these cells represented an independent differentiation lineage (89, 90), which have unique differentiation requirements and express the lineage-defining transcription factor ROR-yt in mice and RORC2 in humans (94, 95). Th17 cells are important to fight extracellular bacteria and fungi, since patients that lack Th17 cells have uncontrolled infections with Candida albicans (C. albicans) and Staphylococcus aureus (96). The discovery of Th17 cells has been complicated by the fact that T cell differentiation to Th1 and Th17 cells relies on shared components of cytokines and their receptors. Thus, it was known that IL-12p40 and IL-12R\beta1 hetero-dimerize with respectively IL-12p35 and IL-12RB2 to induce Th1 cells, but later it was realized that they can also associate with respectively IL-23p19 and the IL-23R to promote Th17 responses (97). The IL-23/IL-23R pathway is involved in many different autoimmune diseases (98-100) and IL-23-induced Th17 cells are thought play a prominent pathogenic role (101-104). Conversely, the contribution of Th1 cells, which were initially thought to drive autoimmune diseases, is now debated. The requirements for Th17 differentiation are more complex than for Th1 and Th2 cells, because IL-17 production in CD4⁺ T cells can be induced by different cytokine combinations. Initially, TGF-β plus IL-6 was identified in mice (105), while IL-1β, IL-6, and/or IL-23 were proposed in humans (106, 107). The de novo Th17 differentiation is very inefficient in humans, and therefore it was suggested that only a cocktail with all four cytokines induces significant Th17 differentiation (108). Although the role of TGF- β in human Th17 differentiation has been a subject of debate (109), it was shown in mice that TGF- β induces ROR- γ t, while pro-inflammatory cytokines are required to inhibit TGF-\beta-induced Foxp3 expression and thus Treg generation (110). The presence of CD4⁺ T cells co-expressing Foxp3, RORC2, and/or IL-17 in humans is consistent with a role for TGF-B in human Th17 and Treg development (86, 88). An alternative explanation for the positive role of TGF- β in Th17 differentiation is that TGF- β indirectly favors Th17 cell differentiation by inhibiting Th1 cell development (111). Indeed, in the absence of TGF- β 1 (106, 107, 112), or in the presence of TGF- β 3 in mice (113), pathogenic Th17 cells that co-produce IL-17 and IFN- γ are generated. These Th1/17 cells co-express RORC2 and T-bet, are enriched in autoimmune patients and are specific for both Th1 and Th17-inducing pathogens (114, 115).

In vitro stability experiments and fate reporter mice suggested that Th17 cells are partially unstable and can switch completely from IL-17 producing Th17 to IFN- γ producing Th1 cells in chronic immune responses (92, 116). IL-12 can induce this Th17to-Th1 switch (117), and CD161 was proposed as a marker that distinguishes these ex-Th17 cells from conventional Th1 cells in humans (118). However, *ex vivo* isolated human Th17 cells exhibited stable epigenetic marks at cytokine and transcription factor loci (119), suggesting that *in vivo* generated human Th17 cells are not necessarily unstable. Finally, also a very rare population of human T cells that co-produces IL-17 and IL-4 was identified (120). These Th2/17 cells were proposed to be highly pro-inflammatory in allergic asthma, but their role in immune responses against pathogens remains to be understood.

Th17 cells are highly heterogeneous and produce several effector cytokines besides IL-17. IL-22, a cytokine that promotes epithelial proliferation and barrier function (121), is produced by some Th17 cells (122, 123), and IL-22 and IL-17 co-operate to control gram-negative bacteria in the lung (124). However, a subset of human skin-homing IL-22 producing cells was identified that were distinct from Th17 cells (125, 126). Indeed, in contrast to IL-17, IL-22 is inhibited by TGF- β (127) and thus how Th17 cells acquire IL-22 producing capacities and if they can even switch from IL-17 to IL-22 production is unclear. Some Th17 and Th22 cells also produce IL-26, a pro-inflammatory cytokine that is not expressed in mice (128) and that also acts selectively on non-hematopoietic cells. A particular relevant cytokine in the pathogenesis of experimental autoimmunity is GM-CSF, which is induced by IL-1β, IL-23, and ROR-yt in mice (102, 129). Conversely, GM-CSF is inhibited by IL-1ß and IL-23 in humans, and is produced by both Th1 and Th17 cells (130, 131).

Th17 cells also produce high levels of IL-21. IL-6 induces IL-21 in naive T cells upon priming (132), and IL-21 can induce its own expression (133) and promotes Th17 differentiation in an autocrine manner (131, 134–136). Importantly however, IL-21 inhibits GM-CSF and IFN- γ production and promotes instead IL-10 secretion in developing Th17 cells. Consequently, IL-21 promotes the generation of conventional (137) or regulatory Th17 cells (138), but inhibits the generation of pathogenic Th1/17 cells (131). Finally, a subset of skin-homing T cells produces IL-9 and responds to *C. albicans* (139). Some of these cells co-produce IL-9 and IL-17 (60), while others appear to represent Th9 cells. IL-9 production seems however to be transient, suggesting that these skin-homing Th9 cells are largely unstable (139).

In summary, the current knowledge indicates that human Th17 cells are highly heterogeneous and partially unstable (**Figure 2**), and much remains to be learned on the role of different Th17 subsets in immune-mediated diseases.



are highly heterogeneous and produce various types of other cytokines in addition to IL-17, including the Th1 and Th2 marker cytokines IFN- γ and IL-4.

Some IL-17 producing T cells express Foxp3 and/or IL-10 and are suppressive. Moreover, Th17 cells are partially unstable and can become Th1 cells upon chronic inflammation.

REGULATION OF HUMAN T CELL PLASTICITY IN TISSUES: THE NEW FRONTIER

The complex regulation of T helper subsets by cytokines raises the questions where T cells are re-educated and also why this might be important to successfully resist pathogens, since this was a major evolutionary pressure that shaped the human immune system. It was soon realized that stable T cell differentiation often requires repetitive in vitro TCR stimulation in the appropriate cytokine condition, suggesting that immature T cells might be more plastic than more differentiated ones (12, 140). In vivo primed T cells that are at an intermediate stage of differentiation are central memory T cells (T_{CM}), which similar to naïve T cells have maintained the capacity to home to lymph nodes, produce only low levels of effector cytokines, but produce high levels of IL-2 and IL-21 (131), and expand rapidly to generate secondary waves of effector cells (8). Conversely, effector memory T cells (T_{EM}) are more differentiated cells since they produce high levels of effector cytokines and home preferentially to inflamed non-lymphoid tissues (8). Consistent with the view that plasticity is progressively reduced upon T cell differentiation, pre-committed Th1_{CM} cells are more plastic than fully differentiated Th1EM cells, since Th1CM cells generate a substantial population of bona fide Th2 cells upon re-stimulation with IL-4, while Th1_{EM} cells do not revert to Th2 cells, but some acquire IL-4 in addition to IFN-y producing capacities (24). This plasticity requires TCR stimulation, since antigen-independent proliferation with homeostatic cytokines resulted exclusively in the generation of Th1 effector cells (24). Based on these findings it can be speculated that pre-committed T_{CM} cells that cross-react with a different pathogen can be still partially re-educated to a different lineage in lymph nodes, while T_{EM} cells do not easily switch cytokine production, but rather become polyfunctional

(Figure 1). Another example of functional plasticity in lymphoid organs is the generation of follicular Foxp3⁺BCL-6⁺ Tregs, which are specialized Tregs that control B cell responses (79, 80). Also Tregs in non-lymphoid tissues acquire tissue-specific properties that are important for their functions (76). T_{EM} helper cells that are activated by antigen in non-lymphoid tissues can up-regulate CCR7 (141) and home to inflamed lymph nodes (142) where they can influence the secondary immune response and are exposed to a different cytokine milieu. Conversely, tissue-resident memory (T_{RM}) cells have lost sphingosine-1 phosphate receptors and thus also the capacity to re-circulate through the blood to secondary lymphoid organs (143). T_{RM} belong predominantly to the CD8 compartment, but influenza virus-specific CD4⁺ T_{RM} can be identified in the lung of humans and mice (144). If tissueresident CD4⁺ T cells are terminally differentiated effector cells or still possess the plasticity to acquire additional cytokine producing capacities remains to be established (145).

A central organ for the generation of different subsets of Th17 cells is the intestine (146). Thus, upon self-limiting colitis induced by anti-CD3 injections in mice predominantly IL-10 producing Th17 cells with regulatory functions are induced (138). Conversely, under conditions that induce IL-23 in the intestine pathogenic IFN- γ and GM-CSF producing Th17 cells are generated that induce colitis (147, 148). IFN- γ and IL-17 co-producing Th1/17 cells have also been observed in patients with IBD (92), but very little is known about the regulation of Th17 responses in the human intestine. Th1/17 cells that produce IL-17, IFN- γ , and GM-CSF also drive central nervous system (CNS) inflammation in EAE, a standard mouse model of multiple sclerosis (MS) (149). The CNS is separated from pro-inflammatory T cells by the blood–brain barrier (150), but spontaneous JC Virus
re-activations and progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in MS patients treated with anti-VLA-4 antibodies, which block lymphocyte extravasation to the CNS, suggest nevertheless a constant immune surveillance by T cells (151). How the microenvironment of the CNS influences the properties of CD4⁺ T cells is the focus of intensive research in mice, but is largely unknown in humans given the difficulties to analyze T cells in the human CNS.

Thus, accumulating evidence underlines the role of the tissue microenvironment in T cell plasticity, and the identification of tissue-specific factors that control T cell functions is likely to have a major impact on translational medicine.

CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVE

The original concept of two terminally differentiated subsets of Th1 and Th2 cells has been substituted by the view that many different T cell subsets with specific cytokine profiles are required to protect us from the different pathogenic insults that were are continuously exposed to. These various T cell subsets possess different degrees of plasticity to acquire new characteristics and functions in secondary or chronic immune responses. In particular, while the stability of Tregs is debated, it is widely accepted that Th17 cells are largely unstable, although exceptions might exist. In addition, human Th17 cells are highly heterogeneous, but the functions of all these different types of Th17 effector cells in protective immune responses and their roles in autoimmune diseases remain to be understood. Another important but poorly understood aspect of T cell plasticity is how different tissue microenvironments impact on human T cell differentiation and stability. The definition of the relative plasticities or stabilities of human T cell subsets in different tissues is highly relevant for future therapeutic interventions in so different immune-related pathologies as chronic viral infections, cancer, and autoimmune diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Jens Geginat, Massimiliano Pagani, and Sergio Abrignani are supported by the Cariplo foundation and Sergio Abrignani and Massimiliano Pagani by an ERC grant. The INGM is supported by the Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi foundation.

REFERENCES

- Jung AC, Paauw DS. Diagnosing HIV-related disease: using the CD4 count as a guide. J Gen Intern Med (1998) 13(2):131–6. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.1998. 00031.x
- Geginat J, Paroni M, Facciotti F, Gruarin P, Kastirr I, Caprioli F, et al. The CD4-centered universe of human T cell subsets. *Semin Immunol* (2013) 25(4):252–62. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.012
- Mosmann TR, Coffman RL. TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu Rev Immunol* (1989) 7:145–73. doi:10.1146/annurev.iy.07.040189.001045
- Romagnani S. The Th1/Th2 paradigm. Immunol Today (1997) 18(6):263–6. doi:10.1016/S0167-5699(97)80019-9
- Korn T, Oukka M, Kuchroo V, Bettelli E. Th17 cells: effector T cells with inflammatory properties. Semin Immunol (2007) 19(6):362–71. doi:10.1016/j.smim. 2007.10.007
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in immunological tolerance to self and non-self. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(4):345–52. doi:10.1038/ni1178
- Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (TFH). Annu Rev Immunol (2011) 29:621–63. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101400
- Sallusto F, Geginat J, Lanzavecchia A. Central memory and effector memory T cell subsets: function, generation, and maintenance. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2004) 22:745–63. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104702

- O'Garra A, Vieira P. T(H)1 cells control themselves by producing interleukin-10. Nat Rev Immunol (2007) 7(6):425–8. doi:10.1038/nri2097
- Zhou X, Bailey-Bucktrout S, Jeker LT, Bluestone JA. Plasticity of CD4(+) FoxP3(+) T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2009) 21(3):281–5. doi:10.1016/j.coi. 2009.05.007
- Zhou L, Chong MM, Littman DR. Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. *Immunity* (2009) 30(5):646–55. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.05.001
- Zhu J, Paul WE. Heterogeneity and plasticity of T helper cells. *Cell Res* (2010) 20(1):4–12. doi:10.1038/cr.2009.138
- O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**(5969):1098–102. doi:10.1126/ science.1178334
- Kleinewietfeld M, Hafler DA. The plasticity of human Treg and Th17 cells and its role in autoimmunity. *Semin Immunol* (2013) 25(4):305–12. doi:10.1016/j. smim.2013.10.009
- Nizzoli G, Krietsch J, Weick A, Steinfelder S, Facciotti F, Gruarin P, et al. Human CD1c+ dendritic cells secrete high levels of IL-12 and potently prime cytotoxic T cell responses. *Blood* (2013) 122(6):932–42. doi:10.1182/blood-2013-04-495424
- Shortman K, Heath WR. The CD8+ dendritic cell subset. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 234(1):18–31. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896.2009.00870.x
- Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Ying S, Tsicopoulos A, Barkans J, Bentley AM, et al. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. N Engl J Med (1992) 326(5):298–304. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199201303260504
- Guler ML, Gorham JD, Hsieh CS, Mackey AJ, Steen RG, Dietrich WF, et al. Genetic susceptibility to *Leishmania*: IL-12 responsiveness in TH1 cell development [see comments]. *Science* (1996) 271(5251):984–7. doi:10.1126/science. 271.5251.984
- Kanno Y, Vahedi G, Hirahara K, Singleton K, O'Shea JJ. Transcriptional and epigenetic control of T helper cell specification: molecular mechanisms underlying commitment and plasticity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2012) **30**:707–31. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075058
- Allan RS, Zueva E, Cammas F, Schreiber HA, Masson V, Belz GT, et al. An epigenetic silencing pathway controlling T helper 2 cell lineage commitment. *Nature* (2012) 487(7406):249–53. doi:10.1038/nature11173
- 21. Tumes DJ, Onodera A, Suzuki A, Shinoda K, Endo Y, Iwamura C, et al. The polycomb protein Ezh2 regulates differentiation and plasticity of CD4(+) T helper type 1 and type 2 cells. *Immunity* (2013) **39**(5):819–32. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2013.09.012
- 22. Maggi E, Parronchi P, Manetti R, Simonelli C, Piccinni MP, Rugiu FS, et al. Reciprocal regulatory effects of IFN-gamma and IL-4 on the in vitro development of human Th1 and Th2 clones. *J Immunol* (1992) **148**(7): 2142–7.
- Messi M, Giacchetto I, Nagata K, Lanzavecchia A, Natoli G, Sallusto F. Memory and flexibility of cytokine gene expression as separable properties of human T(H)1 and T(H)2 lymphocytes. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(1):78–86. doi:10.1038/ni872
- 24. Rivino L, Messi M, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F, Geginat J. Chemokine receptor expression identifies Pre-T helper (Th)1, Pre-Th2, and nonpolarized cells among human CD4+ central memory T cells. *J Exp Med* (2004) **200**(6):725–35. doi:10.1084/jem.20040774
- 25. Peine M, Rausch S, Helmstetter C, Frohlich A, Hegazy AN, Kuhl AA, et al. Stable T-bet(+)GATA-3(+) Th1/Th2 hybrid cells arise in vivo, can develop directly from naive precursors, and limit immunopathologic inflammation. *PLoS Biol* (2013) **11**(8):e1001633. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio. 1001633
- Wei G, Wei L, Zhu J, Zang C, Hu-Li J, Yao Z, et al. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* (2009) **30**(1):155–67. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.009
- Hegazy AN, Peine M, Helmstetter C, Panse I, Frohlich A, Bergthaler A, et al. Interferons direct Th2 cell reprogramming to generate a stable GATA-3(+)Tbet(+) cell subset with combined Th2 and Th1 cell functions. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):116–28. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.12.004
- 28. Gerosa F, Paganin C, Peritt D, Paiola F, Scupoli MT, Aste-Amezaga M, et al. Interleukin-12 primes human CD4 and CD8 T cell clones for high production of both interferon-gamma and interleukin-10. *J Exp Med* (1996) 183(6):2559–69. doi:10.1084/jem.183.6.2559

- Sabat R, Grutz G, Warszawska K, Kirsch S, Witte E, Wolk K, et al. Biology of interleukin-10. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2010) 21(5):331–44. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.09.002
- 30. Del Prete G, De Carli M, Almerigogna F, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Romagnani S. Human IL-10 is produced by both type 1 helper (Th1) and type 2 helper (Th2) T cell clones and inhibits their antigen-specific proliferation and cytokine production. *J Immunol* (1993) **150**(2):353–60.
- 31. Jankovic D, Kullberg MC, Feng CG, Goldszmid RS, Collazo CM, Wilson M, et al. Conventional T-bet(+)Foxp3(-) Th1 cells are the major source of hostprotective regulatory IL-10 during intracellular protozoan infection. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(2):273–83. doi:10.1084/jem.20062175
- 32. Anderson CF, Oukka M, Kuchroo VJ, Sacks D. CD4(+)CD25(-)Foxp3(-) Th1 cells are the source of IL-10-mediated immune suppression in chronic cutaneous leishmaniasis. J Exp Med (2007) 204(2):285–97. doi:10.1084/jem. 20061886
- 33. Refaeli Y, Van Parijs L, Alexander SI, Abbas AK. Interferon gamma is required for activation-induced death of T lymphocytes. J Exp Med (2002) 196(7):999–1005. doi:10.1084/jem.20020666
- Feuerer M, Eulenburg K, Loddenkemper C, Hamann A, Huehn J. Selflimitation of Th1-mediated inflammation by IFN-gamma. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(5):2857–63. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.5.2857
- Haringer B, Lozza L, Steckel B, Geginat J. Identification and characterization of IL-10/IFN-gamma-producing effector-like T cells with regulatory function in human blood. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(5):1009–17. doi:10.1084/jem. 20082238
- Cope A, Le Friec G, Cardone J, Kemper C. The Th1 life cycle: molecular control of IFN-gamma to IL-10 switching. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32(6):278–86. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.03.010
- Roncarolo MG, Bacchetta R, Bordignon C, Narula S, Levings MK. Type 1 T regulatory cells. *Immunol Rev* (2001) 182:68–79. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001. 1820105.x
- Cardone J, Le Friec G, Vantourout P, Roberts A, Fuchs A, Jackson I, et al. Complement regulator CD46 temporally regulates cytokine production by conventional and unconventional T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(9):862–71. doi:10.1038/ni.1917
- Murugaiyan G, Mittal A, Lopez-Diego R, Maier LM, Anderson DE, Weiner HL. IL-27 is a key regulator of IL-10 and IL-17 production by human CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 183(4):2435–43. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900568
- 40. Ansari NA, Kumar R, Gautam S, Nylen S, Singh OP, Sundar S, et al. IL-27 and IL-21 are associated with T cell IL-10 responses in human visceral leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* (2011) **186**(7):3977–85. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003588
- 41. Gandhi R, Kumar D, Burns EJ, Nadeau M, Dake B, Laroni A, et al. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor induces human type 1 regulatory T cell-like and Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) **11**(9):846–53. doi:10.1038/ni.1915
- 42. Saraiva M, Christensen JR, Veldhoen M, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, O'Garra A. Interleukin-10 production by Th1 cells requires interleukin-12-induced STAT4 transcription factor and ERK MAP kinase activation by high antigen dose. *Immunity* (2009) **31**(2):209–19. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.05.012
- Parish IA, Marshall HD, Staron MM, Lang PA, Brustle A, Chen JH, et al. Chronic viral infection promotes sustained Th1-derived immunoregulatory IL-10 via BLIMP-1. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(8):3455–68. doi:10.1172/JCI66108
- 44. Heinemann C, Heink S, Petermann F, Vasanthakumar A, Rothhammer V, Doorduijn E, et al. IL-27 and IL-12 oppose pro-inflammatory IL-23 in CD4+ T cells by inducing Blimp1. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3770. doi:10.1038/ ncomms4770
- 45. Zaretsky AG, Taylor JJ, King IL, Marshall FA, Mohrs M, Pearce EJ. T follicular helper cells differentiate from Th2 cells in response to helminth antigens. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(5):991–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20090303
- 46. Chtanova T, Tangye SG, Newton R, Frank N, Hodge MR, Rolph MS, et al. T follicular helper cells express a distinctive transcriptional profile, reflecting their role as non-Th1/Th2 effector cells that provide help for B cells. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(1):68–78. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.1.68
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1001–5. doi:10.1126/science.1176676
- Johansson-Lindbom B, Ingvarsson S, Borrebaeck CA. Germinal centers regulate human Th2 development. *J Immunol* (2003) 171(4):1657–66. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.171.4.1657

- Pepper M, Pagan AJ, Igyarto BZ, Taylor JJ, Jenkins MK. Opposing signals from the Bcl6 transcription factor and the interleukin-2 receptor generate T helper 1 central and effector memory cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35(4):583–95. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.009
- Hale JS, Youngblood B, Latner DR, Mohammed AU, Ye L, Akondy RS, et al. Distinct memory CD4+ T cells with commitment to T follicular helper- and T helper 1-cell lineages are generated after acute viral infection. *Immunity* (2013) 38(4):805–17. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.020
- Reinhardt RL, Liang HE, Locksley RM. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(4):385–93. doi:10.1038/ ni.1715
- 52. Croft M, Swain SL. B cell response to T helper cell subsets. II. Both the stage of T cell differentiation and the cytokines secreted determine the extent and nature of helper activity. *J Immunol* (1991) **147**(11):3679–89.
- 53. Veldhoen M, Uyttenhove C, van Snick J, Helmby H, Westendorf A, Buer J, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(12):1341–6. doi:10.1038/ni.1659
- 54. Chang HC, Sehra S, Goswami R, Yao W, Yu Q, Stritesky GL, et al. The transcription factor PU.1 is required for the development of IL-9-producing T cells and allergic inflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(6):527–34. doi:10. 1038/ni.1867
- Putheti P, Awasthi A, Popoola J, Gao W, Strom TB. Human CD4 memory T cells can become CD4+IL-9+ T cells. *PLoS One* (2010) 5(1):e8706. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008706
- 56. Dardalhon V, Awasthi A, Kwon H, Galileos G, Gao W, Sobel RA, et al. IL-4 inhibits TGF-beta-induced Foxp3+ T cells and, together with TGFbeta, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3(-) effector T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(12):1347–55. doi:10.1038/ni.1677
- Staudt V, Bothur E, Klein M, Lingnau K, Reuter S, Grebe N, et al. Interferonregulatory factor 4 is essential for the developmental program of T helper 9 cells. *Immunity* (2010) 33(2):192–202. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.07.014
- Anuradha R, George PJ, Hanna LE, Chandrasekaran V, Kumaran P, Nutman TB, et al. IL-4-, TGF-beta-, and IL-1-dependent expansion of parasite antigenspecific Th9 cells is associated with clinical pathology in human lymphatic filariasis. J Immunol (2013) 191(5):2466–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1300911
- Xie J, Lotoski LC, Chooniedass R, Su RC, Simons FE, Liem J, et al. Elevated antigen-driven IL-9 responses are prominent in peanut allergic humans. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(10):e45377. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045377
- Beriou G, Bradshaw EM, Lozano E, Costantino CM, Hastings WD, Orban T, et al. TGF-beta induces IL-9 production from human Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185(1):46–54. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000356
- 61. Sakaguchi S, Sakaguchi N, Asano M, Itoh M, Toda M. Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J Immunol* (1995) **155**(3):1151–64.
- Stephens LA, Mottet C, Mason D, Powrie F. Human CD4(+)CD25(+) thymocytes and peripheral T cells have immune suppressive activity in vitro. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) **31**(4):1247–54. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200104)31:4<1247: :AID-IMMU1247>3.0.CO;2-M
- 63. Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* (2003) **299**(5609):1057–61. doi:10.1126/science.1079490
- Fontenot JD, Rasmussen JP, Williams LM, Dooley JL, Farr AG, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cell lineage specification by the forkhead transcription factor foxp3. *Immunity* (2005) 22(3):329–41. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.01.016
- 65. Gambineri E, Torgerson TR, Ochs HD. Immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, and X-linked inheritance (IPEX), a syndrome of systemic autoimmunity caused by mutations of FOXP3, a critical regulator of T-cell homeostasis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* (2003) 15(4):430–5. doi:10.1097/ 00002281-200307000-00010
- 66. Sakaguchi S, Ono M, Setoguchi R, Yagi H, Hori S, Fehervari Z, et al. Foxp3+ CD25+ CD4+ natural regulatory T cells in dominant self-tolerance and autoimmune disease. *Immunol Rev* (2006) 212:8–27. doi:10.1111/j.0105-2896. 2006.00427.x
- 67. Fantini MC, Becker C, Tubbe I, Nikolaev A, Lehr HA, Galle P, et al. Transforming growth factor beta induced FoxP3+ regulatory T cells suppress Th1 mediated experimental colitis. *Gut* (2006) 55(5):671–80. doi:10.1136/gut.2005.072801

- Tran DQ, Ramsey H, Shevach EM. Induction of FOXP3 expression in naive human CD4+FOXP3 T cells by T-cell receptor stimulation is transforming growth factor-beta dependent but does not confer a regulatory phenotype. *Blood* (2007) 110(8):2983–90. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-06-094656
- Gottschalk RA, Corse E, Allison JP. Expression of Helios in peripherally induced Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol (2012) 188(3):976–80. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1102964
- Himmel ME, MacDonald KG, Garcia RV, Steiner TS, Levings MK. Helios+ and Helios- cells coexist within the natural FOXP3+ T regulatory cell subset in humans. J Immunol (2013) 190(5):2001–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1201379
- 71. Thornton AM, Korty PE, Tran DQ, Wohlfert EA, Murray PE, Belkaid Y, et al. Expression of Helios, an Ikaros transcription factor family member, differentiates thymic-derived from peripherally induced Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(7):3433–41. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0904028
- 72. Hoffmann P, Eder R, Boeld TJ, Doser K, Piseshka B, Andreesen R, et al. Only the CD45RA+ subpopulation of CD4+CD25high T cells gives rise to homogeneous regulatory T-cell lines upon in vitro expansion. *Blood* (2006) **108**(13):4260–7. doi:10.1182/blood-2006-06-027409
- Hori S. Regulatory T cell plasticity: beyond the controversies. *Trends Immunol* (2011) 32(7):295–300. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.04.004
- 74. Sawant DV, Vignali DA. Once a Treg, always a Treg? Immunol Rev (2014) 259(1):173–91. doi:10.1111/imr.12173
- Schmidl C, Hansmann L, Andreesen R, Edinger M, Hoffmann P, Rehli M. Epigenetic reprogramming of the RORC locus during in vitro expansion is a distinctive feature of human memory but not naive Treg. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(5):1491–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201041067
- Burzyn D, Benoist C, Mathis D. Regulatory T cells in nonlymphoid tissues. Nat Immunol (2013) 14(10):1007–13. doi:10.1038/ni.2683
- 77. Chaudhry A, Rudra D, Treuting P, Samstein RM, Liang Y, Kas A, et al. CD4+ regulatory T cells control TH17 responses in a Stat3-dependent manner. *Science* (2009) **326**(5955):986–91. doi:10.1126/science.1172702
- Zheng Y, Chaudhry A, Kas A, deRoos P, Kim JM, Chu TT, et al. Regulatory T-cell suppressor program co-opts transcription factor IRF4 to control T(H)2 responses. *Nature* (2009) 458(7236):351–6. doi:10.1038/nature07674
- 79. Linterman MA, Pierson W, Lee SK, Kallies A, Kawamoto S, Rayner TF, et al. Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):975–82. doi:10.1038/nm.2425
- Chung Y, Tanaka S, Chu F, Nurieva RI, Martinez GJ, Rawal S, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):983–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2426
- Antony PA, Piccirillo CA, Akpinarli A, Finkelstein SE, Speiss PJ, Surman DR, et al. CD8+ T cell immunity against a tumor/self-antigen is augmented by CD4+ T helper cells and hindered by naturally occurring T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2005) 174(5):2591–601. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.5.2591
- Boissonnas A, Scholer-Dahirel A, Simon-Blancal V, Pace L, Valet F, Kissenpfennig A, et al. Foxp3+ T cells induce perforin-dependent dendritic cell death in tumor-draining lymph nodes. *Immunity* (2010) 32(2):266–78. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2009.11.015
- Grossman WJ, Verbsky JW, Tollefsen BL, Kemper C, Atkinson JP, Ley TJ. Differential expression of granzymes A and B in human cytotoxic lymphocyte subsets and T regulatory cells. *Blood* (2004) 104(9):2840–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-03-0859
- 84. Cao X, Cai SF, Fehniger TA, Song J, Collins LI, Piwnica-Worms DR, et al. Granzyme B and perforin are important for regulatory T cell-mediated suppression of tumor clearance. *Immunity* (2007) 27(4):635–46. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2007.08.014
- Duhen T, Duhen R, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F, Campbell DJ. Functionally distinct subsets of human FOXP3+ Treg cells that phenotypically mirror effector Th cells. *Blood* (2012) 119(19):4430–40. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-11-392324
- 86. Ayyoub M, Deknuydt F, Raimbaud I, Dousset C, Leveque L, Bioley G, et al. Human memory FOXP3+ Tregs secrete IL-17 ex vivo and constitutively express the T(H)17 lineage-specific transcription factor RORgamma t. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(21):8635–40. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900621106
- Dominguez-Villar M, Baecher-Allan CM, Hafler DA. Identification of T helper type 1-like, Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in human autoimmune disease. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(6):673–5. doi:10.1038/nm.2389
- Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Arima K, Bover L, et al. Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(12):4793–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900408106

- Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang YH, et al. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(11):1133–41. doi:10.1038/ni1261
- 90. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(11):1123–32. doi:10.1038/ni1254
- Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Rivino L, Geginat J, Jarrossay D, Gattorno M, Lanzavecchia A, et al. Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17-producing T helper memory cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(6):639–46. doi:10.1038/ni1467
- Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, et al. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med (2007) 204(8):1849–61. doi:10.1084/jem.20070663
- Yao Z, Painter SL, Fanslow WC, Ulrich D, Macduff BM, Spriggs MK, et al. Human IL-17: a novel cytokine derived from T cells. *J Immunol* (1995) 155(12):5483–6.
- 94. Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) 126(6):1121–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- 95. Unutmaz D. RORC2: the master of human Th17 cell programming. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**(6):1452–5. doi:10.1002/eji.200939540
- 96. Ma CS, Chew GY, Simpson N, Priyadarshi A, Wong M, Grimbacher B, et al. Deficiency of Th17 cells in hyper IgE syndrome due to mutations in STAT3. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(7):1551–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20080218
- 97. McKenzie BS, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ. Understanding the IL-23-IL-17 immune pathway. *Trends Immunol* (2006) **27**(1):17–23. doi:10.1016/j.it.2005.10.003
- Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. *Science* (2006) 314(5804):1461–3. doi:10.1126/science.1135245
- 99. Sarin R, Wu X, Abraham C. Inflammatory disease protective R381Q IL23 receptor polymorphism results in decreased primary CD4+ and CD8+ human T-cell functional responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) **108**(23):9560–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1017854108
- 100. Nair RP, Duffin KC, Helms C, Ding J, Stuart PE, Goldgar D, et al. Genome-wide scan reveals association of psoriasis with IL-23 and NF-kappaB pathways. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(2):199–204. doi:10.1038/ng.311
- 101. McGeachy MJ, Chen Y, Tato CM, Laurence A, Joyce-Shaikh B, Blumenschein WM, et al. The interleukin 23 receptor is essential for the terminal differentiation of interleukin 17-producing effector T helper cells in vivo. *Nat Immunol* (2009) **10**(3):314–24. doi:10.1038/ni.1698
- 102. El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, et al. The encephalitogenicity of T(H)17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(6):568–75. doi:10.1038/ni.2031
- 103. McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, et al. TGF-beta and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and restrain T(H)-17 cell-mediated pathology. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(12):1390–7. doi:10.1038/ni1539
- 104. Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, et al. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(5):1310–6. doi:10.1172/JCI21404
- 105. Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 24(2):179–89. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.01.001
- 106. Acosta-Rodriguez EV, Napolitani G, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Interleukins 1beta and 6 but not transforming growth factor-beta are essential for the differentiation of interleukin 17-producing human T helper cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):942–9. doi:10.1038/ni1496
- 107. Cosmi L, De Palma R, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Capone M, Frosali F, et al. Human interleukin 17-producing cells originate from a CD161+CD4+ T cell precursor. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(8):1903–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20080397
- 108. Manel N, Unutmaz D, Littman DR. The differentiation of human T(H)-17 cells requires transforming growth factor-beta and induction of the nuclear receptor RORgammat. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(6):641–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1610
- 109. Volpe E, Servant N, Zollinger R, Bogiatzi SI, Hupe P, Barillot E, et al. A critical function for transforming growth factor-beta, interleukin 23 and

proinflammatory cytokines in driving and modulating human T(H)-17 responses. *Nat Immunol* (2008) **9**(6):650–7. doi:10.1038/ni.1613

- 110. Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MM, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, et al. TGFbeta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. *Nature* (2008) **453**(7192):236–40. doi:10.1038/ nature06878
- 111. Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Capone M, Frosali F, Querci V, De Palma R, et al. TGFbeta indirectly favors the development of human Th17 cells by inhibiting Th1 cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2009) **39**(1):207–15. doi:10.1002/eji.200838748
- 112. Ghoreschi K, Laurence A, Yang XP, Tato CM, McGeachy MJ, Konkel JE, et al. Generation of pathogenic T(H)17 cells in the absence of TGF-beta signalling. *Nature* (2010) 467(7318):967–71. doi:10.1038/nature09447
- 113. Lee Y, Awasthi A, Yosef N, Quintana FJ, Xiao S, Peters A, et al. Induction and molecular signature of pathogenic TH17 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(10):991–9. doi:10.1038/ni.2416
- 114. Zielinski CE, Mele F, Aschenbrenner D, Jarrossay D, Ronchi F, Gattorno M, et al. Pathogen-induced human TH17 cells produce IFN-gamma or IL-10 and are regulated by IL-1beta. *Nature* (2012) 484(7395):514–8. doi:10.1038/ nature10957
- 115. Duhen T, Campbell DJ. IL-1beta promotes the differentiation of polyfunctional human CCR6+CXCR3+ Th1/17 cells that are specific for pathogenic and commensal microbes. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(1):120–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1302734
- 116. Hirota K, Duarte JH, Veldhoen M, Hornsby E, Li Y, Cua DJ, et al. Fate mapping of IL-17-producing T cells in inflammatory responses. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(3):255–63. doi:10.1038/ni.1993
- 117. Lexberg MH, Taubner A, Albrecht I, Lepenies I, Richter A, Kamradt T, et al. IFNgamma and IL-12 synergize to convert in vivo generated Th17 into Th1/Th17 cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) **40**(11):3017–27. doi:10.1002/eji.201040539
- 118. Maggi L, Santarlasci V, Capone M, Rossi MC, Querci V, Mazzoni A, et al. Distinctive features of classic and nonclassic (Th17 derived) human Th1 cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42(12):3180–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201242648
- 119. Cohen CJ, Crome SQ, MacDonald KG, Dai EL, Mager DL, Levings MK. Human Th1 and Th17 cells exhibit epigenetic stability at signature cytokine and transcription factor loci. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(11):5615–26. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1101058
- 120. Cosmi L, Maggi L, Santarlasci V, Capone M, Cardilicchia E, Frosali F, et al. Identification of a novel subset of human circulating memory CD4(+) T cells that produce both IL-17A and IL-4. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2010) 125(1):e1–4. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.10.012
- 121. Zenewicz LA, Flavell RA. IL-22 and inflammation: leukin' through a glass onion. *Eur J Immunol* (2008) **38**(12):3265–8. doi:10.1002/eji.200838655
- 122. Liang SC, Tan XY, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, et al. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(10):2271–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20061308
- 123. Ma HL, Liang S, Li J, Napierata L, Brown T, Benoit S, et al. IL-22 is required for Th17 cell-mediated pathology in a mouse model of psoriasis-like skin inflammation. J Clin Invest (2008) 118(2):597–607. doi:10.1172/JCI33263
- 124. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, et al. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(3):275–81. doi:10.1038/nm1710
- 125. Duhen T, Geiger R, Jarrossay D, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. Production of interleukin 22 but not interleukin 17 by a subset of human skin-homing memory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) **10**(8):857–63. doi:10.1038/ni.1767
- 126. Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Tran EH, Crellin NK, Spits H. Identification of a human helper T cell population that has abundant production of interleukin 22 and is distinct from T(H)-17, T(H)1 and T(H)2 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10(8):864–71. doi:10.1038/ni.1770
- 127. Rutz S, Noubade R, Eidenschenk C, Ota N, Zeng W, Zheng Y, et al. Transcription factor c-Maf mediates the TGF-beta-dependent suppression of IL-22 production in T(H)17 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(12):1238–45. doi:10.1038/ni.2134
- 128. Dambacher J, Beigel F, Zitzmann K, De Toni EN, Goke B, Diepolder HM, et al. The role of the novel Th17 cytokine IL-26 in intestinal inflammation. *Gut* (2009) 58(9):1207–17. doi:10.1136/gut.2007.130112
- 129. Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells,

which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(6):560–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2027

- 130. Noster R, Riedel R, Mashreghi MF, Radbruch H, Harms L, Haftmann C, et al. IL-17 and GM-CSF expression are antagonistically regulated by human T helper cells. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(241):241ra80. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008706
- 131. Kastirr I, Maglie S, Paroni M, Alfen JS, Nizzoli G, Sugliano E, et al. IL-21 is a central memory T cell-associated cytokine that inhibits the generation of pathogenic Th1/17 effector cells. *J Immunol* (2014) **193**(7):3322–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400775
- 132. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):967–74. doi:10.1038/ni1488
- 133. Caprioli F, Sarra M, Caruso R, Stolfi C, Fina D, Sica G, et al. Autocrine regulation of IL-21 production in human T lymphocytes. J Immunol (2008) 180(3):1800–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.3.1800
- 134. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, et al. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. *Nature* (2007) 448(7152):480–3. doi:10.1038/nature05969
- 135. Korn T, Bettelli E, Gao W, Awasthi A, Jager A, Strom TB, et al. IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. *Nature* (2007) 448(7152):484–7. doi:10.1038/nature05970
- 136. Yang L, Anderson DE, Baecher-Allan C, Hastings WD, Bettelli E, Oukka M, et al. IL-21 and TGF-beta are required for differentiation of human T(H)17 cells. *Nature* (2008) 454(7202):350–2. doi:10.1038/nature07021
- 137. Peters A, Lee Y, Kuchroo VK. The many faces of Th17 cells. Curr Opin Immunol (2011) 23(6):702–6. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2011.08.007
- Esplugues E, Huber S, Gagliani N, Hauser AE, Town T, Wan YY, et al. Control of TH17 cells occurs in the small intestine. *Nature* (2011) 475(7357):514–8. doi:10.1038/nature10228
- 139. Schlapbach C, Gehad A, Yang C, Watanabe R, Guenova E, Teague JE, et al. Human TH9 cells are skin-tropic and have autocrine and paracrine proinflammatory capacity. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6(219):219ra8. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3007828
- 140. Lohning M, Richter A, Radbruch A. Cytokine memory of T helper lymphocytes. Adv Immunol (2002) 80:115–81. doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(02)80014-1
- 141. Sallusto F, Kremmer E, Palermo B, Hoy A, Ponath P, Qin S, et al. Switch in chemokine receptor expression upon TCR stimulation reveals novel homing potential for recently activated T cells. *Eur J Immunol* (1999) **29**(6):2037–45. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199906)29:06<2037: :AID-IMMU2037>3.3.CO;2-M
- 142. Guarda G, Hons M, Soriano SF, Huang AY, Polley R, Martin-Fontecha A, et al. L-selectin-negative CCR7- effector and memory CD8+ T cells enter reactive lymph nodes and kill dendritic cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(7):743–52. doi:10.1038/ni1469
- 143. Shin H, Iwasaki A. Tissue-resident memory T cells. Immunol Rev (2013) 255(1):165–81. doi:10.1111/imr.12087
- 144. Turner DL, Bickham KL, Thome JJ, Kim CY, D'Ovidio F, Wherry EJ, et al. Lung niches for the generation and maintenance of tissue-resident memory T cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(3):501–10. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.67
- 145. Sathaliyawala T, Kubota M, Yudanin N, Turner D, Camp P, Thome JJ, et al. Distribution and compartmentalization of human circulating and tissue-resident memory T cell subsets. *Immunity* (2013) **38**(1):187–97. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2012.09.020
- 146. Huber S, Gagliani N, Flavell RA. Life, death, and miracles: Th17 cells in the intestine. Eur J Immunol (2012) 42(9):2238–45. doi:10.1002/eji.201242619
- 147. Kullberg MC, Jankovic D, Feng CG, Hue S, Gorelick PL, McKenzie BS, et al. IL-23 plays a key role in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-induced T cell-dependent colitis. *J Exp Med* (2006) **203**(11):2485–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20061082
- 148. Griseri T, McKenzie BS, Schiering C, Powrie F. Dysregulated hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell activity promotes interleukin-23-driven chronic intestinal inflammation. *Immunity* (2012) 37(6):1116–29. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.08.025
- 149. Fletcher JM, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Tubridy N, Mills KH. T cells in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2010) 162(1):1–11. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2010.04143.x
- 150. Engelhardt B, Ransohoff RM. Capture, crawl, cross: the T cell code to breach the blood-brain barriers. *Trends Immunol* (2012) 33(12):579–89. doi:10.1016/ j.it.2012.07.004

 Berger JR, Houff S. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy: lessons from AIDS and natalizumab. *Neurol Res* (2006) 28(3):299–305. doi:10.1179/ 016164106X98198

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 October 2014; accepted: 25 November 2014; published online: 16 December 2014.

Citation: Geginat J, Paroni M, Maglie S, Alfen JS, Kastirr I, Gruarin P, De Simone M, Pagani M and Abrignani S (2014) Plasticity of human CD4 T cell subsets. Front. Immunol. **5**:630. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00630

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Geginat, Paroni, Maglie, Alfen, Kastirr, Gruarin, De Simone, Pagani and Abrignani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 15 April 2015 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00175

Long intergenic non-coding RNAs: novel drivers of human lymphocyte differentiation

Ilaria Panzeri¹, Grazisa Rossetti¹, Sergio Abrignani¹ and Massimiliano Pagani^{1,2}*

¹ Integrative Biology Unit, Istituto Nazionale Genetica Molecolare "Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi", IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milano, Italy ² Department of Medical Biotechnology and Translational Medicine, Università degli Studi di Milano, Milano, Italy

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA

Reviewed by:

Christopher E. Rudd, University of Cambridge, UK John J. Miles, Queensland Institute of Medical Research, Australia Susan Carpenter, University of California San Francisco, USA

*Correspondence:

Massimiliano Pagani, Integrative Biology Unit, Istituto Nazionale Genetica Molecolare "Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi," IRCCS Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, via Francesco Sforza 35, Milano 20122, Italy e-mail: pagani@ingm.org

Upon recognition of a foreign antigen, CD4⁺ naïve T lymphocytes proliferate and differentiate into subsets with distinct functions. This process is fundamental for the effective immune system function, as CD4⁺ T cells orchestrate both the innate and adaptive immune response. Traditionally, this differentiation event has been regarded as the acquisition of an irreversible cell fate so that memory and effector CD4⁺ T subsets were considered terminally differentiated cells or lineages. Consequently, these lineages are conventionally defined thanks to their prototypical set of cytokines and transcription factors. However, recent findings suggest that CD4⁺ T lymphocytes possess a remarkable phenotypic plasticity, as they can often re-direct their functional program depending on the milieu they encounter. Therefore, new questions are now compelling such as which are the molecular determinants underlying plasticity and stability and how the balance between these two opposite forces drives the cell fate. As already mentioned, in some cases, the mere expression of cytokines and master regulators could not fully explain lymphocytes plasticity. We should consider other layers of regulation, including epigenetic factors such as the modulation of chromatin state or the transcription of non-coding RNAs, whose high cell-specificity give a hint on their involvement in cell fate determination. In this review, we will focus on the recent advances in understanding CD4⁺ T lymphocytes subsets specification from an epigenetic point of view. In particular, we will emphasize the emerging importance of non-coding RNAs as key players in these differentiation events. We will also present here new data from our laboratory highlighting the contribution of long non-coding RNAs in driving human CD4⁺ T lymphocytes differentiation.

Keywords: long non-coding RNAs, epigenetic regulation, lymphocyte differentiation

THE REVOLUTIONS OF REGULATORY NON-CODING RNAs

At the beginning of this century, the results of the human genome project highlighted the complexity of our genome. What emerged was that the fraction of the genome that is informative is higher than we expected. Subsequent analysis revealed that the vast majority of informative sequences does not encode for proteins. Indeed against a total of 62.1% of the human genome covered by processed transcript (74.7% by primary transcripts), exons of protein-coding genes cover only the 2.94% of the genome (1). From an evolutionary point of view, the genome size is in close relationship with coding potential in prokaryotes, which have haploid genomes primarily composed by protein-coding sequences (~88%). Conversely, in eukaryotes, a correlation lacks between protein-coding gene number and organismal complexity. These observations are likely explained by the evolution of a more sophisticated architecture to control gene expression that includes the expansion of non-coding regulatory RNAs (ncRNAs) (2). Thus, we should clearly reassess the centrality of protein-coding RNAs in favor of non-coding ones.

Non-coding RNAs with fundamental functions within cells are known since the discovery of the first transfer RNA (tRNA) (3) and comprise also ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs). Nonetheless, the interest toward non-coding RNAs with regulatory functions arose with the discovery of the first human micro-RNA, let-7 (4). In order to apply a theoretical framework to the transcriptome, regulatory ncRNAs are usually classified based on their dimension: "small" ncRNAs being less than 200 nucleotides in length and "long" or "large" ncRNAs (lncRNAs) ranging from more than 200 to tens of thousands of nucleotides (**Table 1**).

Further complicating the picture, lncRNAs seem to be the preferred substrate for the generation of small RNAs (21). This maze of non-coding transcripts was revealed also in a genome-wide identification of lncRNAs in mouse CD8⁺ T lymphocytes, where 18 of the identified lncRNAs appeared to overlap with annotated miRNAs and 21 with snoRNAs (37).

Both classes can be further classified according to their position relative to known sequences of the genome, like in the case of promoter-associated RNAs (PASRs) or transcription initiation small RNAs (tiRNAs). In particular, long non-coding RNAs are usually classified relative to neighboring protein-coding genes. They can be defined as "sense" if they are transcribed from the same strand of the protein-coding gene or "antisense" if the opposite is true. They can be "divergent" if their promoter and the one of the coding transcript are in close proximity and located in a head to head fashion. They can be "exonic" or "intronic" if they overlap one or more exons, or an intron of the protein-coding

ncRNA		Length (nt)	Function
SHORT			
miRNAs	Micro RNAs	21–23	In animals, associate with the miRNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) and silence the expression of target genes mostly post-transcriptionally (5–7)
snoRNAs	Small nucleolar RNAs	60–300	Help the chemical modification of mRNAs, thereby influencing stability, folding, and protein-interaction properties (8, 9)
snRNAs	Small nuclear RNAs	150	Assist splicing of introns from primary genomic transcripts (10, 11)
piRNAs	Piwi-interacting RNAs	25–33	Associate with the highly conserved Piwi family of argonaute proteins and are essential for retrotransposon silencing in germline, epigenetic modifications, DNA rearrangements, mRNA turnover, and translational control also in soma (12–14)
PASRs	Promoter-associated short RNAs	22–200	Enriched at the 5′ end of genes, within 0.5 kb of TSS. Can be transcribed both sense and antisense. Their function and biogenesis is not fully understood (15, 16)
TASRs	Termini-associated short RNAs	22–200	Can be transcribed both sense and antisense near termination sites of protein-coding genes. Their function and biogenesis is not fully understood (15, 16)
siRNAs	Short interfering RNAs	21–23	Processed from a plethora of genomic sources, both foreign (viruses) and endogenous (repetitive sequences). Canonically induce the degradation of perfectly complementary target RNAs (17, 18)
tiRNAs	Transcription initiation RNAs	15–30	Enriched immediately downstream transcriptional start sites (TSSs) of highly expressed genes. Their function and biogenesis is not fully understood (16, 19, 20)
LONG			
NATs	Natural antisense transcripts	>200	Transcribed from the same locus but opposite strand of the overlapping protein-coding sequence. Involved in gene expression regulation, RNA editing, stability, and translation (21, 22)
PALRs	Promoter-associated long RNAs	200–1000	Enriched at promoters, found to regulate gene expression (23, 24)
PROMPTs	Promoter upstream transcripts	200–600	Enriched at TATA-less, CpG-rich promoters with broad TSSs. Affect promoter methylation and regulate transcription (25–27)
T-UCRs	Transcribed ultraconserved regions	>200	Perfectly conserved between human, rat, and mouse. Frequently located at fragile sites and at genomic regions involved in cancer (28)
Intronic RNAs		>200	Transcribed from introns of overlapping protein-coding sequences. Involved in the control of gene expression, alternative splicing, and source for generation of shorter regulatory RNAs (29)
eRNAs	Enhancer-derived RNAs	>200	Function still not completely understood. May functionally contribute to the enhancer function (30–32)
LincRNAs	Long intervening (intergenic) RNAs	>200	Gene expression regulation, regulation of cellular processes (33, 34)
uaRNAs	3'UTR-derived RNAs	<1000	Derive within 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) sequences. Function still not clearly understood (35)
circRNA	Circular RNA	100 to >4000	Diverse, from templates for viral replication to transcriptional regulators (36)

gene respectively. Instead, they can be "intergenic" (or "intervening"; lincRNAs) if they lie within a sequence between two protein-coding genes (38). In this review, we will focus on this last category, which is probably the most studied given that the location of these lncRNAs avoids complications deriving from the overlap with other genes. The majority of known lncRNAs is generated by the same transcriptional machinery of mRNAs. This means that transcribed lincRNAs genomic sequences are marked by RNA polymerase II occupancy and histone modifications that are shared with active protein-coding genes, such as H3K4me3 at promoters and H3K36me3 within gene bodies (39). They are capped by methylguanosine at their 5', spliced, and polyadenylated, even if the widespread representation of this last property among known lncRNAs could be partially due to the RNA sequencing strategies used for their identification (15, 40). Indeed, broader analysis identified about 39% of lncRNAs to have at least one of the six most common poly(A) motifs, compared to 51% for coding transcripts (1). These properties imply that there are few distinctive biochemical features that allow the distinction of lncRNAs from protein-coding mRNAs. Among

them, lncRNAs have unusual exon structure, with on average 2-5 exons. Intriguingly, lncRNAs are significantly more likely to overlap repetitive elements and particularly RNA-derived transposable elements (TEs). These last account for about 30% of human lncR-NAs nucleotides, often in proximity of their transcriptional start site (TSS), which could suggest that TEs could be important drivers of lncRNAs evolution (see below). Nonetheless, the main difference between lncRNAs and protein-coding genes relies by definition on their coding potential: lncRNAs does not possess open reading frames (ORFs), as evaluated based on: the conservation of ORFs codons (41), ORFs length, the presence of known protein domains, in vitro translation (42, 43), and ribosome footprinting (44) assays. However, these conceptual constraints are terribly artificial: short, non-canonical peptides have been found to arise from small ORFs within ncRNA (45-48); lncRNAs genes can also code for proteins and have a double function (49) and ultimately, the coding potential does not necessarily exclude a function as RNA also for known mRNAs (50). Evolution makes boundaries between coding and non-coding genes fainter as ncRNAs can evolve by pseudogenization. This event can follow disruption of the ancestral ORF, but not of the untranslated regulatory regions (UTRs) in protein-coding genes duplicates (50) or can arise without duplication, but from the co-option of ancestral genes to different, non-coding functions (51). This was the case of the long-known Xist RNA, involved in the silencing of the inactive X chromosomes in eutherians. In particular, two exons of the protein-coding gene Lnx3 are homologous to Xist. This gene retained a protein-coding capacity at least in the common ancestor of marsupials and placentals. Conversely, the Xist A-repeat implicated in X-silencing function is not conserved. This sequence likely arose from the insertion of a TE recruited to form a proto-Xist gene (52, 53). Therefore, the difference between dosage compensation in marsupials, eutherians, and monotremes can be ascribed from the presence of a Xist-independent XCI in mammalian ancestor and the peculiar evolution of the proto-Xist gene by pseudogenization in the eutherian ancestor. Intriguingly, other lncRNAs involved in X-inactivation are similarly examples of pseudogenization (54). The boundary between coding and non-coding is even less defined when ncRNAs arise from joining of coding and non-coding exons through alternative splicing (55, 56), from untranslated regions of mRNAs (57, 58) or from the opposite strand of the overlapping protein-coding gene (59). Strikingly, more than a half of protein-coding genes in mammals have a complementary non-coding transcript (60). These findings further challenge our "linear" model of the genome, prompting a re-evaluation of current dogma and genes definitions. Genomic regions indeed are far more complex than previously thought: genes can be used for different purposes and different functional elements can co-locate intermingling coding and non-coding regions.

The interest toward lncRNAs has been rapidly growing and their expressions have been quantitated in many different tissues and cell types by high-throughput sequencing (RNA-seq). These efforts retrieved catalogs with little overlap, so that the number of known lncRNAs is still growing, in contrast with the number of known protein-coding genes that has been remarkably stable over years. Indeed, lncRNAs are far more cell-specific than mRNAs, generally less but also more dynamically expressed at various differentiation stages. For this reason, immune system is an excellent context in which we can deepen our knowledge on lncRNAs. While many excellent reviews cover the recent advances in understanding the role of these molecules within the innate branch (61, 62), little is still known about their importance for the human adaptive immune system. Effector lymphocytes are highly specialized cells that arise from common progenitors through differentiation processes still not completely understood. Besides, lymphocytes can be purified through cell sorting from blood of healthy donors and the existence of *in vitro* differentiation protocols provide the ideal setting for the identification of lncRNAs expressed in the human immune system and for their functional characterization.

Indeed, the growing interest on lncRNAs and the lack of knowledge on their expression patterns in the human immune system prompted us to perform the RNA-seq analysis on 13 human primary lymphocytes subsets purified by FACS sorting from healthy donors (CD4⁺ naïve, T_H1, T_H2, T_H17, T_{reg}, T_{CM}, T_{EM}, CD8⁺ naïve, T_{CM}, T_{EM}, B naïve, B memory, B CD25⁺) and to develop a bioinformatics pipeline for lincRNAs identification.

Through this analysis, we identified long intergenic ncRNAs genes expressed in these subsets and confirmed that lincRNAs cell-specificity is higher than protein-coding genes even when comparing lincRNAs genes with membrane receptor protein-coding genes, which are generally referred as the most accurate markers for lymphocyte subsets definition. Besides, a major outcome of this analysis is the identification through *de novo* transcriptome reconstruction of 563 novel, previously unannotated long intergenic ncRNAs genes, increasing by ~12% the number of lincRNAs known to be expressed in human lymphocytes (63). Intriguingly, a fraction of lincRNAs also exist (63). It would be extremely interesting to study these lincRNAs during lymphocytes development in order to understand their likely peculiar role in thymic or bone-marrow-derived cells development.

These observations imply that the little overlap between available catalogs is a direct consequence of lncRNAs specificity and that we could overcome this limitation only assessing lncRNAs expression in every different, highly purified cell type at different developmental stages, instead of considering tissues as a whole. Moreover, due to their specificity of expression, human lymphocytes lincRNAs that are not yet annotated in public resources would have not been identified without performing *de novo* transcriptome reconstruction. As mentioned before, such tissuespecificity has been linked to the enrichment of TEs in proximity to lincRNAs TSS (64, 65). Moreover, RNA-seq experiments performed in a human CD4⁺ naïve T cells *in vitro* differentiation time-course suggest that lincRNA-specific expression in human lymphocyte subsets is acquired during their activation-driven differentiation from naïve to memory cells (63).

These findings hint to the involvement of lymphocyte-specific lincRNAs as fine-tuners in cell fate commitment, differentiation, and maintenance of cell identity, as demonstrated by many examples in other cell types (66–68). Also, lincRNAs are functionally involved in cell growth (69, 70), apoptosis (71–74), development (75–77), imprinting (78–80), and dosage compensation (81) in almost every cellular context (**Table 2**).

LncRNA	Cellular context	Function
H19	HSC, placenta	Maternally expressed imprinted gene important for inhibiting placental <i>growth</i> (69) and maintaining adult hematopoietic stem cell populations (HSC) via miR-675 generation and repression of lgf1r (70)
GAS5	T lymphocytes, cancers	Plays an essential role in normal <i>growth arrest</i> in T lymphocytes (71). Its increased level of expression correlate with cell death and reduced cell proliferation both in prostate (72) and colorectal cancer cell lines. Its lower expression is instead significantly correlated with larger tumor size and poor prognosis in colorectal cancer patients (74)
Linc-MD1	Muscles	Governs the timing of muscle <i>differentiation</i> by acting as a competing endogenous RNA (ceRNA) with respect to miR-133 and miR-135 in mouse and human myoblasts (75)
Xist	Somatic cells	Expressed by the future inactive X chromosome, triggers gene silencing <i>in cis</i> by coating the chromosome. It induces a cascade of chromatin changes, post-translational histone modification and DNA methylation, and leads to the stable repression of X-linked genes, ensuring proper <i>dosage compensation</i> (81)
KCNQ1OT1	Most tissues	Paternally expressed antisense transcript to an interior portion of <i>Kncq1</i> , part of an imprinted locus on human chromosome 11p15. It is critical for <i>imprinting</i> -mediated silencing in most tissue, via long-range intrachromosomal loop and recruitment of polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) (78–80)

Long non-coding regulatory RNAs exert their function in these fundamental processes interacting with chromatin or DNA modifiers and transcription factors (TFs) modulating gene expression (82); competing with micro-RNAs acting as sponges (83); modulating subcellular trafficking (84), translation (85), splicing (86), and likely through many other mechanisms still to be discovered (**Figure 1**).

Long non-coding regulatory RNAs functional flexibility derive from their intrinsic propensity to fold into thermodynamically stable secondary and higher orders structures that function as interaction modules (87). Each module can fold independently from another, forming bonds at the level of Watson-Crick, Hoogstein, and ribose face (88, 89). These RNAs can rapidly shift between diverse stable structural conformation, allowing allosteric transitions that can act as switches in response to environmental stimuli. They are also processed faster than mRNA, given that they must not be translated, allowing a rapid response to signals. LncRNAs can also be regulated via more than a hundred different nucleotide modifications, like in the case of tRNAs, rRNAs, and snoRNAs (90-92) that modulate their function and probably their structure. RNAs can generate multiple modules within their structure, allowing the interaction with multiple players, the reception of multiple stimuli, and the generation of multiple outputs. The required pairing is likely extremely flexible, such as in the case of micro-RNAs, and allows mismatches, bulges, and wobblings (93). Many of these interaction modules derive from repetitive elements, such as transposons that took advantage of the fewer constraints that lncRNAs sequences have compared to protein-coding genes (1, 94). Indeed, lncRNAs rate of sequence evolution is higher relative to protein-coding genes, even if also these transcripts exhibit evolutionary signatures of functionality. They evolve under modest but detectable selective pressure, accumulating fewer substitutions than neutrally evolving sequences (95, 96). Likely, conservation of relatively small units of lncRNAs sequences (estimated to be less than 5%) could be sufficient to preserve their function, considering their already mentioned modular structure (97). This



could be the reason why existing bioinformatic approaches fail to detect low level and scattered selective constraint within these loci (97).

micro-RNA inhibition. In light red other mechanisms are described for

lincRNAs outside the immune system.

Through such a plastic and versatile structure, lncRNAs can exert their functions binding to proteins, other RNAs (98), and probably also DNA, even if there is still little evidence on the existence of RNA:DNA triplex (99, 100). In particular, lncRNAs can act as scaffolds, bridging together different molecules in a coordinated hub, like in the case of NEAT1: a highly abundant lncRNA that controls sequestration of proteins involved in the formation of paraspeckles, nuclear domains associated with mRNA retention and pathologically enriched in influenza and herpes viruses infections (101, 102). LncRNA can also act as guides, recruiting proteins at specific loci: this has been hypothesized in the case of recombination events that mediate genetic diversity in developing lymphocytes as class switch (CS) and V(D)J recombinations that seem to be mediated by sense and antisense transcripts that dictates the locations of combinatorial events (103-105). Again, IncRNAs can act as control devices or riboswitches in response to extracellular stimuli. For example, they can act as decoys, precluding pre-existing interactions such as GAS5 RNA that detach glucocorticoid receptor (GR) from its responsive elements in conditions of growth arrest (106, 107). Nonetheless, the regulatory potential of lncRNAs has been better characterized in the context of the epigenetic regulation of transcription that ultimately defines the cell transcriptome.

THE ROLE OF LONG NON-CODING RNAs IN EPIGENETICS

Histones and DNA modifications together with the tridimensional chromosomes conformation within the nucleus define, at least in part, the epigenetic landscape of the cell. This extremely dynamic context modulates gene expression and dictates the final transcriptional output in response to environmental stimuli. By definition, these modifications are then propagated throughout cell divisions. This process is important in every moment of cell life, but particularly during differentiation. Indeed, every cell within our body harbor the same genome, but every cell acquires a particular phenotype according to intrinsic and extrinsic cues that ultimately defines its epigenome and therefore its fate during differentiation. Epigenetics also defines to what extent this fate can be irreversible or plastic (108–110).

As mentioned before, human lymphocytes are an interesting model system for understanding the basis of cell fate specification and plasticity. Indeed, although traditionally the broad range of effector lymphocytes has been referred to as composed by distinct lineages, it has become increasingly clear that these cells also have notable features of plasticity. Differentiation of naïve cells into specific helper subsets requires the integration of extrinsic cues that converge into cell-intrinsic changes in the epigenetic landscape on the genome (111, 112). The interest within the field has been focused on the regulation of prototypical cytokine genes for each subset such as Ifng gene for $T_{\rm H}1$ or *Il-4* for $T_{\rm H}2$ CD4⁺ lymphocytes. Much work has been done in both cases to define the complex genetic structure of these loci and the cis regulatory elements bound by TFs and chromatin modifiers promoting or repressing their transcription (113–115). The importance of the setting of epigenetic memory at these fundamental loci was underlined also by treatment with DNA methylation inhibitors (116, 117) or histores deacetylases inhibitors (118-120) and by deletion of DNA methyltransferase

(121-123), which caused respectively: constitutive production of IFN- γ , enhanced production of both T_H1 and T_H2 prototypic cytokines, and inability to activate the proper pattern of expressed cytokines. The same is true for deletion of components of trithorax group (TrxG) or polycomb repressive complex (PRC) that dictates active or repressive epigenetic marks at fundamental loci for proper T-helper cell differentiation, such as Il-4, Il-5, Il-13, and Gata3 (124-129). The pattern of chromatin marks is conventional for signature cytokines: active marks are present at prototypical cytokines whereas repressive marks restrain the expression of antagonistic molecules. However, master regulators and other TFs, usually considered as definers of lineage-specific identity, are characterized by bivalent poised domains, in which both active and repressive chromatin marks are present (130, 131). This histone epigenetic status is peculiar also to promoters in embryonic stem cells, where it poises the expression of key developmental genes thus allowing their timely activation in the presence of differentiation signals and concomitantly precluding expression in their absence (132). Indeed, while the expression of master TFs is quite rapid, cell divisions are required for cytokine loci to become accessible or conversely repressed. Indeed, GATA3 and T-bet/STAT proteins initiate the epigenetic changes at IFN-y and IL-4 loci that follow the initial activation of naïve T cells and differentiation toward T_{H1} and T_{H2} cell fate (133, 134). These observations imply that T-helper cells harbor both clear-cut and plastic epigenetic marks. Nonetheless, we must consider that even cytokines genes that are clearly defined epigenetically, can be expressed or repressed in unexpected context, as reported in T_H1 cells converted in IL-4-producing cells during strong T_H2-polarizing helminth infections (135) or stable $T_H 1/T_H 2$ hybrid cells derived after parasite infections (136). Therefore, other players must be involved to define the degree of plasticity of lymphocytes in response to these ever-changing environmental conditions during differentiation.

Long non-coding regulatory RNAs have been linked to epigenetic control of gene expression since the first studies regarding the already mentioned Xist transcript, involved in X chromosome inactivation in eutherians. Many other lncRNAs have been associated to chromatin or DNA modifiers and even TFs, thanks to specific mechanistic studies or high-throughput screenings (82, 137–139). This interplay can be observed across a broad range of eukaryotic organisms, suggesting that the epigenetic role of lncR-NAs is conserved, even if their mere sequence conservation is often limited (as described previously). It seems that lncRNAs could act as scaffolds, physically associating with proteins that modify chromatin either activating or repressing gene expression. Thanks to the already discussed structural properties of RNA, lncRNAs could organize multiple players in spatially and temporally concerted actions (138). Not only: thanks to their ability to base pair with other nucleic acids, they could recruit these modifiers at specific loci, therefore conferring them specificity of action (98). This property has been an unsolved issue, given that chromatin modifiers do not possess intrinsic bias toward consensus sequences, at least in mammals, while in Drosophila these "docking sites" are well defined (140, 141). Interestingly, while many of these enzymes lack DNA-binding properties, they instead possess RNA-binding motifs (142–144).

The majority of reported lncRNAs are involved in the repression of gene transcription, in particular by interacting with polycomb group (PcG) proteins. The first examples of a direct interaction with PRC2 are the already mentioned Xist (145) and Kcnglotl, expressed only in the mammalian paternal chromosome and involved in the silencing of 8-10 protein-coding genes (146). In both these cases, lncRNAs are strictly required for the enrichment of PRC2-associated proteins and for the trimethylation of the lysine 27 of histone H3 at specific loci. Furthermore, other lncRNAs such as NEAT2 and TUG1 promote relocation of growth-control genes at foci of PcG proteins (called PcG bodies), therefore likely facilitating the concerted repression/activation of the transcription units in response to mitogenic signal (147). Many other protein complexes have been found to interact with lncRNAs, the majority targeting histones, either methylases or demethylases, but other involved in DNA methylation (148). Indeed, lncRNAs can bind proteins part of the TrxG (68) that antagonize PcG-mediated silencing (149). Interestingly, an antisense lncRNA has been recently involved in recruiting a regulator of DNA demethylation at a specific promoter (150). This process remains still largely unknown and it has only recently been associated to active enzymatic reactions, via TET family of methylcytosine dioxygenases (151, 152). Even in this case, one of the unsolved questions has been how locus-specificity can be achieved. Particularly, DNA demethylation is often restricted to few dinucleotides at the TSS. The precise mechanism, though, through which lncRNAs could direct DNA or chromatin modification has never been described. Indeed in all reported examples, correlations have been described between lncRNA-modifiers associations and loss of modification after lncRNA gene silencing.

Long non-coding regulatory RNAs are supposed to confer binding specificity to modifiers and recruiting them either in cis or in trans. In the first case, lncRNAs could act directly on sites where they are synthesized without needing to leave DNA. The current hypothesis suggests that the 5' region of the nascent transcript could bind proteins while the 3' is transcriptionally lagging, being still tethered to chromatin by RNA polymerase (153). This model is particularly intriguing as through this mechanism, lncR-NAs could exert an allele-specific effect, like in the well-studied case of Xist. In trans regulation is instead achieved when lncRNAs act modulating genes across great distances or even on different chromosomes (154). Regarding this dichotomy, we must underline once again its artificiality. Indeed, chromosomes fold into complex, three-dimensional territories together with specialized subnuclear bodies. Proteins that are part of the transcriptional or splicing machinery and regulators of these processes group at these foci (155, 156). These structures are not static, but on the contrary, large-scale chromosomal repositioning is observed in response to environmental stimuli or during differentiation (157, 158). Subnuclear movements are of key importance in regulating events like transcription and rearrangement that occur at immunoglobulin loci during B lymphocytes development (159). The dynamic folding of the genome into higher order structure encompasses loci belonging to the same chromosome, even hundreds of kilobases apart, or different ones, bringing together regions that are distant if we consider the genome as linear. Therefore, in this context, it is extremely difficult to discern what regulations are in

cis or in trans, especially when they involve long distance interactions. Intriguingly, lincRNAs have been found to regulate the formation of subnuclear structures, such as NEAT1, required for paraspeckles nucleation (101). LncRNAs can also affect directly the three-dimensional organization of chromosomes enhancing the function of proteins involved in looping formation, like the insulator protein CTCF (160). There are also many examples of IncRNAs involved in three-dimensional local chromatin looping that brings together the ncRNA gene with the region that it regulates within the same chromosome (68, 161). Recently, a lincRNA called Firre has been shown to recruit specific gene loci located on different chromosomes, acting as a docking station for organizing trans-chromosomal associations. Consistently, genetic deletion of Firre leads to a loss of proximity of several trans-interactions (162). A peculiar type of lncRNA has been described that is transcribed from enhancer regions (eRNAs). Classic enhancer elements therefore likely act through transcription of these lncRNAs that upregulate expression at promoters via the recruitment of Mediator complex (163, 164). Finally, there is increasing evidence that even promoters could be transcribed (165), producing lncR-NAs probably involved in the enhancer-promoter loop that was hypothesized years ago but never fully resolved (166).

LONG NON-CODING RNAs IN THE ADAPTIVE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The adaptive immune system is an extraordinary context for the study of the role of lincRNAs in differentiation. Indeed, upon antigen stimulation, naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiate into distinct T-helper subsets that were traditionally considered lineages and defined by a prototypic set of expressed cytokines and master TFs. Recently, this relative simple scenario, although useful, has been subjected to debate. CD4⁺ T cells demonstrated to exhibit substantial plasticity and it has become increasingly clear that they can change the pattern of cytokines and TFs according to the milieu they encounter through their life (167, 168). Not only, in some cases, they can concomitantly express other cytokines and TFs together with their prototypical set. Best examples include IL-10, once thought to specifically identify T_H2 and now known to be produced also by T_H1, T_{reg}, and T_H17 cells (169) and IFN- γ , the classic T_H1 cytokine, frequently released by $T_{\rm H}17$ cells simultaneously with IL-17 (170, 171). Regarding master TFs, T_{regs} can express Foxp3 (their prototypical TF), but also RORyt (T_H17 TF) and Runx3 (172-174); similarly T_{FH} cells can differentiate from FOXP3 positive cells also expressing Bcl6 (their specific TF) (175, 176). In this context, lncRNAs have a fundamental role in governing flexibility and plasticity or maintenance of cell identity, together with lineage-specific TFs and other ncRNAs. In particular, what is emerging from the literature is that ncRNAs typically act as fine-tuners of fate choices and this seems to be true not only in the immune system. Nonetheless, in the case of CD4⁺ T-cell subsets that are specified but not fully determined, subtle changes in extrinsic signals can reverberate through responsive ncRNAs inducing changes that alter cell phenotype (38, 177, 178). Usually, the stability of lineage identity is achieved through the implementation and inheritance of epigenetic modification, but as mentioned before, lncRNAs can act directly on histone and DNA modifiers redefining this context.

Conversely, lncRNAs can also buffer this situation in other conditions, acting as maintainers of cell identity. In the cellular system, lncRNAs can be regarded as minor nodes in a huge interconnected network (179), as they usually interact with few other players. This condition allows them to be more flexible and sensitive to variations without disrupting the whole network integrity (180). This is true both over a very short period, as cells can easily and rapidly adapt to environment, and also over long evolutionary periods, as lncRNAs are among the fastest evolving sequences in the genome (95, 181–183). Conversely, master transcription regulators can be considered highly connected hubs, which confer robustness to the network. Indeed, very few protein-coding genes have been lost from worms to human and mutations are most often pathological (184, 185). Several single-case or genome-wide studies on lncRNAs in the murine adaptive immune system or cell lines are now available in the literature, whereas only few studies have been conducted until now in the human context. The number of studies that unveiled the function and mechanism of a specific lncRNA is so small that can be counted on one hand (**Table 3**).

The importance of the studies in the human immune system is underlined by the fact that the differences between experimental animal models and human are still subject of debate in terms of immunologic responses (199–201). Moreover, there are increasing evidences that ncRNAs are poorly conserved between animal models and human (202, 203). In particular, lncRNAs are really fastevolving elements as demonstrated by the fact that over 80% of the human lncRNAs that arose in the primate lineage, only 3% are

Sample	LncRNAs	Function
Granulocytes, monocytes, NK, B, naïve CD8 ⁺ and CD4 ⁺ , memory human T cells; <i>in vitro</i> polarized precursors T-helper, T_H0 , T_H1 , and T_H2 human cells	240 IncRNAs associated with autoimmune disease (AID) loci (RNA-seq)	Analysis of the expression profile of the AID-associated IncRNAs (186)
CD4 ⁻ CD8 ⁻ , CD4 ⁺ CD8 ⁺ , CD4 ⁺ CD8 ⁻ , activated CD4 ⁺ mouse T cells	31423 IncRNAs (IncRNA microarray)	Expression analysis and prediction of function (187)
17 T-cell leukemia cell lines	Thy-ncR1 (expression profiling of 10 thymus-specific ncRNA)	Enriched in human immature cells; acts as a cytoplasmic riboregulator that reduces the level of MFAP4 mRNA (188)
Naïve, memory, activated, non-activated mouse CD8 ⁺ T cells	Over 1000 mouse and human IncRNAs (microarray)	Expression and conservation analysis (37)
$\label{eq:cD4-CD8-, CD4+CD8+, CD4+, CD8+} \\ mouse thymic T cells, and thymus-derived \\ T_{reg} cells. In vitro differentiated T_H1, T_H2, \\ T_H17, and induced T_{reg} \\ \end{cases}$	1524 lincRNA genes (RNA-seq); LincR-Ccr2-5′AS	Expression analysis and ChIP-seq data analysis to identify lincRNA genes and possible regulators. LincR-Ccr2-5'AS is T _H 2-specific and it reduces the expression of <i>Ccr1</i> , <i>Ccr2</i> , <i>Ccr3</i> , and <i>Ccr5</i> . It contributes to the migration of T _H 2 cells (189)
Infected Namalwa B lymphocytes	IFNA1-AS	Cytoplasmic post-transcriptional stabilization of IFN-α1 RNA masking a miRNA-binding site (190)
Jurkat cells, primary lymphomas, lymphoma cell lines, CD19 ⁺ B cells	Saf/FAS-AS1	Regulates the alternative splicing of Fas which is impaired in non-Hodgkin's lymphomas associated with poor prognosis (191, 192)
Activated human CD4 ⁺ T cells	BIC RNA (EST library analysis)	Proto-oncogene, induced upon activation, sensitive to immunosuppressive drugs (193)
Jurkat cells	NRON (shRNA knock-down screening)	Regulates NFAT subcellular localization as part of an RNA–protein complex (84)
CEM-C7 CKM1, jurkat JKM1, human primary lymphocytes	GAS5	Necessary and sufficient for growth arrest. Acts competing from GREs (71, 106)
Human CD4 ⁺ , CD8 ⁺ cells, PBMC	NTT	Unknown, it shows a similar expression pattern to $\mathit{IFN}_{Y}R$ (194)
Thymocytes	TEA	Instruct the activity of $J\alpha$ promoters and recombination (103, 195)
Human T _H 1 cells	NeST/Tmevpg1/IFNG-AS1	Dependent on STAT4, T-bet, and NFκB. Contributes to <i>Ifng</i> expression by binding WDR5 and alter H3K4me3 (196, 197)
Human primary CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T cells, primary and polarized (from CD4 ⁺ and CD8 ⁺ T) CD4 ⁺ CM, T _H 1, T _H 2, T _H 17, and	GATA3-AS1	Specifically expressed in T _H 2 cells (198)

Table 3 | Studies on IncRNAs in the adaptive immune system.

CM, B cells

Treg cells; neutrophils, basophils, CD8+

conserved across tetrapods and most mammalian lncRNAs lack known orthologs outside vertebrates (97). In detail, even between mouse and human, lncRNAs are poorly conserved (204-206). Despite their rapid evolution, lncRNAs are selected more than neutral sequences and in particular more than intergenic regions, but significantly less than mRNAs (96, 97, 207). It must be underlined that the conservation rate reported could be overestimated: substitution rates are derived from whole-genome alignment and based on the assumption that even segment of homologies imply that that segment belongs to the same RNA class, but this is not necessarily the case. Indeed, it could be that in another genome context a specific lncRNA gene segment is transcribed and processed as part of a protein-coding RNA (208). A striking example is Hotair that is involved in the regulation of the highly conserved cluster of Hox genes (68). The human lincRNA is conserved in the mouse genome (209), nonetheless only the 3' region is effectively part of the murine homolog (183). The importance of studying lincRNAs specifically within the human immune system derives from these considerations, but this field is still poorly investigated. The majority of the studies focused on the innate immune system (210-212) or analyzed pathological situations, such as cancerrelated lncRNAs (192, 213) or responses to specific infections (102, 214-216), mostly in mice. The first functional study that focused on the adaptive immune system, and in particular on T_H1 and T_H2 lymphocytes, involved a lincRNA, Tmevpg1, that is selectively expressed in T_H1 cells via STAT4 and T-bet, both in mouse and human. It participates in the induction of IFN-y expression strictly in response to T_H1 differentiation program and not in other cellular contexts. These results highlight once again the complexity of gene expression regulatory network and the specificity of action of lincRNAs (196). Another paper described a lincRNA, GATA3-AS1, specifically expressed in primary T_H2 cells and hypothesized its co-regulation with GATA3 (198). GAS5, expressed in human T lymphocytes, is degraded in optimal growth conditions, but it accumulates contributing to growth arrest in starving conditions (107). In this situation, it competes with GRs DNA-binding sequences, suppressing GR-mediated transcription (106). Broader studies have been performed on the $CD8^+$ T cell transcriptome (37), and recently on CD4⁺ T lymphocytes (189), but still on mice models. In B cells, chromatin remodeling associated with V(D)J recombination has been potentially linked to a widespread antisense intergenic transcription that occurs in the variable (V) region of the immunoglobulin heavy chain (Igh) locus (104, 105). So far, no studies have been published that performed a deep transcriptomic analysis on human primary lymphocytes from healthy donors, identifying lncRNAs fundamental for differentiation processes. These few examples are just clues of the importance that lincRNA could have for the proper function also of the human immune system and prompt to a deeper analysis of their role in this particularly intriguing context.

LONG NON-CODING RNAS AS EPIGENETIC MODULATORS IN LYMPHOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION

Traditionally, the secretion of IFN- γ and TNF- α characterizes T_H1 lymphocytes, whereas IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 are considered prototypic cytokines secreted by T_H2 cells. According to this classic paradigm, these differences underline the different functions

exerted by these lymphocytes: T_H1 are considered as important to eliminate intracellular bacteria and viruses, whereas T_H2 to resist parasitic infections (217). The advantage of solid in vitro differentiation protocols allowed a deep understanding of the genetic mechanisms governing these cells. Since the discovery of this dichotomy, other cell subsets have been identified, but this $T_H 1/T_H 2$ paradigm was undoubtedly useful. Therefore, it is not a case that among the few lncRNAs identified in the immune system, many of those functionally characterized have been described in these two cell subsets. Nevertheless as mentioned before, just one lincRNA, Tmevpg1 (also known as NeST or IFNG-AS1) has been characterized in deep. Tmevpg1 is located proximal to IFN- γ gene both in mice and humans, antisense and convergently transcribed respect to the neighboring gene and plays a role in chromatin remodeling. This transcript is a T_H1-specific lincRNA: it requires STAT4 and T-bet for being transcribed and is also bound by CTCF and cohesin during lineage-specific induction (196). Therefore, Tmevpg1 is directly dependent on the activation of a T_H1-polarizing transcriptional program, in which the presence of IL-12 leads to the activation of the JAK/STAT pathway via STAT4 (and STAT1) that induces the expression of T-bet. Interestingly, Tmevpg1 gene harbor sequences regulated by histone acetylation and DNase I hypersensitive sites found in T_H1 but not T_H2 cells (218, 219). Tmevpg1, in its turn, plays a direct part in defining the proper T_H1 cytokine expression pattern, influencing Ifng transcription in the presence of T-bet (196), via H3K4 trimethylation by WDR5 binding in mice models (197).

Given the increasing number of lncRNAs described in different cellular contexts and the high number of specific lincRNAs expressed in the different lymphocytes subsets identified with the aforementioned RNA-seq analysis, many more lincRNAs will likely be characterized in the future with a relevant function in the human immune system. A major limitation, though, in the studies on lncRNAs is that there is little biological knowledge on the biochemical or molecular function of lncRNA genes. Compared to classical protein-coding gene studies, hints on their functions cannot be gained simply by the analysis of their primary sequence and application of computational methods to infer lncRNA function are also still in their infancy. As lincRNAs have been reported to influence the expression of neighboring genes (25, 26, 28, 39), one possible approach to investigate their putative function is to focus on lymphocyte lincRNAs proximal to protein-coding genes involved in key cell-functions.

Through this approach, we identified a T_H1 -specific lincRNA that localized ~140 kb upstream to *MAF* that was therefore called linc-MAF-4. MAF is a TF involved in T_H2 differentiation and required for the efficient secretion of IL-4 by T_H17 and the proper development of T_{FH} cells (220–222). Intriguingly, the expression of *linc-MAF-4* is negatively correlated with respect to the expression of *MAF*: linc-MAF-4 expression is high and specific in T_H1 lymphocytes, where *MAF* is lowly expressed whereas in T_H2 cells the expression of *linc-MAF-4* is extremely low and *MAF* is highly expressed. Coherently, linc-MAF-4 knock-down in naïve CD4⁺ T cells increased the expression of *MAF* and interestingly induced a more general skewing of the whole transcriptomic profile of these cells toward a T_H2 -like fate (63). The regulation exerted by linc-MAF-4 on *MAF* gene was analyzed in more detail and this lincRNA



proved to modulate *MAF* expression *in cis*, as hypothesized by expression analysis. Linc-MAF-4 exerts this regulation by exploiting a chromatin loop that brings its genomic region close to the promoter of *MAF* gene. Indeed, the chromatin organization of this region allows linc-MAF-4 transcript to recruit chromatin remodelers that inhibit *MAF* transcription. In particular, linc-MAF-4 was found to associate with EZH2, key enzymatic subunit of the PRC2 complex, and LSD1. These proteins methylate H3K27 and demethylate H3K4, respectively: two histones modifications that code for transcriptional repression. (63). A similar mechanism was described for other lincRNAs, such as HOTAIR and MEG3 (154, 223) but never before for other lncRNAs expressed in the adaptive immune system (**Figure 2**).

Changes of lincRNAs expression during naïve to memory CD8⁺ T-cell differentiation (37) and during naïve CD4⁺ T cells differentiation into distinct helper T-cell lineages (189) have been described in the mouse immune system. linc-MAF-4, though, is, to our knowledge, the first example of a lincRNA playing a role in the proper differentiation of human T_H1 cells, suggesting that, besides cytokines and TFs, lncRNAs take part in the T_H1 differentiation program as already shown in many other cell types. At this point, an obvious question arises: to what extent are these cells plastic? These findings are evidences that it is possible to redirect the differentiation path of naïve CD4⁺ T cells acting on their lincRNA content. Nevertheless, could it be possible to modulate already committed cells? We would expect that the mere downregulation of a lincRNA would not be sufficient nor a lincRNA knock-out: as mentioned before, lincRNAs are minor nodes in a huge interconnected network composed by feedback mechanisms and epigenetic marks that act stabilizing a pre-existent differentiation status. However, a modulation in lincRNA content may

be sufficient to make these cells more responsive to environmental cues that could overcome stabilizing forces, inducing a sort of trans-differentiation event. Functional characterization of other lncRNAs is required to address this crucial issue and to assess the extent of their contribution to cell differentiation and to the maintenance of cell identity in human lymphocytes. Based on what we discussed so far on lncRNA functions and cell-specificity, we believe that future studies will show how these molecules could be capitalized as new molecular targets for the development of novel and highly specific therapies for diseases, such as autoimmunity, immunodeficiencies, allergy, and cancer.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank V. Ranzani for support in figures preparation and for discussions and critical revision of the manuscript. Supported by Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche – Ministero dell'Istruzione dell'Universita e della Ricerca (EPIGEN), Fondazione Cariplo (2013-0955), AIRC Associazione Italiana per la Ricerca sul Cancro (IG2013-ID14596), the European Research Council (269022 to SA; 617978 to MP), and Fondazione Romeo ed Enrica Invernizzi.

REFERENCES

- Derrien T, Johnson R, Bussotti G, Tanzer A, Djebali S, Tilgner H, et al. The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. *Genome Res* (2012) 22(9):1775–89. doi:10.1101/gr.132159.111
- Taft RJ, Pheasant M, Mattick JS. The relationship between non-protein-coding DNA and eukaryotic complexity. *Bioessays* (2007) 29(3):288–99. doi:10.1002/ bies.20544
- Hoagland MB, Keller EB, Zamecnik PC. Enzymatic carboxyl activation of amino acids. J Biol Chem (1956) 218(1):345–58.
- Pasquinelli AE, Reinhart BJ, Slack F, Martindale MQ, Kuroda MI, Maller B, et al. Conservation of the sequence and temporal expression of let-7 heterochronic regulatory RNA. *Nature* (2000) 408(6808):86–9. doi:10.1038/35040556
- Baumjohann D, Ansel KM. MicroRNA-mediated regulation of T helper cell differentiation and plasticity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(9):666–78. doi:10.1038/nri3494
- Bronevetsky Y, Ansel KM. Regulation of miRNA biogenesis and turnover in the immune system. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 253(1):304–16. doi:10.1111/imr.12059
- Monticelli S. MicroRNAs in T helper cell differentiation and plasticity. Semin Immunol (2013) 25(4):291–8. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.015
- Bratkovič T, Rogelj B. The many faces of small nucleolar RNAs. *Biochim Biophys* Acta (2014) 1839(6):438–43. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.04.009
- Dieci G, Preti M, Montanini B. Eukaryotic snoRNAs: a paradigm for gene expression flexibility. *Genomics* (2009) 94(2):83–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2009. 05.002
- Lui L, Lowe T. Small nucleolar RNAs and RNA-guided post-transcriptional modification. *Essays Biochem* (2013) 54:53–77. doi:10.1042/bse0540053
- Valadkhan S, Gunawardane LS. Role of small nuclear RNAs in eukaryotic gene expression. *Essays Biochem* (2013) 54:79–90. doi:10.1042/bse0540079
- Bamezai S, Rawat VPS, Buske C. Concise review: the Piwi-piRNA axis: pivotal beyond transposon silencing. *Stem Cells* (2012) **30**(12):2603–11. doi:10.1002/ stem.1237
- Ku H-Y, Lin H. PIWI proteins and their interactors in piRNA biogenesis, germline development and gene expression. *Natl Sci Rev* (2014) 1(2):205–18. doi:10.1093/nsr/nwu014
- Luteijn MJ, Ketting RF. PIWI-interacting RNAs: from generation to transgenerational epigenetics. Nat Rev Genet (2013) 14(8):523–34. doi:10.1038/nrg3495
- Kapranov P, Cheng J, Dike S, Nix DA, Duttagupta R, Willingham AT, et al. RNA maps reveal new RNA classes and a possible function for pervasive transcription. *Science* (2007) **316**(5830):1484–8. doi:10.1126/science.1138341
- Taft RJ, Kaplan CD, Simons C, Mattick JS. Evolution, biogenesis and function of promoter-associated RNAs. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8(15):2332–8. doi:10.4161/cc. 8.15.9154

- 17. Carthew RW, Sontheimer EJ. Origins and mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell* (2009) **136**(4):642–55. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.035
- Svoboda P. Renaissance of mammalian endogenous RNAi. FEBS Lett (2014) 588(15):2550–6. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2014.05.030
- Taft RJ, Glazov EA, Cloonan N, Simons C, Stephen S, Faulkner GJ, et al. Tiny RNAs associated with transcription start sites in animals. *Nat Genet* (2009) 41(5):572–8. doi:10.1038/ng.312
- Taft RJ, Simons C, Nahkuri S, Oey H, Korbie DJ, Mercer TR, et al. Nuclearlocalized tiny RNAs are associated with transcription initiation and splice sites in metazoans. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2010) 17(8):1030–4. doi:10.1038/nsmb. 1841
- Djebali S, Davis CA, Merkel A, Dobin A, Lassmann T, Mortazavi AM, et al. Landscape of transcription in human cells. *Nature* (2012) 489(7414):101–8. doi:10.1038/nature11233
- 22. Faghihi MA, Wahlestedt C. Regulatory roles of natural antisense transcripts. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2009) **10**(9):637–43. doi:10.1038/nrm2738
- Kurokawa R. Promoter-associated long noncoding RNAs repress transcription through a RNA binding protein TLS. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2011) 722:196–208. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-0332-6_12
- Zaphiropoulos PG. A promoter-associated RNA downregulates the oncogenic GLI1 transcription factor in rhabdomyosarcoma cells. *RNA Dis* (2014) 1(1):e254. doi:10.14800/rd.254
- Preker P, Nielsen J, Kammler S, Lykke-Andersen S, Christensen MS, Mapendano CK, et al. RNA exosome depletion reveals transcription upstream of active human promoters. *Science* (2008) **322**(5909):1851–4. doi:10.1126/science. 1164096
- Imamura T, Yamamoto S, Ohgane J, Hattori N, Tanaka S, Shiota K. Non-coding RNA directed DNA demethylation of Sphk1 CpG island. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2004) 322(2):593–600. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.07.159
- 27. Preker P, Almvig K, Christensen MS, Valen E, Mapendano CK, Sandelin A, et al. PROMoter uPstream Transcripts share characteristics with mRNAs and are produced upstream of all three major types of mammalian promoters. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) **39**(16):7179–93. doi:10.1093/nar/gkr370
- Peng JC, Shen J, Ran ZH. Transcribed ultraconserved region in human cancers. RNA Biol (2013) 10(12):1771–7. doi:10.4161/rna.26995
- Louro R, Smirnova AS, Verjovski-Almeida S. Long intronic noncoding RNA transcription: expression noise or expression choice? *Genomics* (2009) 93(4):291–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygeno.2008.11.009
- Lam MT, Li W, Rosenfeld MG, Glass CK. Enhancer RNAs and regulated transcriptional programs. *Trends Biochem Sci* (2014) 39(4):170–82. doi:10.1016/j. tibs.2014.02.007
- Koch F, Fenouil R, Gut M, Cauchy P, Albert TK, Zacarias-Cabeza J, et al. Transcription initiation platforms and GTF recruitment at tissue-specific enhancers and promoters. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2011) 18(8):956–63. doi:10.1038/nsmb. 2085
- Natoli G, Andrau JC. Noncoding transcription at enhancers: general principles and functional models. *Annu Rev Genet* (2012) 46:1–19. doi:10.1146/annurevgenet-110711-155459
- Rinn JL, Chang HY. Genome regulation by long noncoding RNAs. Annu Rev Biochem (2012) 81:145–66. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-051410-92902
- 34. Merry C, Niland C, Khalil A. Diverse functions and mechanisms of mammalian long noncoding RNAs. In: Carmichael GG, editor. *Regulatory Non-Coding RNAs: Methods in Molecular Biology*. Vol. **1206**. New York, NY: Springer (2015). p. 1–14.
- Mercer TR, Wilhelm D, Dinger ME, Soldà G, Korbie DJ, Glazov EA, et al. Expression of distinct RNAs from 3' untranslated regions. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2011) 39(6):2393–403. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq1158
- 36. Lasda E, Parker R. Circular RNAs: diversity of form and function. *RNA* (2014) **20**(12):1829–42. doi:10.1261/rna.047126.114
- Pang KC, Dinger ME, Mercer TR, Malquori L, Grimmond SM, Chen W, et al. Genome-wide identification of long noncoding RNAs in CD8+ T cells. J Immunol (2009) 182(12):7738–48. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0900603
- Pagani M, Rossetti G, Panzeri I, de Candia P, Bonnal RJ, Rossi RL, et al. Role of microRNAs and long-non-coding RNAs in CD4(+) T-cell differentiation. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 253(1):82–96. doi:10.1111/imr.12055
- Guttman M, Amit I, Garber M, French C, Lin MF, Feldser D, et al. Chromatin signature reveals over a thousand highly conserved large non-coding RNAs in mammals. *Nature* (2009) 458(7235):223–7. doi:10.1038/nature07672

- Dieci G, Conti A, Pagano A, Carnevali D. Identification of RNA polymerase IIItranscribed genes in eukaryotic genomes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2013) 1829(3– 4):296–305. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2012.09.010
- 41. Lin R, Maeda S, Liu C, Karin M, Edgington TS. A large noncoding RNA is a marker for murine hepatocellular carcinomas and a spectrum of human carcinomas. *Oncogene* (2007) 26(6):851–8. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209846
- Galindo MI, Pueyo JI, Fouix S, Bishop SA, Couso JP. Peptides encoded by short ORFs control development and define a new eukaryotic gene family. *PLoS Biol* (2007) 5(5):e106. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0050106
- Lanz RB, McKenna NJ, Onate SA, Albrecht U, Wong J, Tsai SY, et al. A steroid receptor coactivator, SRA, functions as an RNA and is present in an SRC-1 complex. *Cell* (1999) 97(1):17–27. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80711-4
- 44. Ingolia NT, Brar GA, Stern-Ginossar N, Harris MS, Talhouarne GJ, Jackson SE, et al. Ribosome profiling reveals pervasive translation outside of annotated protein-coding genes. *Cell Rep* (2014) 8(5):1365–79. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014. 07.045
- Banfai B, Jia H, Khatun J, Wood E, Risk B, Gundling WE Jr, et al. Long noncoding RNAs are rarely translated in two human cell lines. *Genome Res* (2012) 22(9):1646–57. doi:10.1101/gr.134767.111
- 46. Lee S, Liu B, Lee S, Huang SX, Shen B, Qian SB. Global mapping of translation initiation sites in mammalian cells at single-nucleotide resolution. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**(37):E2424–32. doi:10.1073/pnas.1207846109
- Slavoff SA, Mitchell AJ, Schwaid AG, Cabili MN, Ma J, Levin JZ, et al. Peptidomic discovery of short open reading frame-encoded peptides in human cells. *Nat Chem Biol* (2013) 9(1):59–64. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1120
- Andrews SJ, Rothnagel JA. Emerging evidence for functional peptides encoded by short open reading frames. *Nat Rev Genet* (2014) 15(3):193–204. doi:10. 1038/nrg3520
- Ulveling D, Francastel C, Hube F. When one is better than two: RNA with dual functions. *Biochimie* (2011) 93(4):633–44. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2010.11.004
- Poliseno L, Salmena L, Zhang J, Carver B, Haveman WJ, Pandolfi PP. A codingindependent function of gene and pseudogene mRNAs regulates tumour biology. *Nature* (2010) 465(7301):1033–8. doi:10.1038/nature09144
- Duret L, Chureau C, Samain S, Weissenbach J, Avner P. The Xist RNA gene evolved in eutherians by pseudogenization of a protein-coding gene. *Science* (2006) **312**(5780):1653–5. doi:10.1126/science.1126316
- 52. Elisaphenko EA, Kolesnikov NN, Shevchenko AI, Rogozin IB, Nesterova TB, Brockdorff N, et al. A dual origin of the *Xist* gene from a protein-coding gene and a set of transposable elements. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(6):e2521. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002521
- Horvath JE, Sheedy CB, Merrett SL, Diallo AB, Swofford DL, Program NCS, et al. Comparative analysis of the primate X-inactivation center region and reconstruction of the ancestral primate XIST locus. *Genome Res* (2011) 21(6):850–62. doi:10.1101/gr.111849.110
- Romito A, Rougeulle C. Origin and evolution of the long non-coding genes in the X-inactivation center. *Biochimie* (2011) 93(11):1935–42. doi:10.1016/j. biochi.2011.07.009
- 55. Bussotti G, Notredame C, Enright A. Detecting and comparing non-coding RNAs in the high-throughput era. *Int J Mol Sci* (2013) **14**(8):15423–58. doi:10.3390/ijms140815423
- 56. Nigro JM, Cho KR, Fearon ER, Kern SE, Ruppert JM, Oliner JD, et al. Scrambled exons. *Cell* (1991) **64**(3):607–13. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(91)90244-S
- 57. Beltran M, Puig I, Peña C, García JM, Álvarez AB, Peña R, et al. A natural antisense transcript regulates Zeb2/Sip1 gene expression during Snail1induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22(6):756–69. doi:10.1101/gad.455708
- Martick M, Horan LH, Noller HF, Scott WG. A discontinuous hammerhead ribozyme embedded in a mammalian messenger RNA. *Nature* (2008) 454(7206):899–902. doi:10.1038/nature07117
- Mercer TR, Gerhardt DJ, Dinger ME, Crawford J, Trapnell C, Jeddeloh JA, et al. Targeted RNA sequencing reveals the deep complexity of the human transcriptome. *Nat Biotech* (2012) 30(1):99–104. doi:10.1038/nbt.2024
- Katayama S, Tomaru Y, Kasukawa T, Waki K, Nakanishi M, Nakamura M, et al. Antisense transcription in the mammalian transcriptome. *Science* (2005) 309(5740):1564–6. doi:10.1126/science.1112009
- Li Z, Rana TM. Decoding the noncoding: prospective of lncRNA-mediated innate immune regulation. RNA Biol (2014) 11(8):979–85. doi:10.4161/rna. 29937

- 62. Imamura K, Akimitsu N. Long non-coding RNAs involved in immune responses. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:573. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00573
- Ranzani VRG, Panzeri I, Arrigoni A, Bonnal R, Curti S, Gruarin P, et al. LincRNA landscape in human lymphocytes highlights regulation of T cell differentiation by linc-MAF-4. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(3):318–25. doi:10.1038/ni.3093
- 64. Kapusta A, Kronenberg Z, Lynch VJ, Zhuo X, Ramsay L, Bourque G, et al. Transposable elements are major contributors to the origin, diversification, and regulation of vertebrate long noncoding RNAs. *PLoS Genet* (2013) 9(4):e1003470. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003470
- Kelley D, Rinn J. Transposable elements reveal a stem cell-specific class of long noncoding RNAs. *Genome Biol* (2012) 13(11):R107. doi:10.1186/gb-2012-13-11-r107
- 66. Lin N, Chang KY, Li Z, Gates K, Rana ZA, Dang J, et al. An evolutionarily conserved long noncoding RNA TUNA controls pluripotency and neural lineage commitment. *Mol Cell* (2014) 53(6):1005–19. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014. 01.021
- Klattenhoff CA, Scheuermann JC, Surface LE, Bradley RK, Fields PA, Steinhauser ML, et al. Braveheart, a long noncoding RNA required for cardiovascular lineage commitment. *Cell* (2013) 152(3):570–83. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013. 01.003
- Wang KC, Yang YW, Liu B, Sanyal A, Corces-Zimmerman R, Chen Y, et al. A long noncoding RNA maintains active chromatin to coordinate homeotic gene expression. *Nature* (2011) 472(7341):120–4. doi:10.1038/nature09819
- 69. Keniry A, Oxley D, Monnier P, Kyba M, Dandolo L, Smits G, et al. The H19 lincRNA is a developmental reservoir of miR-675 that suppresses growth and Igf1r. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14(7):659–65. doi:10.1038/ncb2521
- Venkatraman A, He XC, Thorvaldsen JL, Sugimura R, Perry JM, Tao F, et al. Maternal imprinting at the H19-Igf2 locus maintains adult haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. *Nature* (2013) 500(7462):345–9. doi:10.1038/ nature12303
- Mourtada-Maarabouni M, Hedge VL, Kirkham L, Farzaneh F, Williams GT. Growth arrest in human T-cells is controlled by the non-coding RNA growth-arrest-specific transcript 5 (GAS5). J Cell Sci (2008) 121(7):939–46. doi:10.1242/jcs.024646
- 72. Pickard MR, Mourtada-Maarabouni M, Williams GT. Long non-coding RNA GAS5 regulates apoptosis in prostate cancer cell lines. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2013) 1832(10):1613–23. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.05.005
- Rossi MN, Antonangeli F. LncRNAs: new players in apoptosis control. Int J Cell Biol (2014) 2014:7. doi:10.1155/2014/473857
- 74. Yin D, He X, Zhang E, Kong R, De W, Zhang Z. Long noncoding RNA GAS5 affects cell proliferation and predicts a poor prognosis in patients with colorectal cancer. *Med Oncol* (2014) 31(11):253. doi:10.1007/s12032-014-0253-8
- Cesana M, Cacchiarelli D, Legnini I, Santini T, Sthandier O, Chinappi M, et al. A long noncoding RNA controls muscle differentiation by functioning as a competing endogenous RNA. *Cell* (2011) 147(2):358–69. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011. 09.028
- Fatica A, Bozzoni I. Long non-coding RNAs: new players in cell differentiation and development. Nat Rev Genet (2014) 15(1):7–21. doi:10.1038/nrg3606
- Hu W, Alvarez-Dominguez JR, Lodish HF. Regulation of mammalian cell differentiation by long non-coding RNAs. *EMBO Rep* (2012) 13(11):971–83. doi:10.1038/embor.2012.145
- Lee Jeannie T, Bartolomei Marisa S. X-inactivation, imprinting, and long noncoding RNAs in health and disease. *Cell* (2013) 152(6):1308–23. doi:10.1016/ j.cell.2013.02.016
- 79. Mitsuya K, Meguro M, Lee MP, Katoh M, Schulz TC, Kugoh H, et al. LIT1, an imprinted antisense RNA in the human KvLQT1 locus identified by screening for differentially expressed transcripts using monochromosomal hybrids. *Hum Mol Genet* (1999) 8(7):1209–17. doi:10.1093/hmg/8.7.1209
- Zhang H, Zeitz MJ, Wang H, Niu B, Ge S, Li W, et al. Long noncoding RNAmediated intrachromosomal interactions promote imprinting at the Kcnq1 locus. J Cell Biol (2014) 204(1):61–75. doi:10.1083/jcb.201304152
- Gendrel AV, Heard E. Noncoding RNAs and epigenetic mechanisms during X-chromosome inactivation. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* (2014) 30:561–80. doi:10.1146/annurev-cellbio-101512-122415
- 82. Khalil AM, Guttman M, Huarte M, Garber M, Raj A, Rivea Morales D, et al. Many human large intergenic noncoding RNAs associate with chromatinmodifying complexes and affect gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(28):11667–72. doi:10.1073/pnas.0904715106

- Salmena L, Poliseno L, Tay Y, Kats L, Pandolfi Pier P. A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta stone of a hidden RNA language? *Cell* (2011) 146(3):353–8. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.014
- 84. Willingham AT, Orth AP, Batalov S, Peters EC, Wen BG, Aza-Blanc P, et al. A strategy for probing the function of noncoding RNAs finds a repressor of NFAT. *Science* (2005) **309**(5740):1570–3. doi:10.1126/science.1115901
- Carrieri C, Cimatti L, Biagioli M, Beugnet A, Zucchelli S, Fedele S, et al. Long non-coding antisense RNA controls Uchl1 translation through an embedded SINEB2 repeat. *Nature* (2012) 491(7424):454–7. doi:10.1038/nature11508
- Tripathi V, Ellis JD, Shen Z, Song DY, Pan Q, Watt AT, et al. The nuclearretained noncoding RNA MALAT1 regulates alternative splicing by modulating SR splicing factor phosphorylation. *Mol Cell* (2010) **39**(6):925–38. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.08.011
- Conrad NK. The emerging role of triple helices in RNA biology. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA (2014) 5(1):15–29. doi:10.1002/wrna.1194
- Cruz JA, Westhof E. The dynamic landscapes of RNA architecture. *Cell* (2009) 136(4):604–9. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.02.003
- Lescoute A, Westhof E. Topology of three-way junctions in folded RNAs. RNA (2006) 12(1):83–93. doi:10.1261/rna.2208106
- Jia G, Fu Y, Zhao X, Dai Q, Zheng G, Yang Y, et al. N6-Methyladenosine in nuclear RNA is a major substrate of the obesity-associated FTO. *Nat Chem Biol* (2011) 7(12):885–7. doi:10.1038/nchembio.687
- 91. Yang Y, Zhou X, Jin Y. ADAR-mediated RNA editing in non-coding RNA sequences. Sci China Life Sci (2013) 56(10):944–52. doi:10.1007/s11427-013-4546-5
- Squires JE, Patel HR, Nousch M, Sibbritt T, Humphreys DT, Parker BJ, et al. Widespread occurrence of 5-methylcytosine in human coding and non-coding RNA. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2012) 40(11):5023–33. doi:10.1093/nar/gks144
- Chi SW, Hannon GJ, Darnell RB. An alternative mode of microRNA target recognition. Nat Struct Mol Biol (2012) 19(3):321–7. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2230
- 94. Mariner PD, Walters RD, Espinoza CA, Drullinger LF, Wagner SD, Kugel JF, et al. Human Alu RNA is a modular transacting repressor of mRNA transcription during heat shock. *Mol Cell* (2008) **29**(4):499–509. doi:10.1016/j.molcel. 2007.12.013
- Kutter C, Watt S, Stefflova K, Wilson MD, Goncalves A, Ponting CP, et al. Rapid turnover of long noncoding RNAs and the evolution of gene expression. *PLoS Genet* (2012) 8(7):e1002841. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002841
- Ponjavic J, Ponting CP, Lunter G. Functionality or transcriptional noise? Evidence for selection within long noncoding RNAs. *Genome Res* (2007) 17(5):556–65. doi:10.1101/gr.6036807
- Marques AC, Ponting CP. Intergenic lncRNAs and the evolution of gene expression. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2014) 27(0):48–53. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2014.03.009
- Engreitz Jesse M, Sirokman K, McDonel P, Shishkin AA, Surka C, Russell P, et al. RNA-RNA interactions enable specific targeting of noncoding RNAs to nascent pre-mRNAs and chromatin sites. *Cell* (2014) 159(1):188–99. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.08.018
- Chu C, Qu K, Zhong FL, Artandi SE, Chang HY. Genomic maps of long noncoding RNA occupancy reveal principles of RNA-chromatin interactions. *Mol Cell* (2011) 44(4):667–78. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2011.08.027
- 100. Schmitz KM, Mayer C, Postepska A, Grummt I. Interaction of noncoding RNA with the rDNA promoter mediates recruitment of DNMT3b and silencing of rRNA genes. *Genes Dev* (2010) 24(20):2264–9. doi:10.1101/gad.590910
- 101. Clemson CM, Hutchinson JN, Sara SA, Ensminger AW, Fox AH, Chess A, et al. An architectural role for a nuclear noncoding RNA: NEAT1 RNA is essential for the structure of paraspeckles. *Mol Cell* (2009) 33(6):717–26. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2009.01.026
- 102. Imamura K, Imamachi N, Akizuki G, Kumakura M, Kawaguchi A, Nagata K, et al. Long noncoding RNA NEAT1-dependent SFPQ relocation from promoter region to paraspeckle mediates IL8 expression upon immune stimuli. *Mol Cell* (2014) 53(3):393–406. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.009
- Abarrategui I, Krangel MS. Noncoding transcription controls downstream promoters to regulate T-cell receptor alpha recombination. *EMBO J* (2007) 26(20):4380–90. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601866
- 104. Bolland DJ, Wood AL, Johnston CM, Bunting SF, Morgan G, Chakalova L, et al. Antisense intergenic transcription in V(D)J recombination. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(6):630–7. doi:10.1038/ni1068
- 105. Verma-Gaur J, Torkamani A, Schaffer L, Head SR, Schork NJ, Feeney AJ. Noncoding transcription within the Igh distal V(H) region at PAIR elements affects

the 3D structure of the Igh locus in pro-B cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) **109**(42):17004–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1208398109

- 106. Kino T, Hurt DE, Ichijo T, Nader N, Chrousos GP. Noncoding RNA gas5 is a growth arrest- and starvation-associated repressor of the glucocorticoid receptor. *Sci Signal* (2010) 3(107):ra8. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2000568
- 107. Williams GT, Mourtada-Maarabouni M, Farzaneh F. A critical role for noncoding RNA GAS5 in growth arrest and rapamycin inhibition in human Tlymphocytes. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2011) 39(2):482–6. doi:10.1042/BST0390482
- 108. Bird A. Perceptions of epigenetics. Nature (2007) 447(7143):396–8. doi:10. 1038/nature05913
- 109. Goldberg AD, Allis CD, Bernstein E. Epigenetics: a landscape takes shape. *Cell* (2007) **128**(4):635–8. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.02.006
- 110. Costa FF. Non-coding RNAs, epigenetics and complexity. *Gene* (2008) 410(1):9–17. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2007.12.008
- 111. Ansel KM, Lee DU, Rao A. An epigenetic view of helper T cell differentiation. Nat Immunol (2003) 4(7):616–23. doi:10.1038/ni0703-616
- 112. Tripathi SK, Lahesmaa R. Transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of Thelper lineage specification. *Immunol Rev* (2014) 261(1):62–83. doi:10.1111/ imr.12204
- 113. Ansel KM, Djuretic I, Tanasa B, Rao A. Regulation of Th2 differentiation and Il4 locus accessibility. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2006) 24:607–56. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.23.021704.115821
- 114. Balasubramani A, Mukasa R, Hatton RD, Weaver CT. Regulation of the Ifng locus in the context of T-lineage specification and plasticity. *Immunol Rev* (2010) 238(1):216–32. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00961.x
- 115. Chang S, Aune TM. Dynamic changes in histone-methylation 'marks' across the locus encoding interferon-gamma during the differentiation of T helper type 2 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(7):723–31. doi:10.1038/ni1473
- 116. Ballas ZK. The use of 5-azacytidine to establish constitutive interleukin 2producing clones of the EL4 thymoma. *J Immunol* (1984) **133**(1):7–9.
- 117. Young HA, Ghosh P, Ye J, Lederer J, Lichtman A, Gerard JR, et al. Differentiation of the T helper phenotypes by analysis of the methylation state of the IFN-gamma gene. *J Immunol* (1994) **153**(8):3603–10.
- 118. Bird JJ, Brown DR, Mullen AC, Moskowitz NH, Mahowald MA, Sider JR, et al. Helper T cell differentiation is controlled by the cell cycle. *Immunity* (1998) 9(2):229–37. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80605-6
- 119. Morinobu A, Kanno Y, O'Shea JJ. Discrete roles for histone acetylation in human T helper 1 cell-specific gene expression. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(39):40640–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.M407576200
- Valapour M, Guo J, Schroeder JT, Keen J, Cianferoni A, Casolaro V, et al. Histone deacetylation inhibits IL4 gene expression in T cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2002) 109(2):238–45. doi:10.1067/mai.2002.121145
- 121. Hutchins AS, Mullen AC, Lee HW, Sykes KJ, High FA, Hendrich BD, et al. Gene silencing quantitatively controls the function of a developmental transactivator. *Mol Cell* (2002) **10**(1):81–91. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00564-6
- 122. Lee PP, Fitzpatrick DR, Beard C, Jessup HK, Lehar S, Makar KW, et al. A critical role for Dnmt1 and DNA methylation in T cell development, function, and survival. *Immunity* (2001) 15(5):763–74. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00227-8
- 123. Makar KW, Perez-Melgosa M, Shnyreva M, Weaver WM, Fitzpatrick DR, Wilson CB. Active recruitment of DNA methyltransferases regulates interleukin 4 in thymocytes and T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4(12):1183–90. doi:10.1038/ni1004
- 124. Yamashita M, Hirahara K, Shinnakasu R, Hosokawa H, Norikane S, Kimura MY, et al. Crucial role of MLL for the maintenance of memory T helper type 2 cell responses. *Immunity* (2006) 24(5):611–22. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.03.017
- 125. Onodera A, Yamashita M, Endo Y, Kuwahara M, Tofukuji S, Hosokawa H, et al. STAT6-mediated displacement of polycomb by trithorax complex establishes long-term maintenance of GATA3 expression in T helper type 2 cells. J Exp Med (2010) 207(11):2493–506. doi:10.1084/jem.20100760
- 126. Kimura M, Koseki Y, Yamashita M, Watanabe N, Shimizu C, Katsumoto T, et al. Regulation of Th2 cell differentiation by mel-18, a mammalian polycomb group gene. *Immunity* (2001) 15(2):275–87. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00182-0
- 127. Yamashita M, Kuwahara M, Suzuki A, Hirahara K, Shinnaksu R, Hosokawa H, et al. Bmi1 regulates memory CD4 T cell survival via repression of the Noxa gene. J Exp Med (2008) 205(5):1109–20. doi:10.1084/jem.20072000
- 128. Koyanagi M, Baguet A, Martens J, Margueron R, Jenuwein T, Bix M. EZH2 and histone 3 trimethyl lysine 27 associated with Il4 and Il13 gene silencing in Th1 cells. J Biol Chem (2005) **280**(36):31470–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M504766200

- 129. Su IH, Dobenecker MW, Dickinson E, Oser M, Basavaraj A, Marqueron R, et al. Polycomb group protein ezh2 controls actin polymerization and cell signaling. *Cell* (2005) **121**(3):425–36. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.029
- 130. Wei G, Wei L, Zhu J, Zang C, Hu-Li J, Yao Z, et al. Global mapping of H3K4me3 and H3K27me3 reveals specificity and plasticity in lineage fate determination of differentiating CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* (2009) 30(1):155–67. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.12.009
- 131. Hirahara K, Vahedi G, Ghoreschi K, Yang XP, Nakayamada S, Kanno Y, et al. Helper T-cell differentiation and plasticity: insights from epigenetics. *Immunology* (2011) 134(3):235–45. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03483.x
- 132. Bernstein BE, Meissner A, Lander ES. The mammalian epigenome. *Cell* (2007) 128(4):669–81. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.033
- 133. Grogan JL, Mohrs M, Harmon B, Lacy DA, Sedat JW, Locksley RM. Early transcription and silencing of cytokine genes underlie polarization of T helper cell subsets. *Immunity* (2001) 14(3):205–15. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00103-0
- 134. Mullen AC, High FA, Hutchins AS, Lee HW, Villarino AV, Livingston DM, et al. Role of T-bet in commitment of TH1 cells before IL-12-dependent selection. *Science* (2001) 292(5523):1907–10. doi:10.1126/science.1059835
- 135. Panzer M, Sitte S, Wirth S, Drexler I, Sparwasser T, Voehringer D. Rapid in vivo conversion of effector T cells into Th2 cells during helminth infection. *J Immunol* (2012) 188(2):615–23. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101164
- 136. Peine M, Rausch S, Helmstetter C, Fröhlich A, Hegazy AN, Kühl AA, et al. Stable T-bet(+)GATA-3(+) Th1/Th2 hybrid cells arise *in vivo*, can develop directly from naive precursors, and limit immunopathologic inflammation. *PLoS Biol* (2013) **11**(8):e1001633. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001633
- 137. Zhao J, Ohsumi TK, Kung JT, Ogawa Y, Grau DJ, Sarma K, et al. Genomewide identification of polycomb-associated RNAs by RIP-seq. *Mol Cell* (2010) 40(6):939–53. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.12.011
- 138. Tsai MC, Manor O, Wan Y, Mosammaparast N, Wang JK, Lan F, et al. Long noncoding RNA as modular scaffold of histone modification complexes. *Science* (2010) **329**(5992):689–93. doi:10.1126/science.1192002
- 139. Guttman M, Donaghey J, Carey BW, Garber M, Grenier JK, Munson G, et al. lincRNAs act in the circuitry controlling pluripotency and differentiation. *Nature* (2011) 477(7364):295–300. doi:10.1038/nature10398
- 140. Schuettengruber B, Ganapathi M, Leblanc B, Portoso M, Jaschek R, Tolhuis B, et al. Functional anatomy of polycomb and trithorax chromatin landscapes in *Drosophila* embryos. *PLoS Biol* (2009) 7(1):e1000013. doi:10.1371/journal. pbio.1000013
- 141. Kassis JA, Brown JL. Polycomb group response elements in *Drosophila* and vertebrates. *Adv Genet* (2013) 81:83–118. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-407677-8. 00003-8
- 142. Bernstein E, Allis CD. RNA meets chromatin. Genes Dev (2005) 19(14):1635–55. doi:10.1101/gad.1324305
- 143. Jeffery L, Nakielny S. Components of the DNA methylation system of chromatin control are RNA-binding proteins. J Biol Chem (2004) 279(47):49479–87. doi:10.1074/jbc.M409070200
- 144. Hiragami-Hamada K, Fischle W. RNAs physical and functional modulators of chromatin reader proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 1839(8):737–42. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.03.015
- 145. Zhao J, Sun BK, Erwin JA, Song J-J, Lee JT. Polycomb proteins targeted by a short repeat RNA to the mouse X chromosome. *Science* (2008) **322**(5902):750–6. doi:10.1126/science.1163045
- 146. Pandey RR, Mondal T, Mohammad F, Enroth S, Redrup L, Komorowski J, et al. Kcnq1ot1 antisense noncoding RNA mediates lineage-specific transcriptional silencing through chromatin-level regulation. *Mol Cell* (2008) **32**(2):232–46. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2008.08.022
- 147. Yang L, Lin C, Liu W, Zhang J, Ohgi KA, Grinstein JD, et al. ncRNA- and Pc2 methylation-dependent gene relocation between nuclear structures mediates gene activation programs. *Cell* (2011) **147**(4):773–88. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011. 08.054
- 148. Chalei V, Sansom SN, Kong L, Lee S, Montiel JF, Vance KW, et al. The long non-coding RNA Dali is an epigenetic regulator of neural differentiation. *Elife* (2014) 3:e04530. doi:10.7554/eLife.04530
- 149. Steffen PA, Ringrose L. What are memories made of? How polycomb and trithorax proteins mediate epigenetic memory. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2014) 15(5):340–56. doi:10.1038/nrm3789
- 150. Arab K, Park YJ, Lindroth AM, Schafer A, Oakes C, Weichenhan D, et al. Long noncoding RNA TARID directs demethylation and activation of the

tumor suppressor TCF21 via GADD45A. Mol Cell (2014) 55(4):604-14. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.06.031

- 151. Iyer LM, Abhiman S, Aravind L. Natural history of eukaryotic DNA methylation systems. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci* (2011) 101:25–104. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-387685-0.00002-0
- Ponnaluri VK, Maciejewski JP, Mukherji M. A mechanistic overview of TETmediated 5-methylcytosine oxidation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 436(2):115–20. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.05.077
- 153. Lee JT. Epigenetic regulation by long noncoding RNAs. *Science* (2012) 338(6113):1435–9. doi:10.1126/science.1231776
- 154. Rinn JL, Kertesz M, Wang JK, Squazzo SL, Xu X, Brugmann SA, et al. Functional demarcation of active and silent chromatin domains in human HOX loci by noncoding RNAs. *Cell* (2007) **129**(7):1311–23. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.022
- 155. Cremer T, Cremer C. Chromosome territories, nuclear architecture and gene regulation in mammalian cells. Nat Rev Genet (2001) 2(4):292–301. doi:10.1038/35066075
- 156. Sleeman JE, Trinkle-Mulcahy L. Nuclear bodies: new insights into assembly/dynamics and disease relevance. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2014) 28(0):76–83. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2014.03.004
- 157. Reddy KL, Zullo JM, Bertolino E, Singh H. Transcriptional repression mediated by repositioning of genes to the nuclear lamina. *Nature* (2008) 452(7184):243–7. doi:10.1038/nature06727
- Kumaran RI, Thakar R, Spector DL. Chromatin dynamics and gene positioning. Cell (2008) 132(6):929–34. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.004
- 159. Kosak ST, Skok JA, Medina KL, Riblet R, Le Beau MM, Fisher AG, et al. Subnuclear compartmentalization of immunoglobulin loci during lymphocyte development. *Science* (2002) **296**(5565):158–62. doi:10.1126/science.1068768
- 160. Yao H, Brick K, Evrard Y, Xiao T, Camerini-Otero RD, Felsenfeld G. Mediation of CTCF transcriptional insulation by DEAD-box RNA-binding protein p68 and steroid receptor RNA activator SRA. *Genes Dev* (2010) 24(22):2543–55. doi:10.1101/gad.1967810
- 161. Xiang J-F, Yin Q-F, Chen T, Zhang Y, Zhang X-O, Wu Z, et al. Human colorectal cancer-specific CCAT1-L lncRNA regulates long-range chromatin interactions at the MYC locus. *Cell Res* (2014) 24(5):513–31. doi:10.1038/cr.2014.35
- 162. Hacisuleyman E, Goff LA, Trapnell C, Williams A, Henao-Mejia J, Sun L, et al. Topological organization of multichromosomal regions by the long intergenic noncoding RNA Firre. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2014) 21(2):198–206. doi:10.1038/nsmb.2764
- 163. Lai F, Orom UA, Cesaroni M, Beringer M, Taatjes DJ, Blobel GA, et al. Activating RNAs associate with mediator to enhance chromatin architecture and transcription. *Nature* (2013) **494**(7438):497–501. doi:10.1038/nature11884
- 164. Orom UA, Derrien T, Beringer M, Gumireddy K, Gardini A, Bussotti G, et al. Long noncoding RNAs with enhancer-like function in human cells. *Cell* (2010) 143(1):46–58. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.001
- 165. Krivega I, Dean A. Enhancer and promoter interactions-long distance calls. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2012) 22(2):79–85. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2011.11.001
- 166. Kagey MH, Newman JJ, Bilodeau S, Zhan Y, Orlando DA, van Berkum NL, et al. Mediator and cohesin connect gene expression and chromatin architecture. *Nature* (2010) 467(7314):430–5. doi:10.1038/nature09380
- 167. O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**(5969):1098–102. doi:10.1126/ science.1178334
- 168. Geginat J, Paroni M, Maglie S, Alfen JS, Kastirr I, Gruarin P, et al. Plasticity of human CD4 T cell subsets. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:630. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2014.00630
- 169. Hedrich CM, Bream JH. Cell type-specific regulation of IL-10 expression in inflammation and disease. *Immunol Res* (2010) 47(1–3):185–206. doi:10.1007/ s12026-009-8150-5
- 170. Chen Z, Tato CM, Muul L, Laurence A, O'Shea JJ. Distinct regulation of interleukin-17 in human T helper lymphocytes. *Arthritis Rheum* (2007) 56(9):2936–46. doi:10.1002/art.22866
- 171. Wilson NJ, Boniface K, Chan JR, McKenzie BS, Blumenschein WM, Mattson JD, et al. Development, cytokine profile and function of human interleukin 17producing helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):950–7. doi:10.1038/ni1497
- 172. Zhang F, Meng G, Strober W. Interactions among the transcription factors Runx1, RORgammat and Foxp3 regulate the differentiation of interleukin 17producing T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(11):1297–306. doi:10.1038/ni.1663

- 173. Klunker S, Chong MM, Mantel PY, Palomares O, Bassin C, Ziegler M, et al. Transcription factors RUNX1 and RUNX3 in the induction and suppressive function of Foxp3+ inducible regulatory T cells. J Exp Med (2009) 206(12):2701–15. doi:10.1084/jem.20090596
- 174. Li L, Patsoukis N, Petkova V, Boussiotis VA. Runx1 and Runx3 are involved in the generation and function of highly suppressive IL-17-producing T regulatory cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(9):e45115. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045115
- 175. Chung Y, Tanaka S, Chu F, Nurieva RI, Martinez GJ, Rawal S, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):983–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2426
- 176. Tsuji M, Komatsu N, Kawamoto S, Suzuki K, Kanagawa O, Honjo T, et al. Preferential generation of follicular B helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. *Science* (2009) **323**(5920):1488–92. doi:10.1126/science.1169152
- 177. Rossi RL, Rossetti G, Wenandy L, Curti S, Ripamonti A, Bonnal RJP, et al. Distinct microRNA signatures in human lymphocyte subsets and enforcement of the naive state in CD4+ T cells by the microRNA miR-125b. *Nat Immunol* (2011) **12**(8):796–803. doi:10.1038/ni.2057
- 178. Turner M, Galloway A, Vigorito E. Noncoding RNA and its associated proteins as regulatory elements of the immune system. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15(6):484–91. doi:10.1038/ni.2887
- Barabasi A-L, Oltvai ZN. Network biology: understanding the cell's functional organization. *Nat Rev Genet* (2004) 5(2):101–13. doi:10.1038/nrg1272
- 180. Zhang B, Arun G, Mao Yuntao S, Lazar Z, Hung G, Bhattacharjee G, et al. The lncRNA Malat1 is dispensable for mouse development but its transcription plays a cis-regulatory role in the adult. *Cell Rep* (2013) 2(1):111–23. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.06.003
- Necsulea A, Kaessmann H. Evolutionary dynamics of coding and non-coding transcriptomes. Nat Rev Genet (2014) 15(11):734–48. doi:10.1038/nrg3802
- Pollard KS, Salama SR, King B, Kern AD, Dreszer T, Katzman S, et al. Forces shaping the fastest evolving regions in the human genome. *PLoS Genet* (2006) 2(10):e168. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0020168
- 183. Schorderet P, Duboule D. Structural and functional differences in the long noncoding RNA hotair in mouse and human. *PLoS Genet* (2011) 7(5):e1002071. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1002071
- 184. Gerstein MB, Rozowsky J, Yan KK, Wang D, Cheng C, Brown JB, et al. Comparative analysis of the transcriptome across distant species. *Nature* (2014) 512(7515):445–8. doi:10.1038/nature13424
- 185. On T, Xiong X, Pu S, Turinsky A, Gong Y, Emili A, et al. The evolutionary landscape of the chromatin modification machinery reveals lineage specific gains, expansions, and losses. *Proteins* (2010) 78(9):2075–89. doi:10.1002/prot.22723
- 186. Hrdlickova B, Kumar V, Kanduri K, Zhernakova D, Tripathi S, Karjalainen J, et al. Expression profiles of long non-coding RNAs located in autoimmune disease-associated regions reveal immune cell-type specificity. *Genome Med* (2014) 6(10):88. doi:10.1186/s13073-014-0088-0
- 187. Xia F, Dong F, Yang Y, Huang A, Chen S, Sun D, et al. Dynamic transcription of long non-coding RNA genes during CD4+ T cell development and activation. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(7):e101588. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0101588
- 188. Aoki K, Harashima A, Sano M, Yokoi T, Nakamura S, Kibata M, et al. A thymus-specific noncoding RNA, Thy-ncR1, is a cytoplasmic riboregulator of MFAP4 mRNA in immature T-cell lines. *BMC Mol Biol* (2010) 11(1):99. doi:10.1186/1471-2199-11-99
- 189. Hu G, Tang Q, Sharma S, Yu F, Escobar TM, Muljo SA, et al. Expression and regulation of intergenic long noncoding RNAs during T cell development and differentiation. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(11):1190–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2712
- 190. Kimura T, Jiang S, Nishizawa M, Yoshigai E, Hashimoto I, Nishikawa M, et al. Stabilization of human interferon-alpha1 mRNA by its antisense RNA. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2013) **70**(8):1451–67. doi:10.1007/s00018-012-1216-x
- 191. Yan M-D, Hong C-C, Lai G-M, Cheng A-L, Lin Y-W, Chuang S-E. Identification and characterization of a novel gene Saf transcribed from the opposite strand of Fas. *Hum Mol Genet* (2005) 14(11):1465–74. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi156
- 192. Sehgal L, Mathur R, Braun FK, Wise JF, Berkova Z, Neelapu S, et al. FASantisense 1 lncRNA and production of soluble versus membrane Fas in B-cell lymphoma. *Leukemia* (2014) 28(12):2376–87. doi:10.1038/leu.2014.126
- 193. Haasch D, Chen YW, Reilly RM, Chiou XG, Koterski S, Smith ML, et al. T cell activation induces a noncoding RNA transcript sensitive to inhibition by immunosuppressant drugs and encoded by the proto-oncogene, BIC. Cell Immunol (2002) 217(1–2):78–86. doi:10.1016/S0008-8749(02)00506-3

- 194. Liu AY, Torchia BS, Migeon BR, Siliciano RF. The human NTT gene: identification of a novel 17-kb noncoding nuclear RNA expressed in activated CD4+ T cells. *Genomics* (1997) **39**(2):171–84. doi:10.1006/geno.1996.4463
- Abarrategui I, Krangel MS. Regulation of T cell receptor-alpha gene recombination by transcription. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7(10):1109–15. doi:10.1038/ni1379
- 196. Collier SP, Collins PL, Williams CL, Boothby MR, Aune TM. Cutting edge: influence of Tmevpg1, a long intergenic noncoding RNA, on the expression of Ifng by Th1 cells. *J Immunol* (2012) **189**(5):2084–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200774
- 197. Gomez JA, Wapinski OL, Yang YW, Bureau JF, Gopinath S, Monack DM, et al. The NeST long ncRNA controls microbial susceptibility and epigenetic activation of the interferon-gamma locus. *Cell* (2013) 152(4):743–54. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.01.015
- 198. Zhang H, Nestor CE, Zhao S, Lentini A, Bohle B, Benson M, et al. Profiling of human CD4+ T-cell subsets identifies the TH2-specific noncoding RNA GATA3-AS1. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2013) 132(4):1005–8. doi:10.1016/j.jaci. 2013.05.033
- 199. Seok J, Warren HS, Cuenca AG, Mindrinos MN, Baker HV, Xu W, et al. Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) **110**(9):3507–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.1222878110
- 200. Takao K, Miyakawa T. Genomic responses in mouse models greatly mimic human inflammatory diseases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) **112**(4):1167–72. doi:10.1073/pnas.1401965111
- 201. Tuomela S, Lahesmaa R. Early T helper cell programming of gene expression in human. *Semin Immunol* (2013) **25**(4):282–90. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2013.10.013
- 202. Necsulea A, Soumillon M, Warnefors M, Liechti A, Daish T, Zeller U, et al. The evolution of lncRNA repertoires and expression patterns in tetrapods. *Nature* (2014) 505(7485):635–40. doi:10.1038/nature12943
- 203. Nesterova TB, Slobodyanyuk SY, Elisaphenko EA, Shevchenko AI, Johnston C, Pavlova ME, et al. Characterization of the genomic Xist locus in rodents reveals conservation of overall gene structure and tandem repeats but rapid evolution of unique sequence. *Genome Res* (2001) 11(5):833–49. doi:10.1101/gr.174901
- 204. Cabili MN, Trapnell C, Goff L, Koziol M, Tazon-Vega B, Regev A, et al. Integrative annotation of human large intergenic noncoding RNAs reveals global properties and specific subclasses. *Genes Dev* (2011) 25(18):1915–27. doi:10.1101/gad.17446611
- 205. Church DM, Goodstadt L, Hillier LW, Zody MC, Goldstein S, She X, et al. Lineage-specific biology revealed by a finished genome assembly of the mouse. *PLoS Biol* (2009) 7(5):e1000112. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000112
- Pang KC, Frith MC, Mattick JS. Rapid evolution of noncoding RNAs: lack of conservation does not mean lack of function. *Trends Genet* (2006) 22(1):1–5. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2005.10.003
- 207. Carninci P, Kasukawa T, Katayama S, Gough J, Frith MC, Maeda N, et al. The transcriptional landscape of the mammalian genome. *Science* (2005) 309(5740):1559–63. doi:10.1126/science.1112014
- Ulitsky I, Shkumatava A, Jan Calvin H, Sive H, Bartel David P. Conserved function of lincRNAs in vertebrate embryonic development despite rapid sequence evolution. *Cell* (2011) 147(7):1537–50. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.11.055
- 209. He S, Liu S, Zhu H. The sequence, structure and evolutionary features of HOTAIR in mammals. BMC Evol Biol (2011) 11:102. doi:10.1186/1471-2148-11-102
- 210. Zhang X, Lian Z, Padden C, Gerstein MB, Rozowsky J, Snyder M, et al. A myelopoiesis-associated regulatory intergenic noncoding RNA transcript within the human HOXA cluster. *Blood* (2009) **113**(11):2526–34. doi:10.1182/ blood-2008-06-162164
- 211. Wright PW, Huehn A, Cichocki F, Li H, Sharma N, Dang H, et al. Identification of a KIR antisense lncRNA expressed by progenitor cells. *Genes Immun* (2013) 14(7):427–33. doi:10.1038/gene.2013.36

- 212. Wang P, Xue Y, Han Y, Lin L, Wu C, Xu S, et al. The STAT3-binding long noncoding RNA lnc-DC controls human dendritic cell differentiation. *Science* (2014) 344(6181):310–3. doi:10.1126/science.1251456
- 213. Xing Z, Lin A, Li C, Liang K, Wang S, Liu Y, et al. IncRNA directs cooperative epigenetic regulation downstream of chemokine signals. *Cell* (2014) 159(5):1110–25. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.10.013
- 214. Carpenter S, Aiello D, Atianand MK, Ricci EP, Gandhi P, Hall LL, et al. A long noncoding RNA mediates both activation and repression of immune response genes. *Science* (2013) 341(6147):789–92. doi:10.1126/science.1240925
- 215. Rapicavoli NA, Qu K, Zhang J, Mikhail M, Laberge R-M, Chang HY. A mammalian pseudogene lncRNA at the interface of inflammation and anti-inflammatory therapeutics. *Elife* (2013) 2:e00762. doi:10.7554/eLife. 00762
- 216. Li Z, Chao T-C, Chang K-Y, Lin N, Patil VS, Shimizu C, et al. The long noncoding RNA THRIL regulates TNFα expression through its interaction with hnRNPL. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) **111**(3):1002–7. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1313768111
- 217. Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* (1986) **136**(7):2348–57.
- 218. Chang S, Aune TM. Histone hyperacetylated domains across the Ifng gene region in natural killer cells and T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102(47):17095–100. doi:10.1073/pnas.0502129102
- Zhou W, Chang S, Aune TM. Long-range histone acetylation of the Ifng gene is an essential feature of T cell differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101(8):2440–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.0306002101
- 220. Ho IC, Lo D, Glimcher LH. c-maf promotes T helper cell type 2 (Th2) and attenuates Th1 differentiation by both interleukin 4-dependent and independent mechanisms. J Exp Med (1998) 188(10):1859–66. doi:10.1084/ jem.188.10.1859
- 221. Liu X, Nurieva RI, Dong C. Transcriptional regulation of follicular T-helper (Tfh) cells. *Immunol Rev* (2013) **252**(1):139–45. doi:10.1111/imr.12040
- 222. Sato K, Miyoshi F, Yokota K, Araki Y, Asanuma Y, Akiyama Y, et al. Marked induction of c-Maf protein during Th17 cell differentiation and its implication in memory Th cell development. *J Biol Chem* (2011) **286**(17):14963–71. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.218867
- 223. Gupta RA, Shah N, Wang KC, Kim J, Horlings HM, Wong DJ, et al. Long noncoding RNA HOTAIR reprograms chromatin state to promote cancer metastasis. *Nature* (2010) 464(7291):1071–6. doi:10.1038/nature08975

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 January 2015; accepted: 28 March 2015; published online: 15 April 2015. Citation: Panzeri I, Rossetti G, Abrignani S and Pagani M (2015) Long intergenic non-coding RNAs: novel drivers of human lymphocyte differentiation. Front. Immunol. **6**:175. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00175

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2015 Panzeri, Rossetti, Abrignani and Pagani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 07 October 2014 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00488



Cellular plasticity of CD4+T cells in the intestine

Verena Brucklacher-Waldert[†], Edward J. Carr[†], Michelle A. Linterman and Marc Veldhoen*

Laboratory for Lymphocyte Signalling and Development, The Babraham Institute, Cambridge, UK

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

John J. Miles, Queensland Institute of Medical Research, Australia Sid P. Kerkar, National Institutes of Health, USA

*Correspondence:

Marc Veldhoen, Laboratory for Lymphocyte Signalling and Development, The Babraham Institute, Babraham Research Campus, Cambridge CB22 3AT, UK e-mail: marc.veldhoen@ babraham.ac.uk

[†]Verena Brucklacher-Waldert and Edward J. Carr have contributed equally to this work. Barrier sites such as the gastrointestinal tract are in constant contact with the environment, which contains both beneficial and harmful components. The immune system at the epithelia must make the distinction between these components to balance tolerance, protection, and immunopathology. This is achieved via multifaceted immune recognition, highly organized lymphoid structures, and the interaction of many types of immune cells. The adaptive immune response in the gut is orchestrated by CD4⁺ helper T (Th) cells, which are integral to gut immunity. In recent years, it has become apparent that the functional identity of these Th cells is not as fixed as initially thought. Plasticity in differentiated T cell subsets has now been firmly established, in both health and disease. The gut, in particular, utilizes CD4⁺ T cell plasticity to mold CD4⁺ T cell phenotypes to maintain its finely poised balance of tolerance and inflammation and to encourage biodiversity within the enteric microbiome. In this review, we will discuss intestinal helper T cell plasticity and our current understanding of its mechanisms, including our growing knowledge of an evolutionarily ancient symbiosis between microbiota and malleable CD4⁺ T cell effectors.

Keywords: T cells, plasticity, intestines, Th1 cells, Th17 cell

INTRODUCTION

The adult human gastrointestinal tract is the largest surface area of the body that contacts with the environment, covering 200- $300 \text{ m}^2(1)$. This intestinal surface is constantly exposed to a diverse range of foreign antigens originating from microorganisms (both commensals and pathogens) and food antigens from the diet (2). Commensal microorganisms play an essential role in extracting nutrients from food that are otherwise inaccessible to the host [such as the metabolism of vitamin K by E. coli (3)], they are required for the development of the host's immune system and for the prevention of colonization of the gastrointestinal tract by pathogens. Mucosal pathogens, including viruses, fungi, parasites, and bacteria, can cause pathology either by local effects after mucosal colonization - such as inducing local inflammation or secreting toxins - or, through systemic infection after breeching mucosa. Microorganism-derived antigens, food-derived antigens, and airborne particles, can be potential immunogens. An inappropriate response to these immunogens at the mucosal surface can be detrimental, leading to local or systemic pathology that result in acute or chronic inflammation. Therefore, it is essential that the myriad of antigens present at the intestinal surface is dealt with appropriately to minimize potential danger and maximize host benefit. This protection is achieved by a flexible, multilayered system of physical, and immunological barriers within the gastrointestinal tract.

A central part of the complex host defense system is gutassociated lymphoid tissue (GALT). GALT is a system of highly organized immune structures strategically placed along the entire gastrointestinal tract, containing specialized micro-environments where gut-derived antigens are presented by professional antigen presenting cells (APCs) to lymphocytes [reviewed recently in Ref. (4)]. The broad antigenic sampling within the GALT facilitates

the interaction between rare antigen-specific B and T cells leading to the initiation of an appropriate adaptive immune response (5). $CD4^+$ T cells are critical players in the adaptive immune response within the GALT. Naïve T cells egress from the thymus as immature T cells with a broad range of T cell receptors (TCRs) and can be activated in the periphery following encounter with their specific antigen. T cell activation is initiated by ligation of the TCR by peptide-MHC class II complex in conjunction with co-stimulatory signals. During T cell priming, cytokine receptor ligation can skew activated T cells into a particular effector cell type (6). These cell types are commonly referred to lineages or subsets, with each being identified by selected expression of characteristic transcription factors and effector molecules (7). With the exception of thymically derived regulatory T cells (Tregs) [reviewed in Ref. (8)], thymic emigrants lack any predisposition to make effector molecules associated with a particular CD4⁺ T cell subset, and require signals in the periphery to skew their differentiation into a particular cell subset. Present understanding of T cell lineage commitment is dominated by single fate model, a process whereby a naive T cell differentiates along a terminal fixed expression program, in response to signals at the time of antigen encounter. However, this view has needed revision in light of findings from many groups, which together demonstrate that CD4⁺ T cell subset fate is not a permanent attribute, but rather a flexible, plastic, feature that can be modified to suit the requirements of the immune system at a particular point in space and time. Thus, the new paradigm of T cell differentiation encompasses the ability of CD4⁺ T cells to change between expression programs traditionally thought to be mutually exclusive terminal states of differentiation (9). This feature has been reported in vivo in several experimental systems, and intriguingly, is a prominent feature of CD4⁺ T cell biology within the GALT.

The detailed mechanisms underlying T cell plasticity within the GALT remains to be defined, but several factors that facilitate its occurrence have been proposed and can be divided into extrinsic and intrinsic pathways. In this review, we will summarize the recent literature on $CD4^+$ T cell plasticity in the gut, highlight possible underlying mechanisms and discuss its potential benefits for intestinal homeostasis and health.

CD4⁺ T CELL DIFFERENTIATION IN THE GALT

The GALT contains one of the largest lymphoid cell population found anywhere in the body. GALT is distributed along the intestinal tract and is separated from the luminal content, containing about 100 trillion microorganisms (10) and many dietary products, by a single epithelial layer covered with an intricate network of glycoproteins; the mucous layers. The GALT provides three functions: provides antigenic samples from throughout the GI tract; optimizes the opportunities for naïve lymphocytes to encounter antigen, and finally supports the activated lymphocyte and its initial differentiation. A network of highly organized lymphoid structures comprise the GALT (Figure 1) – including mesenteric lymph nodes (mLNs), Peyer's patches (PPs), isolated lymphoid follicles (ILFs), cryptopatches (CPs), and fat-associated lymphoid tissues – as well as the loose connective tissue of the lamina propria (LP). Despite the numerous types of GALT, the organization of all GALT lymphoid tissues shares a basic cellular architecture that facilitates the interaction of APCs with lymphocytes and their subsequent activation and differentiation. However, the GALT tissues

differ from each other both in function and in the physical distance to the intestinal lumen; CP and ILFs are located directly underneath the epithelial layer, PPs are further from the lumen and most distant are mLNs and fat-associated lymphoid tissues. The specialized functions of each the GALT tissues have been recently reviewed in Ref. (4), and therefore will not be discussed in detail in this review.

Naïve L-selectin-expressing CD4⁺ T cells migrate from the blood through high endothelial venules (HEVs) to the PPs, CP, ILFs, and mLNs. In these inductive sites of the adaptive immune system, they encounter their cognate antigen presented by APCs on MHC class II. Naïve T cells that did not encounter their cognate antigen leave via efferent lymphatic vessels into the systemic circulation to continue their search for their cognate antigen. In PPs, CP, and ILFs, dendritic cells (DCs) receive antigens transported from the mucosal surface by specialized epithelial cells overlying these lymphoid structures, the microfold (M) cells, and Goblet cells [reviewed in Ref. (4)]. mLNs receive antigens via afferent lymphatics that are connected with the PPs, while fat-associated lymphoid tissues obtain antigen by lymphatic drainage directly from the intestine and from the peritoneal cavity (4).

After activation in the intestine $CD4^+$ T cells proliferate, shed L-selectin from their surface, increase surface expression of gut-specific adhesion molecules and differentiate into an effector T cell, of a particular subset. Antigen-experienced effector T cells usually leave via efferent lymphatic vessels and home to effector tissues such as the intestine after re-circulation in the blood, but



some remain in the lymphoid organs to perform their specialized effector functions (11). Upon arriving in the intestine, effector T cells are likely to re-encounter their specific antigen presented by a diverse range of cells such as macrophages, B cells various types of DCs, and stromal and epithelial cells. This second antigenspecific interaction will trigger the T cells to execute their effector function.

It is the nature of antigen presentation and the surrounding micro-environment that largely seems to determine the outcome of CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and the subsequent spectrum of T cell identities leaving the lymphoid structures (6). The CD4⁺ T cell subsets currently recognized are: T helper cells of type-1 (Th1), Th2, Th9, Th17, Th22, Tregs, and follicular helper T cells (Tfh). Each subset is characterized by the potential to produce a defined set of mediators such as cytokines and chemokines, respond to particular stimuli via the expression of selected cytokine and chemokine receptors, largely driven by so called "master regulator" transcription factors (summarized in **Table 1**).

CD4+ T CELL PLASTICITY

Plasticity of effector CD4⁺ T cells has been increasingly recognized in recent years. Initially, there were single reports of observations of particular subsets behaving "non-typically," by the expression of transcription factors, cytokines, or both, of another subset. Together these various reports support a more nuanced view of Tfh differentiation, in place of the monolithic view of distinct, noninterchangeable lineages (12). T helper cells are able to acquire a mixed phenotype or to switch entirely to the transcription and cytokine profile of another lineage (**Table 2**). These hybrid cells or ex-Th lineage cells may either directly differentiate from naïve CD4⁺ T cells or arise during secondary immunological challenge. Current data suggest that, within the gut, particular transitions between CD4⁺ T helper cell subsets occur and are important for maintaining gastrointestinal homeostasis, as outlined below.

Th1/Th2 CELL PLASTICITY

T helper cells of type-1 cells are an abundant effector population in the gut responsible for protection against invading intracellular bacteria and viruses (31). In contrast, Th2 cells are absent in the intestine of laboratory mice and humans under healthy conditions (31, 32); not surprising in view of their role in coordinating host responses to helminths and the absence of these organisms in a healthy intestinal flora (31). Identification of Th1 and Th2 as distinct cell types was the first, time where CD4⁺ T cell subsets were divided on the basis of phenotypic differences in vitro (33). It is therefore interesting that culture of T cells under mixed Th1 and Th2 conditions results in a continuum of cytokine expression, with some single positive IFN γ^+ or IL-4⁺ and double positive cells, correlating with expression levels of Tbet and GATA-3 (34), the respective master transcription factors for the Th1 and Th2 subsets, demonstrating these cell fates are not a distinct as originally thought. Importantly, this finding is consistent with in vivo observations; during infections with Heligmosomoides polygyrus, a parasite that triggers a strong Th2 response, Th1/Th2 hybrid cells were observed (13). In the intestine, mLNs and spleen, these Th1/Th2 hybrid cells express simultaneously the Tbet and GATA-3 and not transcription factors of other subsets [retinoic acid (RA) receptor-related orphan nuclear receptor (ROR)yt or Bcl-6]. In addition, they express the Th1 cell-associated molecules CXCR3 and IFNy concordantly with the Th2 cell-associated IL-33R, IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5. Furthermore, Th2 cells in vivo can express Tbet and IFNy upon infection with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV), a potent Th1 skewing pathogen. These Th1/Th2 hybrid cells represent a stable phenotype, where attempts at reprograming by stimulation under Th1 or Th2 polarizing conditions result in quantitative changes of Th1/Th2 cytokine production without fully extinguishing either. Upon transfer into wild-type mice, around 20% of LCMV-specific Th1/Th2 cells maintained their expression of GATA-3, IL-4, and IL-13 alongside Tbet and IFNy

Table	1 Effector CD4 ⁺ T ce	lls in the gut.			
Cell type	Differentiation signals	Transcription factor (master transcription factor)	Cell surface and cytokine markers	Location in the gut under homeostatic conditions	Function in the gut
Th1	IL-12, IFNγ	<i>Tbet</i> , STAT1, STAT4, and Runx3	CXCR3, IFN _Y	mLN, PP, CP, ILF, and LP	Responding to intracellular pathogens and assisting with vira infections
Th2	IL-4, IL-2	GATA-3, STAT6, and STAT5	IL-33R, IL-4, IL-13, and IL-5	Virtually absent	Responding to helminths
Th9	TGFβ, IL-4	PU.1	IL-9	Exact location to be determined	Involved in tumor immunology
Th17	IL-6, TGFβ, IL-1β, and (IL-23, IL-21)	<i>RORγt</i> , AhR, STAT3, Batf, Runx1, and RORα	CD161, IL-17A, IL-17F, and GM-CSF	mLN, PP, CP, ILF, and LP	Protect the host from infectious assault at mucosal site
Th22	IL-6, IL-13, and TNF α	AhR	CCR4, CCR6, CCR10, and IL-22	Exact location to be determined	Wound repair and induction of antimicrobials
Tfh	IL-6, IL-21	Bcl-6, Ascl2	CXCR5, PD-1, and IL-21	PP, ILF?	Induce IgA production by GC B cells to maintain a healthy microbiota
iTreg	TGFβ, IL-2	Foxp3, STAT5	IL-10, TGFβ	mLN, PP, CP, ILF, and LP	Suppressor capacity, keep homeostatic balance in gut

Table 2 CD4 ⁺ T cel	Table 2 CD4+ T cell plasticity in the gut.					
Plasticity in the intestine	Capacity	Features of hybrid cell/ex-Th lineage cell	Origin	Developmental mechanism	Function in the gut	References
ТҺ1/ГҺ2	Th1/Th2 hybrid cells	Tbet+ CXCR3+ IFNg+ GATA3+ IL33R+ IL4+ IL13+ IL15+	Naïve T cells	H. polygyrus infection \rightarrow transcription factor balance	Gut function unknown; ↓ delayed-type hypersensitivity ↓ allergic airway inflammation	(13)
Th17/Th1	Th17/Th1 hybrid cells	RORyt ⁺ Tbet ⁺ IL17 ⁺ IFN _Y ⁺ CD161 ⁺ (only in humans) β7 ⁺ CCR6 ⁺	Naive T cells	Cytokine-induced upregulation of Tbet	Associated with Crohn's disease	(14–21)
	ex-Th17 ^{Th1} cells	Tbet+ RORyt IL17 IFNγ ⁺ β7 ⁺⁻ CCR6 ⁺	Committed Th17 cells			
Th17/Th2	Th17/Th2	RORyt+ GATA-3+ IL4+ GM-CSF+ IL17+	Not investigated	CD4-dependent Bcl11b-knock down or IL4 treatment of EAE mice	LEAE (by redirecting lymphocytes to the gut)	(22)
Th17-to-Treg	Co-expression of Treg and Th17 markers not shown		Committed Th17 cells	$PPAR_{\gamma}$ activation that promotes iTreg induction	↓T cell transferred colitis	(23)
Treg-to-Th17	Treg/Th17 hybrid cells	Foxp3 ⁺ ROR _γ t ⁺ IL-17 ⁺ β7 ⁺ CD103 ⁺ suppressive	Committed Treg cells	Micro-environmental cues in PPs of Crohn's disease patients	↓ Crohn's disease	(24, 25)
Th17/Tfh	ex-Th17 ^{Tfh}	RORyt- IL-17- BcI-6+ CXCR5+ PD-1+ IL-21+	Committed Th17 cells	Not IL23	Required for IgA-producing B cells	(26)
Treg/Tfh	ex-Treg ^{Tth} cells	Foxp3 ⁻ Bcl-6 ⁺ , IL-21 ⁺ , CXCR5 ⁺ , CD40L ⁺ , ICOS ⁺ , PD-1 ⁺ , and CD28 ⁺	Committed Treg cells	Micro-environment of PPs. Requirement for B cells and CD40:CD40L interaction. Involvement of IL6 and autocrine IL-21	Induced GC formation in PPs and IgA-producing cells in the gut	(27, 28)
CD4+/cytotoxic CD4+T cells	CD4+ CTLs	CD4+ CD8αα+Runx3+ ThPOK ⁻ granzyme B ⁺	CD4+ T cells	Continuous antigenic stimulation, IL-15, non-pathogenic microorganisms, TGFB, RA	↓ Colitis	(29, 30)

expression many months after systemic infection with LCMV. Earlier work from the same group has shown that the development of LCMV-specific Th1/Th2 hybrid cells originating from antigenexperienced Th2 cells required TCR engagement, not just a "Th1 milieu" provided by LCMV challenge and are stable *in vivo* for months (35).

Functionally, the Th1/Th2 hybrid cells have the capacity to elicit Th1 and Th2 cell responses but with a decreased Th-specific potency compared their single identity counterpart. Mice that received *in vitro* derived Th1/Th2 cells before the induction of type-1 inflammation showed signs for delayed-type hypersensitivity but not as strong as after a transfer of pure Th1 cells. Similarly, the transfer of Th1/Th2 cells reduced the signs for induced allergic airway inflammation compared to a Th2 cell transfer (13).

Th17/Th1 CELL PLASTICITY

In health, Th17 cells preferentially home to small intestinal LP (26) and are important for intestinal homeostasis [reviewed in Ref. (36)]. Th17 cells are characterized by the expression of IL-17A, IL-17F, and IL-22 and the lineage-defining transcription factor RORyt (37-39), which acts in co-operation with other transcription factors, including aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and RORa (40, 41). Shortly after the first descriptions of Th17 cells, cells making both IL-17 and IFNy, so called double producers, were noted. In the intestine of patients with Crohn's disease (CD), IL-17A IFNydouble positive CD4⁺ T cells co-expressing RORyt and Tbet have been found (14), sometimes with frequencies above those of single positive T cells (15). Cosmi et al. characterized these double producers further and found that virtually all IL-17⁺IFN γ ⁺CD4⁺ T cells, as well as Th17 cells expressed the lectin-like surface molecule CD161 (15). This led them to conclude that human Th17 and Th17/Th1 cells exclusively originate from an NKT-like CD161⁺CD4⁺ T cell precursor. Furthermore, Kleinschek et al. showed that CD161⁺CD4⁺ T cells preferentially home to the gut due to their high expression levels of CCR6 and integrin β 7. They confirmed that these cells can be induced to produce IFNy in addition to IL-17 (16). In mice, colitis studies revealed not only the presence of Th1/Th17 hybrid cells (17-19) but also that Th17 cells, initially unable to produce IFNy, abolish IL-17 production completely and switch on IFN γ (ex-Th17^{Th1}) (18, 20, 42).

Hirota et al. used an IL-17-fate reporter mouse that permanently marks IL-17-producing cells to show that these ex-Th17^{Th1} cells undergo a near complete switch from Th17 cell to Th1 cell, except for the maintenance of IL-1R and AhR expression as remnants of their former identity (26). Since Th1 cells are not known for the expression of the IL-1R, ex-Th17^{Th1} cells are unique within the Th1 lineage in the ability to respond to the acute phase reactant IL-1. AhR expression has been shown to increase Th17 cell activity and particularly drive the expression of IL-22 (40). It is currently not known what the role of AhR is in ex-Th17^{Th1} cells, however, it is tempting to speculate that there is a role in coordinating IL-22 production at barrier sites such as the intestine, where IL-22R is expressed by epithelial cells (43). IL-22 deficiency worsens the colitis induced by either dextran sodium sulfate or by T cell transfer (44), and results in reduced secretion of antimicrobial agents important for maintaining epithelial health (45, 46). Interestingly, AhR has been shown essential for the long-term maintenance of lymphoid cells, such as innate lymphoid cells (ILC) type 3, intraepithelial lymphocytes (IELs), and tissue resident cells, at epithelial barrier sites (47–49). This suggests that ex-Th17^{Th1} cells may be maintained in the intestine providing long-term protection or upholding aberrant immunity, in part through IL-22 signaling, with the help of AhR ligands.

Because the frequency and number of IL-17/IFN γ double producers are increased in the gut of CD patients (14), they have been implicated in disease pathogenesis. However, it is unknown if the presence of Th17/Th1 hybrid cells in CD patients are a cause or a consequence of the disease. These hybrid cells could develop as a bystander product of inflammation, or might drive the initial inflammatory response. In colitis models, the pathogenicity of Th1/Th17 hybrid cells and ex-Th17 cells is linked with Tbet. However, the role for Tbet in the pathogenicity of Th17 cells remains controversial (50–53) and switching to Th17/Th1 or IFN γ^+ ex-Th17 might involve Runx family members in co-operation with Tbet (54).

Th17/Th2 CELL PLASTICITY

Naïve T cell activation in vitro in the presence of IL-4 inhibits RORyt expression and IL-17 production (55), which makes the existence of T cells with a hybrid phenotype of Th17/Th2 cells seem unlikely. However, in vivo studies identified CD4⁺ T cells simultaneously expressing IL-4 and IL-17 (22). These Th17/Th2 hybrid cells were reported to be present in draining LNs and mLNs of mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) that either had a CD4-specific Bcl11b-deficency or were treated with IL-4. In EAE, Th17 cells are pathogenic when they gain access to the central nervous system (CNS), contributing to CNS inflammation. EAE-induced Bcl11b-deficient mice showed a delayed onset and reduced disease severity, attributed to a redirection of T helper cells away from a draining LN/CNS route to the intestine. Even though an accumulation of Th17 cells in the intestine has been reported to cause colitis these mice were asymptomatic.

Th17-TO-Treg CELL PLASTICITY

A different approach was chosen to address Th17 cell plasticity by Carbo et al. (23). Computational modeling predicated a role of the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) in a phenotype switch from Th17-to-Treg cell in the murine gut. *In silico*, PPAR γ activation of fully differentiated Th17 cells reduced IL-17 and ROR γ t, while initiating Foxp3 expression. *In vitro*, analysis confirmed these *in silico* predictions. Polarized Th17 cells treated with pioglitazone, a synthetic PPAR γ agonist, induced Foxp3 and inhibited ROR γ t and IL-17A expression. This effect was not observed in PPAR γ -deficient Th17 cells. Mice that received pioglitazone orally to activate PPAR γ recovered from transferred colitis, with a phenotypic switch in transferred T cells, from a predominantly Th17 phenotype to an iTreg cell phenotype characterized by decreased IL-17 and ROR γ t and increased expression of Foxp3.

In humans, IL-17⁺ FOXP3⁺ T cells were identified in inflamed intestinal mucosa of patients with CD, but not in patients with ulcerative colitis or healthy controls (24). These Treg/Th17 cells shared characteristics of Th17 and Treg cells, expressing *RORC*

(encoding RORyt) and CD161 and showing Treg-typical suppressor activity in vitro. In addition, the majority these FOXP3⁺IL-17⁺ T cells expressed CCR6, a receptor that mediates homing to skin and mucosal tissues (56) and high levels of integrin $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and CD103, markers for gut-homing potential. Analysis of the TCR repertoire suggested that FOXP3⁺IL-17⁺ cells develop from FOXP3⁺ Tregs when exposed to inflammatory signals in the gut (24) and *in vitro* stimulation of FOXP3⁺ circulating cells can result in IL-17 expression (57). In human tonsils obtained after routine tonsillectomy, up to 25% of the FOXP3⁺CD4⁺ T cell population can produce IL-17 upon activation (25). These FOXP3⁺IL-17 producers are CCR6⁺, co-express RORC and FOXP3 and display cell-contact dependent suppressive properties (25). Whilst FOXP3⁺IL-17⁺ cells in the LP appear unique to areas of intestinal inflammation in CD (24), in tonsil they are much more readily identifiable (25). Together these observations suggest that heterogeneity in the GALT micro-environment can influence Th17-Treg plasticity. Intriguingly, the FOXP3⁺IL-17⁺ T cells from CD patients also express IFNy, IL-22, and IL-21 (24), suggesting plasticity not just between Th17 and Treg, but with other CD4+ effector states.

Th17/Tfh CELL PLASTICITY

In addition to a Th17-to-Th1 conversion, Th17 cells can acquire a Tfh cell phenotype (26), including expression of Bcl-6, the transcription factor that is both necessary and sufficient for the formation of Tfh (58-60). Tfh provide antigen-specific help to germinal center (GC) B cells via CD40L, IL-4, and IL-21 (61). The only GALT to contain GCs are the PP and mLNs, and within these structures Tfh act to select high-affinity GC B cells to exit the PP GC as long-lived IgA secreting plasma cells and memory B cells (62). An IL-17-fate reporter mouse was used to show that transfer of Th17 cells into a T cell deficient recipient could support high-affinity IgA production in the GCs of PPs by converting into Tfh cells (26). Interestingly, this conversion resulted in the loss of IL-17 expression and other Th17 associated features to enable these cells to effectively switch into Tfh cells in the PP. The physiological relevance of these ex-Th17^{Tfh} cells in host defense or in microbial homeostasis remains to be elucidated. But, the essential role for Th17 cells in the production of high-affinity IgA (26) suggests that this Th17 to Tfh cell switch is critical for IgA-dependent immune responses.

IgA production in the gut can occur outside the GC but the IgA species are low-affinity, with little somatic hypermutation (63). The production of GC-derived IgA is essential for the maintenance of bacterial communities in the gut. Mice that express a mutated form of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AIDG23S) that allows class switch to IgA but not somatic hypermutation have alterations of the gut microbiota, suggesting that IgA derived from the PP GC response is essential for maintaining homeostasis of the gut microbiota (64). This demonstrates that high-affinity IgA promotes healthy microbiota, rather than target it for elimination like IgG derived from the LN and spleen (62). The production of the features that discriminates the function of GALT GCs from peripheral GCs, and may be one of the reasons that GALT GC T cells exhibit plasticity that is not observed in the GCs of lymph

nodes and spleen. Selective IgA deficiency (OMIM 137100) is a common incidental finding amongst blood donors (with numerous reports since the 1970s), without any particular symptomatology originally appreciated [reviewed in Ref. (65)]. However, it has recently been reported that IgA-deficient persons have increased frequency of gastrointestinal and respiratory infections, and of allergy and autoimmunity (66).

Treg-TO-Tfh CELL PLASTICITY

In mice, Th17 cells are not unique in their ability to switch to a Tfh cell phenotype, also Foxp3⁺ cells have been reported to be able to do this in the PP GCs (27, 28). The first study used adoptive transfer of CD4⁺EGFP⁺ cells from spleen or LNs of Foxp3-EGFP reporter mice into T cell deficient mice (27). Whilst 80% of Foxp3⁺ T cells switched off Foxp3 expression in the PPs, about half of the transferred cells kept their Foxp3⁺ profile in the LP of the small intestine as well as in the spleen. The ex-Treg^{Tfh} cells that form in the PP expressed Bcl-6 and also IL-21, CXCR5, CD40L, ICOS, PD-1, and CD28, all associated with Tfh cell function (61). Functionally, it has been shown that these ex-Treg^{Tfh} cells induce GC formation in PPs and facilitate IgA-producing cells in the gut (27). These findings appear in contrast with the work of Hirota et al. that identified ex-Th17^{Tfh} cells (26). In the study by Hirota et al., mucosal Foxp3⁺ T cells transferred into TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ hosts did not differentiate into Tfh cells, induce GC B cells or IgA production. It remains unclear whether differences in the models (Tsuji: CD3 $\varepsilon^{-/-}$ recipients; Hirota: TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ recipients) or source of cells transferred (Tsuji: spleen and LN, Hirota: mucosal origin) or intestinal environment of the transfer recipients explain the discrepancies. In a separate study, Takahashi et al. transferred iTreg cells into TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$ mice and showed that these cells can lose Foxp3 expression and become Tfh in the PP (67). Intriguingly, transferred iTreg cells were more likely to lose Foxp3 expression in the PP than in the spleen, suggesting that the micro-environment of the gut affects the plasticity of Tregs. The conversion of Treg-to-Tfh in the gut is controlled, in part, by expression of microRNA-10a that suppresses Bcl-6 and Ncor2, thereby repressing of Treg-to-Tfh conversion in the gut (67).

Not all Tregs within the PP convert into Tfh, however, there is a regulatory population of $CD4^+$ T cells in GCs; T follicular regulatory cells (Tfr) (68–70). Tfr are the progeny of Foxp3⁺CD4⁺ cells that share phenotypic characteristics of Tfh cells, including CXCR5, PD-1, and Bcl-6 expression. In peripheral secondary lymphoid organs, Tfr control the size and output of the GC response (68–70). In PP GCs, Tfr control the quality of IgA produced, which in turn promotes diversity within the microbial community of the gut (28). Taken together, conversion of Treg-to-Tfh in the gut is finely balanced to ensure the ratio of Tfh to Tfr within the PP supports high-affinity IgA production and homeostasis of commensal bacteria.

Th2-TO-Tfh CELL PLASTICITY

The gastrointestinal helminth parasite *H. polygyrus* has been shown to give raise to Th1/Th2 hybrid cells but also been suggested give rise to Th2/Tfh hybrid cells (71). These hybrids were described as IL-4 producing CD4⁺ cells expressing CXCR5, ICOS and PD-1, Bcl-6 and IL-21 and that localized in B cell follicles of mLNs

Intestinal helperT cell plasticity

after *H. polygyrus* infection. Zaretsky et al. found similar IL- 4^+ CXCR5⁺PD- 1^+ Th cells after immunization with schistosomiasis soluble egg antigen (72). A later study using dual reporters for IL-4 and IL-13 and *N. brasiliensis* infection demonstrated that Tfh phenotype cells express IL-4 but not IL-13, whereas Th2 cells express both prototypic Th2 cytokines. Importantly, IL- 4^+ Tfh cells are Bcl- 6^+ and do not express high levels of GATA-3, suggesting that these cells are Tfh cells that produce IL-4 rather than *bona fide* Th2/Tfh hybrids (73).

CD4+ T CELL INTO CYTOTOXIC CD4+ T CELL CONVERSION

Among the CD4⁺ IELs a population of cells has been described that lost its CD4-lineage transcription factor ThPOK and acquired the CD8-lineage transcription factor Runx3 (29, 30). The induction of Runx3 expression by CD4⁺ T cells was associated with expression of CD8 $\alpha\alpha$, the natural killer cell – and CTL-related molecule 2B4 (CD244) and Tbet (29). In addition, these cells expressed granzyme and the activation-induced degranulation marker CD107a (LAMP-1) (30). As well as closely resembling mature CD8⁺ CTLs, these cells showed high cytolytic activity. At the same time, these cells lose their ability to produce IL-17 and to express ROR γ t (29, 30). Fate-mapping and adoptive transfer experiments by Mucida et al. showed that CD4⁺ CTLs originate from ThPOK⁺ naive CD4⁺ T cells (30).

The loss of ThPOK together with the inability to produce IL-17 in the intestine had physiological implications on the development of colitis. Conditional deletion of ThPOK in CD4⁺ T cells prior to their transfer into lymphopenic Rag^{-/-} deficient mice enhanced the differentiation of CD4⁺CD8 α ⁺ CTLs in the gut of the recipients, which, as a consequence, saw a reduction in intestinal inflammation compared with controls (29). By contrast, the transfer of Runx3-deficient CD4⁺ T cells resulted in an exacerbated intestinal inflammation, but provided recipient mice with increased protection against infection with the enteropathogenic bacterium *Citrobacter rodentium* (29). A role of CD4⁺ CTL cells in celiac disease is suggested by their restriction to MHC class II, their induction by dietary antigen, responsiveness to IL-15, and cytotoxic potential (30).

MECHANISMS OF CD4+ T CELL PLASTICITY

Very little is known about the underlying mechanisms determining CD4⁺ T cell plasticity. It is likely that the same factors that are involved in T cell differentiation are implicated in a phenotype switch, but this remains largely untested.

The development of some $CD4^+$ T hybrid cells or ex-Th lineage cells seem to predominantly take place in the intestine, indicating that the micro-environment has a major influence on $CD4^+$ T cell plasticity and identity. For example, the micro-environmental cues contributing to a phenotype switch between Th17 and Tfh seem to be unique to the PP, as the plasticity of Th17 cells toward a Tfh cell fate was restricted to the micro-environment of PPs and did not occur in peripheral LNs (26). Likewise, transferred Foxp3⁺ T cells lost Foxp3 expression and acquired Tfh features preferentially in the PPs (27, 65). Further evidence of the unique nature of the PP comes from *in vitro* stimulation assays in which APCs from PP and spleen generate different $CD4^+$ effectors (74, 75).



Factors enabling CD4⁺ T cell plasticity could, in part, originate from the microbiota or dietary products that effect CD4⁺ T cells either directly or indirectly via innate immune cells. These extrinsic cues can alter transcription factor and microRNA expression and epigenetic markers such as histone modifications (**Figure 2**). For example, microRNA-10a dampens the conversion of Treg cells to both Th17 and Tfh cell fates (67). In addition, the cellular composition of the GALT, enriched in non-conventional lymphocytes such as ILCs, IEL populations of TCR $\gamma \delta^+$, and CD8 $\alpha \alpha^+$ TCR $\alpha \beta^+$ T cells and mucosal associated innate NKT cells, is substantially different compared with other secondary lymphoid organs and will contribute to a different environment in which T cells encounter antigen and are maintained.

MICROBIOTA

The nature of antigen or metabolic products provided by the gut microbiota plays a role in T cell plasticity. There are a number of examples where $CD4^+$ T cell subsets are expanded in response to particular microbial species and their products. Using germ-free mice, a mixture of 17 *Clostridia* species were selected from human gut flora for their ability to induce mucosal Tregs (76). Introduction of these 17 strains mitigated colitis and allergic diarrhea models (76). This protective effect is mediated by short chain fatty acids, products of these 17 bacteria (and of *Bacteroides fragilis*, also shown to induce Tregs) (77). The microbiome is shaped, in part by induced Tregs, and mice lacking induced

Tregs are more susceptible to colitis and asthma (78). Thus the gut microbiome is implicated in the protection of autoimmunity and autoinflammation both in the gut and at distant sites. Recent work provides evidence for a symbiosis between CD4⁺ T cell subsets and the microbiome (28). Lack of Tfr resulted in poor quality IgA production and a limited biodiversity of the microbiome. The presence of Tfr permitted a more diverse microbiome including a larger representation of nonpathogenic Clostridia (28), which establishes a positive feedback loop between CD4⁺ cells and the microbiome mediated through SCFA, Foxp3 expression, and IgA production. This narrowing of the microbiome and subsequently SCFA deplete environment might explain the association between IgA deficiency and allergy and autoimmunity (66). Taken together, these studies provide evidence that the gut microbiota and CD4⁺ T cell fate within the gut are inter-dependent, with each affecting the composition of the other.

 $CD4^+CD8\alpha^+$ CTLs are absent from the intestines of germ-free mice and of mice mono-colonized with segmented filamentous bacteria (SFB), but appear in the intestines following reconstitution with specific non-pathogenic microorganisms (30). Little is known about the mechanisms how antigens originating from microbiota induce a phenotype switch. However, data on Th17 cell differentiation indicate that SFB colonization promotes Th17 cell commitment by the expression of inflammation-associated genes, such as the gene for serum amyloid A (SAA) (79). Some Th17 cells from murine gut have TCR specific for SFB-derived antigen (80). In addition, it has been shown that ATP derived from commensal bacteria activates CD70^{high} CD11c^{low} cells in the LP, leading to enhanced differentiation of Th17 cells (81). Therefore, changes in the concentration of SAA or ATP could either induce a switch toward Th17 phenotype or destabilize Th17 cell commitment toward another phenotype.

DIETARY PRODUCTS

Dietary products, mainly after being processed by microorganisms, can induce phenotype switch. PPAR γ has been identified to induce a Th17-to-Treg cell switch (23). This nuclear receptor regulates fatty acid storage and glucose metabolism. Therefore, consumption of food containing certain fatty acids may promote a phenotype switch from Th17-to-Treg cells. Several dietary products have been reported to promote or inhibit lineage commitment [reviewed in Ref. (2)]. It is likely that these factors are also candidates to induce a phenotype switch of CD4⁺ T cells. In addition, dietary products could influence a phenotype switch by affecting metabolic and signaling pathways and epigenetic status.

INNATE IMMUNE CELLS: PROVIDERS OF COSTIMULATION AND CYTOKINES

Innate immune cells are abundant in the GALT. They have the potential to influence $CD4^+$ T cell plasticity via their determination of the micro-environment via the secretion of soluble mediators, expression of co-stimulatory molecules, and via their potential to act as APCs. Mucida et al. demonstrated that continuous activation of $CD4^+$ T cells by oral administration of an antigen is necessary for a phenotype switch to $CD4^+$ CTLs (30). It

has been reported previously that antigen dose and peptide/TCR affinity can influence Th commitment (82).

Co-stimulatory factors have been shown to play a role in Tregto-Tfh plasticity. Blocking the interaction of CD40, expressed on APCs such as B cells and DCs, with CD40L, found on T cells, is able to prevent a phenotype switch from Treg cell to Tfh cell (27).

The role of cytokines in Th17 cell plasticity has been studied by several investigators but has not yet been fully elucidated. However, it is clear that IL-23-dependent pathway does play an important role. In Helicobacter hepaticus-induced typhlocolitis, mRNA levels for IL-23p19 were elevated after bacterial inoculation and ex vivo IL-17A⁺ cells isolated from the colitic intestine expressed both subunits of the IL-23R, indicating that IL-23 acts on Th17 cells to induce a program resulting in IFNy production (18). T cell transfer studies also showed that IL-23 is required for the appearance of IL-17A⁺IFN γ^+ double-producing T cells in the intestine. Transferred naive CD4⁺ T cells developed to Th1/Th17 hybrid cells in Rag^{-/-} mice, but not in p19^{-/-} RAG^{-/-} mice [lacking IL-23; (21)]. These studies were extended by Ahern et al. demonstrating that in the intestine the emergence of IL-17A⁺IFN γ^+ double-producing Th cells, but not IL-17A single producing Th cells, requires T cell-intrinsic IL-23 signaling by transferring IL-23R^{-/-}CD45RB^{high} CD4⁺ T cells into full hosts (17). In humans, CD161⁺CD4⁺ T cells from CD patients readily produce IL-17 and IFNy upon stimulation with IL-23, whereas, in healthy subjects, IL-1 β was required alongside IL-23 (16).

The role of IL-12, the primary cytokine inducing Th1 cell differentiation, in mediating Th17-to-Th1 cell conversion remains controversial. *In vitro*, obtained results differ from those data being observed in *in vivo* models. Upon transfer of naive CD4⁺ T cells, Th17/Th1 cells were detected in the mLNs of IL12p35-Rag-double deficient mice (lacking IL-12), demonstrating that IL-12 is negligible in Th1/Th17 induction in the intestine (21). In contrast, Lee et al. showed *in vitro* that in both IL-23 and IL-12 are able to switch off IL-17 and enhance IFN γ production in a STAT4- and Tbet-dependent manner. It has also been shown that *ex vivo* Th17 cells can be converted into a Th1-like phenotype following IFN γ induced expression of Tbet and acquisition of IL-12R β 2 surface expression (83, 84). Lee et al. investigated the effect of additional cytokines on Th17 cell plasticity and found that Th17 cells require TGF β for sustained expression of IL-17F and IL-17A (20).

Although the precise role of IL-23 in the Th17-to-Th1 cell conversion requires further investigation, it does not seem to play an essential role in a phenotype switch from Th17 to Tfh cell. Th17 cells can give rise to Tfh cells in IL-23-competent and -deficient mice (26). For a phenotype switch from Tregs to Tfh cells it has been shown that the cytokine IL-6 can to down-regulate Foxp3, and this may be relevant to Treg plasticity in the IL-6 rich PPs (85).

TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS

Transcription factors maintain and instruct lineage programs by complex mechanisms, often involving several cooperating transcription factors, and their binding and access to specific DNA sequences. The expression of lineage determining transcription factors is induced by multiple factors in the micro-environment, including cytokines. Their regulation falls outside the scope of this review, but their interactions are of importance in maintaining Th identity and are likely to play a prominent role in ultimately generating hybrid Th cells and Th identity conversions. Co-expression of IFN γ and Th2-associated cytokines in the same T cell seems to be enabled by signals that keep both Tbet and GATA-3 expression in balance, which is in contrast to studies examining chromatin modification at *Tbx21* and *Gata3* (86, 87).

The loss of a single transcription factor can tip the balance in favor of an alternative lineage. In Bcl11b-deficient mice, GATA-3 expression in Th17 cells is unrestrained, resulting in GATA-3mediated IL-4 production (22). This change in cell phenotype feeds back to the micro-environment, and has further implications for T cell biology. For example, the cytokine mix produced by Th2/Th17 hybrid cells triggers gut-imprinting properties in DCs. IL-4 together with GM-CSF enhance the expression of the enzyme RALDH2 in DCs (88, 89), leading to elevated levels of RA (90) that imprint gut-homing properties on T cells, such as $\alpha4\beta7$ and CCR9 (91). Similarly, the termination of ThPOK in mature CD4⁺ T cells enables the de-repression of the CTL program (30), resulting in MHC class II restricted CD4⁺ T cells with a cytotoxic effector function. This process can be further promoted by Runx3 (29).

The factors responsible for carefully balancing two transcriptional programs within a single T cell may be present together from the moment of T cell differentiation or may be induced later. *In vitro*, data have shown that expression of one differentiation program is often found to be mutually exclusive with factors from another (55). Yet, differentiation of some programs are characterized by co-expression of two pathways from the start, such as seen with iTreg differentiation in which T cells co-express Foxp3 and RORyt from the start (25). These *in vitro* observations are often not recapitulated *in vivo* and vice versa. This highlights missing links in our understanding of which factors are required to determine full Th effector cell differentiation, which factors enable T cells to postpone the identity decision, as well as those that can still interfere at later stages.

EPIGENETICS

The observed stability or plasticity of Th subsets is governed by the epigenetic regulation of the key transcription factors and cytokines and their access to downstream genes (92). Whether a particular gene is poised for expression is controlled by the chromatin structure and histone or DNA modification state. Wei et al. evaluated the histone H3 methylation status over the entire genome in a variety of defined Th subsets (87). Promoter regions for Tbx21 (encoding Tbet) in Th1 cells and Rorc (encoding RORyt) in Th17 cells displayed a permissive methylation state (H3K4me3) associated with full expression of these master regulators in each lineage. However, the promoter region for Tbx21 in Th17 cells had a bivalent status characterized by H3K4me3/H3K27me3, reflecting the relative instability of these cells and their potential to acquire another Th cell phenotype. In addition, it has been shown that treatment of naïve T cells under Treg polarizing conditions with the fatty acid, butyrate, enhances permissive acetylation in the promoter region of the Foxp3 locus. Butyrate, being a large bowel fermentation product, provides a link between microbial products and Treg cells by epigenetic mechanisms. Beyond histone modifications, miRNAs offer a further tuning of gene expression and CD4⁺ phenotype, as illustrated earlier.

FUNCTION

CD4⁺ T cell plasticity is important in the resolution of infections but can contribute to immunopathogenesis. The ability to switch or combine effector phenotypes can generally be seen as a very useful feature in the arsenal of the adaptive immune system. It is an additional tool providing flexibility to adequately control rapidly changing microorganisms. It allows the retention of TCRs with a useful track record while displaying a high degree of flexibility and adaptation depending on local environmental cues. Therefore, a phenotype switch may facilitate the ability to respond more quickly to changing immunological challenges and to successfully terminate immune responses after pathogen clearance. This flexibility may be especially important and useful at epithelial interfaces, where luminal content is constantly changing and the largest population of microorganism is encountered.

The ability to switch from one phenotype to another or obtain features from two effector programs increases the efficiency of a response. Combining effector mechanisms would enable the control of complex organisms that have evolved ways to deal with one predominant effector subset. This implies that effector programs can co-exists within one T cell, while the co-existences of different effector subset within the same micro-environment may be harder to achieve and maintain. It is worth noting that reports on Th cells displaying a hybrid phenotype highlight that such cells are less effective in dealing with situations where one part of their identity is required compared with the single identity T cells. This indicates that each identity is weakened by the presence of the transcriptional program of the other, a feature that could be abused by microorganisms. Conversely, producing these "weakened" T cells may be method of peripheral tolerance - in an inflamed milieu, T cells are stimulated under polarizing conditions and develop a single identity, whereas non-inflamed milieu offers conditions less favorable to any single identity and the "weakened" T cells are tolerized.

An additional physiological role for CD4⁺ T cell plasticity is the gaining of specific functional features that require aspects of the previous full identity combined with a very specific trade. This is the case for Tfh cells that can develop from committed Th17 or Treg cells. In case of ex-Th17^{Tfh} cells, they represent a subset of Tfh cells that are specialized to promote high-affinity IgA production in the GCs of PPs. A similar specialized role in GC B cell support is likely the case for ex-Treg^{Tfh}. These Tfh adopters have only been found in the PP and only support IgA production, demonstrating that this plasticity is unique to the gut environment.

Lastly, the transcriptional programs of each T cell effector subset may not be compatible with long-term survival. Effector cells that switch to a Th1 cell phenotype, may be maintained better as memory cells due to the activity mediated by Tbet. Recent reports describe a role of Tbet expression gradient as a regulator of $CD4^+$ T cell memory formation, with highly Th1-polarized Tbet⁺ cells displaying end-effector features and a short lifespan, whereas Th cells with a lower expression of Tbet are able to enter the long-lived memory T cell pool (93, 94). This is to some degree mimicked by the finding that long-lived ex-Th17 cells acquired Tbet expression, albeit at levels lower than their Th1 counterparts.

From a therapeutic viewpoint, contemplating a deliberately induced phenotype switch could be used to up- or down-regulate

Intestinal helper T cell plasticity

the different effector arms of the adaptive immune response. Dampening CD4⁺ T cell function would be useful for autoimmune disorders including CD and multiple sclerosis. In a colitis model, oral pioglitazone induces a switch from Th17 to an iTreg phenotype, improving disease and in EAE (a model of MS) pathogenic Th17 cells can be redirected to gut, again improving disease. Enhanced CD4⁺ T cell responses could improve cancer surveillance and clearance. Whilst phenotypic switching appears to occur in very specific circumstances, some of these conditions are encountered spontaneously in healthy animals. Thus strategies to induce phenotype switching, with minimal side effects or co-morbidities, might be identifiable.

CONCLUSION

The nuanced view of Th differentiation suggested that within any CD4⁺ effector population there are varying ratios of lineage determining transcription factors in each cell, with correspondingly graded cellular phenotypes. In GALT these ratios integrate a number of different signals - microbial products, dietary influences, costimulation, cytokines, and epigenetic modifications. Variation in these signals and their interpretation is the substrate for heterogeneity of CD4⁺ T cells. As these microbial and dietary cues are unique to GALT, perhaps even unique to the most luminal GALT, such as PP, they could together provide a micro-environment permissive for plasticity, in contrast to other secondary lymphoid organs, where plasticity is less frequently reported and where much of the rigid *in vivo* definitions of the CD4⁺ subsets were derived. Whether the phenotypic switches described herein are unique to an in entero environment is unknown. It is possible that similar blurring of CD4⁺ subsets occurs at other mucosal sites, balancing tolerance, protection, and immunopathology with the need to maintain a diverse microbiome. To understand the precise factors underlying plasticity is relevant for our understanding of host (and microbiomial) health, host defense, pathogenesis of various gastrointestinal diseases and also for development and optimization of vaccines, where an enforced Tfh phenotype is desired.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Verena Brucklacher-Waldert is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG BR 4253/1-1 Forschungsstipendium). Edward J. Carr is an academic clinical trainee, funded by the NIHR. Michelle A. Linterman is supported by the BBSRC. Marc Veldhoen is supported by a BBSRC ISPG grant and the ERC (No. 280307 – Epithelial_Immunol).

REFERENCES

- 1. Mestecky J, Lamm ME, Strober W, Bienenstock J, McGhee JR, Mayer L. *Mucosal Immunology*. 3rd ed. London: Elsevier Academic Press (2005).
- Veldhoen M, Brucklacher-Waldert V. Dietary influences on intestinal immunity. Nat Rev Immunol (2012) 12(10):696–708. doi:10.1038/nri3299
- Bentley R, Meganathan R. Biosynthesis of vitamin K (menaquinone) in bacteria. Microbiol Rev (1982) 46(3):241–80.
- Randall TD, Mebius RE. The development and function of mucosal lymphoid tissues: a balancing act with micro-organisms. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(3):455–66. doi:10.1038/mi.2014.11
- Mowat AM. Anatomical basis of tolerance and immunity to intestinal antigens. Nat Rev Immunol (2003) 3(4):331–41. doi:10.1038/nri1057
- Zygmunt B, Veldhoen M. T helper cell differentiation more than just cytokines. Adv Immunol (2011) 109:159–96. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-387664-5.00005-4

- Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2010) 28(1):445–89. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-030409-101212
- Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ. Natural and adaptive foxp3+ regulatory T cells: more of the same or a division of labor? *Immunity* (2009) 30(5):626–35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.05.002
- Bluestone JA, Mackay CR, O'Shea JJ, Stockinger B. The functional plasticity of T cell subsets. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2009) 9(11):811–6. doi:10.1038/nri2654
- Kamada N, Seo S-U, Chen GY, Nunez G. Role of the gut microbiota in immunity and inflammatory disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(5):321–35. doi:10.1038/nri3430
- Veldhoen M. The role of T helper subsets in autoimmunity and allergy. Curr Opin Immunol (2009) 21(6):606–11. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2009.07.009
- O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**(5969):1098–102. doi:10.1126/ science.1178334
- Peine M, Rausch S, Helmstetter C, Fröhlich A, Hegazy AN, Kühl AA, et al. Stable T-bet⁺GATA-3⁺ Th1/Th2 hybrid cells arise in vivo, can develop directly from naive precursors, and limit immunopathologic inflammation. *PLoS Biol* (2013) 11(8):e1001633. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001633
- Annunziato F, Cosmi L, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Liotta F, Mazzinghi B, et al. Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells. J Exp Med (2007) 204(8):1849–61. doi:10.1084/jem.20070663
- Cosmi L, De Palma R, Santarlasci V, Maggi L, Capone M, Frosali F, et al. Human interleukin 17-producing cells originate from a CD161+CD4+ T cell precursor. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205(8):1903–16. doi:10.1084/jem.20080397
- Kleinschek MA, Boniface K, Sadekova S, Grein J, Murphy EE, Turner SP, et al. Circulating and gut-resident human Th17 cells express CD161 and promote intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med (2009) 206(3):525–34. doi:10.1084/jem.20081712
- Ahern PP, Schiering C, Buonocore S, McGeachy MJ, Cua DJ, Maloy KJ, et al. Interleukin-23 drives intestinal inflammation through direct activity on T cells. *Immunity* (2010) 33(2):279–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.08.010
- Morrison PJ, Bending D, Fouser LA, Wright JF, Stockinger B, Cooke A, et al. Th17-cell plasticity in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-induced intestinal inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6(6):1143–56. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.11
- Kullberg MC, Jankovic D, Feng CG, Hue S, Gorelick PL, McKenzie BS, et al. IL-23 plays a key role in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-induced T cell-dependent colitis. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2485–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20061082
- Lee YK, Turner H, Maynard CL, Oliver JR, Chen D, Elson CO, et al. Late developmental plasticity in the T helper 17 lineage. *Immunity* (2009) 30(1):92–107. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.005
- Hue S, Ahern P, Buonocore S, Kullberg MC, Cua DJ, McKenzie BS, et al. Interleukin-23 drives innate and T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2473–83. doi:10.1084/jem.20061099
- Califano D, Sweeney KJ, Le H, VanValkenburgh J, Yager E, O'Connor WJr, et al. Diverting T helper cell trafficking through increased plasticity attenuates autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(1):174–87. doi:10.1172/jci70103
- Carbo A, Hontecillas R, Kronsteiner B, Viladomiu M, Pedragosa M, Lu P, et al. Systems modeling of molecular mechanisms controlling cytokine-driven CD4+ T cell differentiation and phenotype plasticity. *PLoS Comput Biol* (2013) 9(4):e1003027. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003027
- Hovhannisyan Z, Treatman J, Littman DR, Mayer L. Characterization of interleukin-17-producing regulatory T cells in inflamed intestinal mucosa from patients with inflammatory bowel diseases. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 140(3):957–65. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.12.002
- Voo KS, Wang YH, Santori FR, Boggiano C, Arima K, Bover L, et al. Identification of IL-17-producing FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in humans. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) **106**(12):4793–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0900408106
- Hirota K, Turner JE, Villa M, Duarte JH, Demengeot J, Steinmetz OM, et al. Plasticity of Th17 cells in Peyer's patches is responsible for the induction of T cell-dependent IgA responses. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(4):372–9. doi:10.1038/ni.2552
- Tsuji M, Komatsu N, Kawamoto S, Suzuki K, Kanagawa O, Honjo T, et al. Preferential generation of follicular B helper T cells from Foxp3+ T cells in gut Peyer's patches. *Science* (2009) **323**(5920):1488–92. doi:10.1126/science. 1169152
- 28. Kawamoto S, Maruya M, Kato LM, Suda W, Atarashi K, Doi Y, et al. Foxp3+ T cells regulate immunoglobulin a selection and facilitate diversification of bacterial

species responsible for immune homeostasis. *Immunity* (2014) **41**(1):152–65. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.05.016

- Reis BS, Rogoz A, Costa-Pinto FA, Taniuchi I, Mucida D. Mutual expression of the transcription factors Runx3 and ThPOK regulates intestinal CD4+ T cell immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(3):271–80. doi:10.1038/ni.2518
- Mucida D, Husain MM, Muroi S, van Wijk F, Shinnakasu R, Naoe Y, et al. Transcriptional reprogramming of mature CD4(+) helper T cells generates distinct MHC class II-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(3):281–9. doi:10.1038/ni.2523
- Maynard CL, Weaver CT. Intestinal effector T cells in health and disease. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):389–400. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.012
- Arumugam M, Raes J, Pelletier E, Le Paslier D, Yamada T, Mende DR, et al. Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome. *Nature* (2011) 473(7346):174–80. doi:10.1038/nature09944
- Mosmann TR, Cherwinski H, Bond MW, Giedlin MA, Coffman RL. Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* (1986) 136(7):2348–57.
- 34. Antebi YE, Reich-Zeliger S, Hart Y, Mayo A, Eizenberg I, Rimer J, et al. Mapping differentiation under mixed culture conditions reveals a tunable continuum of T cell fates. *PLoS Biol* (2013) 11(7):e1001616. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001616
- 35. Hegazy AN, Peine M, Helmstetter C, Panse I, Frohlich A, Bergthaler A, et al. Interferons direct Th2 cell reprogramming to generate a stable GATA-3(+)Tbet(+) cell subset with combined Th2 and Th1 cell functions. *Immunity* (2010) 32(1):116–28. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.12.004
- Maloy KJ, Kullberg MC. IL-23 and Th17 cytokines in intestinal homeostasis. Mucosal Immunol (2008) 1(5):339–49. doi:10.1038/mi.2008.28
- Veldhoen M, Hocking RJ, Atkins CJ, Locksley RM, Stockinger B. TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells. *Immunity* (2006) 24(2):179–89. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2006.01.001
- Weaver CT, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Harrington LE. IL-17 family cytokines and the expanding diversity of effector T cell lineages. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2007) 25:821–52. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141557
- 39. Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) 126(6):1121–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- Veldhoen M, Hirota K, Westendorf AM, Buer J, Dumoutier L, Renauld JC, et al. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor links TH17-cell-mediated autoimmunity to environmental toxins. *Nature* (2008) 453(7191):106–9. doi:10.1038/nature06881
- 41. Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, et al. T helper 17 lineage differentiation is programmed by orphan nuclear receptors ROR alpha and ROR gamma. *Immunity* (2008) 28(1):29–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2007.11.016
- Bending D, De laPeñaH, Veldhoen M, Phillips JM, Uyttenhove C, Stockinger B, et al. Highly purified Th17 cells from BDC2.5NOD mice convert into Th1like cells in NOD/SCID recipient mice. *J Clin Invest* (2009) 119(3):565–72. doi:10.1172/jci37865
- Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R. IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. *Immunity* (2004) 21(2):241–54. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2004.07.007
- Zenewicz LA, Yancopoulos GD, Valenzuela DM, Murphy AJ, Stevens S, Flavell RA. Innate and adaptive interleukin-22 protects mice from inflammatory bowel disease. *Immunity* (2008) 29(6):947–57. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.11.003
- 45. Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, et al. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(3):282–9. doi:10.1038/nm1720
- 46. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, et al. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med* (2008) 14(3):275–81. doi:10.1038/nm1710
- 47. Kiss EA, Vonarbourg C, Kopfmann S, Hobeika E, Finke D, Esser C, et al. Natural aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands control organogenesis of intestinal lymphoid follicles. *Science* (2011) **334**(6062):1561–5. doi:10.1126/science.1214914
- Li Y, Innocentin S, Withers DR, Roberts NA, Gallagher AR, Grigorieva EF, et al. Exogenous stimuli maintain intraepithelial lymphocytes via aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation. *Cell* (2011) 147(3):629–40. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.025
- 49. Zaid A, Mackay LK, Rahimpour A, Braun A, Veldhoen M, Carbone FR, et al. Persistence of skin-resident memory T cells within an epidermal niche. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111(14):5307–12. doi:10.1073/pnas.1322292111

- 50. Yang Y, Weiner J, Liu Y, Smith AJ, Huss DJ, Winger R, et al. T-bet is essential for encephalitogenicity of both Th1 and Th17 cells. *J Exp Med* (2009) **206**(7):1549–64. doi:10.1084/jem.20082584
- Duhen R, Glatigny S, Arbelaez CA, Blair TC, Oukka M, Bettelli E. Cutting edge: the pathogenicity of IFN-gamma-producing Th17 cells is independent of T-bet. *J Immunol* (2013) 190(9):4478–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203172
- O'Connor RA, Cambrook H, Huettner K, Anderton SM. T-bet is essential for Th1-mediated, but not Th17-mediated, CNS autoimmune disease. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43(11):2818–23. doi:10.1002/eji.201343689
- 53. Grifka-Walk HM, Lalor SJ, Segal BM. Highly polarized Th17 cells induce EAE via a T-bet independent mechanism. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) **43**(11):2824–31. doi:10.1002/eji.201343723
- 54. Wang Y, Godec J, Ben-Aissa K, Cui K, Zhao K, Pucsek AB, et al. The transcription factors T-bet and Runx are required for the ontogeny of pathogenic interferon-gamma-producing T helper 17 cells. *Immunity* (2014) 40(3):355–66. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.002
- 55. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, et al. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat Immunol* (2005) 6(11):1123–32. doi:10.1038/ni1254
- Liao F, Rabin RL, Smith CS, Sharma G, Nutman TB, Farber JM. CC-chemokine receptor 6 is expressed on diverse memory subsets of T cells and determines responsiveness to macrophage inflammatory protein 3 alpha. *J Immunol* (1999) 162(1):186–94.
- Koenen HJ, Smeets RL, Vink PM, van Rijssen E, Boots AM, Joosten I. Human CD25highFoxp3pos regulatory T cells differentiate into IL-17-producing cells. *Blood* (2008) 112(6):2340–52. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-01-133967
- Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31(3):457–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, DiToro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1006–10. doi:10.1126/science.1175870
- Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) 325(5943):1001–5. doi:10.1126/science.1176676
- Linterman MA, Liston A, Vinuesa CG. T-follicular helper cell differentiation and the co-option of this pathway by non-helper cells. *Immunol Rev* (2012) 247(1):143–59. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01121.x
- Kato LM, Kawamoto S, Maruya M, Fagarasan S. Gut TFH and IgA: key players for regulation of bacterial communities and immune homeostasis. *Immunol Cell Biol* (2014) **92**(1):49–56. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.54
- Bergqvist P, Stensson A, Lycke NY, Bemark M. T cell-independent IgA class switch recombination is restricted to the GALT and occurs prior to manifest germinal center formation. J Immunol (2010) 184(7):3545–53. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.0901895
- 64. Shinkura R, Ito S, Begum NA, Nagaoka H, Muramatsu M, Kinoshita K, et al. Separate domains of AID are required for somatic hypermutation and class-switch recombination. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(7):707–12. doi:10.1038/ni1086
- 65. Yel L. Selective IgA deficiency. J Clin Immunol (2010) **30**(1):10–6. doi:10.1007/s10875-009-9357-x
- Aytekin C, Tuygun N, Gokce S, Dogu F, Ikinciogullari A. Selective IgA deficiency: clinical and laboratory features of 118 children in Turkey. *J Clin Immunol* (2012) 32(5):961–6. doi:10.1007/s10875-012-9702-3
- 67. Takahashi H, Kanno T, Nakayamada S, Hirahara K, Sciume G, Muljo SA, et al. TGF-beta and retinoic acid induce the microRNA miR-10a, which targets Bcl-6 and constrains the plasticity of helper T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2012) **13**(6):587–95. doi:10.1038/ni.2286
- Linterman MA, Pierson W, Lee SK, Kallies A, Kawamoto S, Rayner TF, et al. Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells control the germinal center response. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):975–82. doi:10.1038/nm.2425
- Chung Y, Tanaka S, Chu F, Nurieva RI, Martinez GJ, Rawal S, et al. Follicular regulatory T cells expressing Foxp3 and Bcl-6 suppress germinal center reactions. *Nat Med* (2011) 17(8):983–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2426
- Wollenberg I, Agua-Doce A, Hernandez A, Almeida C, Oliveira VG, Faro J, et al. Regulation of the germinal center reaction by Foxp3+ follicular regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 187(9):4553–60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1101328
- 71. King IL, Kroenke MA, Segal BM. GM-CSF-dependent, CD103+ dermal dendritic cells play a critical role in Th effector cell differentiation

after subcutaneous immunization. J Exp Med (2010) 207(5):953-61. doi:10.1084/jem.20091844

- Glatman Zaretsky A, Taylor JJ, King IL, Marshall FA, Mohrs M, Pearce EJ. T follicular helper cells differentiate from Th2 cells in response to helminth antigens. *J Exp Med* (2009) 206(5):991–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20090303
- Liang HE, Reinhardt RL, Bando JK, Sullivan BM, Ho IC, Locksley RM. Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13(1):58–66. doi:10.1038/ni.2182
- 74. Harper HM, Cochrane L, Williams NA. The role of small intestinal antigenpresenting cells in the induction of T-cell reactivity to soluble protein antigens: association between aberrant presentation in the lamina propria and oral tolerance. *Immunology* (1996) 89(3):449–56. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2567.1996.d01-760.x
- 75. Iwasaki A, Kelsall BL. Freshly isolated Peyer's patch, but not spleen, dendritic cells produce interleukin 10 and induce the differentiation of T helper type 2 cells. *J Exp Med* (1999) **190**(2):229–39. doi:10.1084/jem.190.2.229
- 76. Atarashi K, Tanoue T, Oshima K, Suda W, Nagano Y, Nishikawa H, et al. Treg induction by a rationally selected mixture of *Clostridia* strains from the human microbiota. *Nature* (2013) **500**(7461):232–6. doi:10.1038/nature12331
- Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, Michaud M, Gallini CA, Bohlooly YM, et al. The microbial metabolites, short-chain fatty acids, regulate colonic Treg cell homeostasis. *Science* (2013) 341(6145):569–73. doi:10.1126/science.1241165
- Josefowicz SZ, Niec RE, Kim HY, Treuting P, Chinen T, Zheng Y, et al. Extrathymically generated regulatory T cells control mucosal TH2 inflammation. *Nature* (2012) 482(7385):395–9. doi:10.1038/nature10772
- Ivanov II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, et al. Induction of intestinal Th17 cells by segmented filamentous bacteria. *Cell* (2009) 139(3):485–98. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.033
- Yang Y, Torchinsky MB, Gobert M, Xiong H, Xu M, Linehan JL, et al. Focused specificity of intestinal T17 cells towards commensal bacterial antigens. *Nature* (2014) 510(7503):152–6. doi:10.1038/nature13279
- Atarashi K, Nishimura J, Shima T, Umesaki Y, Yamamoto M, Onoue M, et al. ATP drives lamina propria TH17 cell differentiation. *Nature* (2008) 455(7214):808–12. doi:10.1038/nature07240
- Tao X, Grant C, Constant S, Bottomly K. Induction of IL-4-producing CD4+ T cells by antigenic peptides altered for TCR binding. *J Immunol* (1997) 158(9):4237–44.
- Bending D, Newland S, Krejci A, Phillips JM, Bray S, Cooke A. Epigenetic changes at Il12rb2 and Tbx21 in relation to plasticity behavior of Th17 cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(6):3373–82. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003216
- Lexberg MH, Taubner A, Albrecht I, Lepenies I, Richter A, Kamradt T, et al. IFNgamma and IL-12 synergize to convert in vivo generated Th17 into Th1/Th17 cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2010) 40(11):3017–27. doi:10.1002/eji.201040539
- Yang XO, Nurieva R, Martinez GJ, Kang HS, Chung Y, Pappu BP, et al. Molecular antagonism and plasticity of regulatory and inflammatory T cell programs. *Immunity* (2008) 29(1):44–56. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.007
- 86. Usui T, Preiss JC, Kanno Y, Yao ZJ, Bream JH, O'Shea JJ, et al. T-bet regulates Th1 responses through essential effects on GATA-3 function rather than on

IFNG gene acetylation and transcription. J Exp Med (2006) 203(3):755–66. doi:10.1084/jem.20052165

- Wei G, Abraham BJ, Yagi R, Jothi R, Cui K, Sharma S, et al. Genome-wide analyses of transcription factor GATA3-mediated gene regulation in distinct T cell types. *Immunity* (2011) 35(2):299–311. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.08.007
- Iwata M, Hirakiyama A, Eshima Y, Kagechika H, Kato C, Song SY. Retinoic acid imprints gut-homing specificity on T cells. *Immunity* (2004) 21(4):527–38. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2004.08.011
- Manicassamy S, Pulendran B. Retinoic acid-dependent regulation of immune responses by dendritic cells and macrophages. *Semin Immunol* (2009) 21(1):22–7. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2008.07.007
- 90. Yokota Y, Mansouri A, Mori S, Sugawara S, Adachi S, Nishikawa S, et al. Development of peripheral lymphoid organs and natural killer cells depends on the helixloop-helix inhibitor Id2. *Nature* (1999) **397**(6721):702–6. doi:10.1038/17812
- 91. Kunkel EJ, Campbell JJ, Haraldsen G, Pan J, Boisvert J, Roberts AI, et al. Lymphocyte CC chemokine receptor 9 and epithelial thymus-expressed chemokine (TECK) expression distinguish the small intestinal immune compartment: epithelial expression of tissue-specific chemokines as an organizing principle in regional immunity. J Exp Med (2000) 192(5):761–8. doi:10.1084/jem.192.5.761
- O'Shea JJ, Lahesmaa R, Vahedi G, Laurence A, Kanno Y. Genomic views of STAT function in CD4+ T helper cell differentiation. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2011) 11(4):239–50. doi:10.1038/nri2958
- Pepper M, Pagan AJ, Igyarto BZ, Taylor JJ, Jenkins MK. Opposing signals from the Bcl6 transcription factor and the interleukin-2 receptor generate T helper 1 central and effector memory cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35(4):583–95. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.009
- 94. Marshall HD, Chandele A, Jung YW, Meng H, Poholek AC, Parish IA, et al. Differential expression of Ly6C and T-bet distinguish effector and memory Th1 CD4(+) cell properties during viral infection. *Immunity* (2011) 35(4):633–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.08.016

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 July 2014; paper pending published: 08 September 2014; accepted: 22 September 2014; published online: 07 October 2014.

Citation: Brucklacher-Waldert V, Carr EJ, Linterman MA and Veldhoen M (2014) Cellular plasticity of CD4+ T cells in the intestine. Front. Immunol. 5:488. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00488

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2014 Brucklacher-Waldert, Carr, Linterman and Veldhoen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Memory T follicular helper CD4 T cells

J. Scott Hale * and Rafi Ahmed

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory Vaccine Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

Edited by:

Dragana Jankovic, National Institutes of Health, USA

Reviewed by:

António Gil Castro, University of Minho, Portugal Remy Bosselut, National Cancer Institute, USA

*Correspondence:

J. Scott Hale, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory Vaccine Center, Emory University School of Medicine, 1462 Clifton Road, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA e-mail: jshale@emory.edu T follicular helper (Tfh) cells are the subset of CD4T helper cells that are required for generation and maintenance of germinal center reactions and the generation of long-lived humoral immunity. This specialized T helper subset provides help to cognate B cells via their expression of CD40 ligand, IL-21, IL-4, and other molecules. Tfh cells are characterized by their expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR5, expression of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6, and their capacity to migrate to the follicle and promote germinal center B cell responses. Until recently, it remained unclear whether Tfh cells differentiated into memory cells and whether they maintain Tfh commitment at the memory phase. This review will highlight several recent studies that support the idea of Tfh-committed CD4T cells at the memory stage of the immune response. The implication of these findings is that memory Th cells retain their capacity to recall their Th-specific effector functions upon reactivation to provide help for B cell responses and play an important role in prime and boost vaccination or during recall responses to infection. The markers that are useful for distinguishing The effector and memory cells, as well as the limitations of using these markers will be discussed. Tfh effector and memory generation, lineage maintenance, and plasticity relative to other T helper lineages (Th1, Th2, Th17, etc.) will also be discussed. Ongoing discoveries regarding the maintenance and lineage stability versus plasticity of memory Tfh cells will improve strategies that utilize CD4 T cell memory to modulate antibody responses during prime and boost vaccination.

Keywords: T follicular helper cells, memory T cells, Bcl6, CXCR5, helper T cells

INTRODUCTION

Effective B cell responses to infectious diseases or immunization require the assistance of CD4+ helper T cells. A specialized subset of CD4 T cells named T follicular helper (Tfh) cells are required for providing this help to antigen-specific B cells. Without cognate Tfh help, activated B cells are unable to generate and maintain the germinal center response that is required for efficient somatic hypermutation of immunoglobulin genes and the selective processes that facilitate affinity maturation of antibodies (1, 2). Furthermore, the germinal center reaction is the origin of longlived memory B cells and long-lived plasma cells that populate the periphery and bone marrow (respectively), and provide long-term antibody-mediated protection against (re)exposure to pathogens (3). Thus, Tfh cells play a critical role in the generation of effective and long-lived humoral immune responses to antigens (1).

T follicular helper cells were first identified as a subset of CD4 T cells isolated from human tonsils (4, 5). These cells expressed the B cell follicle homing chemokine receptor CXCR5 and the inducible costimulator (ICOS), and localized within the germinal center (4, 5). Furthermore, these human tonsil CXCR5+ cells (compared to CXCR5-CD45RO+ T cells) efficiently promoted production of class switched immunoglobulin (Ig)G and IgA in T cell:B cell co-culture assays (4–6). Interestingly, CXCR5+ CD4 T cells from human blood, which were presumed to be the memory counterparts of CXCR5+ cells in tonsils and lymph nodes, did not efficiently produce the Th1 signature cytokine IFN γ or the Th2 cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 (5). Together, these studies suggested that the CXCR5+ Tfh cells represented a novel subset of

helper T cells with the specific functions of providing help for B cell responses and that are distinct from Th1 and Th2 cells. Since these initial seminal reports describing Tfh cells, extensive studies have demonstrated that while Tfh cells share certain similarities with Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells (depending upon context of infection or vaccination), these cells have unique developmental requirements and distinct phenotypic, homing, and functional qualities compared to other T helper cell lineages (Th1, Th2, Th17, Treg) (1).

Upon activation with cognate antigen by dendritic cells, antigen-specific CD4 T cells can differentiate to become various types of effector CD4 T cells with specific roles in promoting anti-pathogen immune responses (Figure 1). Early differentiation toward the Tfh lineage requires ICOS expression and signaling to induce expression of the transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 (7). Bcl6 is required for Tfh cell generation, maintenance, and function, establishing Bcl6 as a central regulator in Tfh cell lineage development (Figure 1) (8-10). Bcl6 expression promotes Tfh differentiation, at least in part by suppressing transcription of the transcriptional regulators Tbet, RORyt, GATA3, and Blimp-1 (8–10), and through other potential mechanisms, such as the repression of microRNAs (10). In addition, cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-21 (11), and other molecules such as SAP are important for Tfh differentiation and function (12, 13). Importantly, interactions with cognate B cells were required for amplifying the expression of Bcl6 for the maintenance of the Tfh phenotype during the immune response (7). During Tfh differentiation, Bcl6 plays an important role in suppressing Blimp1 (8), which is a regulator of Th1, Th17, and Th2 lineage cells (1). Thus, the promotion of Bcl6 coupled to



FIGURE 1 |T follicular helper cell differentiation and context-dependent Tfh cell heterogeneity. Following activation of naïve CD4 T cells, cells proliferate and undergo fate decisions in response to cytokines and other differentiating factors. Tfh cell differentiation is influenced by IL-6 and IL-21, and dependent upon ICOS signaling for expression of the transcription factor Bcl6. Cytokines including IL-12, IL-4, IL-1 β , and many others, direct (A) Th1, (B) Th2, and (C) Th17 cell differentiation, respectively. The context-dependent cytokine milieu also influences Tfh cell differentiation; thus, Tfh effector cells can express some low/intermediate levels of the transcription factors Tbet, Gata3, and ROR_Yt, which are associated with the (A) Th1, (B) Th2, and (C) Th17 cell lineages, respectively.

the repression of Blimp1 plays a role in the differentiation, function, and possibly the stability of Tfh cells in relation to other T helper cell subsets. Additional transcription factors such as Maf (14, 15), Ascl2 (16), and others play important roles in Tfh cell differentiation and/or function (1).

T follicular helper cells have developmental requirements that differ from those that promote Th1, Th2, and Th17 effector cell development (1). However, depending upon the type of infection (viral, helminth, fungal, etc.) or immunization and the inflammatory environment that is generated, Tfh cells can express low to intermediate levels of Tbet, Gata3, or RORyt (Figure 1) (17–20). This intriguing context-dependent transcription factor expression in Tfh cells results in a variety of Tfh cell subsets that can express low levels of specific cytokines that can influence antibody class switching (17, 21, 22). Thus, studying the complex relationship between Tfh cells and their non-Tfh cell counterparts, and whether they remain phenotypically and functionally distinct throughout the immune response and beyond is critical to understanding Tfh cell commitment and flexibility and to determining their biologically important roles during specific types of immune responses.

LINEAGE-COMMITTED MEMORY T HELPER CELLS

The adaptive immune system responds to infectious challenge with two major goals. The first goal is to generate sufficient numbers of antigen-specific effector cells to limit and clear the pathogen. The second priority is to provide long-lasting immunity that will defend the host from subsequent exposure to the pathogen (23). The activation-driven proliferation and lineage differentiation of CD4 T cells *in vivo* is accompanied by the progression of memory differentiation. Following clearance of antigen, the majority (approximately 90–95%) of antigen-specific effector T cells undergo apoptosis, leaving behind a population of memory cells. In some experimental models, antigen-specific CD4 memory T cells gradually decline over long periods of time (24, 25). For example, *Listeria monocytogenes* infection-induced memory CD4 T cells are present at relatively high frequencies 90 days postinfection; however, by approximately 250 days post-infection, the population has largely disappeared from the spleen and lymph nodes (25). In contrast, human studies reveal that long-lived vaccinia-specific memory CD4 T cells are relatively stable for at least several decades after smallpox vaccination (26, 27).

Memory T cells possess many important features compared to their naïve CD4 T cell precursors. First, antigen-specific memory cells are found in increased numbers relative to their naïve antigen-specific precursors, providing better coverage and a more rapid cellular response upon pathogen rechallenge. Second, memory cells are not restricted to blood circulation and secondary lymphoid organs, but instead may also traffic to and reside in non-lymphoid tissues, where they may rapidly exert effector functions if their specified pathogen gains entry to that particular anatomical site. Third, memory T cells have undergone changes in cell-intrinsic programing, allowing them to rapidly recall their effector functions, such as prompt expression of specific effector cytokines, chemokines, and cytotoxic molecules. Finally, memory cells are long-lived, and a central feature of their longevity is dependent on their ability to undergo homeostatic proliferation in the absence of antigen (23, 28).

Combining the study of T helper lineage differentiation and T cell memory differentiation in vivo following vaccination or infection is incredibly complex. However, it provides the opportunity to gain vital understanding into the heterogeneity and lineage commitment and flexibility of the resulting antigen-specific memory CD4 T cells that will be informative for ongoing and future vaccine discovery/development efforts. It has become clear that among the vast heterogeneity of memory CD4 T cells, many memory cells demonstrate commitment to a previously defined T helper lineage. The existence of Th1-commited long-lived memory CD4 T cells was demonstrated in BAC transgenic mice that used a reporter to indicate transcription of the Ifng gene. In this study, Harrington et al. demonstrated that these memory cells were derived from the effector Th1 cells, and rapidly recalled IFNy expression at the effector phase (29). Several other studies similarly found that subsets of LCMV-specific and Listeria-specific memory CD4 T cells with distinct phenotypes were committed Th1 memory cells that recalled IFNy expression and expression of other Th1 effector molecules (20, 30, 31). One study utilized an IL4 IRES EGFP reporter mouse to demonstrate that Th2 effector cells (EGFP+) generated from N. brasiliensis infection could provide anti-parasite protective immunity after adoptive transfer into immunocompromised recipient mice and 30 days resting before parasite challenge (32). Similarly, Trichuris-specific Th2 memory cells recall their Th2 effector functions and mediate anti-parasite immunity (33). While Th17 CD4 T cells generated by intranasal Listeria infection (a Th1 pathogen) do not form memory cells (25), Candida and other fungal vaccines,

as well as other conditions have been shown to induce Th17 memory cells *in vivo* (34–36). Together, these studies demonstrate the characteristics and programs of polarized effector Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells that are generated early during effector differentiation are preserved in resting memory cells. Importantly, these effector programs are recalled after reactivation *in vivo* to infectious challenge in an antigen-specific manner, and with the appropriate T helper effector response to effectively eliminate the pathogen.

T FOLLICULAR HELPER MEMORY CELLS

The establishment of Tfh cells as an independent effector T helper subset, and the factors that drive Tfh differentiation being defined, provides a strong rationale for exploring whether Tfh cells that progress to become memory cells maintain their Tfh attributes following resolution to the immune response. However, given the potential flexibility/plasticity of Tfh cells toward repolarization (37), one might predict that Tfh cells generate non-committed memory CD4 T cells. Several fundamental questions exist regarding the relationship of Tfh cells and memory cells. First, do Tfh cells survive to become memory cells? Second, do memory cells derived from Tfh cells maintain their commitment/programing to recall Tfh effector cells, or, instead possess pluripotency/plasticity to become cells of other T helper lineages? The answer to these questions provides profound insight into the importance of how Tfh differentiation during primary immune responses to natural infection and vaccination have the potential to influence secondary antibody responses. Several recent studies have provided insight into the existence and characteristics of memory Tfh cells and their capacity to recall Tfh-specific effector functions following reactivation with antigen.

One early study investigating memory Tfh cells in mice described a population of CXCR5+ICOS+ cells in the draining lymph nodes 30–56 days following immunization with pigeon cytochrome C in adjuvant. Compared to day 7 Tfh effector cells, day 30 PCC-specific cells had decreased ICOS and OX40 expression. The authors reported that these were a subset of memory Tfh cells with enhanced recall capacity upon immunization 6–8 weeks after priming (38). However, this study further reported the persistence of antigen for more than 75 days after immunization and the maintenance of CD69 on these PCC-specific CD4 Tfh cells indicate that this experimental system promotes long-lived antigen depots. Thus, the CXCR5+ICOS^{lo} cells identified in this study cannot be clearly distinguished as true memory cells that survive in the absence of antigen (38).

A study by MacLeod and Marrack provided a stronger basis for the existence of memory CD4 T cells with accelerated Tfh function during recall responses (39). Their study demonstrated that on a per cell basis, antigen-specific memory CD4 T cells (compared to Ag-specific naïve cells) provided accelerated B cell responses and antibody class switching. Interestingly, this accelerated B cell helper capacity was contained within the CXCR5+ subset of memory CD4 T cells, resulting in higher OVA-specific IgG1 titers following adoptive cell transfer and followed by immunization. The authors suggested that CXCR5 chemokine receptor expression promotes their more rapid migration of reactivated memory CD4 T cells to B cell follicles, allowing them to provide accelerated help to the B cell response (39).

It was unknown whether Tfh cells were able to survive and become memory cells. To address this question, Weber et al. used protein immunization in CFA to induce TCR transgenic CD4 effector T cells, sorted them into CXCR5- and CXCR5+ subsets, and then adoptively transferred these into naïve recipient mice (40). Fourteen days later, adoptively transferred CXCR5+ effector cells had become CXCR5 low/negative. After resting these cells in naïve recipient mice for several weeks, a large proportion of transferred Tfh cells quickly recalled a Tfh phenotype within 2.5 days following re-immunization, expressing higher levels of PD-1, Bcl6, CXCR5, and IL-21 compared to non-Tfh cells and primary effector cells (40). While the time periods that these cells were rested in the absence of antigen were relatively brief, this study was highly suggestive that effector Tfh cells could be maintained in the absence of antigen and preferentially recall a Tfh phenotype. A study by Choi and colleagues addressing the fate commitment of Tfh cells demonstrated that day 3 LCMV-specific Tfh effector cells, following adoptive transfer into day 3 LCMV-infected (infectionmatched) recipient mice, were maintained up to 45 days later and retained CXCR5 surface expression (41). An additional study demonstrated that CXCR5+RFP+ (from Bcl6 RFP reporter mice) OTII cells induced by Ova/CFA immunization can persist following adoptive transfer for 20 days, and upon OVA+CFA immunization preferentially recall Tfh cells in the draining lymph node (42). Together, these studies clearly demonstrate that not all Tfh effector cells are terminally differentiated and fated to die. Instead, some Tfh effector cells progress to become memory cells that have some similar features compared to their Tfh effector predecessors.

Our study investigated the differentiation of Th1 and Tfh cells following acute LCMV infection using the adoptive transfer and analysis of LCMV-specific CD4 T cells (SMARTA TCR transgenic) induced by acute viral infection (20). Following the clearance of acute LCMV infection and the corresponding contraction of virus-specific CD4 T cells, both Th1 and Tfh memory subsets are maintained at relatively stable numbers for approximately 60-150 days post-infection (20). Resting PD-1- and ICOS-CXCR5+Ly6c^{lo} memory CD4 T cells shared phenotypic and gene expression similarities to CXCR5+Ly6clo effector Tfh cells, suggesting a direct lineage-relationship between these populations at the different stages of the immune response. Adoptive transfer of CXCR5+ memory subsets followed by LCMV Armstrong challenge resulted in Tfh secondary effector cells with ability to rapidly recall a Tfh effector phenotype and promote the generation of germinal center B cells. In addition, when CXCR5+ memory cells were transferred to B cell deficient recipient mice that were then infected, a large proportion of the resulting effector cells recalled and sustained a Tfh-like phenotype, while primary effector cells generated from naïve (uncommitted) SMARTA cells did not. These latter results indicate that CXCR5+ memory cells have acquired and maintained a Tfh-biased cell program relative to their naïve cell counterparts (20). Interestingly, while there was some apparent flexibility by some CXCR5+ memory cells to generate CXCR5- Th1-like secondary effector cells, cell-intrinsic restrictions impaired the Th1 effector program, resulting in poor granzyme B and IFNy expression. The results from this study argue in favor of Tfh lineage commitment within the CXCR5+ Tfh memory cell population (20).

In contrast to these many studies that report the existence of memory Tfh cells that promptly and preferentially recall Tfh phenotype and function upon rechallenge, one study reported that L. monocytogenes specific (identified by MHC class II tetramer) CXCR5+ memory CD4 T cells are pluripotent, promoting the recall of both Tfh cells and non-Tfh (Th1) cells (31). Another study of influenza infection in IL-21 GFP reporter mice showed that the adoptive transfer of polyclonal CXCR5+GFP+ Tfh CD4 effector cells gave rise to memory cells with sufficient plasticity to generate secondary effectors of both Tfh cells and non-Tfh cells. Thus, Luthje et al. conclude that Tfh effector cells are "uncommitted" regarding their T helper lineage (43). Interestingly, these studies both used adoptive transfer of polyclonal CD4 T cells (31, 43), while studies demonstrating relative Tfh commitment of CXCR5+ Tfh memory cells utilized TCR transgenic cells specific for a single epitope (20, 40, 42). Because strength and/or longevity of TCR signaling influences Th1 versus Tfh differentiation (44, 45) as well as memory CD4 T cell differentiation (46), individual TCRs within the Tfh effector population may confer varying degrees of lineage commitment in CXCR5+ Tfh memory cells. Going forward, it will be interesting to determine whether different TCRs, infection and immunization systems, and other factors play a role in the degree of plasticity versus commitment in memory Tfh cells.

There are many well described Tfh cell markers; however, there are relatively few markers useful for clearly distinguishing resting memory Tfh cells. Antigen-specific memory Tfh cells express CXCR5, but lack Bcl6, ICOS, and expression of many other Tfh molecules (20, 41, 47) (**Figure 2**). In addition, memory Tfh cells do not express CD69 (20), an indicator of ongoing antigen stimulation. A recent study demonstrated that folate receptor 4 (FR4), a surface receptor that is upregulated on Tfh cells but not Th1 cells during acute viral infection, is maintained on the surface of CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells (48). To date, the best marker for identifying memory Tfh cells is CXCR5 (18, 20, 41, 47) (**Figure 2**); however, not all CXCR5+ memory cell subsets exhibit specific Tfh function upon reactivation (47). **Figure 2** shows some of the phenotypic markers associated with the memory Tfh cell phenotype.

It has become clear that Tfh effector cells can become memory Tfh cells with cell-intrinsic programs that promote the recall of Tfh

cells upon reactivation. It is therefore possible to propose models of T helper cell differentiation wherein naïve CD4 T cells give rise to Tfh and other T effector lineage cells (Th1, Th2, or Th17 depending upon context of the pathogen or inflammation), and these effector cells give rise to memory cells that strictly maintain their lineage commitment and recall their lineage upon reinfection or boosting with antigen (Figure 3A). However, memory T cell populations are characterized by a vast degree of phenotypic and functional heterogeneity. A second and more comprehensive model would suggest that as effector cells differentiate, individual cells acquire varying degrees of programing toward the Tfh or other T effector lineage cells that can be stably maintained in resting memory cells (likely through epigenetic mechanisms) (Figure 3B). The resulting population of antigen-specific memory cells would then contain a wide spectrum of cells with varying degrees of lineage commitment versus pluripotency/plasticity (Figure 3B). This latter model may account for why some studies report lineage commitment within Tfh cell subsets, while others studies report relative noncommitment or plasticity. Future mechanistic studies will provide improved insight into the heterogeneity of memory CD4 T cells in relation to their T helper lineage commitment and recall potential. Furthermore, determining whether Tfh memory cells are homeostatically maintained over time at very late memory timepoints remains to be explored.

HUMAN T FOLLICULAR HELPER MEMORY CELLS

The original reports describing CXCR5+ Tfh cells in human tonsils had differing ideas regarding the existence of memory Tfh cells. One report described that tetanus-antigen-specific proliferation was induced in CD4+CD45RO+CXCR5- but not CD4+CD45RO+CXCR5+ cells, thus suggesting that Tfh cells likely disappear along with germinal centers, and are prone to apoptosis due to their high levels of Fas expression (4). In contrast, the other report showed that unlike the activated tonsillar CXCR5+ CD4 T cells that were CD69+HLA-DR+ICOS+, circulating CXCR5+ cells in human blood are CD69-HLA-DR-ICOS-, and hypothesized that these blood CXCR5+ cells represent memory Tfh cells (5). Since these initial observations, whether activated human Tfh cells become memory T cells, and whether





activation dependent molecules. Bcl6 expression is not detected in memory Tfh cells; however, Maf and other transcription factors are maintained at low/intermediate levels. PD-1 is absent from antigen-specific memory Tfh cells in mice, however, human CXCR5+CXCR3- memory Tfh cells maintain low levels of PD-1 expression that is not dependent on TCR signaling. Folate receptor 4 (FR4), a molecule that is highly expressed on effector Tfh cells, is maintained on CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells.





they maintain their Tfh function upon reactivation has remained unclear. Recent reports have shed light on the nature of human CXCR5+ memory Tfh cell ontogeny and function (18, 37, 47).

One study described a population of circulating human CXCR5+ central memory CD4 T cells that expressed CXCL13 and promoted B cells to undergo plasma cell differentiation and Ig secretion (37). Another recent study investigating circulating CXCR5+ CD4 T cells in human blood revealed that these cells share functional characteristics with Tfh cells. CXCR5+ cells promoted the isotype switching and antibody production of IgG, IgA, and IgE isotype switched antibodies in T:B cell co-culture experiments, while CXCR5- cells did not promote switched antibody production (18). Their study further categorized the CXCR5+ population into CXCR3+CCR6- (Th1-like), CXCR3-CCR6+ (TH17-like), and CXCR3-CCR6- (Th2-like) subsets. While CXCR5+CXCR3+CCR6- cells did not provide help in these co-culture assays, CXCR5+CXCR3-CCR6+ cells promoted high levels of IgG and IgA antibodies, while CXCR5+CXCR3-CCR6cells promoted high IgG and IgE, and intermediate levels of IgA. This study highlights the function of reactivated CXCR5+ CD4 T cells from peripheral blood to promote antibody production, and further defines the vast heterogeneity of CXCR5+ cells in relation to the Th1, Th2, and Th17 lineage of cells (18). The CD69and ICOS- phenotype of these circulating CXCR5+ cells (prior to reactivation) suggests that they are resting memory cells (18). However, inability to identify antigen-specific cells and relate them to a known time of antigen exposure lead to difficulty in concluding whether they are indeed true memory Tfh cells that persist long-term in the absence of antigen and maintain their lineage characteristics in their resting state.

Locci et al. profoundly advanced the understanding of human Tfh memory cells and clarified their existence. Their study identified that blood CXCR5+CXCR3- cells that had a nonactivated/resting phenotype could be stratified into either PD-1or PD-1^{low} subsets (47). Interestingly, low PD-1 expression was stably maintained on this latter subset of cells during 20 day culture in vitro in the absence of TCR stimulation, suggesting that sorted CXCR5+PD-1^{low} cells express these molecules (PD-1 and CXCR5) as a part of the Tfh transcriptional program. Indeed, the transcriptional profile of these CXCR5+CXCR3-PD-1^{low} cells is similar (albeit reduced) to that of germinal center Tfh cells from human tonsils, and these cells promoted the highest IgG antibody production and plasmablast differentiation in T:B cell co-culture experiments compared to other subsets of CXCR5+ cells (47). Furthermore, characterization of tetanus-specific CD4 T cells in healthy human donors (identified using HLA tetramers bearing tetanus peptide), demonstrated the existence of this CXCR5+CXCR3-PD-1^{low} phenotype among resting antigenspecific memory cells (Figure 2). Together, these experiments define the phenotype and function of human memory Tfh cells and combine to fortify the idea that memory Tfh cells exist within the pool of resting human antigen-specific memory cells (47).

Defining strategies and markers to distinguish and characterize antigen-specific human Tfh effector and memory subsets is difficult, and is the focus of many recent and current lines of research (18, 47, 49–51). The vast heterogeneity of effector and memory CD4 T cells in human blood and other tissues has led to difficulty in understanding what Tfh-like cell subsets serve as the best correlates of effective antibody responses, and what subsets actually provide the help for the B cell response in vivo (51). Some of the differences for Tfh and/or Tfh memory markers utilized in these various studies may result from the different types of infections or vaccinations studied, the timepoints analyzed (early after vaccination versus long-lived memory cells), and the varying analysis of "bulk" memory populations of unknown antigen-specificities versus analysis of tetramer+ pathogen specific memory cells (18, 47, 49-51). As better markers, reagents, and methods for studying antigen-specific Tfh responses become available, the developmental requirements and heterogeneity of human memory Tfh cells and their relationship to other T helper cell subsets will be better understood. This will open doors to more clearly define the specific roles that Tfh memory cells play during recall responses by human Tfh cells during boosting or in response to natural infection.

PRESERVING THE Tfh PROGRAM IN RESTING MEMORY Tfh CELLS

A complex combination of cytokines, transcription factors (52), STAT molecules (53), and epigenetic changes (54, 55) combine to delineate both the initial differentiation and stability of T helper lineages. Extrinsic factors that drive CD4 T cell activation and T helper cell differentiation are absent after antigen/pathogen clearance. Consequently, transcription factors such as Tbet and Bcl6 and other molecules that define T helper lineages are downregulated on memory CD4 T cells (20, 31, 40, 41). A critical question regarding the existence of CXCR5+ Tfh memory cells (and other specialized T helper cell memory subsets) remains: how do memory cells maintain lineage commitment and remember the gene expression programs of their previously defined T helper lineage in the absence of antigen and inflammatory signals (**Figure 4A**) (56, 57)? While the answer to this question for memory Tfh cells is currently not resolved, it is likely that the



from memory Tfh cells. (A) Differentiated CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells possess cell-intrinsic programs that promote the preferential generation of Tfh secondary effectors cells upon reactivation with antigen. In contrast, uncommitted naïve CD4T cells are pluripotent, with the capacity to generate a balance of Tfh and non-Tfh (Th1, Th2, Th17) effector cells following activation. (B) The maintenance of Tfh associated transcription factors may promote the recall of the Tfh cell program and inhibit the differentiation of other T helper lineages following activation. The transcription factor Maf, is maintained at low levels in human Tfh memory cells. While Bcl6 expression is not detectable in memory Tfh cells, it is possible that soon after reactivation, rapid reexpression of Bcl6 directs Tfh gene expression as well as inhibits Blimp1 and high expression of Tbet, Gata3, and RORyt. (C) CXCR5 and CCR7 coexpression on memory Tfh cells may provide localization of memory Tfh cells along the T:B cell border either before or early after reactivation, promoting increased interactions with B cells that can reinforce the Tfh cell phenotype and function. In contrast, CCR7+ (CXCR5-) naïve CD4 T cells will become activated in T cells zones by antigen-bearing dendritic cells. (D) Epigenetic programs acquired during Tfh effector differentiation can be maintained in resting memory Tfh cells throughout homeostatic proliferation. Transcriptionally permissive histone modifications and unmethylated DNA at "poised" Tfh associated loci in memory Tfh cells will promote the rapid reexpression of these genes upon reactivation. In addition, repressive histone modifications and DNA methylation will prevent reexpression of Th1, Th2, and Th17-associated genes.

reexpression of key transcription factors, as well as the epigenetic state of genes related to Tfh cell development and function, play an important role in directing Tfh memory cells toward recalling a secondary Tfh response. Potential mechanisms (that are not mutually exclusive – and more likely work in concert) for preserving the program of Tfh memory cells that promote the recall of Tfh secondary effector cells are shown in **Figures 4B–D**.

Bcl6 plays a critical role in defining the phenotype and function of Tfh cells (8-10). Although all of the mechanisms by which this transcriptional repressor positively directs the Tfh gene expression program, Bcl6 expression can induce CXCR5 expression (9, 15), likely through an indirect mechanism. Bcl6 overexpression in naïve human CD4 T cells promotes the regulation of genes required for germinal center trafficking and interactions with B cells, and in cooperation with Maf induces expression of other key Tfh genes (15). It is clear that while many Tfh associated genes are downregulated in resting CXCR5+ memory cells, these cells maintain a Tfh-like gene expression profile for many other Tfh associated genes (20, 47). Bcl6 transcript was not detectable in memory Tfh cells (20, 41, 42, 47). However, this does not rule out that very low levels of Bcl6 expression could bias the recall of memory Tfh cells early after cell reactivation by promoting the Tfh phenotype and inhibiting Blimp1 activity (Figure 4B). Furthermore, because memory B cells can present antigen to and rapidly induce Bcl6 expression in memory Tfh cells (58), the Bcl6-dependent Tfh transcriptional program may be robustly reinforced in memory Tfh cells upon reactivation in vivo.

Maf gene and protein expression were found at low levels in human blood Tfh memory cells (CXCR5+CXCR3-PD-1+) (47), suggesting that this important transcriptional regulator of Tfh cell functions (14, 15) may play a role in preserving aspects of the Tfh phenotype and program in these memory cells. In addition, Ascl2, a recently described transcription factor was shown to be required for early Tfh differentiation and function (16). Overexpression of Ascl2 results in CXCR5 expression, CCR7 downregulation, and subsequent migration to the follicles. Ascl2 binds to conserved non-coding sequence regions of the Cxcr5 locus and promotes Cxcr5 gene expression. Interestingly, Ascl2 did not induce Bcl6 expression. It is therefore possible that Ascl2 expression in Tfh memory cells may be important for maintenance of CXCR5 expression in resting memory Tfh cells (16). Currently, it is unclear what specific roles Bcl6, Maf, Ascl2, or other transcription factors play in preserving CXCR5 expression on memory Tfh cells, and promoting maintenance of the Tfh gene expression program (Figure 4B). Upon reactivation, it is possible that CXCR5+ Tfh memory cells are already localized (or rapidly relocalize) to the T:B border, resulting in interactions with B cells that would then reinforce Bcl6 reexpression and other Tfh transcription factors (Figure 4C). In turn, this might preferentially promote the Tfh program (over other T helper lineage programs) during the secondary response (Figure 4C). Currently, it remains unclear how these and other transcription factors influence the maintenance of the Tfh program and the repression of other T helper cell lineages in Tfh memory cells.

Transcription factors that have been termed lineage "master regulators," such as Tbet, RORyt, and Gata3 are not always limited in their expression to a single subset of differentiated CD4 T cells

and can be expressed in Tfh effector cells (Figure 1) (1). The expression of these factors in Tfh effector cells is believed to be important for promoting expression of key cytokines that direct specific isotype class switching in cognate germinal center B cells (17, 21, 22). The balance of Bcl6 and Tbet has been shown to have important effects of differentiation and gene expression by Th1 and Tfh cells (59-61). Interestingly, following LCMV infection, mouse Tfh cells co-express Bcl6 and intermediate levels of Tbet (20). The resulting Tfh memory cells do not have detectable Bcl6, but surprisingly, maintain low levels of Tbet gene and protein expression (20). Despite this Tbet expression (and lack of Bcl6), adoptively transferred Tfh memory cells predominantly generate Tfh secondary effector cells following reinfection (20). This finding invokes the idea that beyond the simple balance of lineage-associated transcription factors, transcriptional programing through epigenetic modifications likely plays a role in promoting the reexpression of Tfh genes and repressing the gene expression programs of other T helper cell lineages (57).

The maintenance of gene expression and lineage-differentiation programs in the absence of inflammatory/differentiating signals is reinforced by epigenetic programs that are acquired during the initial effector T cell differentiation (54, 57). The combination of epigenetic modifications to histones to regulate the structure of chromatin and the methylation of DNA at CpG motifs that determine the binding of inhibitory methyl-binding domain proteins can be conserved in daughter cells throughout cell division (62), providing a mechanism for gene expression programs to be maintained during T cell homeostatic proliferation (57). Furthermore, transcriptionally permissive epigenetic marks are positively associated at loci of lineage-specific cytokines for each T helper lineage, while repressive marks at specific loci relevant to other T helper lineages serve to prevent inappropriate gene expression and suppress the differentiation toward alternative lineages (54, 57). Lu et al. observed that positive chromatin marks were associated in Tfh-like cells at the Tbx21, Gata3, and Rorc loci, and that these cells could be repolarized toward Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells when restimulated under polarizing conditions (63). This study highlights that certain features of the Tfh program may partially overlap with Th1, Th2, and Th17 cell programs, possibly allowing greater plasticity toward the capacity to produce multiple lineagedefining cytokines. In addition, in vitro differentiated Th1 and Th2 cells (but not Th17 cells) can become Tfh cells following adoptive transfer and immunization with protein in adjuvant (42). Together, these studies demonstrate that there is a degree of flexibility between effector Tfh cells and other T helper cells. Further work is required to determine whether and how such flexibility applies to CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells generated in vivo. It is possible that context-dependent selective processes during memory T cell development promote antigen-specific memory T cells that are either more or less committed to Tfh differentiation compared to their effector (precursor) counterparts (Figure 3).

Methylation of CpG motifs in regulatory regions of genomic DNA serve as a transcriptionally repressive mark through recruitment of methyl-binding domain proteins (62, 64). Loss of DNA methyltransferase activity has dramatic effects upon CD4 differentiation, resulting in loss of restriction of key lineage-associated cytokine and transcription factor genes (65–69). DNA bisulfite

sequencing analysis of LCMV-induced CD4 T cells revealed that the Gzmb locus (encoding granzyme B) became demethylated in Th1 but not Tfh effector cells. Furthermore, the maintenance of DNA methylation at the Gzmb locus in CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells was predictive of both their capacity to recall the Tfh effector phenotype upon reactivation with antigen in vivo, and also their inability to efficiently express granzyme B, even among the small fraction of Th1-like secondary effector cells that had downregulated CXCR5 expression (20). Thus, repression of Th1associated gene expression programs (such as Gzmb) in memory Tfh cells likely plays an important role in the maintenance of the Tfh program in resting CXCR5+ Tfh memory cells by repressing the expression of genes associated with Th1 effector function (Figure 4D). Future work is needed to characterize permissive versus repressive epigenetic marks (for loci of lineageassociated cytokines, effector molecules, and transcription factors) in antigen-specific memory Tfh, Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells, providing needed insight into the plasticity versus commitment of memory CD4 T cell subsets induced by infection and immunization.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The discovery that phenotypically unique subsets of CXCR5+ memory CD4 T cells have recall potential specific for Tfh function invites important questions for future study that will inform vaccination strategies for infectious diseases. Understanding the mechanisms of how Tfh memory cells acquire and preserve the Tfh gene expression programs and preferentially recall these programs upon reactivation will provide important insight into the lineage maintenance and plasticity of these cells. Finally, future work is needed to determine the optimal ways to utilize Tfh memory cells during prime and boost immunization to promote ways that improve protective and long-lived antibody responses.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Ali H. Ellebedy and Dr. Ben Youngblood for helpful discussion. This work was supported by the NIH grant RO1 AI030048 (to Rafi Ahmed) and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases grant F32 AI096709 (to J. Scott Hale).

REFERENCES

- 1. Crotty S. Follicular helper CD4 T cells (Tfh). Annu Rev Immunol (2011) 29:621–63. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101400
- Ramiscal RR, Vinuesa CG. T-cell subsets in the germinal center. *Immunol Rev* (2013) 252:146–55. doi:10.1111/imr.12031
- Victora GD, Nussenzweig MC. Germinal centers. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:429–57. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075032
- Breitfeld D, Ohl L, Kremmer E, Ellwart J, Sallusto F, Lipp M, et al. Follicular B helper T cells express CXC chemokine receptor 5, localize to B cell follicles, and support immunoglobulin production. *J Exp Med* (2000) 192:1545–52. doi:10.1084/jem.192.11.1545
- Schaerli P, Willimann K, Lang AB, Lipp M, Loetscher P, Moser B. CXC chemokine receptor 5 expression defines follicular homing T cells with B cell helper function. J Exp Med (2000) 192:1553–62. doi:10.1084/jem.192.11.1553
- Kim CH, Rott LS, Clark-Lewis I, Campbell DJ, Wu L, Butcher EC. Subspecialization of CXCR5⁺ T cells: B helper activity is focused in a germinal center-localized subset of CXCR5⁺ T cells. J Exp Med (2001) 193:1373–81. doi:10.1084/jem.193.12.1373
- Choi YS, Kageyama R, Eto D, Escobar TC, Johnston RJ, Monticelli L, et al. ICOS receptor instructs T follicular helper cell versus effector cell differentiation via induction of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Immunity* (2011) 34:932–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.03.023

- Johnston RJ, Poholek AC, Ditoro D, Yusuf I, Eto D, Barnett B, et al. Bcl6 and Blimp-1 are reciprocal and antagonistic regulators of T follicular helper cell differentiation. *Science* (2009) 325:1006–10. doi:10.1126/science.1175870
- 9. Nurieva RI, Chung Y, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Tanaka S, Matskevitch TD, et al. Bcl6 mediates the development of T follicular helper cells. *Science* (2009) **325**:1001–5. doi:10.1126/science.1176676
- Yu D, Rao S, Tsai LM, Lee SK, He Y, Sutcliffe EL, et al. The transcriptional repressor Bcl-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* (2009) 31:457–68. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.07.002
- 11. Eto D, Lao C, Ditoro D, Barnett B, Escobar TC, Kageyama R, et al. IL-21 and IL-6 are critical for different aspects of B cell immunity and redundantly induce optimal follicular helper CD4 T cell (Tfh) differentiation. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e17739. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017739
- Crotty S, Kersh EN, Cannons J, Schwartzberg PL, Ahmed R. SAP is required for generating long-term humoral immunity. *Nature* (2003) 421:282–7. doi:10. 1038/nature01318
- Qi H, Cannons JL, Klauschen F, Schwartzberg PL, Germain RN. SAP-controlled T-B interactions underlie germinal centre formation. *Nature* (2008) 455:764–9. doi:10.1038/nature07345
- Bauquet AT, Jin H, Paterson AM, Mitsdoerffer M, Ho IC, Sharpe AH, et al. The costimulatory molecule ICOS regulates the expression of c-Maf and IL-21 in the development of follicular T helper cells and TH-17 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:167–75. doi:10.1038/ni.1690
- Kroenke MA, Eto D, Locci M, Cho M, Davidson T, Haddad EK, et al. Bcl6 and Maf cooperate to instruct human follicular helper CD4 T cell differentiation. *J Immunol* (2012) 188:3734–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103246
- Liu X, Chen X, Zhong B, Wang A, Wang X, Chu F, et al. Transcription factor achaete-scute homologue 2 initiates follicular T-helper-cell development. *Nature* (2014) 507:513–8. doi:10.1038/nature12910
- Yusuf I, Kageyama R, Monticelli L, Johnston RJ, Ditoro D, Hansen K, et al. Germinal center T follicular helper cell IL-4 production is dependent on signaling lymphocytic activation molecule receptor (CD150). *J Immunol* (2010) 185:190–202. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903505
- Morita R, Schmitt N, Bentebibel SE, Ranganathan R, Bourdery L, Zurawski G, et al. Human blood CXCR5(+)CD4(+) T cells are counterparts of T follicular cells and contain specific subsets that differentially support antibody secretion. *Immunity* (2011) 34:108–21. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.012
- Liang HE, Reinhardt RL, Bando JK, Sullivan BM, Ho IC, Locksley RM. Divergent expression patterns of IL-4 and IL-13 define unique functions in allergic immunity. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:58–66. doi:10.1038/ni.2182
- Hale JS, Youngblood B, Latner DR, Mohammed AU, Ye L, Akondy RS, et al. Distinct memory CD4+ T cells with commitment to T follicular helper- and T helper 1-cell lineages are generated after acute viral infection. *Immunity* (2013) 38:805–17. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.020
- Reinhardt RL, Liang HE, Locksley RM. Cytokine-secreting follicular T cells shape the antibody repertoire. Nat Immunol (2009) 10:385–93. doi:10.1038/ ni.1715
- Mitsdoerffer M, Lee Y, Jager A, Kim HJ, Korn T, Kolls JK, et al. Proinflammatory T helper type 17 cells are effective B-cell helpers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:14292–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009234107
- 23. Sallusto F, Lanzavecchia A, Araki K, Ahmed R. From vaccines to memory and back. *Immunity* (2010) **33**:451–63. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.008
- Homann D, Teyton L, Oldstone MBA. Differential regulation of antiviral T cell immunity results in stable CD8⁺ but declining CD4⁺ T cell memory. *Nat Med* (2001) 7:913–9. doi:10.1038/90950
- Pepper M, Linehan JL, Pagan AJ, Zell T, Dileepan T, Cleary PP, et al. Different routes of bacterial infection induce long-lived TH1 memory cells and short-lived TH17 cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11:83–9. doi:10.1038/ni.1826
- Crotty S, Felgner P, Davies H, Glidewell J, Villarreal L, Ahmed R. Cutting edge: long-term B cell memory in humans after smallpox vaccination. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:4969–73. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.4969
- Hammarlund E, Lewis MW, Hansen SG, Strelow LI, Nelson JA, Sexton GJ, et al. Duration of antiviral immunity after smallpox vaccination. *Nat Med* (2003) 9:1131–7. doi:10.1038/nm917
- Williams MA, Bevan MJ. Effector and memory CTL differentiation. Annu Rev Immunol (2007) 25:171–92. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141548
- Harrington LE, Janowski KM, Oliver JR, Zajac AJ, Weaver CT. Memory CD4 T cells emerge from effector T-cell progenitors. *Nature* (2008) 452:356–60. doi:10.1038/nature06672

- 30. Marshall HD, Chandele A, Jung YW, Meng H, Poholek AC, Parish IA, et al. Differential expression of Ly6c and T-bet distinguish effector and memory Th1 CD4+ cell properties during viral infection. *Immunity* (2011) 35:633–46. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.08.016
- 31. Pepper M, Pagan AJ, Igyarto BZ, Taylor JJ, Jenkins MK. Opposing signals from the bcl6 transcription factor and the interleukin-2 receptor generate T helper 1 central and effector memory cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35:583–95. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.009
- Mohrs M, Shinkai K, Mohrs K, Locksley RM. Analysis of type 2 immunity in vivo with a bicistronic IL-4 reporter. *Immunity* (2001) 15:303–11. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00186-8
- 33. Zaph C, Rook KA, Goldschmidt M, Mohrs M, Scott P, Artis D. Persistence and function of central and effector memory CD4+ T cells following infection with a gastrointestinal helminth. J Immunol (2006) 177:511–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.1.511
- Wuthrich M, Gern B, Hung CY, Ersland K, Rocco N, Pick-Jacobs J, et al. Vaccine-induced protection against 3 systemic mycoses endemic to North America requires Th17 cells in mice. J Clin Invest (2011) 121:554–68. doi:10.1172/ JCI43984
- Hernandez-Santos N, Gaffen SL. Th17 cells in immunity to Candida albicans. Cell Host Microbe (2012) 11:425–35. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2012.04.008
- McGeachy MJ. Th17 memory cells: live long and proliferate. J Leukoc Biol (2013) 94:921–6. doi:10.1189/jlb.0313113
- Chevalier N, Jarrossay D, Ho E, Avery DT, Ma CS, Yu D, et al. CXCR5 expressing human central memory CD4 T cells and their relevance for humoral immune responses. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:5556–68. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002828
- Fazilleau N, Eisenbraun MD, Malerbe L, Ebright JN, Pogue-Caley RR, Mcheyzer-Williams LJ, et al. Lymphoid reservoirs of antigen-specific memory T helper cells. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8:753–61. doi:10.1038/ni1472
- MacLeod MK, David A, Mckee AS, Crawford F, Kappler JW, Marrack P. Memory CD4 T cells that express CXCR5 provide accelerated help T B cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186:2889–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002955
- Weber JP, Fuhrmann F, Hutloff A. T-follicular helper cells survive as long-term memory cells. Eur J Immunol (2012) 42:1981–8. doi:10.1002/eji.201242540
- 41. Choi YS, Yang JA, Yusuf I, Johnston RJ, Greenbaum J, Peters B, et al. Bcl6 expressing follicular helper CD4 T cells are fate committed early and have the capacity to form memory. *J Immunol* (2013) 190:4014–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202963
- 42. Liu X, Yan X, Zhong B, Nurieva RI, Wang A, Wang X, et al. Bcl6 expression specifies the T follicular helper cell program in vivo. *J Exp Med* (2012) **209**:1841–52. doi:10.1084/jem.20120219
- Luthje K, Kallies A, Shimohakamada Y, Tbelz GT, Light A, Tarlington DM, et al. The development and fate of follicular helper T cells defined by an IL-21 reporter mouse. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:491–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2261
- 44. Fazilleau N, Mcheyzer-Williams LJ, Rosen H, Mcheyzer-Williams MG. The function of follicular helper T cells is regulated by the strength of T cell antigen receptor binding. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:375–84. doi:10.1038/ni.1704
- 45. Tubo NJ, Pagan AJ, Taylor JJ, Nelson RW, Linehan JL, Ertelt JM, et al. Single naive CD4+ T cells from a diverse repertoire produce different effector cell types during infection. *Cell* (2013) 153:785–96. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.04.007
- 46. Kim C, Wilson T, Fischer KF, Williams MA. Sustained interactions between T cell receptors and antigens promote the differentiation of CD4(+) memory T cells. *Immunity* (2013) 39:508–20. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.033
- Locci M, Havenar-Daughton C, Landais E, Wu J, Kroenke MA, Arlehamn CL, et al. Human circulating PD-1+CXCR3-CXCR5+ memory Tfh cells are highly functional and correlate with broadly neutralizing HIV antibody responses. *Immunity* (2013) 39:758–69. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.031
- Iyer SS, Latner DR, Zilliox MJ, Mccausland M, Akondy RS, Penaloza-Macmaster P, et al. Identification of novel markers for mouse CD4(+) T follicular helper cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2013) 43:3219–32. doi:10.1002/eji.201343469
- Bentebibel SE, Lopez S, Obermoser G, Schmitt N, Mueller C, Harrod C, et al. Induction of ICOS+CXCR3+CXCR5+ TH cells correlates with antibody responses to influenza vaccination. *Sci Transl Med* (2013) 5:176ra132. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005191
- He J, Tsai LM, Leong YA, Hu X, Ma CS, Chevalier N, et al. Circulating precursor CCR7(lo)PD-1(hi) CXCR5(+) CD4(+) T cells indicate Tfh cell activity and promote antibody responses upon antigen reexposure. *Immunity* (2013) 39:770–81. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.09.007
- Schmitt N, Ueno H. Blood Tfh cells come with colors. *Immunity* (2013) 39:629–30. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.09.011

- O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. Mechanisms underlying lineage commitment and plasticity of helper CD4+ T cells. *Science* (2010) **327**:1098–102. doi:10.1126/science. 1178334
- Vahedi G, Takahashi H, Nakayamada S, Sun HW, Sartorelli V, Kanno Y, et al. STATs shape the active enhancer landscape of T cell populations. *Cell* (2012) 151:981–93. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.09.044
- Wilson CB, Rowell E, Sekimata M. Epigenetic control of T-helper-cell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:91–105. doi:10.1038/nri2487
- Josefowicz SZ. Regulators of chromatin state and transcription in CD4 T-cell polarization. *Immunology* (2013) 139:299–308. doi:10.1111/imm.12115
- Wilson CB, Rowell E, Sekimata M. Epigenetic control of T helper cell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9:91–105. doi:10.1038/nri2487
- Youngblood B, Hale JS, Ahmed R. T-cell memory differentiation: insights from transcriptional signatures and epigenetics. *Immunology* (2013) 139:277–84. doi:10.1111/imm.12074
- 58. Ise W, Inoue T, Mclachlan JB, Kometani K, Kubo M, Okada T, et al. Memory B cells contribute to rapid Bcl6 expression by memory follicular helper T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:11792–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1404671111
- Nakayamada S, Kanno Y, Takahashi H, Jankovic D, Lu KT, Johnson TA, et al. Early Th1 cell differentiation is marked by a Tfh cell-like transition. *Immunity* (2011) 35:919–31. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.012
- Oestreich KJ, Huang AC, Weinmann AS. The lineage-defining factors T-bet and Bcl-6 collaborate to regulate Th1 gene expression patterns. J Exp Med (2011) 208:1001–13. doi:10.1084/jem.20102144
- Oestreich KJ, Mohn SE, Weinmann AS. Molecular mechanisms that control the expression and activity of Bcl-6 in TH1 cells to regulate flexibility with a TFH-like gene profile. *Nat Immunol* (2012) 13:405–11. doi:10.1038/ni.2242
- 62. Reik W. Stability and flexibility of epigenetic gene regulation in mammalian development. *Nature* (2007) **447**:425–32. doi:10.1038/nature05918
- Lu KT, Kanno Y, Cannons JL, Handon R, Bible P, Elkahloun AG, et al. Functional and epigenetic studies reveal multipstep differentiation and plasticity of in vitro-generated and in vivo-derived follicular T helper cells. *Immunity* (2011) 35:622–32. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.07.015
- Cannons JL, Lu KT, Schwartzberg PL. T follicular helper cell diversity and plasticity. *Trends Immunol* (2013) 34:200–7. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.01.001
- Makar KW, Perez-Melgosa M, Shnyreva M, Weaver WM, Fitzpatrick DR, Wilson CB. Active recruitment of DNA methyltransferases regulates interleukin 4 in thymocytes and T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2003) 4:1183–90. doi:10. 1038/ni1004
- Makar KW, Wilson CB. DNA methylation is a nonredundant repressor of the Th2 effector program. J Immunol (2004) 173:4402–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 173.7.4402
- Gamper CJ, Agoston AT, Nelson WG, Powell JD. Identification of DNA methyltransferase 3a as a T cell receptor-induced regulator of Th1 and Th2 differentiation. J Immunol (2009) 183:2267–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0802960
- Josefowicz SZ, Wilson CB, Rudensky AY. Cutting edge: TCR stimulation is sufficient for induction of Foxp3 expression in the absence of DNA methyltransferase
 J Immunol (2009) 182:6648–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803320
- Thomas RM, Gamper CJ, Ladle BH, Powell JD, Wells AD. De novo DNA methylation is required to restrict T helper lineage plasticity. J Biol Chem (2012) 287:22900–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.312785

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 October 2014; accepted: 08 January 2015; published online: 02 February 2015.

Citation: Hale JS and Ahmed R (2015) Memory T follicular helper CD4 T cells. Front. Immunol. 6:16. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00016

This article was submitted to T Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology.

Copyright © 2015 Hale and Ahmed. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

ADVANTAGES OF PUBLISHING IN FRONTIERS



FAST PUBLICATION Average 90 days from submission to publication



COLLABORATIVE PEER-REVIEW

Designed to be rigorous – yet also collaborative, fair and constructive



RESEARCH NETWORK Our network increases readership for your article



OPEN ACCESS

Articles are free to read, for greatest visibility



TRANSPARENT

Editors and reviewers acknowledged by name on published articles



GLOBAL SPREAD Six million monthly page views worldwide



COPYRIGHT TO AUTHORS

No limit to article distribution and re-use



IMPACT METRICS Advanced metrics track your article's impact



SUPPORT By our Swiss-based editorial team



EPFL Innovation Park · Building I · 1015 Lausanne · Switzerland T +41 21 510 17 00 · info@frontiersin.org · frontiersin.org